
 

 

Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, District Five 

 
Brett Sanders 

V. Chairman, District Four 

PO Box 8002, Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 | www.andersoncountysc.org 
 
 

John B. Wright, Jr. 
District One 

 
Glenn Davis 

District Two 

Greg Elgin 
District Three 

 
Jimmy Davis 

District Six 

M. Cindy Wilson 
District Seven 

 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 

 
 
 

Rusty Burns 
County Administrator 

 
 

AGENDA 
Special Presentation Meeting 

Tuesday, December 5, 2023, at 6:00 p.m. 
Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman, Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. RESOLUTIONS/PROCLAMATION:                                                                                       
    a. 2023-054: A Resolution honoring Mrs. Diane Chastain Lollis.                                               Hon. Cindy Wilson 
 
    b. PROCLAMATION: A Proclamation celebrating George W. Martin for 50 years in the auction industry. 
 

Hon. Cindy Wilson 
3. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

AGENDA 
ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING 
Tuesday, December 5, 2023, at 6:30 p.m. 

Historic Courthouse 
101 S. Main Street 

Anderson, South Carolina 
Chairman Tommy Dunn, Presiding 

 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
  
 
2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE                                                             Hon. John Wright, Jr. 
 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES                                                                                                      November 21, 2023 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
4. CITIZENS COMMENTS                                                                                                        Agenda Matters Only 
                                                                                                                                  THREE-MINUTE TIME LIMIT 
 
5. UPDATE ON VETERANS MEMORIAL PARK                                       Mr. Ryan Hulon (allotted 10 minutes) 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, December 5, 2023 
 
Page 2 

 

   
 

 
 
6. ORDINANCE THIRD READING:  
    a. 2023-031: An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a special source credit agreement by and 

between Anderson County, South Carolina, Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC, D/B/A The Shores of 
Asbury with respect to certain economic development property in the County, whereby such property will 
receive certain special source credits in respect of investment in related infrastructure; and other matters related 
thereto.  [Project Shoreline] (PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

    b. 2023-032: An Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of a joint county industrial and business 
park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville Counties so as to enlarge the park to include certain property of 
Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC, D/B/A The Shores of Asbury and other matters related thereto. 
[Project Shoreline] (PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
    c. 2023-035: An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem tax and special 

source revenue credit agreement by and between Anderson County, South Carolina and Pro Fab Manufacturing, 
LLC to provide for payment of a fee-in-lieu of taxes; authorizing the expansion of a multi-county business park; 
authorizing certain special source revenue credits; and other matters related thereto. [Project Asteroid] 
(PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
    d. 2023-043: An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax agreement by and 

between Anderson County, South Carolina and APG Colors and Additives, LLC and Green Lantern LLC, 
collectively formerly called Project Colorful, with respect to certain economic development property in the 
county, whereby such property will be subject to certain payments in lieu of taxes including the provision of 
certain special source credits; and other matters related thereto. [Project Colorful] (PUBLIC HEARING 
THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes)  
    
     e. 2023-044: An Ordinance to lease real property located at 731 Michelin Boulevard to D&S Enterprises of 

Anderson, LLC D/B/A Heli-Plane Aviation and other matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING ONLY 
THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

    f. 2023-045: An Ordinance to approve the grant of a right-of-way easement to Duke Energy Carolinas LLC, on 
real property owned by Anderson County, South Carolina, to be utilized for the new detention center; and other 
matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
    
    g. 2023-046: An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax agreement by and 

between Anderson County, South Carolina and a company or companies known to the county at this time as 
Project White with respect to certain economic development property in the county, whereby such property will 
be subject to certain payments in lieu of taxes, including the provision of certain special source credits; and 
other matters related thereto. [Project White] (PUBLIC HEARING ONLY THREE MINUTE TIME 
LIMIT) 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

     



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, December 5, 2023 
 
Page 3 

 

   
 

h. 2023-047: An Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of a joint county industrial and business 
park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville counties so as to enlarge the park to include certain property of 
Project White; and other matters related thereto. [Project White] (PUBLIC HEARING ONLY THREE 
MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

7. ORDINANCE SECOND READING:  
    a. 2023-023: An Ordinance providing for the imposition of a transportation sales and use tax, subject to a 

November 5, 2024 Referendum, pursuant to Title 4, Chapter 37 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 
amended; ordering a referendum in connection therewith; and providing for matters relating thereto. (PUBLIC 
HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

    b. 2023-033: An Ordinance to approve the first amendment to sublease agreement between Anderson County, 
South Carolina, and Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC D/B/A The Shores of Asbury for the Asbury Park 
site on Lake Hartwell; and other matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME 
LIMIT) 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
     

    c. 2023-042: An Ordinance to amend the 2016 Anderson County Comprehensive Plan element of the population, 
economic development workforce, and a new element of resilience and all maps and materials contained 
therein; and other matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME LIMIT) 

 
Ms. Alesia Hunter (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
    d. 2023-048: An Ordinance to provide for the issuance and sale of not exceeding eight million three hundred 

thousand dollars ($8,300,000) aggregate principal amount of general obligation bonds of Anderson County, 
South Carolina, to prescribe the purposes for which the proceeds shall be expended, to provide for the payment 
therefore, and to provide for other matters related thereto. (PUBLIC HEARING THREE MINUTE TIME 
LIMIT) 

Mr. Rusty Burns (allotted 5 minutes) 
 
    e. 2023-049: An Ordinance authorizing (1) The execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax and incentive 

agreement by and between Anderson County, South Carolina (The "County") and an entity identified, by the 
county as Project Chauga, including any affiliates, related entities, and sponsor affiliates (collectively, The 
"Company"), pursuant to which the county shall covenant to accept certain negotiated fees in lieu of ad valorem 
taxes with respect to the expansion of certain manufacturing facilities in the county (The "Project"); (2) The 
benefits of a multi-county industrial or business park to be made available to the company and the project and 
the distribution of revenues generated from the project within the county; (3) Certain special source revenue 
credits in connection with the project; and (4) other matters relating thereto. [Project Chauga] 

 
Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 

 
    f. 2023-050: An Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a special source revenue credit agreement by 

and between Anderson County, South Carolina and [Project Austin], with respect to special source revenue 
credits to be applied against fee in leir of tax payments related to certain investments in the county; and other 
matters related thereto. [Project Austin] 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 

    
 
     g. 2023-051: An Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of a joint county industrial and business 

park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville counties so as to enlarge the park. [Project Austin] 
 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 



 
 
Anderson County Council Meeting Agenda, December 5, 2023 
 
Page 4 

 

   
 

 
    h. 2023-052: An Ordinance authorizing the execution of an infrastructure credit agreement by and between 

Anderson County and Project Trust providing for payments in lieu of taxes, the issuance of special source 
revenue credits, the inclusion of the property in a multi-county park; and other matters related thereto. [Project 
Trust] 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 
8. ORDINANCE FIRST READING: NONE 
 
 
9. RESOLUTIONS: 
    a. 2023-055: A Resolution authorizing the execution and delivery of an inducement agreement by and between 

Anderson County, South Carolina and Project Turkey, whereby, under certain conditions, Anderson County 
will execute a fee in lieu of tax and special source credit agreement with respect to a project in the county 
whereby the project would be subject to payment of certain fees in lieu of taxes and whereby Project/Company 
will be provided certain credits against fee payments in reimbursement of investment in related qualified 
infrastructure; and providing for related matters. 

Mr. Burriss Nelson (allotted 5 minutes) 
 
10. FIRST STEPS APPOINTMENT APPROVAL 
 
 
11. VEHICLE DONATIONS 
      a. Enclosed 20 ft Trailer-City Fire-Tech Rescue 
      b. Ford F250 Diesel Work Body with Safety Lights-City of Belton 
      c. Rees Boat Trailer-City Fire-Tech Rescue 
      d. Carolina Skiff-City Fire-Tech Rescue 
      e. 2008 Nissan Xterra-Meals on Wheels 
      f. 2010 Crown Victoria-Iva Police Department  
     
 
12. REQUEST BY COUNCIL: 
      a. Anderson Lights of Hope-All Districts 
      b. Hejaz Shrine Circus-All Districts 
 
13. ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT: 
 
 
14. CITIZENS COMMENTS                                                                                                       Non-Agenda Matters 
                                                                                                                                  THREE-MINUTE TIME LIMIT 
 
15. REMARKS FROM COUNCIL 
 
 
16. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

 

 
Anyone who requires an auxiliary aid or service for effective communication, or a 

modification of policies or procedures in order to participate in this program, service 
or activity please contact the office of the program, service or activity as soon as 

possible but no later than 24 hours before the scheduled event. For assistance, please 
contact the Clerk to Council at (864) 260-1036. 



RESOLUTION 2023-054 
 
A RESOLUTION HONORING MRS. DIANE CHASTAIN 
LOLLIS 
 
WHEREAS, Mrs. Sarah Dianne Chastain Lollis, has become an 
Anderson County institution, known throughout the community for her 
civic-minded spirit and dedication to others, and 
 
WHEREAS, Dianne was born and raised in the Pelzer mill village, 
where she learned the value of hard work and the importance of 
neighbors working as one towards a common goal, and 
 
WHEREAS, Dianne’s home-town values and vivacious 
Southern charm remained with her as her life’s journey took her 
all the way to the Greater Chicago area, where she and her husband 
Willie raised their family, and  
 
WHEREAS, upon her return to Anderson County, community service 
became an outlet for her boundless energy and dedication to others, contributing 
her time and talents towards all manner of activites and events in and around the 
Williamston and Pelzer area, when asked why saying only “I do it all for the kids”, 
and 
 
WHEREAS, a very important aspect of Dianne’s legacy in Anderson County will 
be her contributions in her role as President of the Pelzer Heritage Commission, 
with the mission of restoring the dignity and sense of community that held sway 
during the town’s heyday, and  
 
WHEREAS, under Dianne’s leadership, the PHC spearheaded efforts to restore 
and preserve the Historic Wilson Family Cemetery in Monkey Park, while also 
assuming responsibility for Pine Lawn Cemetery, ensuring that the community’s 
dead will rest in dignity, and 
 



 

WHEREAS, the PHC also assumed a great responsibility with its acquisition in 
2013 of the Upper and Lower Mills in Pelzer.  Thanks to the efforts of Dianne 
and her colleagues, these two sites have underground substantial environmental 
remediation, and pending redevelopment projects promise to infuse new life into the 
town so near and dear to Dianne’s heart, and 
 
WHEREAS, mere words can’t begin to describe Dianne Lollis—she is a force of 
nature, one that must be experienced in order to truly appreciate. She is a woman of 
great faith, and that faith which has carried her through unspeakable tragedy 
continues to sustain her in the many things she does to make a better community 
for us all.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Anderson County Council 
hereby recognizes Dianne Chastain Lollis for all she has done, and continues to do, 
for the betterment of us all. Your contributions to our community will carry 
forward for generations to come, and we are truly grateful that the Lord has 
allowed you to be among us here in Anderson County. 

FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 

 

_____________       ______________       __________          __________ 
Tommy Dunn, Chairman         John B. Wright, Jr.                    Glenn Davis                        Greg Elgin 
District Five                           District One                                District Two                        District Three 
 
 
 
                                                 _____________________     _____________           ______________ 
                                                 Brett Sanders, Vice-Chairman     Jimmy Davis                   M. Cindy Wilson 
                                                 District Four                               District Six                     District Seven 
 

ATTEST: 
 
________________            ___________________ 
Rusty Burns                            Renee Watts 
County Administrator             Clerk to Council 
 



 

Proclamation  George W. Martin  
50 Year Legacy 

 
 
WHEREAS, it is with great honor and admiration that we recognize the outstanding achievements 
and dedicated service of Mr. George Washington Martin in the field of auctioneering; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mr. Martin has tirelessly contributed to the South Carolina Auction industry for an 
impressive fifty years, demonstrating unparalleled skill, professionalism, and commitment to 
excellence; and 
 
WHEREAS, throughout his illustrious career, Mr. Martin has not only exhibited an extraordinary 
ability to facilitate successful auctions but has also played a vital role in shaping the landscape of 
the auction industry in South Carolina; and  
 
WHEREAS, his unwavering dedication, integrity, and passion for the auctioneering profession 
have earned him respect and admiration of colleagues, clients, and the community at large; and  
 
WHEREAS, Mr. Martin was an active member of the SC Auctioneers Commission and past 
president of the South Carolina Auctioneers Association.  Mr. Martin’s remarkable achievements 
and milestones of fifty years as an auctioneer deserve the highest commendation and celebration; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, Anderson County Council does desire to offer proclamation to place into 
the permanent record the Council’s recognition of the extraordinary contributions and the indelible 
mark George W. Martin has left on the South Carolina Auction industry. 
 
Proclaimed this 5th day of December, 2023 
 
______________            _____________                   _____________            ______________ 
Tommy Dunn, Chairman        John B. Wright, Jr.                       Glenn Davis                         Greg Elgin 
District Five                            District One                                  District Two                        District Three 
 
 
                                               _______________________           _________________          __________________ 
                                               Brett Sanders, Vice Chairman         Jimmy Davis                       M. Cindy Wilson 
                                               District Four                                     District Six                         District Seven 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________        ___________________ 
Rusty Burns     Renee Watts 
County Administrator           Clerk to Council 



State of South Carolina   )

County  of     Anderson   )

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL
 

SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING

NOVEMBER 21, 2023

IN ATTENDANCE:
TOMMY DUNN, CHAIRMAN
JOHN WRIGHT 
GLENN DAVIS
GREG ELGIN
BRETT SANDERS
CINDY WILSON

ALSO PRESENT:
RUSTY BURNS
LEON HARMON
RENEE WATTS
    



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - November 21, 2023
2

1 TOMMY DUNN:   At this time
2 I’d like to call the special presentation County
3 Council meeting of November 21st to order.  I’d like to
4 welcome each and every one of y’all here tonight. 
5 Thank y’all for coming out.  Especially since it’s a
6 dreary night.  It ain’t rained all day; got ready for
7 Council meeting and it pours down rain.  But we need
8 it.  I know y’all know that.
9 So at this time we’re going to go to item number
10 2(a), Resolutions and Proclamations, 2(a), 2023-53,
11 Honorable Cindy Wilson.  Councilman Wilson.
12 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr.
13 Chairman.
14 THIS IS A RESOLUTION CONGRATULATING PALMETTO HIGH
15 SCHOOL FUTURE FARMERS OF AMERICA FOR ACHIEVING
16 STATEWIDE AND NATIONAL RECOGNITION; AND OTHER MATTERS
17 RELATED THERETO.
18 Whereas the Palmetto chapter of the National FFA
19 (Future Farmers of America) organization, which
20 re-chartered in 2020 to include the new agricultural
21 program at Palmetto High School, achieved 3 stars in
22 the National Chapter Award Program; and
23 Whereas the National Chapter Award Program
24 evaluates chapters in all fifty states and two U.S.
25 territories in the areas of Building Communities,
26 Strengthening Agriculture, and Growing Leaders; and
27 Whereas the Palmetto FFA was selected as a Gold
28 Chapter at the SCFFA State Convention in June,
29 signifying it as one of the 12 best chapters in the
30 state, after which the Chapter progressed to the
31 National level with the opportunity to earn between one
32 to three stars, ultimately earning the most
33 distinguished level: three stars, which indicates the
34 Palmetto FFA is going above and beyond with innovative,
35 goal-oriented, and student-led events to fulfill the
36 FFA’s mission of making a positive difference in the
37 lives of students by developing their potential for
38 premier leadership, personal growth, and career success
39 through agricultural education; and
40  Whereas the Palmetto FFA’s award-winning
41 application included organizing the Farm Fest in West
42 Pelzer, being engaged with multiple community events in
43 Williamston’s Mineral Springs Park, and competition at
44 the National FFA Convention in Indianapolis.
45 Now, therefore, be it resolved this twenty-first
46 day of November 2023, in meeting duly assembled, that
47 the Anderson County Council hereby congratulates the
48 Palmetto High School FFA for its achievement and for
49 bringing positive national recognition to Anderson
50 County.



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - November 21, 2023
3

1 And may I put that in the form of a motion?
2 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am.  We
3 have a motion.  Motion Ms. Wilson; second Councilman
4 Sanders.  Any discussion?
5 CINDY WILSON:  We’re very
6 proud of y’all.
7 TOMMY DUNN:   Anymore?  All
8 in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
9 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
10 Ms. Wilson.
11 CINDY WILSON:  And we’ll all
12 gather ...
13 PRESENTATION OF RESOLUTION
14 APPLAUSE
15 TOMMY DUNN:   We’re going to
16 move on at this time for a presentation by The Zone
17 Service, Inc.  I believe Ms. DeShields.
18 PINKEY RINNIX:   Good evening,
19 gentlemen, and thank you for having us here.  And I’m
20 not Ms. DeShields.  My name is Pinkey Rinnix.  I am a
21 newly appointed Board of Trustee of the Anderson County
22 Library.  And I am a volunteer of The Zone Services.
23 I want to thank you for your previous donations
24 you’ve given unto The Zone for our various projects as
25 we’ve headed into the community.  And one of our
26 objectives is to create and provide innovative programs
27 for children, youth, families, that will improve their
28 lives and encourage them to achieve their greatest
29 potential.  
30 We The Zone are here tonight to request funds to
31 help our community children have a great holiday. 
32 We’ll do that by allowing one of our parents, Ms. Leah
33 Moss, to tell you her story, how we helped her and her
34 family.
35 LEAH MOSS:  Bear with me;
36 I’ve never done this before.  Okay.  So my name is Leah
37 Chitwood Moss.  I’d like to thank y’all for letting me
38 speak.  Okay.  So since meeting the founder of The
39 Zone, Ms. Treca DeShields, over twenty years ago, the
40 things I have seen her and the non-profit do is truly a
41 gift from God.  From as far back as when my oldest son
42 was two years old, Ms. Treca has had her hand in
43 helping in any time of need in my family’s life.  She
44 took care of my family -- or she took care of my kids
45 in her daycare until time for them to go to school. 
46 Even after that, she still provided them with school
47 supplies, Christmas gifts and other things that came up
48 that they needed.
49 Over the years the kids and I have witnessed a lot
50 of families be blessed by The Zone and all that they



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - November 21, 2023
4

1 have helped in the community.  From back to school
2 drives, to Thanksgiving dinners provided to hundreds of
3 families, to hundreds of more blessed at Christmastime
4 with toys and food that they might not have had
5 otherwise.  
6 The things this non-profit is doing is amazing. 
7 Not only with the giveaways and other things being
8 supplied to the community, but the listening ear and
9 shoulder to lean on has blessed my family far more.
10 Ms. Treca and this non-profit has been there for me
11 in one of the hardest times in my life.  May 16, 2021,
12 I got the undescribable knock at the door that my --
13 that no parent ever deserves, letting me know that my
14 firstborn son, Michael Chitwood, was killed on a
15 motorcycle.  With no hesitations or questions, Ms.
16 Treca was right by my side helping me think in a lot of
17 ways; from the announcements, to planning the service,
18 to even speaking at his service, because she has just
19 been that important in our lives.
20 I have had two and a half years to grieve my son,
21 and when the thought came to mind to do something in
22 honor of him, I knew I would look no further than The
23 Zone and Ms. Treca to partner with to do a toy
24 drive/bike ride to collect toys to be able to give back
25 to the kids in the community.
26 If you knew Michael, you would have known that his
27 smile would light up a room.  It is a great honor to be
28 able to see the smiles that will be on so many kids’
29 faces knowing that my son had some part in making that
30 happen.
31 I ask that you guys support this great non-profit
32 that is doing amazing things in the community, and make
33 a donation to be able to bless even more families with
34 this event.  Thank you.
35 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
36 Does anybody have any comments or questions?
37 JOHN WRIGHT:  I’ll just say
38 thank you for sharing that and thank you for educating
39 us on the organization.  Thank you.
40 TOMMY DUNN:   I echo that.  I
41 appreciate y’all coming out tonight and appreciate what
42 all y’all do.  Thank y’all for coming, especially in
43 this bad weather and all.  Thank y’all very much.
44 Anybody got anything else, any questions, 
45 comments?
46 Thank y’all.
47 That will conclude this part of our meeting.  We’ll
48 adjourn and start back our regular Council meeting at
49 6:30.
50



Anderson County Council - Special Presentation Meeting - November 21, 2023
5

(SPECIAL PRESENTATION MEETING ADJOURNED AT 6:13 P.M.)



6

State of South Carolina   )

County  of     Anderson   )

ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL
 

COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING

NOVEMBER 21, 2023

IN ATTENDANCE:
TOMMY DUNN, CHAIRMAN
JOHN WRIGHT
GLENN DAVIS 
GREG ELGIN
BRETT SANDERS
JIMMY DAVIS
CINDY WILSON

ALSO PRESENT:
RUSTY BURNS
LEON HARMON
RENEE WATTS



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
7

1 TOMMY DUNN:  At this time I
2 call the regular Anderson County Council meeting of
3 November 21st to order.  I’d like to welcome each and
4 every one of you here tonight, and thank you for
5 coming, especially in this dreary bad weather.
6 First order of business will be our invocation and
7 pledge of allegiance.  I’d ask us to all rise, please,
8 as Councilman Wilson leads us.
9 CINDY WILSON:  Let us pray.
10 INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE BY CINDY WILSON  
11 TOMMY DUNN:   At this time
12 we’ll go into approval of the minutes of October 3rd,
13 2023, are there any changes, corrections to be made to
14 those?
15 CINDY WILSON:  I make the
16 motion to accept the minutes as presented.
17 TOMMY DUNN:   Have a motion
18 from Ms. Wilson to accept as presented.  Do we have a
19 second?
20 GREG ELGIN:  Second.
21 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
22 Councilman Elgin.  All in favor of the motion show of
23 hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
24 unanimously.
25 Do we have any corrections or changes to be made to
26 the October 17, 2023 meeting, regular Council meeting?
27 CINDY WILSON:  May we make the
28 motion to accept the minutes from November 7th
29 (verbatim) as presented.
30 TOMMY DUNN:   Have a motion
31 by Ms. Wilson.  Have a second?
32 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
34 Councilman Davis.  That’s Glenn Davis.  All in favor of
35 the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show
36 the motion carries unanimously.
37 We’re going to move on to regular Council meeting
38 November 7th, 2023; any changes or corrections to be
39 made to those?
40 CINDY WILSON:  None.
41 TOMMY DUNN:   Do we have a
42 motion?
43 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
44 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
45 motion by Ms. Wilson to accept as presented.  Do we
46 have a second?  Second by Councilman Glenn Davis.  All
47 in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
48 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
49 We’re going to move on now to item number 5(a), 
50 Ordinance third reading, this is 5(a), 2023-038, an



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
8

1 Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a
2 fee in lieu of tax and special source credit agreement
3 by and between Anderson County, South Carolina and
4 Smurfit Kappa North America LLC with respect to certain
5 economic development property in the county, whereby
6 such property will be subject to certain payments in
7 lieu of taxes, including the provision of certain
8 special source credits; and other matters related
9 thereto. 
10 Before we go into a public hearing, can I have a
11 motion to put this on the floor?
12 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
13 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
14 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
15 Wilson to put on the floor.  Do I have a second?
16 GREG ELGIN:  Second.
17 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
18 Councilman Elgin.
19 BRETT SANDERS:  Mr. Chairman?
20 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir.
21 BRETT SANDERS:  I would like to
22 make a motion to amend Ordinance number 2023-038.  I’d
23 like to amend the fee in lieu of tax and special
24 resource credit agreement such that Smurfit Kappa will
25 have seven years to create 215 jobs at the location on
26 1105 Scotts Bridge Road in Anderson County.  The second
27 reading documents considered at the October 17, 2023
28 meeting, County Council indicated that jobs required
29 will be met within five year investment period.  But
30 it’s actually going to be a seven year investment
31 period.  And I do put that in the form of a motion,
32 sir.
33 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
34 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
35 second by Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion on the amendment? 
36 Hearing and seeing none, all in favor of the amendment,
37 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
38 carries unanimously.
39 Now we’ll go into a public hearing.  We’ll go into
40 a public hearing now with this motion that’s been
41 amended where everybody can have a chance to hear about
42 it.  Anyone wishing to speak to this matter, this will
43 be a public hearing, anyone wishing to speak to this
44 matter, please step forward and state your name and
45 district and address the chair, and you have three
46 minutes, please.  Anyone at all?  Seeing and hearing
47 none, the public hearing will be closed.  
48 We’ll go back to the original motion.  Mr. Nelson,
49 do you have anything you want to add to this?
50 BURRISS NELSON:  Mr. Chairman,



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
9

1 the company sends its apologies and thanks for
2 considering the amendment and taking that into
3 consideration.  As they got into ordering equipment,
4 they realized that one piece of equipment was going to
5 be about 18 months farther into the future in delivery
6 time and it was going to take them longer to get the
7 employees that were required to operate that trained
8 and operational.  So that’s why they’ve asked for the
9 extension of the job period to seven years.  
10 Thank you, sir.
11 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
12 Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the original
13 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the
14 motion carries unanimously.
15 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman?
16 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir.
17 LEON HARMON:  Before we go
18 further, I think we missed item number 4, citizens
19 comments.  But nobody is signed up tonight to speak.
20 TOMMY DUNN:   And I knew
21 that, but that’s the reason I went there, but you’re
22 going to say it anyway.  Okay.  Anybody didn’t sign up? 
23 Thank you, Mr. Harmon.  Appreciate it.
24 Moving on to item number 5(b).  This will be
25 2023-040, an Ordinance authorizing the execution and
26 delivery of a fee-in-lieu-of-tax and incentive
27 agreement by and between Anderson County, South
28 Carolina and WC Fiber, LLC, acting for itself, one or
29 more subsidiaries, affiliates, successors, assigns,
30 lessors or other project sponsors, pursuant to which
31 the county shall covenant to accept certain special
32 source revenue credits with respect to certain
33 facilities in the county; and other matters related
34 thereto.
35 Let the record state that those -- in the packet,
36 it says in the 2025 years it goes to 30 years.  That
37 would be 30 years.  
38 Now, do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
39 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
40 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
41 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion by Mr.
42 Sanders; second Ms. Wilson.  Open the floor up for
43 discussion.  Mr. Nelson.
44 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
45 Chairman.  This is the WC Fiber with a partnership with
46 Blue Ridge Co-op, providing internet service to
47 locations all around the county into homes that
48 otherwise would not have that service.  Ten million
49 dollars in capital investment.  Great opportunity for
50 the citizens of Anderson County.  Thank you, sir.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
10

1 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
2 Anymore discussion?
3 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
4 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
5 CINDY WILSON:  I’m going to be
6 very rude and say I hope they do better than AT&T.
7 TOMMY DUNN:   Anymore
8 discussion?  Stand by the phone tomorrow, Jordan, we’ll
9 probably be needing you.
10 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All
11 opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
12 unanimously.
13 We’re going to be moving on to item number (c),
14 5(c), this will be Ordinance 2023-041, an Ordinance to
15 amend an agreement for the development of a joint
16 county industrial and business park (Workforce Housing)
17 of Anderson and Greenville counties so as to enlarge
18 the park to include certain property of Village of West
19 Greenville, LLC; and other matters related thereto. 
20 Project Woven.
21 Mr. Nelson.
22 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
23 Chairman.  This is putting it into the multi-county
24 park where we have that reciprocal agreement with
25 Greenville.  This will allow the sites to access
26 certain benefits available through the South Carolina
27 Economic Development Incentive Programs.  
28 Thank you, sir.
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Now we’ll go
30 into a public hearing on this matter.  If anyone wishes
31 to speak to this matter, please step forward, state
32 your name and district and address the chair, please. 
33 You have three minutes.  Anyone at all?  Seeing and
34 hearing none, the public hearing will be closed.  Do we
35 have a motion to put this on the floor?
36 GREG ELGIN:  So moved.
37 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
38 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion by
39 Councilman Elgin; second Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion? 
40 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
41 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
42 We’re going to move on to item number 6(a), second
43 reading, 2023-043, an Ordinance authorizing the
44 execution and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax
45 agreement by and between Anderson County, South
46 Carolina and a company or companies known to the county
47 at this time as Project Colorful, with respect to
48 certain economic development property in the county,
49 whereby such property will be subject to certain
50 payments in lieu of taxes including the provision of



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
11

1 certain special source credits; and other matters
2 related thereto.  
3 This, again, is Project Colorful.  Do we have a
4 motion to put this on the floor?
5 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
6 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
7 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
8 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
9 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
10 Councilman Sanders.  Mr. Nelson.
11 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
12 Chairman.  This is a specialty company that produces
13 premier -- manufacturer of color additives in
14 concentrates and specialty compounds.  $6.1 million
15 dollars in capital investment.  24 jobs paying an
16 average of $28.88 an hour, with an annual payroll of
17 1.3 million.  Going into a community that sorely needs
18 the job opportunities.  This is a great opportunity for
19 Anderson County and that community, as well.
20 Thank you, sir.
21 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
22 Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the motion
23 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
24 carries unanimously.
25 We’re going to move on now to item 6(b), 2023-044,
26 an Ordinance to lease real property located at 731
27 Michelin Boulevard to D&S Enterprises of Anderson, LLC
28 D/B/A Heli-Plane Aviation; and other matters related
29 thereto.
30 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
31 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
32 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
34 Sanders; second Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  This is
35 the property of our old Road Maintenance Department. 
36 This is the guy that’s doing the service work at the
37 airport, is renting this and going to, I think, put a
38 helicopter thing out there.  Anymore discussion?  All
39 in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
40 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
41 We’re going to move on to item number 6(c), second
42 reading of 2023-045, an Ordinance to approve the grant
43 of a right-of-way easement to Duke Energy Carolinas
44 LLC, on real property owned by Anderson County, South
45 Carolina, to be utilized for the new detention center;
46 and other matters related thereto.
47 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
48 GREG ELGIN:  So moved.
49 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
50 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion by



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
12

1 Councilman Elgin.  And we have a second from Ms.
2 Wilson.  Any discussion?  Seeing or hearing none, all
3 in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
4 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously. 
5 We’re going to move on to item number 6(d),
6 2023-046, an Ordinance authorizing the execution and
7 delivery of a fee in lieu of tax agreement by and
8 between Anderson County, South Carolina and a company
9 or companies known to the county at this time as
10 Project White with respect to certain economic
11 development property in the county, whereby such
12 property will be subject to certain payments in lieu of
13 taxes, including the provision of certain special
14 source credits; and other matters related thereto. 
15 Project White.  
16 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
17 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
18 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
19 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
20 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
21 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
22 Councilman Glenn Davis.  Open the floor up for
23 discussion.  We’ll start off with Mr. Nelson.  Mr.
24 Nelson.
25 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
26 Chairman, members of Council.  Project White represents
27 a company that manufactures finishing and decorating
28 materials for the building industry.  $14 million in
29 capital investment.  26 jobs, with an average pay of
30 $26.98 an hour.  New payroll 1.4 million in the
31 community.  First year community impact $12 million
32 dollars.  And then 30 year community impact $66 million
33 dollars.  Thank you, sir.
34 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
35 Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the motion
36 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
37 carries unanimously.
38 We’re going to move on to item number 6(e),
39 2023-047, an Ordinance to amend an agreement for the
40 development of a joint county industrial and business
41 park (2010 Park) of Anderson and Greenville counties so
42 as to enlarge the park to include certain property of
43 Project White; and other matters related thereto. 
44 Do we have a motion to move this on?
45 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
46 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
47 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
48 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
49 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
50 Councilman Glenn Davis.  Open the floor up for



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
13

1 discussion.  Mr. Nelson, anything to add?
2 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
3 Chairman.  This is just placing Project White in the
4 multi-county park agreement so that they can access the
5 same incentives through the South Carolina Incentive
6 and Economic Development Programs.  Thank you, sir.
7 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
8 Do we have a motion -- anymore discussion?  All in
9 favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
10 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
11 We’re going to move on to item number 7(a),
12 Ordinance first reading, 7(a), 2023-042, an Ordinance
13 to amend the 2016 Anderson County Comprehensive Plan
14 element of the population, economic development
15 workforce, and a new element of resilience and all maps
16 and materials contained therein; and other matters
17 related thereto.
18 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
19 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
20 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
21 Wilson.  Do we have a second?  
22 GLENN DAVIS:  Second.
23 TOMMY DUNN:   Second
24 Councilman Glenn Davis.  Ms. Hunter, do you have
25 anything you want to say to add?  I’m putting you on
26 the spot.  I know you’re here.  You good?  Okay. 
27 Anymore discussion?
28 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, ma’am, Ms.
30 Wilson.
31 CINDY WILSON:  I just want to
32 thank Ms. Hunter and her staff for making themselves
33 available for numerous meeting across District 7 and
34 also combined with other adjoining districts.  It was
35 very helpful.  Thank you.
36 TOMMY DUNN:   And thank you,
37 Ms. Wilson, for bringing that up.  And also, I echo
38 those sentiments because she held meetings in my
39 district, too, and I’m sure several others.  We do
40 appreciate the hard work you and your staff do.
41 Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the motion
42 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
43 carries unanimously.
44 You ain’t got to leave.  You can stick around and
45 have some more fun.
46 We’re going to move on to item number 7(b),
47 2023-048, an Ordinance to provide for the issuance and
48 sale of not exceeding eight million three hundred
49 thousand dollars ($8,300,000) aggregate principal
50 amount of general obligation bonds of Anderson County,



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
14

1 South Carolina, to prescribe the purposes for which the
2 proceeds shall be expended, to provide for the payment
3 therefore, and to provide for other matters related
4 thereto.
5 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
6 BRETT SANDERS:  So moved.
7 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
8 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
9 Sanders; second Ms. Wilson.  Open the floor up for
10 discussion.
11 CINDY WILSON:  May I ask a
12 question?
13 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
14 CINDY WILSON:  Trying to read
15 through the body of this, and it’s a pretty complex
16 documents, there is a clause that says not to exceed a
17 certain percentage.  But do we hope to get it at a
18 lesser -- get the bond passed for less interest rate?
19 RITA DAVIS:  We anticipate
20 going to the market for $8.3 million dollars.
21 CINDY WILSON:  Right.
22 RITA DAVIS:  And it’ll be --
23 if you don’t mind, this roof is $3,056,000.  Lloyd
24 Roofing submitted that bid March of this year, and they
25 are honoring that.  They’re going to start work the
26 second week in January of ‘24.  The rest of it will be
27 for the clock tower and the soffits and all the other
28 exterior of this building.
29 TOMMY DUNN:   I think Ms.
30 Wilson’s question -- I don’t want to put words in her
31 mouth -- was asking was the interest going to be down
32 to not exceed what you’re ---
33 CINDY WILSON:  Interest rate.
34 BRETT SANDERS:  Not to exceed
35 six percent, is what it was.  And we’re only ---
36 CINDY WILSON:  Well, I didn’t
37 want to say that in case we had bidders -- we might get
38 it for less.
39 RITA DAVIS:  It’ll probably
40 come in around three and a half, the way the market is
41 right now, ma’am.
42 CINDY WILSON:  Well, the neat
43 thing about this is we have a no pre-payment penalty,
44 so I was real glad to see that.
45 RITA DAVIS:  Over 15 years
46 and ---
47 CINDY WILSON:  And it does not
48 appear to increase the debt service payment
49 substantially.  We have one general obligation bond
50 going off, I think in April, and then this goes on.  Is



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
15

1 that ---
2 RITA DAVIS:  Yes, ma’am. 
3 The 2014 refunding is coming off April 1st.  So we’ll
4 be replacing that debt with this debt.
5 CINDY WILSON:  And we
6 appreciate y’all being able to stagger that so we won’t
7 have to increase taxes.
8 RITA DAVIS:  Yes, ma’am.
9 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you.
10 TOMMY DUNN:   Councilman
11 Sanders.  Hurry up.  She’s leaving.
12 BRETT SANDERS:  No, that’s
13 fine.  That pretty much answered -- I was making sure
14 that we let everyone know that we have debt coming off. 
15 But thank you.  And thank you, Ms. Wilson.
16 TOMMY DUNN:   Anymore
17 discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of hands. 
18 All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
19 unanimously.
20 We’re going to move on to item number 7(c),
21 2023-049, an Ordinance authorizing (1) The execution
22 and delivery of a fee in lieu of tax and incentive
23 agreement by and between Anderson County, South
24 Carolina (The "County") and an entity identified, by
25 the county as Project Chauga, including any affiliates,
26 related entities, and sponsor affiliates (collectively,
27 The "Company"), pursuant to which the county shall
28 covenant to accept certain negotiated fees in lieu of
29 ad valorem taxes with respect to the expansion of
30 certain manufacturing facilities in the county (The
31 "Project"); (2) The benefits of a multi-county
32 industrial or business park to be made available to the
33 company and the project and the distribution of
34 revenues generated from the project within the county;
35 (3) Certain special source revenue credits in
36 connection with the project; and (4) other matters
37 relating thereto.  
38 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
39 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
40 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion by
41 Councilman Jimmy Davis; and second by Ms. Wilson.  Open
42 the floor up for discussion.  We’ll start with Mr.
43 Nelson.
44 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
45 Chairman, member of Council.  Project Chauga is a
46 family-owned company still fabricating, machine tool
47 technology company, established in 1993.  The company
48 continues to grow and remains competitive.  This is a
49 local, existing business and it’s been looking to
50 expand their footprint in Anderson County for sometime. 



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
16

1 They finally have gotten the opportunity to jump over
2 the next hurdle.  Project Chauga is proposing to bring
3 45 new jobs.  Investing $3.9 million dollars.  Pay for
4 those jobs $20.00 average.  2067, new payroll 1.8
5 million dollars.  Last year they paid taxes of about
6 $14,000.  This year in 2024 they’ll pay a little over
7 $22,000.  And over thirty years, it will amount to
8 $909,000.  First year community impact, 12 million. 
9 And over 30 years, 95 million.  Thank you, sir.
10 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.
11 Nelson.  Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the
12 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the
13 motion carries unanimously.
14 We’re going to move on to item number 7(d), 
15 2023-050, an Ordinance authorizing the execution and
16 delivery of a special source revenue credit agreement
17 by and between Anderson County, South Carolina and
18 [Project Austin], with respect to special source
19 revenue credits to be applied against fee in lieu of
20 tax payments related to certain investments in the
21 county; and other matters related thereto.
22 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
23 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
24 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
25 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
26 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
27 TOMMY DUNN:   Second
28 Councilman Sanders.  Open the floor up for discussion.
29 Mr. Nelson, we’ll start with you.
30 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
31 Chairman, members of Council.  Anderson County was
32 approached by the town of Williamston to partner with
33 the town and enter into an incentive agreement for this
34 commercial project.  They’re investing -- it’s a
35 family-owned company and they’re investing $5 million
36 dollars.  And they are going to maintain the current
37 numbers of jobs that they had, so there’s no new
38 additional jobs creation.  This comes to -- this
39 project paid last year property taxes of a little over
40 the property they moved to $2,000, and this year in
41 2024 they’ll $37,000.  Over 30 years there will be a
42 little over three million, 3.6 million in property tax.
43 And community impact, first year, 2.2 million and over
44 30 years 12.3 million.  Thank you, sir.
45 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
46 Anymore discussion?
47 CINDY WILSON:  May I?
48 TOMMY DUNN:   Ms. Wilson.
49 CINDY WILSON:  Thank you, Mr.
50 Nelson, and all involved here.  Traditionally our



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
17

1 County Council has not approved fee in lieu of taxes
2 for commercial project except for our municipalities as
3 that’s about the only way they can really grow
4 economically.  And we really appreciate that
5 opportunity for our municipalities.  
6 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Ms.
7 Wilson.  Anyone else?  All in favor of the motion show
8 of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
9 carries unanimously.
10 Moving on to item number 7(e), 2023-051, an
11 Ordinance to amend an agreement for the development of
12 a joint county industrial and business park (2010 Park)
13 of Anderson and Greenville counties so as to enlarge
14 the park to include Project Austin.
15 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
16 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
17 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
18 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
19 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
20 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
21 Councilman Sanders.  Open the floor up for discussion. 
22 You need to say anything on this one?
23 BURRISS NELSON:  Just adding it
24 to the park.  Yes, sir. 
25 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else? 
26 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
27 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
28 We’re going to move on to item number 7(f),
29 2023-052, an Ordinance authorizing the execution of an
30 infrastructure credit agreement by and between
31 Anderson County and Project Trust providing for
32 payments in lieu of taxes, the issuance of special
33 source revenue credits, the inclusion of the property
34 in a multi-county park; and other matters related
35 thereto.  This is Project Trust.  
36 Put this in the form of a motion to put on the
37 floor?
38 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
39 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Ms.
40 Wilson.  Do we have a second?
41 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
42 TOMMY DUNN:   Second
43 Councilman Sanders.  Open the floor up for discussion. 
44 Mr. Nelson, start with you.
45 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you, Mr.
46 Chairman.  This is a family-owned company placing an
47 engineer structural steel assembly facility,
48 manufacturing facility, in Anderson County.  Trust is a
49 supplier of fabricated steel components and welded
50 assemblies.  And of course, like I said, family-owned



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
18

1 company investing 4.7 million.  Creating 60 jobs with
2 an average pay of $22.47 an hour.  New annual payroll a
3 little over 2.6 million.  The taxes paid at the site in
4 2022 $6,500; and in 2024 will be a little bit over
5 30,000.  The first year community impact 306,000, and
6 over 30 years 952,000.  Thank you, sir.
7 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you. 
8 Anymore discussion?  All in favor of the motion show of
9 hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion carries
10 unanimously.
11 We’re going to move on to item number 8, Resolution
12 8(a), 2023-052, a Resolution identifying a project to
13 satisfy the requirements of Title 12, Chapter 44 of the
14 South Carolina Code, so as to allow investment
15 expenditures incurred by a company known to the county
16 at this time as Project Chauga, its affiliates and
17 related entities, to qualify as expenditures eligible
18 for a fee-in-lieu of taxes arrangement with Anderson
19 County, South Carolina; and other matters related
20 thereto.  
21 Do we have a motion to put this on the floor?
22 CINDY WILSON:  So moved.
23 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion by
24 Councilman Elgin; second by Councilman Wilson.  Open
25 the floor up for discussion.  Mr. Nelson, do you need
26 to say anything?
27 BURRISS NELSON:  Well, just that
28 this is a restatement of the fee agreement in
29 resolution form.  But it’s the same thing for Project
30 Chauga.
31 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
32 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you.
33 TOMMY DUNN:   Anymore
34 discussion?
35 BRETT SANDERS:  Mr. Chairman?
36 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir, Mr.
37 Sanders.
38 BRETT SANDERS:  I’d just like
39 to say and thank Council and Economic Development
40 Department.  Just on this agenda alone tonight, there’s
41 over $111,000,000 of capital investment in Anderson
42 County; 350 new jobs created.  It’s not just new
43 companies.  We’ve got companies expanding.  So we have
44 -- we need to be proud of our county and our community. 
45 We have a community that can support these things that
46 shows that with these businesses expanding and
47 thriving.  I just want to thank everyone involved and
48 I’m happy and proud to be an Andersonian.  
49 Thank you, Mr. Nelson.
50 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
19

1 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you.  But
2 none of it would be possible without the support of
3 Council.  So thank you all for doing what you do. 
4 Thank you.
5 TOMMY DUNN:   Anyone else?
6 All in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed
7 like sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
8 Thank you, Mr. Nelson.  Appreciate you and your
9 team.
10 BURRISS NELSON:  Thank you.
11 TOMMY DUNN:   Going to move
12 on to item number 9(a), appointments.  We’ll start with
13 Councilman Glenn Davis.  Councilman Davis.
14 GLENN DAVIS:  Yes, sir. 
15 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I had a vacancy on the Museum
16 Advisory Committee and I’d like to appoint Ms. Ann
17 Berry to fill that position.  And I put that in the
18 form of a motion.
19 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
20 motion by Mr. Glenn Davis.  Do we have a second?
21 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
22 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
23 TOMMY DUNN:   Second by
24 Councilman Wilson.  Any discussion?  All in favor of
25 the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show
26 the motion carries unanimously.
27 We’re going to move on now to requests by Council
28 members.  And keep in mind, (b) has been pulled. 
29 That’s Tackling the Streets.  So we’re going to move on
30 now to Councilman Jimmy Davis.
31 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
32 Chair.  From the District 6 special appropriations
33 account, I would like to make a motion for these two
34 here, if I could, at the same time.  Anchored in His
35 Grace Ministry $250.00; Connect Powdersville $7,500.00. 
36 I make that in the form of a motion.
37 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
38 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
39 TOMMY DUNN:   Have a second
40 by Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  All in favor of the
41 motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the
42 motion carries unanimously.
43 Moving on to Councilman Sanders.
44 BRETT SANDERS:  Thank you, Mr.
45 Chairman.  Out of my appropriations requests, I’d like
46 to combine Anchored in His Grace Ministry $500.00; The
47 Zone Services, I think they were looking for like
48 $1,400.00 total.  I will give the $200.00 but if they
49 don’t get exactly what they need, I’ll be more than
50 happy to make up the difference.  Put that in the form



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
20

1 of a motion, sir.
2 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
3 TOMMY DUNN:   Motion Mr.
4 Sanders; second Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  All in
5 favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
6 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
7 Moving on to Councilman Glenn Davis.  Councilman.
8 GLENN DAVIS:  Yes, sir. 
9 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I’d like to do both of these
10 at the same time.  Out of District 2's special rec
11 account, I’d like to give Anchored in His Grace
12 Ministries $500.00; The Zone $1,000.00.  And I put that
13 in the form of a motion, sir.
14 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
15 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
16 motion by Mr. -- Councilman Glenn Davis and second by
17 Ms. Wilson.  Any discussion?  Are y’all good?  All in
18 favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
19 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
20 Moving on now to Councilman Elgin.  Councilman.
21 GREG ELGIN:  Yes, sir.  Out
22 of District 3 appropriation account, I’d like to do
23 both of these at one time if it’s okay.
24 TOMMY DUNN:   Yes, sir.
25 GREG ELGIN:  First one to
26 Anchored in His Grace Ministry $250.00; and Zone
27 Services also $250.00.  Make that in the form of a
28 motion.
29 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
30 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
31 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
32 motion by Councilman Elgin; second by Councilman
33 Sanders.  Any discussion?  All in favor of the motion
34 show of hands.  All opposed like sign.  Show the motion
35 carries unanimously.
36 We’re going to move on to Councilman Wright.
37 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you, Mr.
38 Chairman.  I’d also like to put these two in the form
39 of one motion.  For Anchored in His Grace Ministry,
40 from District 1's special rec account, I’d like to
41 appropriate $500.00; and for The Zone Service $200.00. 
42 I put that in the form of a motion.
43 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
44 CINDY WILSON:  Second.
45 TOMMY DUNN:   We have a
46 motion by Councilman Wright and second by Ms. -- I
47 mean, Mr. Sanders.  Anymore discussion?  All in favor
48 of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like sign. 
49 Show the motion carries unanimously.
50 Ms. Wilson.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
21

1 CINDY WILSON:  None at this
2 point.  Thank you.
3 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
4 Can somebody help me on that.  Anchored in His
5 Grace Ministries, they was asking for $3,500.00; is
6 that right?  $500.00 a piece?
7 BRETT SANDERS:  Yes.
8 TOMMY DUNN:   Five times
9 seven is 35?
10 JIMMY DAVIS:  Yep.
11 TOMMY DUNN:   I amaze myself
12 sometimes.  Now we’ll go -- we’ve got 1,750; is that
13 right?
14 BRETT SANDERS:  We had five,
15 five, that 1,000; five, that’s 1,500; two fifty. 
16 Seventeen fifty is where we ought to be right now.
17 TOMMY DUNN:   Again, I amaze
18 myself for getting that.  Okay.
19 BRETT SANDERS:  I did that from
20 memory.  You wrote it all down.
21 TOMMY DUNN:   I’ll make a
22 motion, let’s see, out of District 5's appropriation
23 account, Anchored in His Grace Ministries $1,500 and
24 The Zone Service, Inc., I believe they’ve already met
25 their limit, but they asked for $200 from each council
26 person, so I’ll appropriate $200 for them.  Put that in
27 the form of a motion.
28 BRETT SANDERS:  Second.
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Have a motion
30 and second by Councilman Sanders.  Any discussion?  All
31 in favor of the motion show of hands.  All opposed like
32 sign.  Show the motion carries unanimously.
33 Moving on now to Administrator’s Report.
34 RUSTY BURNS:  Nothing at this
35 time, Mr. Chairman.
36 TOMMY DUNN:   Moving on to
37 citizens comments.  Mr. Harmon.
38 LEON HARMON:  Mr. Chairman,
39 no one is signed up.
40 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Mr.
41 Harmon.
42 Remarks from Council members.  Ms. Wilson.
43 CINDY WILSON:  Well, just
44 simply a Happy Thanksgiving and safe travels to
45 everybody.  And aren’t we blessed to live in Anderson
46 County.  Thank you.
47 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you, Ms.
48 Wilson.  Councilman Wright.
49 JOHN WRIGHT:  Thank you, Mr.
50 Chairman.  Just to echo Ms. Wilson’s comments.  Hope



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
22

1 everybody has a wonderful Thanksgiving.  And while I
2 think we should express our gratitude year around, I
3 guess there is something special about this particular
4 holiday.  So I want to acknowledge, I am thankful for
5 Mr. Burns, Mr. Harmon and the rest of our staff for
6 everything they do day in and day out, because I think
7 we do live in the greatest county in this country.  So
8 thank you.
9 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you,
10 Councilman Wright.  Moving on to Councilman Elgin.
11 GREG ELGIN:  Yes, sir.  Same
12 thing.  Happy Thanksgiving to everybody.  I’m thankful
13 for all of our county employees and everything they do
14 daily.  We couldn’t do what we do without great
15 employees.  So thank all of you.
16 Second of all, I want to express my sincere
17 thoughts and prayers to Deputy Lucas Watts of Oconee
18 County and with his family, both blood and blue family. 
19 He was shot in the line of duty last week and he’s
20 still hanging on and needs all the prayers he can.  So
21 just want to express my greatest prayers for him and
22 his family during this time.  Thank you.
23 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
24 Councilman Glenn Davis.
25 GLENN DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
26 Chairman.  I’m not going to go on, but my fellow
27 Council members have said it all.  I don’t have
28 anything else.  Thank you, sir.
29 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
30 Councilman Sanders.
31 BRETT SANDERS:  I think
32 everyone has said what I want to say.  Basically I’m
33 just thankful.  Thank you.
34 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.
35 Councilman Jimmy Davis.
36 JIMMY DAVIS:  Thank you, Mr.
37 Chair.  I wrote a long speech, so y’all just hang
38 tight.  I want to thank all of you, my fellow Council
39 representatives for all the work that you do.  We make
40 a good team.  I told one of you here recently, we may
41 not always get along at the end of the day, but we
42 respect each other and we get the job done, and we 
43 move forward.  As Ms. Wilson likes to say, onward and
44 upward.  And we do a good job of that.  And we
45 represent the people of Anderson County well.  And I
46 appreciate all of you.  I wish you and all of your
47 family a very Happy and Blessed Thanksgiving, too.  The
48 administrator and his staff and our county employees,
49 please be safe and Happy Thanksgiving.  Thank you, Mr.
50 Chair.



Anderson County Council - County Council Meeting - November 21, 2023
23

1 TOMMY DUNN:   Thank you.  I
2 want to echo, I appreciate all of y’all, appreciate the
3 staff, appreciate everybody.  Main thing, I hope
4 everybody stays safe.  I want to give my heartfelt
5 sympathy and hope we keep our prayers and mind on the
6 Oconee County deputy, him and his family for recovery. 
7 I know it’s tough.  And also, as Councilman Wright
8 said, we should be thanksgiving 365 days a year; not
9 just this one day.  Let’s keep that going and keep that
10 special.
11 Also, tonight, finishing up, I want to appoint an
12 ad hoc committee with Councilman Sanders Chairman,
13 Councilman Elgin and Councilman John Wright.  What this
14 committee is going to do, it’s going to look and make
15 sure -- it’s been brought to my attention -- to make
16 sure we get the most of our compliance officers.  I
17 want to make sure we can streamline it.  If
18 everything’s fine, that’s fine.  But I want to make
19 sure we don’t send out -- we’ve got to send out four
20 people to write one ticket.  We just need to check on
21 that and make sure we get the most out of it.
22 Appreciate y’all.  Have a good and Happy
23 Thanksgiving.
24
25  (MEETING ADJOURNED AT 7:04 P.M.)



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-031 
 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, LAKE HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT GROUP 
LLC, D/B/A THE SHORES OF ASBURY WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY IN THE COUNTY, WHEREBY 
SUCH PROPERTY WILL RECEIVE CERTAIN SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS IN 
RESPECT OF INVESTMENT IN RELATED INFRASTRUCTURE; AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
WHEREAS, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), acting by and 

through its County Council (the “County Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to 
the provisions of Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park Act”) and Title 4, Chapter 29, of the Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, to enter into agreements with industry whereby the industry 
would pay fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to qualified projects; to provide infrastructure credits against 
payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in respect of investment in certain infrastructure enhancing the 
economic development of the County; through all such powers the industrial development of the State of 
South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing manufacturing and 
commercial enterprises to locate or remain in the State and thus utilize and employ the manpower, products 
and resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, 
employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; and 

 WHEREAS, the County is authorized by Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act to 
provide special source credits against payments in lieu of taxes to provide reimbursement to companies in 
respect of investment in infrastructure enhancing the economic development of the County, including 
improvements to real estate and personal property including machinery and equipment used in the 
operation of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise, within the meaning of Section 4-29-68, Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (“Infrastructure”); and 

 WHEREAS, the County Council of Anderson County (“County Council”) has agreed to assist  
Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC, d/b/a The Shores of Asbury a South Carolina limited liability 
company (the “Landlord” and together with the Operating Company, the “Company”) (formerly known to 
the County as “Project Shoreline”), in the expansion by the Company of a multi-use recreational park in the 
County (the “Project”) by (i) adding the Company to a joint county industrial and business park established 
by the County with an adjoining South Carolina county pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South 
Carolina Constitution and Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act (a “Park”) and (ii) pursuant to the 
Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act, providing for certain special source credits against payments 
in lieu of taxes by the Company from and with respect to the Project in qualified Infrastructure used in the 
establishment and operation of the Project; and 

 WHEREAS, the Company has represented that the Project will involve a combined investment of 
approximately $1,500,000 in the County within the Investment Period (as such term is defined in the 
hereinafter defined Special Source Credit Agreement; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County intends to cause the Project, to the extent 
not already therein located, to be placed in a joint county industrial and business park such that the Project 
will receive the benefits of the Multi-County Park Act; and 



2 

WHEREAS, the County Council has agreed, pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County 
Park Act, to provide special source credit financing of the Infrastructure with respect to the Project by 
providing a credit (a “Special Source Credit”) to the Company against payments in lieu of taxes for the 
Project in the Park (the “Fee Payments”) for a period of fifty (50) consecutive years or until the termination 
of the Sublease Agreement dated as of December 15, 2020 by and between Anderson County and the 
Landlord, whichever comes first, commencing with the annual Fee Payment to be first payable on or before 
the January 15 immediately following the year immediately following the first year in which any portion of 
the Project is first placed in service, in an annual amount sufficient to reduce the amount of each such Fee 
Payment due for each such tax year, so that the resulting net Fee Payment due and payable by the 
Companies equals the Net Sales Payment for that year (as defined herein). Such Special Source Credits 
are subject to the Company meeting the investment set forth herein, and all as set forth more fully in the 
Special Source Credit Agreement between the County and the Company presented to this meeting (the 
“Special Source Credit Agreement”). As defined in the Special Source Credit Agreement, Net Sales 
shale mean gross sales at the Project, minus cost of goods sold, selling, general administrative expenses, 
taxes and interest, but excluding depreciation (“Net Sales”); and Net Sales Payment shall mean the 
annual net sales payment made to the County pursuant to the Sublease Agreement in an amount equal to 
three percent (3%) of Net Sales (a “Net Sales Payment”); and 

 WHEREAS, the County has determined and found, on the basis of representations of the 
Company, that the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; and, that the 
Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated municipality or a charge 
against the general credit or taxing power of either; that the purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., 
economic development, retention of jobs, and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper 
governmental and public purposes; 

 WHEREAS, the County Council has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting the form 
of the Special Source Credit Agreement which the County proposes to execute and deliver; and 

 WHEREAS, it appears that the Special Sourced Credit Agreement above referred to, which is now 
before this meeting, is in appropriate form and is an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered or 
approved by the County for the purposes intended;   

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows: 

Section 1. The Chairman of the County Council and the County Administrator, for and on 
behalf of the County, are hereby authorized to execute and deliver the Special Source Credit Agreement, in 
substantially the form attached hereto, or with such minor changes as are not materially adverse to the 
County and as such officials shall determine and as are not inconsistent with the matters contained herein, 
and are directed to do anything otherwise necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the Special 
Source Credit Agreement and the performance of all obligations of the County under and pursuant to the 
Special Source Credit Agreement. 

Section 2. Revenues generated for the Multi-County Park from the Project through the 
Special Source Credit Agreement to be retained by the County under the agreement governing the Multi-
County Park (“Net Park Fees”) shall be distributed within the County as follows: 

(a) 15% of such Net Park Fees shall be deposited to the Bond Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 
and used as required or permitted thereby; 



3 

(b) 35% of such Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 2018-042, shall be 
deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County; and 

(c) remaining Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entities in the County which 
levy an old ad valorem property tax in any areas comprising the County portion of the Multi-County 
Park in the same percentage as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and 
proportion of operating and debt service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property 
tax purposes. 

Section 3. The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator and the Clerk to 
County Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things 
necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the Special Source Credit Agreement and the performance 
of all obligations of the County thereunder. 

Section 4. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 
section, phrase or provisions shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, 
phrases and provisions hereunder. 

Section 5. All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent 
of such conflict, hereby repealed. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its 
passage by the County Council. 

 
 ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this __ day of ______, 2023.  
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 

By:         
Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 

 
 
Attest: 
 
 
 
By:       

Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 
By:       

Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 
 
 



4 

Approved as to form: 
 
 
By:       

Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 
 
First Reading: ___________, 2023  
Second Reading:    , 2023  
Third Reading: ___________, 2023  
Public Hearing: ___________, 2023 
 
 
 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received unanimous approval, by the County Council at its meetings of _________, 2023, _________, 
2023, and _________, 2023, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and 
voted, and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
 
 By:        

Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 
Dated: _________, 2023 
 
 
 



HSB 7224521 v.7

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

among 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 

and 

PROJECT SHORELINE 

Dated as of ___________, 2023 

                ***DOCUMENT UNDER FURTHER REVISION FOR THIRD READING***



 

HSB 7224521 v.7  

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 

THIS SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of _________ __, 2023 (the 
“Agreement”), among ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and corporate and a 
political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), and PROJECT SHORELINE, 
consisting of LAKE HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT GROUP LLC D/B/A THE SHORES OF 
ASBURY, a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina, 
(“Company”). 

W I T N E S S E T H : 

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (the “County Council”) is 
authorized by Section 4-1-175 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Infrastructure 
Credit Act”), to provide special source credit financing, secured by and payable solely from revenues of the 
County derived from payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina 
Constitution, for the purpose of defraying the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or 
expanding the infrastructure serving the County and for improved and unimproved real estate and personal 
property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or 
commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County, all within the meaning 
of Section 4-29-68 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Infrastructure”); and 

WHEREAS, the Company will operate the Project (as defined below) on the land in the County 
described in Exhibit A hereto, subleased by the Company (the “Land”) (Exhibit A) pursuant to that certain 
Sublease Agreement dated as of December 15, 2020 by and between Anderson County and the Company (the 
“Sublease Agreement”), as amended; and 

WHEREAS, the Company has represented that it intends to invest in the acquisition, construction 
and installation of buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real 
and/or tangible personal property to constitute an expansion of their existing facilities in the County for the 
development of a multi-use recreational park (the “Project”), which will result in an expected aggregate 
investment of approximately $1,500,000 by December 31 of the fifth (5th) year after the year in which any 
portion of the Project is first placed in service (the “Investment Period”); and 

WHEREAS, the County and Greenville County have established a joint county industrial and 
business park (the “Park”) by entering into an Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial 
and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended (the “Park Agreement”), pursuant 
to the provisions of Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4, Chapter 1 Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976 (collectively, the “Multi-County Park Act”), as amended, and have designated 
or will designate the Land as being included within the Park, and the County desires to cause the Park to 
continue to be located in the Park or such other multi-county industrial and business park so as to afford the 
Company the benefits of the Infrastructure Credit Act and the Multi-County Park Act as provided herein; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Park Agreement, the Company is obligated to make 
or cause to be made payments in lieu of taxes in the total amount equivalent to the ad valorem property taxes, 
or, if applicable, any negotiated payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to the Code of Laws of South Carolina 
1976, as amended, including Title 12, Chapter 44 thereof (the “FILOT Act”), that would have been due and 
payable but for the location of the Project within the Park; and 



 

2 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Infrastructure Credit Act, the County has agreed to provide certain 
credits to the Company in respect of the Company’ investment in the Infrastructure with respect to the 
Project, and is delivering this Agreement in furtherance thereof; and 

WHEREAS, the County Council has duly authorized execution and delivery of this Agreement by 
ordinance duly enacted by the County Council on ________, 2023, following conducting a public hearing on 
________, 2023.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective representations and agreements hereinafter 
contained, the County and the Company agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

The terms defined in this Article I shall for all purposes of this Agreement have the meanings herein 
specified, unless the context clearly otherwise requires.  Except where the context otherwise requires, words 
importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa.   

“Agreement” shall mean this Agreement, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented 
in accordance with the terms hereof. 

“Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended. 

 “Company” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such terms in the recitals to this 
Agreement. 

“Cost of the Infrastructure” shall mean to extent permitted by law, the cost of acquiring, by 
construction and purchase, the Infrastructure and shall be deemed to include, whether incurred prior to or 
after the date of this Agreement: (a) obligations incurred for labor, materials, and other expenses to builders 
and materialmen in connection with the acquisition, construction, and installation of the Infrastructure; (b) the 
cost of design and engineering of the Infrastructure; (c) the cost of construction bonds and of insurance of all 
kinds that may be required or necessary during the course of construction and installation of the 
Infrastructure, which is not paid by the contractor or contractors or otherwise provided for; (d) the expenses 
for test borings, surveys, test and pilot operations, estimates, plans and specifications and preliminary 
investigations therefor, and for supervising construction, as well as for the performance of all other duties 
required by or reasonably necessary in connection with the acquisition, construction, and installation of the 
Infrastructure; (e) all other costs which shall be required under the terms of any contract for the acquisition, 
construction, and installation of the Infrastructure; and (f) all legal, accounting and related costs properly 
capitalizable to the cost of the Infrastructure. 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina and its successors and assigns.  

“Fee Payments” shall mean the payments in lieu of taxes made by the Company with respect to the 
Project by virtue of the Project’s location in (a) the Park or (b) in any joint county industrial park created by 
the County and a partner county pursuant to the Park Agreement qualifying under Section 4-1-170 of the 
Multi-County Park Act or any successor provision. 

“FILOT Act” shall mean Title 12, Section 44, of the Code. 



 

3 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

“Gross Sales” shall mean the total sales of the Company related to the Project after discounts and 
returns, unadjusted for the costs related to generating the sales.  

“Gross Sales Payment” shall mean the gross sales payment made to the County in an amount equal 
to three percent (3%) of Gross Sales. 

“Infrastructure” shall mean infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real 
estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of the Project, within 
the meaning of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Infrastructure Credit Act” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals 
to this Agreement. 

“Investment Period” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this 
Agreement. 

 “Investment Target” shall mean the investment by the Company of approximately $1,500,000 in the 
Project. 

 “Land” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this Agreement. 

“Multi-County Park Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code, and all future acts amendatory 
thereto. 

“Net Sales” shall mean gross sales at the Project, minus cost of goods sold, selling, general and 
administrative expenses, taxes, interest, and depreciation. 

“Net Sales Payment” shall mean the net sales payment made to the County pursuant to the Sublease 
Agreement in an amount equal to three percent (3%) of the Net Sales. 

“ Company” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this 
Agreement. 

“Ordinance” shall mean the ordinance enacted by the County Council on _____________, 2023, 
authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 

“Park Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010 between the County and Greenville County, South 
Carolina, as the same may be further amended or supplemented from time to time or such other agreement as 
the County may enter with respect to the Project to offer the benefits of the Infrastructure Credit Act to the 
Company hereunder. 

“Park” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms of the Park 
Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor park agreement delivered 
by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 of the Act, or any successor 
provision, with respect to the Project.  

“Person” shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock 
company, a trust, any unincorporated organization, or a government or political subdivision. 

“Project” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this Agreement. 



 

4 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

“Special Source Credits” shall mean the credits to the Fee Payments in respect of the Company’ 
investment in Cost of the Infrastructure set forth in Section 3.02(a) hereof. 

“Sublease Agreement” shall mean the Sublease Agreement dated as of December 15, 2020 by and 
between Anderson County and the Company, as the same may be further amended or supplemented from 
time to time. 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

SECTION 2.01.  Representations by the County.  The County makes the following representations 
and covenants as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South 
Carolina and is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. By proper action by the County 
Council, the County has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and any and all 
agreements collateral thereto. 

(b) The County proposes to provide the Special Source Credits to reimburse the Company for a 
portion of the Cost of the Infrastructure for the purpose of promoting economic development of the County. 

(c) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, the County is not in 
violation of any of the provisions of the laws of the State of South Carolina, where any such default would 
affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, the authorization, 
execution and delivery of this Agreement, the enactment of the Ordinance, and performance of the 
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not, to the best knowledge of the County, 
conflict with, or result in the violation or breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under, or 
create any lien, charge or encumbrance under the provisions of (i) the Constitution of the State or any law, 
rule, or regulation of any governmental authority, (ii) any agreement to which the County is a party, or (iii) 
any judgment, order, or decree to which the County is a party or by which it is bound.   

(e) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, there is no action, 
suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public 
board which is pending or threatened challenging the creation, organization or existence of the County or its 
governing body or the power of the County to enter into the transactions contemplated hereby or wherein an 
unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated hereby or would 
affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this Agreement, or any other agreement or 
instrument to which the County is a party and which is to be used in connection with or is contemplated by 
this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County is there 
any basis therefor. 

SECTION 2.02.  Representations and Covenants by the Company.  The Company makes the 
following representations and warranties as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The Company is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing, and in good 
standing under the laws of the State of South Carolina and qualified to do business in the State of South 



 

5 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

Carolina, has power to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder, and by proper 
corporate action has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement. 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
will result in a material breach of any of the terms, conditions, or provisions of any corporate restriction or 
any agreement or instrument to which the Company are now a party or by which it is bound, or will 
constitute a default under any of the foregoing, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, or 
encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Company, other than as may 
be created or permitted by this Agreement. 

(c) The Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Investment Target to 
be achieved during the Investment Period. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or 
investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public board which is pending or 
threatened challenging the power of the Company to enter into the transactions contemplated hereby or 
wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated 
hereby or would affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this Agreement, or any other 
agreement or instrument to which the Company is a party and which is to be used in connection with or is 
contemplated by this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of the Company is there any basis 
therefore.  

(e) The Company agrees to reimburse the County for all reasonable expenses, including 
attorney’s fees, to which it might be put in the review of this Agreement and in the fulfillment of its 
obligations under this Agreement and in the implementation of its terms and provisions. 

(f) The Company agrees to maintain such books and records with respect to the Project as will 
permit verification of the Company’s compliance with the terms of this Agreement and the certifications 
submitted to the County pursuant to Section 3.02 hereof. The Company, may, by clear, written designation, 
conspicuously marked, designate with respect to any book and records delivered or made available to the 
County segments thereof that the Company believes contain proprietary, confidential or trade secret matters. 
The County shall comply with all reasonable written requests made by the Company with respect to 
maintaining the confidentiality of such designated segments. Except to the extent required by law, the County 
shall not release information which has been designated as confidential or proprietary by the Company. 

SECTION 2.03.  Covenants of the County. 

(a) To the best of its ability, the County will at all times maintain its corporate existence and will 
use its best efforts to maintain, preserve, and renew all its rights, powers and privileges; and it will comply 
with all valid acts, rules, regulations, orders, and directions of any legislative, executive, administrative, or 
judicial body applicable to this Agreement. 

(b) The County acknowledges that the Park Agreement will expire pursuant to its terms on 
December 1, 2040 (the “Original Termination Date”). In the event of any early termination of the Park 
Agreement or the termination of the Park Agreement on the Original Termination Date, the County agrees to 
use its best reasonable efforts to cause the Project, at the Company’s expense, pursuant to Section 4-1-170 of 
the Act or any successor provision, to be included in a duly authorized, executed and delivered successor 
joint county industrial park agreement with an adjoining South Carolina county, which successor agreement 
shall contain a termination date occurring no earlier than the final year as to which any Special Source Credit 
shall be payable under this Agreement. 



 

6 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

(c) The County covenants that it will from time to time, at the request and expense of the  
Company, execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be reasonable and 
as may be required to carry out the purpose of this Agreement; provided, however, that such instruments or 
actions shall never create or constitute a general obligation or an indebtedness of the County within the 
meaning of any State constitutional provision (other than the provisions of Article X, Section 14(10) of the 
South Carolina Constitution) or statutory limitation and shall never constitute or give rise to a pecuniary 
liability of the County or a charge against its general credit or taxing power or pledge the full faith, credit or 
taxing power of the State, or any other political subdivision of the State. 

ARTICLE III 

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS 
 
SECTION 3.01.  Payment of Costs of Infrastructure.   

The Company shall be responsible for payment of all Costs of the Infrastructure with respect to the 
Project as and when due.   

SECTION 3.02.  Special Source Credits.   

(a) In order to reimburse the Company for a portion of the Cost of the Infrastructure with 
respect to the Project, commencing with the annual Fee Payment to be first payable on or before the January 
15 immediately following the first year in which any portion of the Project is first placed in service, the 
County shall provide to the Company an annual Special Source Credit against each Fee Payment due with 
respect to the Project for a period of fifty (50) consecutive years or until the termination of the Sublease 
Agreement, whichever comes first, in an amount sufficient to reduce the amount of each such Fee Payment 
due for each such tax year, so that the resulting net Fee Payment due and payable by the Company equals the 
following:  

a. For a tax year in which the Company’s net, pre-tax profits related to the Project are fifteen 
percent (15%) or less of Gross Sales, the Net Sales Payment for that year, which is to be 
calculated as set forth in Exhibit B.  

b. For a tax year in which the Company’s net, pre-tax profits related to the Project exceed 
fifteen percent (15%) or more of Gross Sales, the Gross Sales Payment for that year, which 
is to be calculated as set forth in Exhibit B. 

(b) As a condition to the Special Source Credit benefit provided herein, the Company agrees to 
provide the County Administrator, the County Assessor, the County Auditor and the County Treasurer with 
an annual certification as to the Net Sales Payment or Gross Sales Payment made with respect to the Project 
for that year. Such certification shall be in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, and shall be 
due no later than the May 1 following the immediately preceding December 31 of each year. 

(c) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the  Company 
be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the 
Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken.  The  Company hereby waives the right, if any, to receive 
any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the Project for which a Special Source 
Credit is taken. The  Company agrees that notwithstanding such waiver, if they receive any abatement of ad 
valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken, the 
amount of the Special Source Credit that the Company is otherwise eligible to receive shall be reduced by the 



 

7 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

amount of the abatement ad valorem taxes for the portion of the investment in the Project for which a Special 
Source Credit is taken.  

(d) In no event shall the aggregate amount of all Special Source Credits claimed by the  
Company exceed the amount expended by them collectively with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in 
time. The Company shall be responsible for making written annual certification as to compliance with the 
provisions of the preceding sentence through the delivery of a certification in substantially the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit B.  

(e) Should the Investment Target not be met by the end of the Investment Period, any Special 
Source Credits otherwise payable under this Agreement shall no longer be payable by the County, and the 
Company shall be retroactively liable to the County for the amount of the Special Source Credits 
previously received by the Company, plus interest at the rate payable for late payment of taxes.  

(f) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Special Source Credit is taken 
against fee in lieu of tax payment on personal property, and the personal property is removed from the Project 
at any time during the term of this Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying replacement property), the 
amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal property for the year in which the personal property was 
removed from the Project shall be due for the two (2) years immediately following such removal.  

(g) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS BECOMING DUE 
HEREUNDER ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY 
SOLELY FROM THE FEE PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY THE COUNTY FOR THE PROJECT 
PURSUANT TO THE PARK AGREEMENT, AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE A 
GENERAL OBLIGATION OR AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY WITHIN THE MEANING OF 
ANY CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION (OTHER THAN THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE X, 
SECTION 14(10) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION) OR STATUTORY LIMITATION 
AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY 
OF THE COUNTY OR A CHARGE AGAINST ITS GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING POWER.  THE 
FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE NOT PLEDGED FOR THE 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS. 

(h) No breach by the County of this Agreement shall result in the imposition of any pecuniary 
liability upon the County or any charge upon its general credit or against its taxing power. The liability of the 
County under this Agreement or of any warranty herein included or for any breach or default by the County 
of any of the foregoing shall be limited solely and exclusively to the Fee Payments for the Project in the Park. 
The County shall not be required to execute or perform any of its duties, obligations, powers, or covenants 
hereunder except to the extent of the Fee Payments. 

ARTICLE IV 

CONDITIONS TO DELIVERY OF AGREEMENT; 
TITLE TO PROJECT 

SECTION 4.01.  Documents to be Provided by County.  Prior to or simultaneously with the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement, the County shall provide to the Company: 

(a) A copy of the Ordinance, duly certified by the Clerk of the County Council to have been 
duly enacted by the County and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification; and 



 

8 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

(b) A copy of the Park Agreement, duly certified by the Clerk of the County Council to have 
been duly enacted by the County and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification; and  

(c) Such additional related certificates, instruments or other documents as the Company may 
reasonably request in a form and substance acceptable to the Company and the County. 

SECTION 4.02.  Transfers of Project; Assignment of Interest in this Agreement by the  Company. 
Subject to the provisions of Section 7.01 hereof, the County hereby acknowledges that the Company may 
from time to time and in accordance with applicable law, sell, transfer, lease, convey, or grant the right to 
occupy and use the Project, in whole or in part, or assign its interest in this Agreement, to others; provided, 
however, that any transfer by the  Company of any of its interest in this Agreement to any other Person shall 
require the prior written consent of the County, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. No such sale, 
lease, conveyance, grant or assignment shall relieve the County from the County’s obligations to provide 
Special Source Credits to the  Company, as the case may be, or any assignee of the same, under this 
Agreement as long as such assignee is qualified to receive the Special Source Credits under the Infrastructure 
Credit Act. 

SECTION 4.03.  Assignment by County.  The County shall not assign, transfer, or convey its 
obligations to provide Special Source Credits hereunder to any other Person, except as may be required by 
South Carolina law. 

ARTICLE V 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

SECTION 5.01.  Events of Default.  If the County or the Company shall fail duly and punctually to 
perform any covenant, condition, agreement or provision contained in this Agreement on its part to be 
performed, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice by the County or 
the Company, respectively, specifying the failure and requesting that it be remedied is given to the County by 
the Company, or to the Company by the County, by first-class mail, the County or the Company, 
respectively, shall be in default under this Agreement (an “Event of Default”). 

SECTION 5.02.  Remedies and Legal Proceedings by the Company or the County.  Upon the 
happening and continuance of any Event of Default, then and in every such case the Company or the County, 
as the case may be, in their discretion may: 

(a) by mandamus, or other suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce all of its or 
their rights and require the other party to carry out any agreements with or for its benefit and to perform 
its or their duties under the Act and this Agreement; 

(b) bring suit upon this Agreement; 

(c) exercise any or all rights and remedies provided by applicable laws of the State of South 
Carolina; or 

(d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation of 
its rights. 



 

9 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

SECTION 5.03.  Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy in this Agreement conferred upon or reserved 
to the County or the Company hereunder is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and 
each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under 
this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

SECTION 5.04.  Nonwaiver.  No delay or omission of the County or the Company to exercise any 
right or power accruing upon any default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be 
construed to be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default, or an acquiescence therein; and every power 
and remedy given by this Article V to any party may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be 
deemed expedient. 

ARTICLE VI 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 6.01.  Termination.  Subject to Sections 5.01 and 5.02 above, this Agreement shall 
terminate on the date upon which all Special Source Credits provided for herein have been credited to the 
applicable Company. 

SECTION 6.02.  Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements 
in this Agreement contained, by or on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the County, shall bind or inure to the 
benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any officer, board, commission, agency, or 
instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of the County, shall be transferred. 

SECTION 6.03.  Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of the County and the Company.  Except 
as in this Agreement otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied is 
intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person other than the County and the Company any right, 
remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement, this Agreement being intended to be for the sole and 
exclusive benefit of the County and the Company. 

SECTION 6.04.  Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall, for 
any reason, be held to be illegal or invalid, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision of 
this Agreement, and the Special Source Credits shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid 
provisions had not been contained herein or therein. 

SECTION 6.05.  No Liability for Personnel of the County or the Company.  No covenant or 
agreement contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the covenant or agreement of any member, 
agent, or employee of the County or its governing body or the Company or any of its officers, employees, or 
agents in his individual capacity, and neither the members of the governing body of the County nor any 
official executing this Agreement shall be liable personally on the Special Source Credits or this Agreement 
or be subject to any personal liability of accountability by reason of the issuance thereof. 



 

10 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

 

SECTION 6.06.  Notices.  All notices, certificates, requests, or other communications under this 
Agreement shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given, unless otherwise required by this 
Agreement, when (i) delivered or (ii) sent by facsimile and confirmed by United States certified mail, return-
receipt requested, restricted delivery, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

(a) if to the County: Anderson County 
Attn: County Administrator  
101 S. Main Street  
Anderson, South Carolina 29624  
 

 with a copy to: 
(which shall not 
constitute notice 
to the County)  

Anderson County Attorney 
101 S. Main Street 
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 
 
 

   
(b) if to the Company: Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC  

Attn: Karen Alayne McCollough  
P.O. Box 3763 
Anderson, SC 29625 
 

 with a copy to: 
(which shall not 
constitute notice 
to the Company) 

Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A. 
Attn: J. Philip Land, Jr. (pland@hsblawfirm.com) 
One North Main Street, 2nd Floor 
Greenville, South Carolina 29601 
 

 
A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate, request or other communication given under this 

Agreement to the County or the Company shall also be given to the others. The County and the Company 
may, by notice given under this Section 6.06, designate any further or different addresses to which 
subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be sent. 

SECTION 6.07.  Applicable Law.  The laws of the State of South Carolina shall govern the 
construction of this Agreement. 

SECTION 6.08.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 
each of which, when so executed and delivered, shall be an original; but such counterparts shall together 
constitute but one and the same instrument. 

SECTION 6.09.  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of the 
parties hereto. 

SECTION 6.10.  Waiver.  Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or 
condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

SECTION 6.11.  Indemnity. 

(a) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the County, its 
members, officers, elected officials, employees, servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified 



 

11 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

Parties”) shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Agreement, or the undertakings 
required of the County hereunder, by reason of the granting of the Special Source Credits, by reason of 
the execution of this Agreement, by the reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the 
Company, or by reason of the County’s relationship to the Project or by the operation of the Project by 
the Company, including all claims, liabilities or losses arising in connection with the violation of any 
statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the County or any of the other 
Indemnified Parties should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such event the  Company shall 
indemnify, defend and hold them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or 
corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection with any such 
claim or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice, the  Company 
shall defend them in any such action or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County (the 
approval of which shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that such indemnity shall not 
apply to the extent that any such claim is proximately caused by (i) the grossly negligent acts or 
omissions or willful misconduct of the County, its agents, officers or employees, or (ii) any breach of this 
Agreement by the County. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the above-referenced 
covenants insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any Indemnified Party resulting 
from any of the above-described acts of or failure to act by the Company, shall survive any termination of 
this Agreement. 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 



 

12 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Anderson County, South Carolina, has caused this Agreement to be 
executed by the Chairman of Anderson County Council and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed and 
attested by the Clerk of its County Council and Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC d/b/a The Shores of 
Asbury have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective authorized officers, all as of the day 
and year first above written. 

 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL) By:_______________________________________ 
  Chairman of County Council 
 
 
 By:_______________________________________ 
  County Administrator 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Clerk to County Council of  
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 

[Signature page 1 to Special Source Credit Agreement] 



 

13 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

       
      LAKE HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT GROUP LLC 
      d/b/a THE SHORES OF ASBURY 
 
      By:_______________________________________ 
      Name:__________________________________ 
      Title:___________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

[Signature page 2 to Special Source Credit Agreement] 
 
 



 

A-1 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

EXHIBIT A 

REAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION  
 

 
 
 
 



 

B-1 
HSB 7224521 v.7  

EXHIBIT B 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT AND  
FEE PAYMENT CERTIFICATION 

 
I ________________, the _____________ of ________________, do hereby certify in connection 

with the Special Source Credit Agreement dated as of ___________, 2023 (the “Agreement”) between 
Anderson County, South Carolina, ________________ (the “ Company”) as follows: 
 

(1) As of December 31, 20__, the total amount of investment in Cost of the Infrastructure at 
the Project by the Company is not less than $______________. 
 

(2) The Fee Payment owed by the Company would be in an amount equal to $___________ 
(assessed value of the Property) x 6% x ______ mills.  

(3)  Gross Sales of the Project for the year ending December 31, 20__ equal $___________. 

(4) The Company’s net, pre-tax profits related to the Project for the year ending December 31, 
20__ equal $___________. 

(5) The Company’s net, pre-tax profits related to the Project is _____% of Gross Sales, 
pursuant to the following formula:  

$ _________ (net pre-tax profits) / $ _________ (Gross Sales) x 100 = ____% of Gross Sales. 

(6) Check whether a Net Sales Payment or Gross Sales Payment will be made: 

 Because the Company’s net, pre-tax profits are equal to or less than 15% of Gross 
Sales, consistent with Section 3.02 of the Agreement, the Company requests that the County 
apply a special source credit against the Fee Payment otherwise due and payable to the County 
such that the Fee Payment is equal to 3% of Net Sales for the year ending December 31, 20__, 
which is equal to $___________. 

 Because the Company’s net, pre-tax profits exceed 15% of Gross Sales, consistent 
with Section 3.02 of the Agreement, the Company requests that the County apply a special source 
credit against the Fee Payment otherwise due and payable to the County such that the Fee 
Payment is equal to 3% of Gross Sales for the year ending December 31, 20__, which is equal to 
$___________. 

All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. 
 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
 
 
 By:       
 Name:       
 Its:       
 



HSB 7253602 v.2  

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-032 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR THE DEVELOPMENT 

OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK (2010 PARK) OF 
ANDERSON AND GREENVILLE COUNTIES SO AS TO ENLARGE THE PARK 
TO INCLUDE CERTAIN PROPERTY OF LAKE HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT 
GROUP LLC, D/B/A THE SHORES OF ASBURY AND OTHER MATTERS 
RELATED THERETO. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 2010-026 enacted by Anderson County Council 
on November 16, 2010 and Ordinance No. 4391 enacted November 2, 2010 by Greenville County 
Council, Anderson and Greenville Counties entered into an Agreement for the Development of a 
Joint County Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010 (the 
“Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Agreement, the boundaries of the park 
created therein (the “Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinances of the County Councils of 
Anderson County and Greenville County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with certain incentives being offered by Anderson County to  
Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC, d/b/a The Shores of Asbury, it is now desired that the 
boundaries of the Park be enlarged to include certain parcels in Anderson County;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council that: 
 
 1. Exhibit A to the Agreement is hereby and shall be amended and revised to include 
the property located in Anderson County described in the schedule attached to this Ordinance, and, 
pursuant to Section 3(B) of the Agreement, upon adoption by Greenville County Council of a 
corresponding ordinance, the Agreement shall be deemed amended to so include such property and 
Exhibit A as so revised, without further action by either county. 

 
2. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of Ordinances 

not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 
 

 3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
 
 4. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
rescinded. 
 
 5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 
Enactment by Anderson County Council. 

 
 



HSB 7253602 v.2  

 
 
 
 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
________________________________ _______________________________ 
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
_____________________________ 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon 
County Attorney 

 

1st Reading: August 15, 2023 

2nd Reading: September 5, 2023 

3rd Reading: December 5, 2023 

Public Hearing: December 5, 2023 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 



 A-1 
HSB 7253602 v.2  

Addition to Exhibit A to 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 

Business Park dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, 
between Anderson County and Greenville County 

 
[045-09-04-038] 

 



HSB 7253602 v.2  

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
      ) 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON    ) 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of ___________, 2023, ________, 2022 and 
_________, 2022, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, and 
an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Clerk, Anderson County Council 
 
 
Dated: ________, 2022 
 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-035 
 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FEE-IN-LIEU 
OF AD VALOREM TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT 
AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA AND PRO FAB MANUFACTURING, LLC TO PROVIDE 
FOR PAYMENT OF A FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAXES; AUTHORIZING THE 
EXPANSION OF A MULTI-COUNTY BUSINESS PARK; AUTHORIZING 
CERTAIN SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS AND OTHER 
RELATED MATTERS.  
 

WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council 
(“County Council”) is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44, Code of Laws of South 
Carolina, 1976, as amended (“FILOT Act”), to encourage manufacturing and commercial enterprises to 
locate in the State of South Carolina (“South Carolina” or “State”) or to encourage manufacturing and 
commercial enterprises now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and 
employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the State by entering into an agreement with a 
sponsor, as defined in the FILOT Act, that provides for the payment of a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem tax 
(“FILOT Payments”), with respect to economic development property, as defined in the FILOT Act; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4, Section 
1, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (collectively, “MCIP Act”), the County is authorized 
to jointly develop multicounty parks (a “MCIP Park”) with counties having contiguous borders with the 
County and, in the County’s discretion, include property within the boundaries of such multicounty parks. 
Under the authority provided in the MCIP Act, the County has created a multicounty park with Greenville 
County (the “Park”) pursuant to the Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended from time to time (the “2010 Park 
Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT and MCIP Act, the County is authorized to provide special source 
revenue credits (“Infrastructure Credits”) against FILOT Payments derived from property located in a MCIP 
Park to pay costs of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving or expanding (i) infrastructure serving a 
project or the County and (ii) improved and unimproved real estate used in the operation of a commercial 
enterprise or manufacturing facility (“Infrastructure”); 

WHEREAS, Pro Fab Manufacturing, LLC (“Sponsor”) desires to expand its manufacturing facility in 
the County (“Project”) consisting of an investment in real and personal property of approximately 
$2,500,000 and the creation of approximately 20 new, full-time jobs; and 

WHEREAS, as an inducement to locate the Project in the County, the County desires to enter into a 
Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement with the Sponsor, as 
sponsor, the final form of which is attached as Exhibit A (“Fee Agreement”), pursuant to which the County 
will provide certain incentives to the Sponsor with respect to the Project, including (1) providing for FILOT 
Payments, to be calculated as set forth in the Fee Agreement, with respect to the portion of the Project 
which constitutes economic development property; (2) locating the Project in the Park; and (3) providing 
Infrastructure Credits, as described in the Fee Agreement, to assist in paying the costs of certain 
Infrastructure. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows:   

Section 1. Statutory Findings. Based on information supplied to the County by the Sponsor, County 
Council evaluated the Project based on relevant criteria, including the purposes the Project is to accomplish, 



 2 

the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created, and the anticipated 
costs and benefits to the County, and hereby finds: 

(a) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the locality by providing services, 
employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally;  

(b) The Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated municipality or a 
charge against its general credit or taxing power;  

(c) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and 

(d) The benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

Section 2. Approval of Incentives; Authorization to Execute and Deliver Fee Agreement. The 
incentives as described in this Ordinance (“Ordinance”), and as more particularly set forth in the Fee 
Agreement, with respect to the Project are hereby approved. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee 
Agreement that is before this meeting are approved and all of the Fee Agreement’s terms and conditions 
are incorporated in this Ordinance by reference. The Chair of County Council (“Chair”) is authorized and 
directed to execute the Fee Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the County, subject to the approval 
of any revisions or changes as are not materially adverse to the County by the County Administrator and 
counsel to the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby authorized and directed to attest the Fee 
Agreement and to deliver the Fee Agreement to the Sponsor. 

Section 3.  Further Assurances. The County Council confirms the authority of the Chair, the County 
Administrator, the Clerk to County Council, and various other County officials and staff, acting at the 
direction of the Chair, the County Administrator, or Clerk to County Council, as appropriate, to take 
whatever further action and to negotiate, execute and deliver whatever further documents as may be 
appropriate to effect the intent of this Ordinance and the incentives offered to the Sponsor under this 
Ordinance and the Fee Agreement. 

Section 4. Savings Clause. The provisions of this Ordinance are separable. If any part of this Ordinance 
is, for any reason, unenforceable then the validity of the remainder of this Ordinance is unaffected. 

Section 5. General Repealer.  Any prior ordinance, resolution, or order, the terms of which are in 
conflict with this Ordinance, is, only to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

Section 6. Effectiveness. This Ordinance is effective after its third reading and public hearing.  

  



 3 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
        
Tommy Dunn 
Chairman, Anderson County Council 

(SEAL) 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Rusty Burns 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
        
Renee Watts 
Clerk of Council, Anderson County Council 
 
First Reading:   September 5, 2023   
Second Reading: September 19, 2023 
Public Hearing:   December 5, 2023  
Third Reading:   December 5, 2023 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
______________________________________________ 
Leon Harmon, Anderson County Attorney 
  



 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF FEE AGREEMENT 

 

~#4825-9177-8464 v.2~ 



 
 
 

 
 
 
 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND 
 

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 

BETWEEN 
 
 
 

PRO FAB MANUFACTURING, LLC 
 
 

AND 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
 
 

EFFECTIVE AS OF DECEMBER 5, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 i 

_________________________ 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
_________________________ 

 
 Page 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS .......................................................................................... 1 

Section 1.1.  Terms........................................................................................................................1 

ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES ....................................... 5 

Section 2.1. Representations and Warranties of the County .......................................................5 
Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of the Sponsor. .....................................................6 

ARTICLE III THE PROJECT ........................................................................................ 6 

Section 3.1.  The Project. ..............................................................................................................6 
Section 3.2  Leased Property .......................................................................................................6 
Section 3.3.  Filings and Reports ..................................................................................................6 

ARTICLE IV FILOT PAYMENTS ................................................................................. 6 

Section 4.1.  FILOT Payments ......................................................................................................7 
Section 4.2.  FILOT Payments on Replacement Property ............................................................7 
Section 4.3.  Removal of Components of the Project ....................................................................7 
Section 4.4. Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property .................................8 
Section 4.5.  Condemnation ..........................................................................................................8 
Section 4.6.  Calculating FILOT Payments on Diminution in Value ...........................................8 
Section 4.7.  Payment of Ad Valorem Taxes ..................................................................................9 
Section 4.8.  Place of FILOT Payments ........................................................................................9 

ARTICLE V ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES ................................................................. 9 

Section 5.1.  Infrastructure Credits ..............................................................................................9 

ARTICLE VI CLAW BACK............................................................................................ 9 

Section 6.1.  Claw Back ................................................................................................................9 

ARTICLE VII DEFAULT ................................................................................................. 9 

Section 7.1.  Events of Default ......................................................................................................9 
Section 7.2.  Remedies on Default ..............................................................................................10 
Section 7.3.  Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses ...............................................10 
Section 7.4.  Remedies Not Exclusive .........................................................................................11 

ARTICLE VIII PARTICULAR RIGHTS AND COVENANTS.................................... 11 

Section 8.1.  Right to Inspect ......................................................................................................11 
Section 8.2.  Confidentiality........................................................................................................11 
Section 8.3.  No Liability of County Personnel ..........................................................................11 
Section 8.4.  Limitation of Liability ............................................................................................11 
Section 8.5.  Assignment .............................................................................................................11 
Section 8.6.  No Double Payment; Future Changes in Legislation ............................................12 
Section 8.7.  Administration Expenses ........................................................................................12 
Section 8.8.   Multicounty Park ...................................................................................................12 



 ii 

Section 8.9.  Indemnification Covenants ....................................................................................12 

ARTICLE IX SPONSOR AFFILIATES ....................................................................... 13 

Section 9.1.  Sponsor Affiliates ...................................................................................................13 
Section 9.2.  Primary Responsibility...........................................................................................13 

ARTICLE X MISCELLANEOUS ............................................................................... 14 

Section 10.1. Notices....................................................................................................................14 
Section 10.2.  Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Sponsor ........................14 
Section 10.3.  Counterparts ..........................................................................................................14 
Section 10.4.  Governing Law.......................................................................................................15 
Section 10.5.  Headings ................................................................................................................15 
Section 10.6.  Amendments ...........................................................................................................15 
Section 10.7.  Agreement to Sign Other Documents .....................................................................15 
Section 10.8.  Interpretation; Invalidity; Change in Laws ...........................................................15 
Section 10.9.  Force Majeure .......................................................................................................15 
Section 10.10. Termination; Termination by Sponsor ...................................................................15 
Section 10.11. Entire Agreement ...................................................................................................16 
Section 10.12. Waiver ....................................................................................................................16 
Section 10.13. Business Day ..........................................................................................................16 
Section 10.14. Agreement’s Construction .....................................................................................16 
Section 10.15. Rollback Taxes .......................................................................................................16 
 
 
 
 
Exhibit A – Description of Property 
Exhibit B – Form of Joinder Agreement 
Exhibit C – Description of Infrastructure Credit 
Exhibit D – Description of Claw Back 
 

 

 



iii 
 

 

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF 
FEE AGREEMENT 

 
The parties have agreed to waive the requirement to recapitulate the contents of this Fee Agreement 
pursuant to Section 12-44-55 of the Code (as defined herein). However, the parties have agreed to include 
a summary of the key provisions of this Fee Agreement for the convenience of the parties. This summary 
is included for convenience only and is not to be construed as a part of the terms and conditions of this Fee 
Agreement.  
 
 

PROVISION BRIEF DESCRIPTION SECTION REFERENCE 
Sponsor Name Pro Fab Manufacturing, LLC  
Project Location Standridge Road  
Tax Map No. 096-00-06-014 000  
   
   
FILOT   
• Phase 

Exemption 
Period 

30 years  

• Investment 
Commitment 

$2,500,000 by the end of the Investment Period  

• Jobs 
Commitment 

20 full-time jobs with average pay of $30.11 per 
hour by the end of the Investment Period while 
maintaining 23 full-time jobs 

 

• Investment 
Period 

5 years   

• Assessment 
Ratio: 

6%  

• Millage Rate 312.28  
• Fixed or Five-

Year Adjustable 
millage: 

fixed  

• Claw Back 
information 

Failure to reach $2.5 million within the 5-year 
Investment Period terminates the Fee Agreement. 
 

 

Multicounty Park Greenville – Anderson Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park 

 

Infrastructure 
Credit 

  

• Brief 
Description 

years 1 - 5 65% 
years 6 - 10 45% 

 

• Credit Term see above  
• Claw Back 

information: 
Failure to reach Investment Commitment or Jobs 
Commitment results in a decrease of SSRC to 40% 
starting in year 6 and following. 
 

 

Other information   



iv 
 

 
 



1 
 

 
 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND 

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

THIS FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT 
AGREEMENT (“Fee Agreement”) is entered into, effective, as of December 5, 2023, between Anderson 
County, South Carolina (“County”), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of 
South Carolina (“State”), acting through the Anderson County Council (“County Council”) as the 
governing body of the County, and Pro Fab Manufacturing, LLC, a limited liability company organized 
and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina (“Sponsor”). 

WITNESSETH: 

(a) Title 12, Chapter 44, (“Act”) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
(“Code”), authorizes the County to induce manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate in the State 
or to encourage manufacturing and commercial enterprises currently located in the State to expand their 
investments and thus make use of and employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the State by 
entering into an agreement with a sponsor, as defined in the Act, that provides for the payment of a fee-in-
lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) with respect to Economic Development Property, as defined below; 

(b) Sections 4-1-170, 4-1-175, 4-29-68 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to (i) create 
multi-county industrial parks in partnership with contiguous counties; (ii) include the property of eligible 
companies within such parks as an inducement to locate within the County, which inclusion under the terms 
of Section 13 of Article VIII of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina makes such property exempt 
from ad valorem property taxes, therefore changing the character of the annual receipts from such properties 
from ad valorem property taxes to FILOT payments; and (iii) grant an annual tax credit against such FILOT 
payments in order to assist a company in paying the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, 
or expanding the infrastructure serving the property of any company located within such multi-county 
industrial parks or for improved or unimproved real estate and personal property including machinery and 
equipment used in the operation of a commercial enterprise located within such multi-county parks in order 
to enhance the economic development of the County;  

(c) The Sponsor has committed to establish a manufacturing facility (“Facility”) in the County, 
consisting of investment in real and personal property of not less than $2,500,000 and the creation of 20 new, 
full-time jobs; 

(d) By an ordinance enacted on December 5, 2023, County Council authorized the County to enter 
into this Fee Agreement with the Sponsor to provide for a FILOT and the other incentives as more 
particularly described in this Fee Agreement to induce the Sponsor to locate its Facility in the County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 
agreements hereinafter contained, parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Terms. The defined terms used in this Fee Agreement have the meaning given below, 
unless the context clearly requires otherwise.   

From time to time herein, reference is made to the term taxes or ad valorem taxes.  All or portions 
of the Project are or will be located in a Multicounty Park and, as such, are or will be exempt from ad 



2 
 

valorem taxation under and by virtue of the provisions of Paragraph D of Section 13 of Article VIII of the 
S.C. Constitution and the MCIP Act (as defined herein).  With respect to facilities located in a Multicounty 
Park, references to taxes or ad valorem taxes means the fees-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes provided for in the 
MCIP Act. 

“Act” means Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code, as the Act may be amended from time to time and 
all future acts successor or supplemental thereto. 

“Act Minimum Investment Requirement” means an investment of at least $2,500,000 in the 
Project by the Sponsor or a Sponsor Affiliate within five years of the Commencement Date, or a combined 
total investment of at least $5,000,000 in the Project by the Sponsor and one or more Sponsor Affiliates, 
regardless of the amount invested by each such party, within five years of the Commencement Date.  

“Administration Expenses” means the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the County 
in the negotiation, approval and execution of this Fee Agreement, for reasonable attorney’s fees. 
Administration Expenses do not include any costs, expenses, including attorney’s fees, incurred by the 
County (i) after execution of this Fee Agreement, (ii) in defending challenges to the FILOT Payments, 
Infrastructure Credits or any other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement brought by any third parties; 
(iii) any actions by the Sponsor or its affiliates and related entities against the County; or (iv) in connection 
with matters arising prior to execution of this Fee Agreement at the request of the Sponsor outside of the 
immediate scope of this Fee Agreement. 

“Code” means the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as the same may be amended from time 
to time. 

“Commencement Date” means the last day of the property tax year during which Economic 
Development Property is placed in service. The Commencement Date shall not be later than the last day of 
the property tax year which is three years from the year in which the County and the Sponsor enter into this 
Fee Agreement. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, the Commencement Date is expected to be December 
31, 2023. 

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” means an investment in real and personal property 
at the Project that is equal to the Act Minimum Investment within the Investment Period.  

“Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement” means not less than 20 full-time or full-time equivalent 
jobs created by the Sponsor in the County in connection with the Project at any time between March 1, 
2023, and the end of the Investment Period, paying an average of $30.11 per hour, which jobs must be in 
addition to the existing 23 full-time jobs of the Sponsor.  

“County” means Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 
subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as the 
governing body of the County. 

“County Council” means the Anderson County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“Credit Term” means the years during the Fee Term in which the Infrastructure Credit is applicable, 
as described in Exhibit C.  

“Department” means the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Diminution in Value” means a reduction in the fair market value of Economic Development 
Property, as determined in Section 4.1(a)(i) of this Fee Agreement, which may be caused by (i) the removal 



3 
 

or disposal of components of the Project pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Fee Agreement; (ii) a casualty as 
described in Section 4.4 of this Fee Agreement; or (iii) a condemnation as described in Section 4.5 of this 
Fee Agreement. 

“Economic Development Property” means those items of real and tangible personal property of 
the Project placed in service not later than the end of the Investment Period that (i) satisfy the conditions of 
classification as economic development property under the Act, and (ii) are identified by the Sponsor in its 
annual filing of a PT-300S or comparable form with the Department (as such filings may be amended from 
time to time).  

“Equipment” means all of the machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and fixtures, 
together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions. 

“Event of Default” means any event of default specified in Section 7.1 of this Fee Agreement. 

“Fee Agreement” means this Fee Agreement. 

“Fee Term” means the period from the effective date of this Fee Agreement until the Final 
Termination Date. 

“FILOT Ordinance” means Ordinance No. 2023-035, dated December 5, 2023, adopted by the 
County Council. 

“FILOT Payments” means the aggregate amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem property 
taxes as provided in Section 4.1 and before taking into account any Infrastructure Credit.  For the avoidance 
of doubt, should any part or all of the Project not be eligible as Economic Development Property, the FILOT 
Payment shall also mean, in such case, the payments in lieu of taxes made as a result of the Project being 
located in a Multicounty Park. 

“Final Phase” means the Economic Development Property placed in service during the last year 
of the Investment Period.  

“Final Termination Date” means the date on which the last FILOT Payment or Net FILOT 
Payment with respect to the Final Phase is made, or such earlier date as the Fee Agreement is terminated in 
accordance with the terms of this Fee Agreement. Assuming the Phase Termination Date for the Final Phase 
is December 31, 2057, the Final Termination Date is expected to be January 15, 2059, which is the due date 
of the last FILOT Payment with respect to the Final Phase.  

“Improvements” means all improvements to the Real Property, including buildings, building 
additions and improvements, roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with all additions, fixtures, 
accessions, replacements, and substitutions. 

“Infrastructure” means (i) the infrastructure serving the County or the Project, and (ii) improved 
and unimproved real estate.  Upon the written election by the Sponsor and notice to the County, personal 
property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing or commercial 
enterprise, and such other items as may be described in or permitted under Section 4-29-68 of the Code 
shall also be included in the definition of Infrastructure. 

 
“Infrastructure Credit” means the special source revenue credit provided to the Sponsor pursuant 

to Section 12-44-70 of the Act and Section 4-1-175 of the MCIP Act and Section 5.1 of this Fee Agreement, 
with respect to the Infrastructure. Infrastructure Credits are to be used for the payment of the costs of the 
Infrastructure. 



4 
 

 
“Infrastructure Credit Period”  means the period of time during which the Infrastructure Credit is 

being provided by the County pursuant to Section 5.1 of this Fee Agreement. 
 

“Investment Period” means the period beginning with the first day of any purchase or acquisition 
of Economic Development Property and ending five (5) years after the Commencement Date, as may be 
extended pursuant to Section 12-44-30(13) of the Act. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, the Investment 
Period, unless extended (or unless the Commencement Date is later than December 31, 2026), is expected 
to end on December 31, 2028. The Investment Period shall be automatically extended by five (5) years if 
the Sponsor reaches an investment of $2,500,000 within the first five (5) years of the  Commencement Date 
without any further approval or action by the County required. 

“MCIP Act” means Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 
and Sections 4-1-170, 4-1-172, 4-1-175, and 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Multicounty Park” means the multicounty industrial or business park governed by the Agreement 
for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park), dated as of December 1, 
2010, between the County and Greenville County, South Carolina. 

“Net FILOT Payment” means the FILOT Payment net of the Infrastructure Credit. 

“Phase” means the Economic Development Property placed in service during a particular year of 
the Investment Period. 

“Phase Exemption Period” means, with respect to each Phase, the period beginning with the 
property tax year the Phase is placed in service during the Investment Period and ending on the Phase 
Termination Date.  

“Phase Termination Date” means, with respect to each Phase, the last day of the property tax year 
which is the 29th year following the first property tax year in which the Phase is placed in service. 

“Project” means all the Equipment, Improvements, and Real Property in the County that the 
Sponsor determines to be necessary, suitable, or useful by the Sponsor in connection with its investment in 
the County.  

“Real Property” means real property that the Sponsor uses or will use in the County for the 
purposes that Section 2.2(b) describes, and initially consists of the land identified on Exhibit A of this Fee 
Agreement, and shall also include such land located in the County which shall be noted on schedules or 
supplements to Exhibit A, as may be provided by the Sponsor, provided that any requirement that the 
Sponsor provide such schedules or supplements with respect to future land may be satisfied by the 
Sponsor’s filing with the Department of Form PT-300 with Schedule S attached listing such additional land, 
or such comparable form or schedule as the Department may provide in connection with projects subject to 
the Act. 

“Removed Components” means Economic Development Property which the Sponsor, in its sole 
discretion, (a) determines to be inadequate, obsolete, worn-out, uneconomic, damaged, unsuitable, 
undesirable, or unnecessary pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Fee Agreement or otherwise; or (b) elects to be 
treated as removed pursuant to Section 4.4(c) or Section 4.5(b)(iii) of this Fee Agreement.  

“Replacement Property” means any property which is placed in service as a replacement for any 
Removed Component regardless of whether the Replacement Property serves the same functions as the 
Removed Component it is replacing and regardless of whether more than one piece of Replacement 



5 
 

Property replaces a single Removed Component. 

“Sponsor” means Pro Fab Manufacturing, LLC, and any surviving, resulting, or transferee entity 
in any merger, consolidation, or transfer of assets; or any other person or entity which may succeed to the 
rights and duties of the Sponsor under this Fee Agreement. 

“Sponsor Affiliate” means an entity that participates in the investment or job creation at the Project 
and, following receipt of any required County approval pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Fee Agreement, joins 
this Fee Agreement by delivering a Joinder Agreement, the form of which is attached as Exhibit B to this 
Fee Agreement. 

“State” means the State of South Carolina. 

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement 
shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement or 
document. 

The term “investment” or “invest” as used in this Fee Agreement includes not only investments 
made by the Sponsor, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments made by or for the 
benefit of the Sponsor in connection with the Project through federal, state, or local grants, in cash or in 
kind, to the extent such investments are or, but for the terms of this Fee Agreement, would be subject to ad 
valorem taxes to be paid by the Sponsor. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1. Representations and Warranties of the County. The County represents and warrants 
as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State and acts 
through the County Council as its governing body. The Act authorizes and empowers the County to enter 
into the transactions that this Fee Agreement contemplates and to carry out its obligations under this Fee 
Agreement. The County has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement and all other 
documents, certificates or other agreements contemplated in this Fee Agreement and has obtained all 
consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill its obligations 
under this Fee Agreement. 

 
(b) Based on representations by the Sponsor, County Council evaluated the Project based on all 

relevant criteria including the purposes the Project is to accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and 
nature of the investment resulting from the Project, and the anticipated costs and benefits to the County and 
following the evaluation, the County determined that (i) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general 
public welfare of the locality by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not 
otherwise adequately provided locally; (ii) the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or 
any incorporated municipality and to no charge against the County’s general credit or taxing power; (iii) 
the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and (iv) the 
benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

 
(c) The County identified the Project, as a “project” on September 5, 2023, by adopting an 

inducement resolution, as defined in the Act on such date. 
 
(d) The County is not in default of any of its obligations (contractual or otherwise) as a result of 

entering into and performing its obligations under this Fee Agreement. 



6 
 

 
(e) The County has located or will take all reasonable action to locate and maintain the Project in 

the Multicounty Park.  
 
Section 2.2. Representations and Warranties of the Sponsor. The Sponsor represents and warrants 

as follows:  
 
(a) The Sponsor is in good standing under the laws of the State of its organization, is duly authorized 

to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business in the State), 
has power to enter into this Fee Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee 
Agreement. 

 
(b) The Sponsor intends to operate the Project as a manufacturing facility, and for such other 

purposes that the Act permits as the Sponsor may deem appropriate. 
 
(c) The Sponsor’s execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement, and its compliance with the 

provisions of this Fee Agreement do not result in a default under any agreement or instrument to which the 
Sponsor is now a party or by which it is bound. 

 
(d) The Sponsor will use commercially reasonable efforts to achieve the Contract Minimum 

Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement. 
 
(e) The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County and the availability of the 

FILOT Payments and other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement has been instrumental in inducing 
the Sponsor to locate the Project in the County. 

 
ARTICLE III 

THE PROJECT 

Section 3.1. The Project. The Sponsor intends and expects to (i) construct or acquire the Project 
and (ii) meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement 
within the Investment Period. The Sponsor anticipates that the first Phase of the Project will be placed in 
service during the calendar year ending December 31, 2023. Notwithstanding anything contained in this 
Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Sponsor is not obligated to complete the acquisition of the Project.  

Section 3.2 Leased Property. To the fullest extent that State law allows or is revised or construed 
to permit leased assets including a building, or personal property to be installed in a building, to constitute 
Economic Development Property, then any property leased by the Sponsor is, at the election of the Sponsor, 
deemed to be Economic Development Property for purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 3.3. Filings and Reports.  

(a) The Sponsor shall file a copy of this Fee Agreement and a completed PT-443 with the 
Department and the Auditor, Treasurer and Assessor of the County and partner county to the Multicounty 
Park. 

 
(b) On request by the County Administrator, the Sponsor shall remit to the County copies of such 

records related to the calculation of the FILOT Payments and the Net FILOT Payments due hereunder as 
the County would normally be entitled to in case the Project was subject to ad valorem taxation. 

 
ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 



7 
 

 
Section 4.1. FILOT Payments.  
 
(a) The FILOT Payment due with respect to each Phase through the Phase Termination Date is 

calculated as follows: 
 

(i) The fair market value of the Phase calculated as set forth in the Act (for the Real 
Property portion of the Phase, the County and the Sponsor have elected to use the fair 
market value established in the first year of the Phase Exemption Period for the term 
of this Agreement, multiplied by 

 
(ii) An assessment ratio of six percent (6%), multiplied by 
 
(iii) A fixed millage rate equal to the cumulative millage rate levied by or on behalf of all 

the taxing entities within which the Project is located as of June 30, 2023, which the 
parties believe to be 312.28 mills. 

 
The calculation of the FILOT Payment must allow all applicable property tax exemptions except 

those excluded pursuant to Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the Act.  
 
(b) If a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no further appeal is allowable 

declares the FILOT Payments invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties shall 
negotiate, in accordance with and subject to the terms of Section 10.8, the reformation of the calculation of 
the FILOT Payments to most closely afford the Sponsor with the intended benefits of this Fee Agreement.  

 
Section 4.2. FILOT Payments on Replacement Property. If the Sponsor elects to place 

Replacement Property in service, then, pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the 
Act, the Sponsor shall make the following payments to the County with respect to the Replacement Property 
for the remainder of the Phase Exemption Period applicable to the Removed Component of the Replacement 
Property: 

 
(a) FILOT Payments, calculated in accordance with Section 4.1, on the Replacement Property to 

the extent of the original income tax basis of the Removed Component the Replacement Property is deemed 
to replace.   

(b) Regular ad valorem tax payments to the extent the income tax basis of the Replacement Property 
exceeds the original income tax basis of the Removed Component the Replacement Property is deemed to 
replace.  

Section 4.3. Removal of Components of the Project. The Sponsor is entitled to remove and dispose 
of components of the Project in its sole discretion. Components of the Project are deemed removed when 
scrapped, sold or otherwise permanently removed from the Project with the intent that it no longer be used 
for the Project. If the components removed from the Project are Economic Development Property, then the 
Economic Development Property is a Removed Component, no longer subject to this Fee Agreement and 
is subject to ad valorem property taxes to the extent the Removed Component remains in the State and is 
otherwise subject to ad valorem property taxes. 

 
In the event the Sponsor shall, in accordance with this Section, dispose of any part of the Project 

as to which any net present value payments were made pursuant to Section 4.1(a) hereof, then, in accordance 
with Section 12-44-50(B)(2) of the Act, there shall be computed the amount of payments which would have 
been made with respect to such property as of the disposal date under Section 4.1(a) without the use of the 



8 
 

net present value payment method, and to the extent that the amount which would have been so paid exceeds 
the amount paid by the Sponsor pursuant to Section 4.1(a) that is allocable to such property the Sponsor or 
any Sponsor Affiliate, as applicable, shall pay the difference (with interest as required under Section 12-
44-50(B)(2) of the Act) with the next Net FILOT Payment or Net FILOT Payment to be made to the County 
pursuant to Section 4.1(a) after such property is disposed of.  

 
Section 4.4. Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property.  

(a) Election to Terminate.  If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, explosion, or 
any other casualty, then the Sponsor may terminate all or part of this Fee Agreement. In the property tax 
year in which the damage or casualty occurs and continues, the Sponsor is obligated to make FILOT 
Payments with respect to the damaged Economic Development Property only to the extent property subject 
to ad valorem taxes would have been subject to such taxes under the same circumstances for the period in 
question. 

(b) Election to Restore and Replace. If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, 
explosion, or any other casualty, and the Sponsor does not elect to terminate this Fee Agreement, then the 
Sponsor may restore and replace the Economic Development Property. All restorations and replacements 
made pursuant to this subsection (b) are deemed, to the fullest extent permitted by law and this Fee 
Agreement, to be Replacement Property. 

(c) Election to Remove. If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, explosion, or any 
other casualty, and the Sponsor elects not to terminate this Fee Agreement pursuant to subsection (a) and 
elects not to restore or replace pursuant to subsection (b), then the damaged portions of the Economic 
Development Property are deemed Removed Components. 

Section 4.5. Condemnation. 

(a) Complete Taking. If at any time during the Fee Term title to or temporary use of the Economic 
Development Property is vested in a public or quasi-public authority by virtue of the exercise of a taking 
by condemnation, inverse condemnation, or the right of eminent domain; by voluntary transfer under threat 
of such taking; or by a taking of title to a portion of the Economic Development Property which renders 
continued use or occupancy of the Economic Development Property commercially unfeasible in the 
judgment of the Sponsor, the Sponsor shall have the option to terminate this Fee Agreement by sending 
written notice to the County within a reasonable period of time following such vesting. 

 
(b) Partial Taking. In the event of a partial taking of the Economic Development Property or a 

transfer in lieu, the Sponsor may elect: (i) to terminate all or part of this Fee Agreement; (ii) to restore and 
replace the Economic Development Property, with such restorations and replacements deemed, to the fullest 
extent permitted by law and this Fee Agreement, to be Replacement Property; or (iii) to treat the portions 
of the Economic Development Property so taken as Removed Components. 

 
(c) In the year in which the taking occurs, the Sponsor is obligated to make FILOT Payments with 

respect to the Economic Development Property so taken only to the extent property subject to ad valorem 
taxes would have been subject to taxes under the same circumstances for the period in question. 

 
Section 4.6. Calculating FILOT Payments on Diminution in Value. If there is a Diminution in 

Value, the FILOT Payments due with respect to the Economic Development Property or Phase so 
diminished shall be calculated by substituting the diminished value of the Economic Development Property 
or Phase for the original fair market value in Section 4.1(a)(i) of this Fee Agreement.  For the avoidance of 
doubt, the Infrastructure Credit shall remain applicable to such adjusted FILOT Payment. 



9 
 

Section 4.7. Payment of Ad Valorem Taxes.  If Economic Development Property becomes subject 
to ad valorem taxes as imposed by law, pursuant to this Fee Agreement, the Act, or otherwise, then the 
calculation of any ad valorem taxes due with respect to the Economic Development Property in a particular 
property tax year shall: (i) include the property tax reductions and exemptions that would have applied to the 
Economic Development Property as if it were not Economic Development Property; and (ii) include a credit 
for FILOT Payments or Net FILOT Payments the Sponsor has made with respect to the Economic 
Development Property. 

Section 4.8. Place of FILOT Payments. All FILOT Payments or Net FILOT Payments shall be 
made directly to the County in accordance with applicable law. 

ARTICLE V 
ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES 

 
Section 5.1. Infrastructure Credits. To assist in paying for costs of Infrastructure, the Sponsor is 

entitled to claim an Infrastructure Credit to reduce certain FILOT Payments due and owing from the 
Sponsor to the County under this Fee Agreement. The term, amount and calculation of the Infrastructure 
Credit is described in Exhibit C. In no event may the Sponsor’s aggregate Infrastructure Credit claimed 
pursuant to this Section exceed the aggregate expenditures by the Sponsor on Infrastructure. 

 
For each property tax year of the Credit Term, the County shall prepare and issue the annual bills 

with respect to the Project showing the Net FILOT Payment, calculated in accordance with Exhibit C. 
Following receipt of the bill, the Sponsor shall timely remit the Net FILOT Payment to the County in 
accordance with applicable law. 

 
ARTICLE VI 
CLAW BACK 

 
Section 6.1. Claw Back. If the Sponsor together with any Sponsor Affiliate fails to perform its 

obligations under this Fee Agreement as described in Exhibit D, then the Sponsor and any Sponsor Affiliate 
is subject to the claw backs as described in Exhibit D. Any amount that may be due from the Sponsor and 
any Sponsor Affiliate to the County as calculated in accordance with or described in Exhibit D is due within 
30 days of receipt of a written statement from the County. If not timely paid, the amount due from the Sponsor 
and any Sponsor Affiliate to the County is subject to the minimum amount of interest that the law may permit 
with respect to delinquent ad valorem tax payments. The repayment obligation arising under this Section and 
Exhibit D survives termination of this Fee Agreement and is the exclusive remedy for the failure to perform 
the obligations described on Exhibit D. 

 
ARTICLE VII 

DEFAULT 
 
Section 7.1. Events of Default. Subject in all events to Section 10.9 hereof, the following are 

“Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement: 
 
(a) Failure by the Sponsor to make FILOT Payments or Net FILOT Payments due under this 

Agreement, which failure has not been cured within 30 days following receipt of written notice from the 
County specifying the delinquency in such payments and requesting that it be remedied; 

 
(b) (i) A representation or warranty made by the Sponsor which is materially incorrect when made 

or deemed made; or (ii) a failure by the Sponsor to perform any of the material terms, conditions, 
obligations, or covenants under this Fee Agreement (other than those under (a) above or addressed under 



10 
 

Section 6.1 hereof for which an exclusive remedy has been provided in Exhibit D), which failure under (i) 
or (ii) has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the County to the Sponsor specifying 
such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the Sponsor has instituted corrective action within 
the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is corrected, in which case 
the 30-day period is extended to include the period during which the Sponsor is diligently pursuing 
corrective action; 

 
(c) A representation or warranty made by the County which is materially incorrect when made or 

deemed made; or 
 
(d) Failure by the County to perform any of the material terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 

hereunder, which failure has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the Sponsor to the 
County specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the County has instituted 
corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is 
corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to include the period during which the County is 
diligently pursuing corrective action. 

 
Section 7.2. Remedies on Default.  

(a) If an Event of Default by the Sponsor has occurred and is continuing, then the County may take 
any one or more of the following remedial actions: 

(i) in the case of an Event of Default under Section 7.1(a), bring an action for collection of 
any amounts due hereunder and/or terminate this Fee Agreement upon another 30 days written 
notice; or 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity that may appear necessary or desirable to 
remedy the Event of Default under Section 7.1(b) but the County’s damages under this Agreement 
for an Event of Default shall always be limited to and never exceed under any circumstance the 
amount of FILOT Payments due (after application of any Infrastructure Credit) plus legal fees and 
expenses under Section 7.3 hereof, and any penalty and interest required by statute.  Under no 
circumstances will the Sponsor ever be liable to the County for any other damages hereunder or 
any other penalty or other interest. 

(b) If an Event of Default by the County has occurred and is continuing, the Sponsor may take any 
one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement; 

(ii) terminate this Fee Agreement; or 

(iii) take such other action as is appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, 
to the extent allowed by law.  For purposes of this Agreement, the Sponsor and any Sponsor 
Affiliate’s damages under this Agreement for an Event of Default shall be limited to and never 
exceed, under any circumstance, the actual savings to be realized by the Sponsor and/or the Sponsor 
Affiliate due to the FILOT Payments and Infrastructure Credit provided herein, plus any legal fees 
and expenses under Section 7.3 hereof, plus interest at the same rate as provided under (a)(ii) above.  
Under no circumstances will the County ever be liable hereunder for any other damages hereunder 
or penalty or other interest. 

Section 7.3. Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses. If a party is required to employ 
attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection of payments due under this Fee Agreement 



11 
 

or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or agreement, the prevailing party 
is entitled to reimbursement of the reasonable fees of such attorneys and other reasonable expenses so 
incurred. 

Section 7.4. Remedies Not Exclusive. Unless expressly provided otherwise, no remedy described 
in this Fee Agreement is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies described in this 
Agreement, and each and every such remedy is cumulative and in addition to every other remedy given 
under this Fee Agreement. 

ARTICLE VIII 
PARTICULAR RIGHTS AND COVENANTS 

 
Section 8.1. Right to Inspect.  Subject to the Sponsor’s safety policies and requirements, this 

Agreement does not limit any otherwise existing legal right of the County and its authorized agents, at any 
reasonable time on prior notice, to enter and examine and inspect the Project for the purposes of permitting 
the County to carry out its duties and obligations in its sovereign capacity (such as, without limitation, for 
such routine health and safety purposes as would be applied to any other manufacturing or commercial 
facility in the County). 

Section 8.2. Confidentiality. The County acknowledges that the Sponsor may utilize confidential 
and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and techniques (“Confidential 
Information”) and that disclosure of the Confidential Information could result in substantial economic harm 
to the Sponsor. The Sponsor may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County 
pursuant to this Fee Agreement as “Confidential Information.” Except as required by law, the County, or 
any employee, agent, or contractor of the County, shall not disclose or otherwise divulge any labeled 
Confidential Information to any other person, firm, governmental body or agency. The Sponsor 
acknowledges that the County is subject to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, 
must disclose certain documents and information on request, absent an exemption. If the County is required 
to disclose any Confidential Information to a third party, the County will use its best efforts to provide the 
Sponsor with as much advance notice as is reasonably possible of such disclosure requirement prior to 
making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with any attempts by the Sponsor to obtain judicial or 
other relief from such disclosure requirement. 

Section 8.3. No Liability of County Personnel. All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements 
and obligations of the County contained in this Fee Agreement are binding on members of the County 
Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County only in his or her official 
capacity and not in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse for the payment of any moneys under 
this Fee Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected or appointed official, 
officer, agent, servant or employee of the County and no recourse for the payment of any moneys or 
performance of any of the covenants and agreements under this Fee Agreement or for any claims based on 
this Fee Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected or appointed official, 
officer, agent, servant or employee of the County except solely in their official capacity. 

 
Section 8.4. Limitation of Liability. The County is not liable to the Sponsor for any costs, expenses, 

losses, damages, claims or actions in connection with this Fee Agreement, except from amounts received 
by the County from the Sponsor under this Fee Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Fee 
Agreement to the contrary, any financial obligation the County may incur under this Fee Agreement is 
deemed not to constitute a pecuniary liability or a debt or general obligation of the County. 

Section 8.5. Assignment. The Sponsor may assign this Fee Agreement in whole or in part with the 
prior written consent of the County or a subsequent written ratification by the County, which may be done 
by resolution, and which consent or ratification the County will not unreasonably withhold; provided, 



12 
 

however, that the County hereby expressly consents in advance to any such assignment of this Fee 
Agreement, in whole or in part, by the Sponsor to any entity, now existing or to be formed in the future, 
which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Sponsor. The Sponsor agrees to 
notify the County and the Department of the identity of the proposed transferee within 60 days of the 
transfer. In case of a transfer, the transferee assumes the transferor’s basis in the Economic Development 
Property for purposes of calculating the FILOT Payments.  

Section 8.6. No Double Payment; Future Changes in Legislation. Notwithstanding anything 
contained in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, and except as expressly required by law, the Sponsor is 
not required to make a FILOT Payment in addition to a regular ad valorem property tax payment in the 
same year with respect to the same piece of Economic Development Property. The Sponsor is not required 
to make a FILOT Payment on Economic Development Property in cases where, absent this Fee Agreement, 
ad valorem property taxes would otherwise not be due on such property. 

Section 8.7. Administration Expenses. The Sponsor will reimburse the County for its 
Administration Expenses in an amount that shall in any event be capped at and limited in the aggregate to 
$5,000 on receipt of a written request from the County or at the County’s direction, which request shall 
include a statement of the amount and nature of the Administration Expense. The Sponsor shall pay the 
Administration Expense as set forth in the written request no later than 60 days following receipt of the 
written request from the County. The County does not impose a charge in the nature of impact fees or 
recurring fees in connection with the incentives authorized by this Fee Agreement. The payment by the 
Sponsor of the County’s Administration Expenses shall not be construed as prohibiting the County from 
engaging, at its discretion, the counsel of the County’s choice.   

Section 8.8.  Multicounty Park.  By December 31, 2023, the County will use its best efforts to 
cause the Real Property to be placed in the Multicounty Park (if not already in the Multicounty Park) and 
to maintain the Real Property in the Multicounty Park or in some other multicounty industrial or business 
park within the meaning of the MCIP Act for at least as long as the Infrastructure Credit is to be provided 
to the Sponsor under this Fee Agreement. 

Section 8.9.  Indemnification Covenants.  
 
(a) To the extent of its negligence or the negligence of any Third Parties (as defined below), the 

Sponsor shall and agrees to indemnify and save the County, including the members of the governing body 
of the County, and the employees, officers and agents of the County (herein collectively referred to as the 
“Indemnified Parties”) harmless against and from all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm, company, 
or legal entity arising from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on the Project 
during the Term, and, the Sponsor further, to the extent of its negligence or the negligence of any Third 
Parties, shall indemnify and save the Indemnified Parties harmless against and from all claims arising from 
any act, error or omission occurring during the Term from: (i) any condition of the Project, (ii) any breach 
or default on the part of the Sponsor in the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement, (iii) 
any act of the Sponsor or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, related to the 
Project, (iv) any act of any assignee or sublessee of the Sponsor, or of any agents, contractors, servants, 
employees or licensees of any assignee or sublessee of the Sponsor, related to the Project (such third parties 
under (iii) and (iv) being collectively referred to as “Third Parties”), or (v) any environmental violation by 
the Sponsor or Third Parties.  The Sponsor shall indemnify, defend and save the Indemnified Parties 
harmless from and against all costs and expenses incurred in or in connection with any such claim arising 
as aforesaid or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice from an 
Indemnified Party, the Sponsor shall defend it in any such action, prosecution or proceeding, with counsel 
reasonably acceptable to the County.  

 



13 
 

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the Indemnified Parties not 
incur pecuniary liability by reason of (i) the terms of this Agreement, (ii) the undertakings required of the 
County hereunder, (iii) by reason of the execution of this Agreement, (iv) the performance of any act 
requested of it by the Sponsor, (v) the operation of the Project by the Sponsor or (vi) arising in connection 
with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the Indemnified 
Parties should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such event the Sponsor shall indemnify and hold 
them harmless against all claims, but only insofar resulting from Sponsor’s or Third Parties’ negligence, 
arising out of the same, and all costs and expenses, including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees, incurred 
in connection with any such claim or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon.  Upon 
notice, the Sponsor shall have the sole right and duty to assume, and shall assume, the defense thereof, at 
its expense, with full power to litigate, compromise, or settle the same in its sole discretion; provided the 
Sponsor shall obtain the prior written consent of the County to settle any such claim unless such claim is 
for monetary damages for which the Sponsor has the ability to, and does, pay.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, if the Indemnified Party is the County, in the event the County reasonable believes there are 
defenses available to it that are not being pursued or that the counsel engaged by the Sponsor reasonably 
determines that a conflict of interest exists between the County and the Sponsor, the County may, with the 
approval of Sponsor, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, hire independent counsel to pursue its 
own defense, and the Sponsor shall be liable for the reasonable cost of such counsel. 

 
These indemnification covenants shall be considered included in and incorporated by reference in 

subsequent documents after the closing which the County is requested to sign, and any other 
indemnification covenants in any subsequent documents shall not be construed to reduce or limit the above 
indemnification covenants. 

 
ARTICLE IX 

SPONSOR AFFILIATES 
 

Section 9.1. Sponsor Affiliates. The Sponsor may designate Sponsor Affiliates from time to time, 
including at the time of execution of this Fee Agreement, pursuant to and subject to the provisions of Section 
12-44-130 of the Act. To designate a Sponsor Affiliate, the Sponsor must deliver written notice to the 
County identifying the Sponsor Affiliate and requesting the County’s approval of the Sponsor Affiliate. 
Except with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate designated at the time of execution of this Fee Agreement, which 
may be approved in the County Council ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of this Fee 
Agreement, approval of the Sponsor Affiliate may be given by the County Administrator delivering written 
notice to the Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliate following receipt by the County Administrator of a 
recommendation from the Economic Development Committee of County Council to allow the Sponsor 
Affiliate to join in the investment at the Project; provided, however, that the County hereby expressly 
consents to any future designation by the Sponsor as a Sponsor Affiliate (i) any entity, now existing or to 
be formed in the future, which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the Sponsor and 
(ii) any third party that the Sponsor may elect to involve in the construction or financing of the Project, and 
(iii) the landowner(s) of the Real Property. The Sponsor Affiliate’s joining in the investment at the Project 
will be effective on delivery of a Joinder Agreement, the form of which is attached as Exhibit B, executed 
by the Sponsor Affiliate to the County.  

 
Section 9.2. Primary Responsibility.  Notwithstanding the addition of a Sponsor Affiliate, the 

Sponsor acknowledges that it has the primary responsibility for the duties and obligations of the Sponsor 
and any Sponsor Affiliate under this Fee Agreement, including the payment of FILOT Payments or any 
other amount due to or for the benefit of the County under this Fee Agreement. The Sponsor Affiliate’s 
secondary obligation to make FILOT Payments under this Fee Agreement to the County shall be limited to 
the FILOT Payments due on the Sponsor Affiliate’s Economic Development Property only and under no 
circumstances shall the Sponsor Affiliate be liable for any FILOT Payments relating to the Sponsor’s 



14 
 

Economic Development Property.  
 

ARTICLE X 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.1. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be 
provided under this Fee Agreement is effective when delivered to the party named below or when deposited 
with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed 
as follows (or addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the 
other party), except where the terms of this Fee Agreement require receipt rather than sending of any notice, 
in which case such provision shall control: 

IF TO THE SPONSOR: 
Pro Fab Manufacturing, LLC 
Attn: Kelly Justice 
2807 Standridge Road 
Anderson, South Carolina 29678 

 
 

WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice): 
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough, LLP 
Attn:  Edward G. Kluiters 
1320 Main Street, 17th Floor (29201) 
PO Box 11070 
Columbia, South Carolina  29211 

 

IF TO THE COUNTY: 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
Attn: Anderson County Administrator 
101 South Main Street 
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 

 

WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice): 
Anderson County Attorney 
101 South Main Street 
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 

 
 

Section 10.2. Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Sponsor. Except as 
otherwise specifically provided in this Fee Agreement, nothing in this Fee Agreement expressed or implied 
confers on any person or entity other than the County and the Sponsor and any Sponsor Affiliates any right, 
remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Fee Agreement, this Fee Agreement being intended to be for 
the sole and exclusive benefit of the County and the Sponsor and any Sponsor Affiliates. 

Section 10.3. Counterparts. This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 



15 
 

and all of the counterparts together constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 10.4. Governing Law. South Carolina law, exclusive of its conflicts of law provisions that 
would refer the governance of this Fee Agreement to the laws of another jurisdiction, governs this Fee 
Agreement and all documents executed in connection with this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.5. Headings. The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are 
inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.6. Amendments. This Fee Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of 
the parties to this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.7. Agreement to Sign Other Documents. From time to time, and at the expense of the 
Sponsor, to the extent any expense is incurred, the County agrees to execute and deliver to the Sponsor 
such additional instruments as the Sponsor may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and 
reasonably within the purposes and scope of the Act and this Fee Agreement to effectuate the purposes of 
this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.8. Interpretation; Invalidity; Change in Laws.  

(a) If the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other issue is unclear 
under this Fee Agreement, then the parties intend that the interpretation of this Fee Agreement be done in 
a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion of property under the terms of this Fee Agreement and 
the maximum incentive permissible under the Act, to the extent not inconsistent with any of the explicit 
terms of this Fee Agreement.  It is expressly agreed that the Sponsor may add Economic Development 
Property, whether real or personal, by including such property on the Sponsor’s PT-300 Schedule S or 
successor form during the Investment Period to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

(b) If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any 
reason, the remaining provisions of this Fee Agreement are unimpaired, and the parties shall reform such 
illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, and enforceable intent 
of this Fee Agreement so as to afford the Sponsor with the maximum benefits to be derived under this Fee 
Agreement, it being the intention of the County to offer the Sponsor the strongest inducement possible, 
within the provisions of the Act, to locate the Project in the County.  

(c) The County agrees that in case the FILOT incentive described in this Fee Agreement is found 
to be invalid and the Sponsor does not realize the economic benefit it is intended to receive from the County 
under this Fee Agreement as an inducement to locate in the County, the County agrees to provide a special 
source revenue or Infrastructure Credit to the Sponsor (in addition to the Infrastructure Credit explicitly 
provided for above) to the maximum extent permitted by law, to allow the Sponsor to recoup all or a portion 
of the loss of the economic benefit resulting from such invalidity. 

Section 10.9. Force Majeure. Notwithstanding Section 7.1 hereof or any other provision of this 
Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Sponsor is not liable or responsible under this Agreement for any delays 
or non-performance caused in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by strikes, accidents, freight 
embargoes, fires, floods, inability to obtain materials, conditions arising from governmental orders or 
regulations (including imposition of tariffs), war or national emergency, acts of God, nationwide economic 
recessions, natural disasters, and any other cause, similar or dissimilar, beyond the Sponsor’s reasonable 
control.  In such case the County agrees to postpone the Sponsor’s obligations under Article VI hereof for 
the time such force majeure continues. 

Section 10.10. Termination; Termination by Sponsor.  



16 
 

(a) Unless first terminated under any other provision of this Fee Agreement, this Fee Agreement 
terminates on the Final Termination Date. 

(b) The Sponsor is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all or 
part of the Project on providing the County with 30 days’ notice. 

(c) Any monetary obligations due and owing at the time of termination and any provisions which 
are intended to survive termination, survive such termination.  

(d) In the year following termination, all Economic Development Property is subject to ad valorem 
taxation or such other taxation or payment in lieu of taxation that would apply absent this Fee Agreement. 
The Sponsor’s obligation to make FILOT Payments under this Fee Agreement terminates to the extent of 
and in the year following the year the Sponsor terminates this Fee Agreement pursuant to this Section. 

Section 10.11. Entire Agreement. This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all 
agreements of the parties, and neither party is bound by any agreement or any representation to the other 
party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in certificates delivered in connection with 
the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.12. Waiver. Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or 
condition of this Fee Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 10.13. Business Day. If any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee 
Agreement, required to be taken, made, or given on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the 
jurisdiction in which the party obligated to act is situated, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, 
made, or given on the following business day with the same effect as if taken, made or given as required 
under this Fee Agreement, and no interest will accrue in the interim. 

Section 10.14. Agreement’s Construction. Each party and its counsel have reviewed this Fee 
Agreement and any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against a drafting 
party does not apply in the interpretation of this Fee Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this Fee 
Agreement. 

Section 10.15. Rollback Taxes.  The parties agree that the rollback taxes as provided in Section 
12-43-220(d) of the Code do not apply to the change in use of the Real Property from its agricultural use to 
non-agricultural use. 

 

 

[Signature pages follow] 



Signature Page-1 
 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused 
this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Chair of County Council and to be 
attested by the Clerk of the County Council; and the Sponsor has caused this Fee Agreement to be executed 
by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL) By:_______________________________________ 
  County Council Chair 
  Anderson County, South Carolina  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 
 Clerk to County Council   
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement] 

 
 
  



Signature Page-2 
 

PRO FAB MANUFACTURING, LLC 
 
 
      Signature:        
      Name:         
      Title:        
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement] 



A-1 
 

 

EXHIBIT A 
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 

2807 STANDRIDGE ROAD, ANDERSON, SOUTH CAROLINA 29622 

TMS # -- 096-00-06-014



B-1 
 

EXHIBIT B 
FORM OF JOINDER AGREEMENT 

Reference is hereby made to the Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement, effective [] (“Fee 
Agreement”), between Anderson County, South Carolina (“County”) and [] (“Sponsor”). 
 
1. Joinder to Fee Agreement. 
 

[   ], a [STATE] [corporation]/[limited liability company]/[limited partnership] 
authorized to conduct business in the State of South Carolina (“Sponsor Affiliate”, hereby (a) joins as a 
party to, and agrees to be bound by and subject to all of the terms and conditions of, the Fee Agreement as 
if it were a Sponsor [except the following: __________________________]; (b) shall receive the benefits 
as provided under the Fee Agreement with respect to the Economic Development Property placed in service 
by the Sponsor Affiliate as if it were a Sponsor [except the following __________________________]; (c) 
acknowledges and agrees that (i) according to the Fee Agreement, the undersigned has been designated as 
a Sponsor Affiliate by the Sponsor for purposes of the Project; and (ii) the undersigned qualifies or will 
qualify as a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement and Section 12-44-30(20) and Section 12-44-130 
of the Act.  

 
2. Capitalized Terms. 

 
Each capitalized term used, but not defined, in this Joinder Agreement has the meaning of that term set 

forth in the Fee Agreement. 
 

3. Representations of the Sponsor Affiliate. 
 

The Sponsor Affiliate represents and warrants to the County as follows: 

(a) The Sponsor Affiliate is in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization, is duly 
authorized to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business in 
the State), has power to enter into this Joinder Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and 
delivery of this Joinder Agreement. 

(b) The Sponsor Affiliate’s execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement, and its compliance with 
the provisions of this Joinder Agreement, do not result in a default, not waived or cured, under any 
agreement or instrument to which the Sponsor Affiliate is now a party or by which it is bound. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement and the availability of the FILOT and other 
incentives provided by this Joinder Agreement has been instrumental in inducing the Sponsor Affiliate to 
join with the Sponsor in the Project in the County. 

 
4. Request of Sponsor. 
 
 The Sponsor hereby requests and consents to the addition of Sponsor Affiliate as Sponsor Affiliate 
to the Fee Agreement. 
 
5. Consent of County. 
 
 The County, through approval as authorized in the Fee Agreement, hereby consents to the addition 
of Sponsor Affiliate as Sponsor Affiliate to the Fee Agreement. 
 
6. Governing Law. 



B-2 
 

 
This Joinder Agreement is governed by and construed according to the laws, without regard to 

principles of choice of law, of the State of South Carolina. 
 

7. Notice.   
Notices under Section 10.1 of the Fee Agreement to Sponsor Affiliate shall be sent to: 
 
[                       ] 
 

  



B-3 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Joinder Agreement to be effective as of 

the date set forth below.  
 
 

SPONSOR AFFILIATE 

_______________           
Date      Signature:       
      Name:        
      Title:       

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County acknowledges it has consented to the addition of the above-

named entity as a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement effective as of the date set forth above.  
 

              
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL) By:_______________________________________ 
  County Council Chair 
  Anderson County, South Carolina  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 
 Clerk to County Council   
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 

 
PRO FAB MANUFACTURING, LLC 

 
 
      Signature:       
      Name:        
      Title:       

 



C-1 
 

EXHIBIT C 
DESCRIPTION OF INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT 

 

The Sponsor shall be entitled to an Infrastructure Credit equal to sixty-five percent (65%) for a period of 
five (5) property tax years, to commence with the first FILOT Payment to be made with respect to the 
Project after it is placed in service, unless the Sponsor requests a different starting date by notice to the 
County no later than June 30 of the property tax year in which the Infrastructure Credit is to commence, 
and an additional Infrastructure Credit of forty-five percent (45%) per year for an additional succeeding 
period of five (5) consecutive property tax years following the previous five (5) year property tax period.   

To the extent the Infrastructure Credit is used to pay for the cost of personal property and the removal of 
such personal property results in a penalty pursuant to 4-29-68(A)(2)(ii) of the Code, the Sponsor shall be 
entitled to an additional Infrastructure Credit against any remaining FILOT Payments to be made on 
property remaining subject to the FILOT Payments after the date of such removal. 

 



D-1 
 

EXHIBIT D 
DESCRIPTION OF CLAWBACK 

 
If the Sponsor (together with any Sponsor Affiliates) fails to meet the Act Minimum Investment 

Requirement, the Fee Agreement shall terminate and any repayment obligation arising therefrom shall be as 
provided in the Act. 

 
If the Sponsor (together with any Sponsor Affiliates) fails to meet the Contract Minimum Jobs 

Requirement, the Infrastructure Credit shall be reduced to forty percent (40%) prospectively only (i.e., 
starting in the 6th property tax year).  If the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement has been met by the end 
of the seventh (7th) property tax year after the Commencement Date, the Infrastructure Credit shall be 
restored to 45% but there shall not be any recapture of any lost Infrastructure Credits.   

 
There will be no rebate or clawback of any Infrastructure Credit received by the Sponsor and any 

Sponsor Affiliates. 
 

For example, assuming the Project Commencement Date is December 31, 2023, and the Sponsor 
(together with any Sponsor Affiliates) has met and continues to meet the Contract Minimum Investment 
Requirement but fails to meet the Contract Minimum Job Requirement by December 31, 2028, the 
Infrastructure Credit will be forty percent (40%) beginning in 2029.  If the Sponsor (together with any Sponsor 
Affiliates) meets the Contract Minimum Job Requirement by December 31, 2029, or by December 31, 2030, 
the Infrastructure Credits shall be restored to the original amounts and duration for the remainder of the 
Infrastructure Credit Period but no previously lost Infrastructure Credits shall be provided or restored to the 
Sponsor or any Sponsor Affiliates.    

 
 
 

~#4840-8285-4304 V.2~ 



NPDocuments:62054311.2  

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-043 
 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FEE 
IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA AND APG COLORS AND ADDITIVES, LLC AND GREEN 
LANTERN LLC, COLLECTIVELY FORMERLY CALLED PROJECT 
COLORFUL, WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
PROPERTY IN THE COUNTY, WHEREBY SUCH PROPERTY WILL BE 
SUBJECT TO CERTAIN PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES, INCLUDING THE 
PROVISION OF CERTAIN SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS; AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
WHEREAS, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), acting by and 

through its County Council (the “County Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the 
provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park Act”), and 
Title 4, Chapter 29, of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, to enter into agreements with 
industry whereby the industry would pay fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to qualified projects; to provide 
infrastructure credits against payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in respect of investment in certain 
infrastructure enhancing the economic development of the County; through all such powers the industrial 
development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing 
manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate or remain in the State and thus utilize and employ the 
manpower, products and resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare of the County by 
providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT Act, and in order to induce investment in the County, the County 
did previously enter into an Inducement Agreement dated November 7, 2023 (the “Inducement Agreement”) 
with APG Colors and Additives, LLC and Green Lantern LLC, both  Georgia limited liability companies 
(collectively called the “Company”) (which was known to the County at the time as “Project Colorful”), 
with respect to the acquisition, construction, and installation of land, buildings, improvements, fixtures, 
machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real and/or tangible personal property to constitute a new 
distribution/manufacturing facility in the County (collectively, the “Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has represented that the Project will involve an investment of 
approximately $6,195,000 in the County and the expected creation of twenty-four (24) new, full-time jobs at 
the Project, all within the Investment Period (as such term is defined in the hereinafter defined Fee Agreement; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County has determined on the basis of the information supplied to it by the 
Company that the Project would be a “project” and “economic development property” as such terms are 
defined in the FILOT Act, and that the Project would serve the purposes of the FILOT Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County intends to cause the Project, to the extent not 
already therein located, to be placed in a joint county industrial and business park such that the Project will 
receive the benefits of the Multi-County Park Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Inducement Agreement, the County has agreed to, among other things, 
(a) enter into a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement with the Company (the “Fee 
Agreement”), whereby the County would provide therein for a payment of a fee-in-lieu-of taxes by the 
Company with respect to the Project, and (b) provide for certain special source credits to be claimed by the 



2 
NPDocuments:62054311.2  

Company against its payments of fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to the Project pursuant to Section 4-1-175 
of the Multi-County Park Act; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the County Council has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting the form 
of the Fee Agreement which the County proposes to execute and deliver; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it appears that the documents above referred to, which are now before this meeting, are 
in appropriate form and are an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered or approved by the County 
for the purposes intended;   
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows: 
 

Section 1. Based on information supplied by the Company, it is hereby found, determined and 
declared by the County Council, as follows: 

(a) The Project will constitute a “project” and “economic development property” as said terms 
are referred to and defined in the FILOT Act, and the County’s actions herein will subserve the purposes and 
in all respects conform to the provisions and requirements of the FILOT Act; 

(b) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 

(c) The Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; 

(d) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development, creation of jobs 
and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and public purposes; and 

(e) The benefits of the Project are anticipated to be greater than the costs. 

Section 2. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee Agreement presented to this meeting are 
hereby approved and all of the terms and provisions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if 
the Fee Agreement was set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The Chairman of County Council and/or the 
County Administrator are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver 
the Fee Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby 
authorized and directed to attest the same, and thereupon to cause the Fee Agreement to be delivered to the 
Company and cause a copy of the same to be delivered to the Anderson County Auditor, Assessor and 
Treasurer. The Fee Agreement is to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby approved, 
or with such minor changes therein as shall be approved by the County Administrator, upon advice of counsel, 
his execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of his approval of any and all changes or revisions 
therein from the form of Fee Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 3. The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator and the Clerk to County 
Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things necessary 
to effect the execution and delivery of the Fee Agreement and the performance of all obligations of the County 
thereunder. 

Section 4. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 
section, phrase or provisions shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid 
or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, phrases and 
provisions hereunder. 



3 
NPDocuments:62054311.2  

Section 5. All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent 
of such conflict, hereby repealed. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its passage 
by the County Council. 

 
 ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this 5th day of December, 2023.  
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
By:       
 Tommy Dunn, Chairman 

Anderson County Council 
 

Attest: 
 
 
By:       
            Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
By:       
            Renee D. Watts, Clerk to Council 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
By:       
 Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
First Reading: November 7, 2023  
Second Reading: November 21, 2023  
Third Reading: December 5, 2023 
Public Hearing: December 5, 2023  
 
 
 



NPDocuments:62054311.2  

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received unanimous approval, by the County Council at its meetings of November 7, 2023, November 21, 
2023, and December 5, 2023, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and 
voted, and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
 
 ___________________________________________ 
 Renee D. Watts, Clerk to County Council, 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
Dated: December 5, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

NPDocuments:62054324.3  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 
 

Between 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 

and 
 
 

APG COLORS AND ADDITIVES, LLC 
AND 

GREEN LANTERN LLC 
 
 
 

 
Dated as of December 5, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

i 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.01 DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................................ 2 
SECTION 1.02 PROJECT-RELATED INVESTMENTS ........................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 
SECTION 2.01 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COUNTY.................................................. 6 
SECTION 2.02 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COMPANY ............................................... 6 

ARTICLE III 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 
SECTION 3.01 THE PROJECT ........................................................................................................................................... 7 
SECTION 3.02 DILIGENT COMPLETION ........................................................................................................................... 7 
SECTION 3.03 FILINGS AND REPORTS ............................................................................................................................. 7 

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 
SECTION 4.01 FILOT PAYMENTS ................................................................................................................................... 9 
SECTION 4.02 SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS ..................................................................................................................... 10 
SECTION 4.03 FAILURE TO ACHIEVE MINIMUM INVESTMENT AND JOBS CREATION REQUIREMENTS ........................... 11 
SECTION 4.04 REMOVAL OF EQUIPMENT ...................................................................................................................... 11 
SECTION 4.05 FILOT PAYMENTS ON REPLACEMENT PROPERTY .................................................................................. 12 
SECTION 4.06 REDUCTIONS IN PAYMENT OF TAXES UPON DIMINUTION IN VALUE; INVESTMENT MAINTENANCE 

REQUIREMENT ...................................................................................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE V 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 
SECTION 5.01 CESSATION OF OPERATIONS ................................................................................................................... 13 
SECTION 5.02 RIGHTS TO INSPECT ................................................................................................................................ 13 
SECTION 5.03 CONFIDENTIALITY ................................................................................................................................. 13 
SECTION 5.04 LIMITATION OF COUNTY’S LIABILITY .................................................................................................... 14 
SECTION 5.05 MERGERS, REORGANIZATIONS AND EQUITY TRANSFERS....................................................................... 14 
SECTION 5.06 INDEMNIFICATION COVENANTS ............................................................................................................. 14 
SECTION 5.07 QUALIFICATION IN STATE ...................................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.08 NO LIABILITY OF COUNTY’S PERSONNEL .............................................................................................. 15 
SECTION 5.09 ASSIGNMENT, LEASES OR TRANSFERS ................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.10 ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES ................................................................................................................. 16 
SECTION 5.11 PRIORITY LIEN STATUS .......................................................................................................................... 16 
SECTION 5.12 INTEREST; PENALTIES ............................................................................................................................ 16 
SECTION 5.13 SPONSOR AFFILIATES ............................................................................................................................. 16 

ARTICLE VI 

DEFAULT 
SECTION 6.01 EVENTS OF DEFAULT ............................................................................................................................. 18 
SECTION 6.02 REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT .................................................................................................................... 18 
SECTION 6.03 REIMBURSEMENT OF LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENSES ............................................ 19 
SECTION 6.04 NO WAIVER ........................................................................................................................................... 19 

ARTICLE VII 

MISCELLANEOUS 



 

ii 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

SECTION 7.01 NOTICES ................................................................................................................................................. 20 
SECTION 7.02 BINDING EFFECT .................................................................................................................................... 20 
SECTION 7.03 COUNTERPARTS ..................................................................................................................................... 21 
SECTION 7.04 GOVERNING LAW ................................................................................................................................... 21 
SECTION 7.05 HEADINGS .............................................................................................................................................. 21 
SECTION 7.06 AMENDMENTS ........................................................................................................................................ 21 
SECTION 7.07 FURTHER ASSURANCE ........................................................................................................................... 21 
SECTION 7.08 INVALIDITY; CHANGE IN LAWS .............................................................................................................. 21 
SECTION 7.09 TERMINATION BY COMPANY .................................................................................................................. 21 
SECTION 7.10 ENTIRE UNDERSTANDING ...................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.11 WAIVER ................................................................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 7.12 BUSINESS DAY ....................................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.13 FACSIMILE/SCANNED SIGNATURES ........................................................................................................ 22 
 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT A – DESCRIPTION OF LAND 
EXHIBIT B – INVESTMENT AND JOBS CREATION CERTIFICATION 
EXHIBIT C – INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 



 

iii 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 
 

As permitted under Section 12-44-55(B), Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Code”), 
the parties have agreed to waive the requirements of Section 12-44-55 of the Code.  The following is a 
summary of the key provisions of this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement.  This 
summary is inserted for convenience only and does not constitute a part of this Fee in Lieu of Tax and 
Special Source Credit Agreement or a summary compliant with Section 12-44-55 of the Code.  
 
 

Company Name: APG Colors and Additives, LLC 
and Green Lantern LLC 

Project Name: Project Colorful 

Projected Investment: $6,195,000 Projected Jobs: 24 
Location (street): 227 Youth Center Rd, Belton, SC Tax Map No.: 223-00-10-015 
    
1. FILOT    
 Required Investment: $6,195,000 Required Jobs: 28 
 Investment Period: 5 years Ordinance No./Date: 2023-043/Dec. 5, 2023 
 Assessment Ratio: 6% Term (years): 30 years 
 Fixed Millage: 319.79 mills 

 
Net Present Value (if 
yes, discount rate): 

 
 

 Clawback information:  
 
 

2. MCIP  
 Included in an MCIP: Anderson/Greenville Park (2010) 
 If yes, Name & Date:  
  
3. SSC  
 Total Amount:  
 No. of Years 10 years 
    Yearly Increments: 80% years 1-5; 40% years 6-10 
 Clawback information: If the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs 

Creation Requirement either or both are not made during the Standard Investment Period, 
the SSC is reduced to 20% for years 6-10; if the Contract Minimum Investment 
Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Creation Requirement are both made by the 
7th year, the SSC will return to 40% for years 8-10. 

4. Other information  
 
 

 
 



 

 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT (the “Fee 
Agreement”) is made and entered into as of December 5, 2023 by and between ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State 
of South Carolina (the “State”), acting by and through the Anderson County Council (the “County Council”) 
as the governing body of the County, and APG Colors and Additives, LLC and Green Lantern LLC, limited 
liability companies organized and existing under the laws of the State of Georgia (collectively called the 
“Company”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

1. Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
(the “Code”), authorizes the County to (a) induce industries to locate in the State; (b) encourage industries 
now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and employ manpower, products, 
and other resources of the State; and (c) enter into a fee agreement with entities meeting the requirements of 
the FILOT Act, which identifies certain property of such entities as economic development property and 
provides for the payment of a fee in lieu of tax with respect to such property. 

2. Sections 4-1-170 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to provide special source 
revenue credit (“Special Source Revenue Credit”) financing secured by and payable solely from revenues of 
the County derived from payments in lieu of taxes for the purposes set forth in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, 
namely: the defraying of the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding the 
infrastructure serving the County and for improved and unimproved real estate, and personal property, 
including but not limited to machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or 
commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County (collectively, 
“Infrastructure”). 

3. The Company (as a Sponsor, within the meaning of the FILOT Act) desires to provide for 
the acquisition and construction of the Project (as defined herein) to constitute a facility in the County for the 
manufacture of custom automation equipment and related products. 

4. Based on information supplied by the Company, the County Council has evaluated the 
Project based on relevant criteria that include, but are not limited to, the purposes the Project is to accomplish, 
the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created or maintained, and the 
anticipated costs and benefits to the County. Pursuant to Section 12-44-40(H)(1) of the FILOT Act, the County 
finds that: (a) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally; (b) the 
Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated municipality therein and to 
no charge against their general credit or taxing powers; (c) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are 
proper governmental and public purposes; and (d) the benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

5. The Project is located, or if not so located as of the date of this Fee Agreement the County 
intends to use its best efforts to so locate the Project, in a joint county industrial or business park created with 
an adjoining county in the State pursuant to agreement entered into pursuant to Section 4-1-170 of the Code 
and Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution. 

6. By enactment of an Ordinance on December 5, 2023, the County Council has authorized the 
County to enter into this Fee Agreement with the Company which classifies the Project as Economic 
Development Property under the FILOT Act and provides for the payment of fees in lieu of taxes and the 



 

2 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

provision of Special Source Credits to reimburse the Company for payment of the cost of certain Infrastructure 
in connection with the Project, all as further described herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 
agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

 
ARTICLE I 

 
DEFINITIONS 

 
Section 1.01  Definitions 
 

The terms that this Article defines shall for all purposes of this Fee Agreement have the meanings 
herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 
 
 “Administration Expenses” shall mean the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by the 
County with respect to this Fee Agreement, including without limitation reasonable attorney fees; provided, 
however, that no such expense shall be considered an Administration Expense until the County has 
furnished to the Company a statement in writing indicating the amount of such expense and the reason it 
has been or will be incurred. 
 
 “Affiliate” shall mean any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other entity which 
owns all or part of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate) or which 
is owned in whole or in part by the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate) 
or by any partner, shareholder or owner of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such 
Sponsor Affiliate), as well as any subsidiary, affiliate, individual or entity who bears a relationship to the 
Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate), as described in Section 267(b) of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
 
 “Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended.   
 

“Commencement Date” shall mean the last day of the property tax year during which the Project 
or the first Phase thereof is placed in service, which date shall not be later than the last day of the property 
tax year which is three (3) years from the year in which the County and the Company enter into this Fee 
Agreement. 

“Company” shall mean APG Colors and Additives, LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, and 
Green Lantern LLC, a Georgia limited liability company, and any surviving, resulting, or transferee entity 
in any merger, consolidation, or transfer of assets; or any other person or entity which may succeed to the 
rights and duties of the Company. 

 “Condemnation Event” shall mean any act of taking by a public or quasi-public authority through 
condemnation, reverse condemnation or eminent domain. 
 

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, investment 
by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates of at least $6,195,000.00 in Economic Development Property 
subject (non-exempt) to ad valorem taxation (in the absence of this Fee Agreement). 

Contract Minimum Jobs Creation Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, twenty-
four (24) new full-time jobs (with benefits) with expected average wages of $28.88 per hour. 



 

3 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 
subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as the 
governing body of the County. 

“County Administrator” shall mean the Anderson County Administrator, or the person holding 
any successor office of the County. 

“County Assessor” shall mean the Anderson County Assessor, or the person holding any successor 
office of the County. 

“County Auditor” shall mean the Anderson County Auditor, or the person holding any successor 
office of the County. 

“County Council” shall mean Anderson County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“County Treasurer” shall mean the Anderson County Treasurer, or the person holding any 
successor office of the County. 

“Defaulting Entity” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 6.02(a) hereof. 

“Deficiency Amount” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 4.03(a) hereof. 

“Department” shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Diminution in Value” in respect of the Project shall mean any reduction in the value, using the 
original fair market value (without regard to depreciation) as determined in Step 1 of Section 4.01 of this 
Fee Agreement, of the items which constitute a part of the Project and which are subject to FILOT payments 
which may be caused by the Company’s or any Sponsor Affiliate’s removal and/or disposal of equipment 
pursuant to Section 4.04 hereof, or by its election to remove components of the Project as a result of any 
damage or destruction or any Condemnation Event with respect thereto. 

“Economic Development Property” shall mean those items of real and tangible personal property 
of the Project which are eligible for inclusion as economic development property under the FILOT Act and 
this Fee Agreement, and selected and identified by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its annual filing 
of a SCDOR PT-300S or comparable form with the Department (as such filing may be amended from time 
to time) for each year within the Investment Period. 

“Equipment” shall mean machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and other tangible 
personal property, together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions thereto 
or therefor. 

“Event of Default” shall mean any event of default specified in Section 6.01 hereof. 

“Exemption Period” shall mean the period beginning on the first day of the property tax year after 
the property tax year in which an applicable portion of Economic Development Property is placed in service 
and ending on the Termination Date.  In case there are Phases of the Project, the Exemption Period applies 
to each year’s investment made during the Investment Period. 

“Fee Agreement” shall mean this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement. 



 

4 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

“FILOT” or “FILOT Payments” shall mean the amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem 
property taxes as provided herein. 

“FILOT Act” shall mean Title 12, Chapter 44, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 

“FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, an 
investment of at least $2,500,000 by the Company, or of at least $5,000,000 by the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates in the aggregate, in Economic Development Property. 

“Improvements” shall mean improvements to the Land, including buildings, building additions, 
roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with any and all additions, fixtures, accessions, 
replacements, and substitutions thereto or therefor. 

“Infrastructure” shall mean infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real 
estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of the Project, 
within the meaning of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Investment Period” shall mean, and shall be equal to, the Standard Investment Period. 

“Land” means the land upon which the Project will be located, as described in Exhibit A attached 
hereto, as Exhibit A may be supplemented from time to time in accordance with Section 3.01(c) hereof. 

“MCIP” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms of the 
MCIP Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor park agreement 
delivered by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 of the MCIP Act, or any 
successor provision, with respect to the Project. 

“MCIP Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 

“MCIP Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial 
and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, between the County and Greenville County, 
South Carolina, as the same may be further amended or supplemented from time to time, or such other 
agreement as the County may enter with respect to the Project to offer the benefits of the Special Source 
Credits to the Company hereunder. 

 “Phase” or “Phases” in respect of the Project shall mean that the components of the Project are 
placed in service during more than one year during the Investment Period, and the word “Phase” shall 
therefore refer to the applicable portion of the Project placed in service in a given year during the Investment 
Period. 

“Project” shall mean the Land and all the Equipment and Improvements that the Company 
determines to be necessary, suitable or useful for the purposes described in Section 2.02(b) hereof, to the 
extent determined by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate to be a part of the Project and placed in 
service during the Investment Period, and any Replacement Property.  Notwithstanding anything in this Fee 
Agreement to the contrary, the Project shall not include property which will not qualify for the FILOT 
pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of the FILOT Act, including without limitation property which has been 
subject to ad valorem taxation in the State prior to commencement of the Investment Period; provided, 
however, the Project may include (a) modifications which constitute an expansion of the real property 
portion of the Project and (b) the property allowed pursuant to Section 12-44-110(2) of the FILOT Act. 



 

5 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

“Removed Components” shall mean components of the Project or portions thereof which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its sole discretion, elects to remove from the Project pursuant to 
Section 4.04 hereof or as a result of any Condemnation Event. 

“Replacement Property” shall mean any property which is placed in service as a replacement for 
any item of Equipment or any Improvement previously subject to this Fee Agreement regardless of whether 
such property serves the same functions as the property it is replacing and regardless of whether more than 
one piece of property replaces any item of Equipment or any Improvement to the fullest extent that the 
FILOT Act permits. 

“Special Source Credits” shall mean the annual special source credits provided to the Company 
pursuant to Section 4.02 hereof.   

“Sponsor Affiliate” shall mean an entity that joins with the Company and that participates in the 
investment in, or financing of, the Project and which meets the requirements under the FILOT Act to be 
entitled to the benefits of this Fee Agreement with respect to its participation in the Project, all as set forth 
in Section 5.13 hereof. 

“Standard Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning with the first day of any purchase 
or acquisition of Economic Development Property and ending five (5) years after the Commencement Date.   

“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina. 

“Termination Date” shall mean, with respect to each Phase of the Project, the end of the last day 
of the property tax year which is the 29th year following the first property tax year in which such Phase of 
the Project is placed in service; provided, that the intention of the parties is that the Company will make at 
least 30 annual FILOT payments under Article IV hereof with respect to each Phase of the Project; and 
provided further, that if this Fee Agreement is terminated earlier in accordance with the terms hereof, the 
Termination Date shall mean the date of such termination. 

“Transfer Provisions” shall mean the provisions of Section 12-44-120 of the FILOT Act, as 
amended or supplemented from time to time, concerning, among other things, the necessity of obtaining 
County consent to certain transfers. 

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement 
shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement or 
document. 

Section 1.02  Project-Related Investments 
 
 The term “investment” or “invest” as used herein shall include not only investments made by the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments 
made by or for the benefit of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate with respect to the Project through 
federal, state, or local grants, to the extent such investments are subject to ad valorem taxes or FILOT 
payments by the Company. 

 
[End of Article I] 

  



 

6 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 
 
Section 2.01  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the County 
 
 The County hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State and acts 
through the County Council as its governing body. The County has duly authorized the execution and 
delivery of this Fee Agreement and any and all other agreements described herein or therein and has 
obtained all consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill its 
obligations hereunder. 

(b) Based upon representations by the Company, the Project constitutes a “project” within the 
meaning of the FILOT Act. 

(c) The County has agreed that each item of real and tangible personal property comprising 
the Project which is eligible to be economic development property under the FILOT Act and that the 
Company selects shall be considered Economic Development Property and is thereby exempt from ad 
valorem taxation in the State. 

(d) The millage rate set forth in Step 3 of Section 4.01(a) hereof is 319.79 mills, which is the 
millage rate in effect with respect to the location of the proposed Project as of June 30, 2023, as permitted 
under Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(d) of the FILOT Act. 

(e) The County will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Project to be located in a MCIP 
for a term extending at least until the end of the period of FILOT Payments against which a Special Source 
Credit is to be provided under this Fee Agreement. 

Section 2.02  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the Company 
 

The Company hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) Each of the Company is organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
Georgia, is duly authorized to transact business in the State, has power to enter into this Fee Agreement, 
and has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

(b) The Company intends to operate the Project as a “project” within the meaning of the FILOT 
Act as in effect on the date hereof. The Company intends to operate the Project for the purpose of a 
distribution/manufacturing facility, and for such other purposes that the FILOT Act permits as the Company 
may deem appropriate. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County has been instrumental in 
inducing the Company to locate the Project in the County. 

(d) The Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, will use commercially reasonable 
efforts to meet, or cause to be met the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment 
Period. 

[End of Article II]  



 

7 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

ARTICLE III 
 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 
 
Section 3.01      The Project 
 

(a) The Company intends and expects, together with any Sponsor Affiliate, to (i) construct and 
acquire the Project, (ii) meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement, and (iii) meet the Contract 
Minimum Jobs Creation Requirement, all within the Investment Period. The Company anticipates that the 
first Phase of the Project will be placed in service during the calendar year ending December 31, 2024. 

(b) Pursuant to the FILOT Act and subject to Section 4.03 hereof, the Company and the County 
hereby agree that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall identify annually those assets which are 
eligible for FILOT payments under the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement, and which the Company or 
any Sponsor Affiliate selects for such treatment by listing such assets in its annual PT-300S form (or 
comparable form) to be filed with the Department (as such may be amended from time to time) and that by 
listing such assets, such assets shall automatically become Economic Development Property and therefore 
be exempt from all ad valorem taxation during the Exemption Period. Anything contained in this Fee 
Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall not be obligated 
to complete the acquisition of the Project. However, if the Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, 
does not meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment Period, the provisions 
of Section 4.03 hereof shall control. 

(c) The Company may add to the Land such real property, located in the same taxing District 
in the County as the original Land, as the Company, in its discretion, deems useful or desirable. In such 
event, the Company, at its expense, shall deliver an appropriately revised Exhibit A to this Fee Agreement, 
in form reasonably acceptable to the County. 

Section 3.02  Diligent Completion 
 

The Company agrees to use its reasonable efforts to cause the completion of the Project as soon as 
practicable, but in any event on or prior to the end of the Investment Period. 

Section 3.03  Filings and Reports 
 

(a) Each year during the term of the Fee Agreement, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates 
shall deliver to the County, the County Auditor, the County Assessor and the County Treasurer a copy of 
their most recent annual filings with the Department with respect to the Project, not later than thirty (30) 
days following delivery thereof to the Department. 

(b) The Company shall cause a copy of this Fee Agreement, as well as a copy of the completed 
Form PT-443 of the Department, to be filed with the County Auditor and the County Assessor, and to their 
counterparts in the partner county to the MCIP Agreement, the County Administrator and the Department 
within thirty (30) days after the date of execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by all parties hereto. 

(c) Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree to maintain complete books and 
records accounting for the acquisition, financing, construction, and operation of the Project.  Such books 
and records shall (i) permit ready identification of the various Phases and components thereof; (ii) confirm 
the dates on which each Phase was placed in service; and (iii) include copies of all filings made by the 
Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates in accordance with Section 3.03(a) or (b) above with respect to 
property placed in service as part of the Project. 



 

8 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

[End of Article III]  



 

9 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

ARTICLE IV 
 

FILOT PAYMENTS 
 
Section 4.01  FILOT Payments 
 

(a) Pursuant to Section 12-44-50 of the FILOT Act, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, 
as applicable, are required to make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes to the County with respect to the 
Economic Development Property. Inasmuch as the Company anticipates an initial investment of sums 
sufficient for the Project to qualify for a fee in lieu of tax arrangement under Section 12-44-50(A)(1) of the 
FILOT Act, the County and the Company have negotiated the amount of the FILOT Payments in 
accordance therewith. The Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall make payments in lieu 
of ad valorem taxes on all Economic Development Property which comprises the Project and is placed in 
service, as follows: the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall make payments in lieu of 
ad valorem taxes during the Exemption Period with respect to the Economic Development Property or, if 
there are Phases of the Economic Development Property, with respect to each Phase of the Economic 
Development Property, said payments to be made annually and to be due and payable and subject to penalty 
assessments on the same dates and in the same manner as prescribed by the County for ad valorem taxes. 
The determination of the amount of such annual FILOT Payments shall be in accordance with the following 
procedure (subject, in any event, to the procedures required by the FILOT Act): 

Step 1: Determine the fair market value of the Economic Development Property (or Phase of the 
Economic Development Property) placed in service during the Exemption Period using original income tax 
basis for State income tax purposes for any real property and Improvements without regard to depreciation 
(provided, the fair market value of real property, as the FILOT Act defines such term, that the Company 
and any Sponsor Affiliates obtains by construction or purchase in an arms-length transaction is equal to the 
original income tax basis, and otherwise, the determination of the fair market value is by appraisal) and 
original income tax basis for State income tax purposes for any personal property less depreciation for each 
year allowable for property tax purposes, except that no extraordinary obsolescence shall be allowable.  The 
fair market value of the real property for the first year of the Exemption Period remains the fair market 
value of the real property and Improvements for the life of the Exemption Period.  The determination of 
these values shall take into account all applicable property tax exemptions that State law would allow to 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates if the property were taxable, except those exemptions that Section 
12-44-50(A)(2) of the FILOT Act specifically disallows. 

Step 2: Apply an assessment ratio of six percent (6%) to the fair market value in Step 1 to establish 
the taxable value of the Economic Development Property (or each Phase of the Economic Development 
Property) in the year it is placed in service and in each of the 29 years thereafter or such longer period of 
years in which the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement permit the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates to 
make annual FILOT payments. 

Step 3: Use a millage rate of 319.79 mills during the Exemption Period against the taxable value 
to determine the amount of the FILOT Payments due during the Exemption Period on the applicable 
payment dates. 



 

10 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

(b) In the event that a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no further 
appeal is allowable declares the FILOT Act and/or the herein-described FILOT Payments invalid or 
unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties express their intentions to reform such 
payments so as to effectuate most closely the intent thereof (without increasing the amount of incentives 
being afforded herein) and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the benefits to be 
derived herefrom, the intention of the County being to offer the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates a 
strong inducement to locate the Project in the County.  If the Economic Development Property is deemed 
to be subject to ad valorem taxation, this Fee Agreement shall terminate, and the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates shall pay the County regular ad valorem taxes from the date of termination, but with appropriate 
reductions equivalent to all tax exemptions which are afforded to the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates.  
Any amount determined to be due and owing to the County from the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates, 
with respect to a year or years for which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates previously remitted FILOT 
Payments to the County hereunder, shall (i) take into account all applicable tax exemptions to which the 
Company or such Sponsor Affiliates would be entitled if the Economic Development Property was not and 
had not been Economic Development Property under the Act; and (ii) be reduced by the total amount of 
FILOT Payments the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates had made with respect to the Project pursuant to 
the terms hereof.  

Section 4.02  Special Source Credits 
 

(a) In accordance with and pursuant to Section 12-44-70 of the FILOT Act and Section 4-1-
175 of the MCIP Act, in order to reimburse the Company for qualifying capital expenditures incurred for 
costs of the Infrastructure during the Standard Investment Period, the Company shall be entitled to receive, 
and the County agrees to provide, annual Special Source Credits against the Company’s FILOT Payments 
for a period of ten (10) consecutive years in an amount equal to eighty percent (80%) for years 1 through 5 
and forty percent (40%) for years 6 through 10 of that portion of FILOT Payments payable by the Company 
with respect to the Project (that is, with respect to investment made by the Company in the Project during the 
Standard Investment Period), calculated and applied after payment of the amount due the non-host county 
under the MCIP Agreement. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the Company 
be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the 
Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken. 

(c) In no event shall the aggregate amount of all Special Source Credits claimed by the Company 
exceed the amount expended with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time. The Company shall be 
responsible for making written annual certification as to compliance with the provisions of the preceding 
sentence through the delivery of a certification in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.  

(d) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Special Source Credit is taken 
against fee in lieu of tax payment on personal property, and the personal property is removed from the Project 
at any time during the term of this Fee Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying replacement property), the 
amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal property for the year in which the personal property was 
removed from the Project shall be due for the two (2) years immediately following such removal. 

(e) Each annual Special Source Credit shall be reflected by the County Auditor or other 
authorized County official or representative on each bill for FILOT Payments sent to the Company by the 
County for each applicable property tax year, by reducing such FILOT Payments otherwise due by the 
amount of the Special Source Credit to be provided to the Company for such property tax year. 



 

11 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

(f) The Special Source Credits are payable solely from the FILOT Payments, are not secured 
by, or in any way entitled to, a pledge of the full faith, credit or taxing power of the County, are not an 
indebtedness of the County within the meaning of any State constitutional provision or statutory limitation, 
are payable solely from a special source that does not include revenues from any tax or license, and are not 
a pecuniary liability of the County or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of the County. 

(g) All fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes pursuant to the agreement received by the County for 
MCIP premises located in the County attributable to current MCIP property shall be distributed in 
accordance with Section 3 of Ordinance 2010-026 and Paragraph 7 of the MCIP Agreement.  All fee-in lieu 
of ad valorem  taxes pursuant to the agreement received by the County for MCIP premises located in the 
County attributable to MCIP property added on and after November 16, 2020 shall be distributed, net of 
special source credits provided by the County pursuant to Section 4-1-175 (“Net Park Fees”) as follows: 
First, 15% of Net Park Fees shall be deposited to Bond Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 and used as 
required or permitted thereby, Second, 35% of Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 
2018-042, shall be deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County, and Third, 
remaining Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entitles in the County which levy an old 
ad valorem property tax in any of the areas comprising the County’s portion of the MCIP in the same 
percentage as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of operating and 
debt service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes. 

Section 4.03  Failure to Achieve Minimum Investment and Jobs Creation Requirement 
 

(a) Should the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement or the Contract Minimum Jobs 
Creation Requirement not be met by the Company by the end of the Standard Investment Period, any 
subsequent Special Source Credits shall be reduced to twenty percent (20%) of that portion of FILOT 
Payments payable by the Company with respect to the Project (that is, with respect to investment made by the 
Company in the Project during the Investment Period), calculated and applied after payment of the amount 
due the non-host county under the MCIP Agreement; except, however, if the Contract Minimum Investment 
Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Creation Requirement are both met by the end of the seventh 
(7th) tax year following the Commencement Date, then the Special Source Credits going forward shall return 
to forty percent (40%) for years 8 through 10.  Any portion of Special Source Credits lost because of a 
failure to meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement or the Contract Minimum Jobs Creation 
Requirement by the end of the Standard Investment Period shall not be recoverable by the Company or its 
Sponsor Affiliates. 

 (b)  As a condition to the FILOT benefit provided herein, the Company agrees to provide the 
County Administrator, the County Assessor, the County Auditor and the County Treasurer with an annual 
certification as to investment in the Project. Such certification shall be in substantially the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit B, and shall be due no later than the May 1 following the immediately preceding December 
31 of each year during the Investment Period. 

Section 4.04  Removal of Equipment 
 

Subject, always, to the other terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement, the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to remove and dispose of components of the Project from the Project in 
its sole discretion with the result that said components shall no longer be considered a part of the Project 
and, to the extent such constitute Economic Development Property, shall no longer be subject to the terms 
of this Fee Agreement.  Economic Development Property is disposed of only when it is scrapped or sold or 



 

12 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

removed from the Project. If it is removed from the Project, it is subject to ad valorem property taxes to the 
extent the Property remains in the State and is otherwise subject to ad valorem property taxes. 

Section 4.05  FILOT Payments on Replacement Property 
 

If the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate elects to replace any Removed Components and to 
substitute such Removed Components with Replacement Property as a part of the Economic Development 
Property, or the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate otherwise utilizes Replacement Property, then, pursuant 
and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the FILOT Act, the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate 
shall make statutory payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes with regard to such Replacement Property in 
accordance with the following: 

(i) Replacement Property does not have to serve the same function as the Economic 
Development Property it is replacing.  Replacement Property is deemed to replace the oldest 
Economic Development Property subject to the Fee, whether real or personal, which is disposed of 
in the same property tax year in which the Replacement Property is placed in service.  Replacement 
Property qualifies as Economic Development Property only to the extent of the original income tax 
basis of Economic Development Property which is being disposed of in the same property tax year.  
More than one piece of property can replace a single piece of Economic Development Property.  
To the extent that the income tax basis of the Replacement Property exceeds the original income 
tax basis of the Economic Development Property which it is replacing, the excess amount is subject 
to annual payments calculated as if the exemption for Economic Development Property were not 
allowable.  Replacement Property is entitled to treatment under the Fee Agreement for the period 
of time remaining during the Exemption Period for the Economic Development Property which it 
is replacing; and 

(ii) The new Replacement Property which qualifies for the FILOT shall be recorded 
using its income tax basis, and the calculation of the FILOT shall utilize the millage rate and 
assessment ratio in effect with regard to the original property subject to the FILOT. 

Section 4.06  Reductions in Payment of Taxes Upon Diminution in Value; Investment Maintenance 
Requirement 

 
In the event of a Diminution in Value of the Economic Development Property, the Payment in Lieu 

of Taxes with regard to the Economic Development Property shall be reduced in the same proportion as the 
amount of such Diminution in Value bears to the original fair market value of the Economic Development 
Property as determined pursuant to Step 1 of Section 4.01(a) hereof; provided, however, that if at any time 
subsequent to the end of the Investment Period, the total value of the Project remaining in the County based 
on the original income tax basis thereof (that is, without regard to depreciation), is less than the FILOT Act 
Minimum Investment Requirement, then beginning with the first payment thereafter due hereunder and 
continuing until the Termination Date, the Project shall no longer be entitled to the incentive provided in 
Section 4.01, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate shall therefore commence to pay regular ad 
valorem taxes thereon, calculated as set forth in Section 4.01(b) hereof.   

[End of Article IV]  



 

13 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

 
ARTICLE V 

 
PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

 
Section 5.01  Cessation of Operations 
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Fee Agreement, each of the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates acknowledges and agrees that County’s obligation to provide the FILOT incentive may end, and 
this Fee Agreement may be terminated by the County, at the County’s sole discretion, if the Company 
ceases operations at the Project; provided, however, that the Special Source Credits provided for in this Fee 
Agreement shall automatically terminate if the Company ceases operations as set forth in this Section 5.01.  
For purposes of this Section, “ceases operations” means closure of the facility or the cessation of production 
and shipment of products to customers for a continuous period of twelve (12) months.  The provisions of 
Section 4.03 hereof relating to retroactive payments shall apply, if applicable, if this Fee Agreement is 
terminated in accordance with this Section prior to the end of the Investment Period.  Each of the Company 
and any Sponsor Affiliates agrees that if this Fee Agreement is terminated pursuant to this subsection, that 
under no circumstance shall the County be required to refund or pay any monies to the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliates. 

Section 5.02  Rights to Inspect 
 

The Company agrees that the County and its authorized agents shall have the right at all reasonable 
times and upon prior reasonable notice to enter upon and examine and inspect the Project. The County and 
its authorized agents shall also be permitted, at all reasonable times and upon prior reasonable notice, to 
have access to examine and inspect the Company’s South Carolina property tax returns, as filed. The 
aforesaid rights of examination and inspection shall be exercised only upon such reasonable and necessary 
terms and conditions as the Company shall prescribe, and shall be subject to the provisions of Section 5.03 
hereof. 

Section 5.03  Confidentiality 
 

The County acknowledges and understands that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may 
utilize confidential and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and 
techniques (herein “Confidential Information”). In this regard, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates 
may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County “Confidential Information.”  The 
County agrees that, except as required by law, neither the County nor any employee, agent, or contractor 
of the County shall disclose or otherwise divulge any such clearly labeled Confidential Information to any 
other person, firm, governmental body or agency, or any other entity unless specifically required to do so 
by law.  Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledge that the County is subject to the 
South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain documents and 
information on request, absent an exemption. In the event that the County is required to disclose any 
Confidential Information obtained from the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates to any third party, the 
County agrees to provide the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates with as much advance notice as is 
reasonably possible of such requirement before making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with 
any attempts by the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates to obtain judicial or other relief from such 
disclosure requirement. 



 

14 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

Section 5.04  Limitation of County’s Liability 
 

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any financial obligation the County may incur 
hereunder, including for the payment of money, shall not be deemed to constitute a pecuniary liability or a 
debt or general obligation of the County (it being intended herein that any obligations of the County with 
respect to the Special Source Credits shall be payable only from FILOT payments received from or payable 
by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates); provided, however, that nothing herein shall prevent the 
Company from enforcing its rights hereunder by suit for mandamus or specific performance. 

Section 5.05  Mergers, Reorganizations and Equity Transfers 
 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that any mergers, reorganizations 
or consolidations of the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates may cause the Project to become ineligible 
for negotiated fees in lieu of taxes under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the Company and such 
Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions; provided that, to the extent provided by Section 12-44-120 
of the FILOT Act or any successor provision, any financing arrangements entered into by the Company or 
any Sponsor Affiliates with respect to the Project and any security interests granted by the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliates in connection therewith shall not be construed as a transfer for purposes of the Transfer 
Provisions.  Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, it is not intended in this Fee 
Agreement that the County shall impose transfer restrictions with respect to the Company, any Sponsor 
Affiliates or the Project as are any more restrictive than the Transfer Provisions. 

Section 5.06  Indemnification Covenants 
 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Fee Agreement or in any other agreements 
with the County, the Company agrees to indemnify, defend and save the County, its County Council 
members, elected officials, officers, employees, servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified 
Parties”) harmless against and from all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation arising 
from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on the Project or the Land by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, their members, officers, shareholders, employees, servants, contractors, 
and agents during the Term, and, the Company further, shall indemnify, defend and save the Indemnified 
Parties harmless against and from all claims arising during the Term from (i) entering into and performing 
its obligations under this Fee Agreement, (ii) any condition of the Project, (iii) any breach or default on the 
part of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in the performance of any of its obligations under this Fee 
Agreement, (iv) any act of negligence of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or its agents, contractors, 
servants, employees or licensees, (v) any act of negligence of any assignee or lessee of the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate, or of any agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees of any assignee or lessee 
of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, or (vi) any environmental violation, condition, or effect with 
respect to the Project.  The Company shall indemnify, defend and save the County harmless from and 
against all costs and expenses incurred in or in connection with any such claim arising as aforesaid or in 
connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice from the County, the Company 
shall defend it in any such action, prosecution or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County 
(the approval of which shall not be unreasonably withheld). 

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the Indemnified Parties 
shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Fee Agreement, or the undertakings required 
of the County hereunder, by reason of the granting of the FILOT, by reason of the execution of this Fee 
Agreement, by the reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate, or by reason of the County’s relationship to the Project or by the operation of the Project by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, including all claims, liabilities or losses arising in connection with the 
violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the County or any of the 



 

15 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

other Indemnified Parties should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such event the Company shall 
indemnify, defend and hold them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or 
corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection with any such claim 
or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice, the Company shall defend 
them in any such action or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County (the approval of which 
shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that such indemnity shall not apply to the extent 
that any such claim is attributable to (i) the grossly negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct of the 
County, its agents, officers or employees, or (ii) any breach of this Fee Agreement by the County. 

(c) Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the above-referenced 
covenants insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any Indemnified Party resulting 
from any of the above-described acts of or failure to act by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, shall 
survive any termination of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 5.07  Qualification in State 
 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates warrant that it is duly qualified to do business in 
the State, and covenants that it will continue to be so qualified so long as it operates any portion of the 
Project. 

Section 5.08  No Liability of County’s Personnel 
 

All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County contained herein 
shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County and shall 
be binding upon any member of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or 
employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and not in his or her individual capacity, and no 
recourse shall be had for the payment of any moneys hereunder against any member of the governing body 
of the County or any elected official, officer, agent, servants or employee of the County and no recourse 
shall be had against any member of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or 
employee of the County for the performance of any of the covenants and agreements of the County herein 
contained or for any claims based thereon except solely in their official capacity. 

Section 5.09  Assignment, Leases or Transfers 
 

The County agrees that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may at any time (a) transfer all or 
any of their rights and interests under this Fee Agreement or with respect to all or any part of the Project, 
or (b) enter into any lending, financing, leasing, security, or similar arrangement or succession of such 
arrangements with any financing or other entity with respect to this Fee Agreement or all or any part of the 
Project, including without limitation any sale-leaseback, equipment lease, build-to-suit lease, synthetic 
lease, nordic lease, defeased tax benefit or transfer lease, assignment, sublease or similar arrangement or 
succession of such arrangements, regardless of the identity of the income tax owner of such portion of the 
Project, whereby the transferee in any such arrangement leases the portion of the Project in question to the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or operates such assets for the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or is 
leasing the portion of the Project in question from the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate.  In order to 
preserve the FILOT benefit afforded hereunder with respect to any portion of the Project so transferred, 
leased, financed, or otherwise affected: (i) except in connection with any transfer to an Affiliate of the 
Company or of any Sponsor Affiliate, or transfers, leases, or financing arrangements pursuant to clause (b) 
above (as to which such transfers the County hereby consents), the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, 
as applicable, shall obtain the prior consent or subsequent ratification of the County which consent or 
subsequent ratification may be granted by the County in its sole discretion and as evidenced by resolution 
passed by the County Council; (ii) except when a financing entity which is the income tax owner of all or 



 

16 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

part of the Project is the transferee pursuant to clause (b) above and such financing entity assumes in writing 
the obligations of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, hereunder, or when the County 
consents in writing, no such transfer shall affect or reduce any of the obligations of the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates hereunder; (iii) to the extent the transferee or financing entity shall become obligated to 
make FILOT Payments hereunder, the transferee shall assume the then current basis of, as the case may be, 
the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates (or prior transferee) in the portion of the Project transferred; (iv) 
the Company or applicable Sponsor Affiliate, transferee or financing entity shall, within sixty (60) days 
thereof, furnish or cause to be furnished to the County and the Department a true and complete copy of any 
such transfer agreement; and (v) the Company, the Sponsor Affiliates and the transferee shall comply with 
all other requirements of the Transfer Provisions. 

Subject to County consent when required under this Section, and at the expense of the Company or 
any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, the County agrees to take such further action or execute such 
further agreements, documents, and instruments as may be reasonably required to effectuate the assumption 
by any such transferee of all or part of the rights of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate under this Fee 
Agreement and/or any release of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to this Section.   

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that such a transfer of an interest 
under this Fee Agreement or in the Project may cause all or part of the Project to become ineligible for the 
FILOT benefit afforded hereunder or result in penalties under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions.   

Section 5.10  Administration Expenses 
 

The Company agrees to pay any Administration Expenses to the County when and as they shall 
become due, but in no event later than the date which is the earlier of any payment date expressly provided 
for in this Fee Agreement or the date which is forty-five (45) days after receiving written notice from the 
County, accompanied by such supporting documentation as may be necessary to evidence the County’s or 
Indemnified Party’s right to receive such payment, specifying the nature of such expense and requesting 
payment of same. 

Section 5.11  Priority Lien Status 
 

The County’s right to receive FILOT payments hereunder shall have a first priority lien status 
pursuant to Sections 12-44-90(E) and (F) of the FILOT Act and Chapters 4, 49, 51, 53, and 54 of Title 12 
of the Code. 

Section 5.12  Interest; Penalties 
 

In the event the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate should fail to make any of the payments to the 
County required under this Fee Agreement, then the item or installment so in default shall continue as an 
obligation of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate until the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall 
have fully paid the amount, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree, as applicable, to pay the 
same with interest thereon at a rate, unless expressly provided otherwise herein and in the case of FILOT 
payments, of 5% per annum, compounded monthly, to accrue from the date on which the payment was due 
and, in the case of FILOT payments, at the rate for non-payment of ad valorem taxes under State law and 
subject to the penalties the law provides until payment. 
 
Section 5.13  Sponsor Affiliates 
 



 

17 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

The Company may designate from time to time any Sponsor Affiliates pursuant to the provisions 
of Sections 12-44-30(20) and 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act, which Sponsor Affiliates shall join with the 
Company and make investments with respect to the Project, or participate in the financing of such 
investments, and shall agree to be bound by the terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement pursuant to the 
terms of a written joinder agreement with the County and the Company, in form reasonably acceptable to 
the County.  The Company shall provide the County and the Department with written notice of any Sponsor 
Affiliate designated pursuant to this Section within ninety (90) days after the end of the calendar year during 
which any such Sponsor Affiliate has placed in service any portion of the Project, in accordance with 
Section 12-44-130(B) of the FILOT Act. 
 

[End of Article V]  



 

18 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

ARTICLE VI 
 

DEFAULT 
 
Section 6.01  Events of Default 
 

The following shall be “Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement, and the term “Event of 
Default” shall mean, whenever used with reference to this Fee Agreement, any one or more of the following 
occurrences: 

(a) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to make the FILOT Payments described 
in Section 4.01 hereof, or any other amounts payable to the County under this Fee Agreement when due, 
which failure shall not have been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt of written notice thereof 
from the County; provided, however, that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to all 
redemption rights granted by applicable statutes; or 

(b) A representation or warranty made by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate hereunder 
which is deemed materially incorrect when deemed made; or  

(c) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to perform any of the terms, conditions, 
obligations, or covenants hereunder (other than those under (a) above), which failure shall continue for a 
period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the County to the Company and such Sponsor Affiliate 
specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate 
shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is diligently pursuing such action until 
the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be extended to cover such additional period 
during which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate is diligently pursuing corrective action; or 

(d) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 
hereunder, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the 
Company to the County and any Sponsor Affiliates specifying such failure and requesting that it be 
remedied, unless the County shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is diligently 
pursuing such action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be extended to 
cover such additional period during which the County is diligently pursuing corrective action. 
 
Section 6.02  Remedies Upon Default 
 

(a) Whenever any Event of Default by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate (the “Defaulting 
Entity”) shall have occurred and shall be continuing, the County may take any one or more of the following 
remedial actions as to the Defaulting Entity, only: 

(i) terminate this Fee Agreement; or 
 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to 
collect the amounts due hereunder.   

In no event shall the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate be liable to the County or otherwise for 
monetary damages resulting from the Company’s (together with any Sponsor Affiliates) failure to meet the 
Contract Minimum Investment Requirement other than as expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement. 

 In addition to all other remedies provided herein, the failure to make FILOT payments shall give 
rise to a lien for tax purposes as provided in Section 12-44-90 of the FILOT Act.  In this regard, and 



 

19 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the County may exercise the remedies that 
general law (including Title 12, Chapter 49 of the Code) provides with regard to the enforced collection of 
ad valorem taxes to collect any FILOT payments due hereunder. 

(b) Whenever any Event of Default by the County shall have occurred or shall be continuing, 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate may take one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement; 
 

(ii) terminate this Fee Agreement as to the acting party; or 
 

(iii) in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such action as is 
appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent allowed by law. 

Section 6.03  Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Expenses and Other Expenses 
 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, 
should the County be required to employ attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection of 
payments due hereunder or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or 
agreement, the County shall be entitled, within thirty (30) days of demand therefor, to reimbursement of 
the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred.   

Section 6.04  No Waiver 
 

No failure or delay on the part of any party hereto in exercising any right, power, or remedy 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, power, 
or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, or remedy 
hereunder. No waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective unless the same shall be in writing and 
signed by the waiving party hereto. 
 

[End of Article VI]  



 

20 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

ARTICLE VII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Section 7.01  Notices 
 

Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be provided under this Fee 
Agreement shall be effective when delivered to the party named below or when deposited with the United 
States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows (or 
addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), 
except where the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such provision 
shall control: 

 
If to the Company: 
 
c/o APG Colors and Additives, LLC 
227 Youth Center Road 
Belton, SC  29627 
Attn:  Marc Vanover 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Maynard Nexsen PC 
Attn: James K. Price 
104 South Main Street, Suite 900 
Greenville, South Carolina 29601 
 
If to the County: 
 

 Anderson County 
Attn: County Administrator 

 P.O. Box 8002  
Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Anderson County Attorney 

 P.O. Box 8002  
Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 

 
Section 7.02  Binding Effect 
 

This Fee Agreement and each document contemplated hereby or related hereto shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County, and their respective 
successors and assigns.  In the event of the dissolution of the County or the consolidation of any part of the 
County with any other political subdivision or the transfer of any rights of the County to any other such 
political subdivision, all of the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements of this Fee Agreement 
shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any entity, officer, 
board, commission, agency, or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of the County has 
been transferred. 



 

21 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

Section 7.03  Counterparts 
 

This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and all of the counterparts 
taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 7.04  Governing Law 
 

This Fee Agreement and all documents executed in connection herewith shall be construed in 
accordance with and governed by the laws of the State. 

Section 7.05  Headings 
 

The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are inserted for convenience only 
and shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.06  Amendments 
 

The provisions of this Fee Agreement may only be modified or amended in writing by any 
agreement or agreements entered into between the parties. 

Section 7.07  Further Assurance 
 

From time to time, and at the expense of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County 
agrees to execute and deliver to the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates such additional instruments 
as the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and 
reasonably within the purposes and scope of the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement to effectuate the 
purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.08  Invalidity; Change in Laws 
 

In the event that the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other issue is 
unclear under this Fee Agreement, the County hereby expresses its intention that the interpretation of this 
Fee Agreement shall be in a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion of property under the terms of 
this Fee Agreement and the maximum incentive permissible under the FILOT Act, to the extent not 
inconsistent with any of the explicit terms hereof.  If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared illegal, 
invalid, or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions hereof shall be unimpaired, and such 
illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision shall be reformed to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, and 
enforceable intent thereof and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the maximum 
benefits to be derived herefrom, it being the intention of the County to offer the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates the strongest inducement possible, within the provisions of the FILOT Act, to locate the Project 
in the County.  In case a change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina laws eliminates or reduces any of the 
restrictions or limitations applicable to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates and the FILOT incentive, 
the parties agree that the County will give expedient and full consideration to reformation of this Fee 
Agreement, and, if the County Council so decides, to provide the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with 
the benefits of such change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina laws. 

Section 7.09  Termination by Company 
 

The Company is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all or part 
of the Project upon providing the County with thirty (30) days’ written notice; provided, however, that (i) 
any monetary obligations existing hereunder and due and owing at the time of termination to a party hereto 



 

22 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

(including without limitation any amounts owed with respect to Section 4.03 hereof); and (ii) any provisions 
which are intended to survive termination shall survive such termination. In the year following such 
termination, all property shall be subject to ad valorem taxation or such other taxation or fee in lieu of 
taxation that would apply absent this Fee Agreement. The Company’s obligation to make FILOT Payments 
under this Fee Agreement shall terminate in the year following the year of such termination pursuant to this 
section. 

Section 7.10  Entire Understanding 
 

This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all agreements of the parties hereto 
with each other, and neither party hereto has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any representation 
to the other party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in certificates delivered in 
connection with the execution and delivery hereof. 

Section 7.11  Waiver 
 

Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or condition of this Fee 
Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 7.12  Business Day 
 

In the event that any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee Agreement, required to 
be taken, made, or given on any day which is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the jurisdiction in 
which the person obligated to act is domiciled, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, made, or 
given on the following business day with the same effect as if given as required hereby, and no interest 
shall accrue in the interim. 

Section 7.13      Facsimile/Scanned Signatures 
 

The parties agree that use of a fax or scanned signature and the signatures, initials, and handwritten 
or typewritten modifications to any of the foregoing shall be deemed to be valid and binding upon the 
parties as if the original signature, initials and handwritten or typewritten modifications were present on the 
documents in the handwriting of each party. 

 [End of Article VII] 
 
  



 

23 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused 
this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and behalf by the Chairman of County Council and to be 
attested by the Clerk of the County Council; and the Company has caused this Fee Agreement to be executed 
by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL)      By:       

     Tommy Dunn, Chairman of County Council, 
     Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Renee D. Watts, Clerk to County Council, 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement] 

 
 
  



 

24 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

      APG COLORS AND ADDITIVES, LLC 
 
 
             
      Name:       
      Its:       
 
                                                            

                                                                              GREEN LANTERN LLC 
 
 
             
      Name:       
      Its:       
 

                                                                               

 

 

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement] 

 

 



 

A-1 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

EXHIBIT A 
 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
ALL THAT CERTAIN piece, parcel or tract of land, situate, lying and being in Belton Township, County of 
Anderson, State of South Carolina, containing 25. 76 acres as shown on a plat of survey entitled "Survey for 
Mohawk Carpet Corporation & Mohawk Industries, Inc., near Belton", prepared by Arcadis Geraghty & 
Miller, dated July 9, 1993, last revised September 23, 1999, and recorded in the Office of the Register of 
Deeds for Anderson County in Slide 1059 at Page 3, and having, according to said plat the following metes 
and bounds, to-wit:  
 
Beginning at a point at the intersection of the northern edge of the right-of-way of South Carolina Secondary 
Road S4-29 and the northeastern right-of-way of Old Southern Railway System; thence running with the right-
of-way of Old Southern Railway System, N 38-13-12 W 1,473.53 feet to a point at the joint line with the 
43.98 acre tract; thence turning and running with the said joint line, N 51-46-20 E 651.20 feet to an old iron 
pin; thence S 38-13- 33 E 466.70 feet to an iron pin; thence N 45-28-06 E 104.86 feet to an iron pin; thence 
running N 59-28-51 E 163.41 feet to an iron pin; thence turning and running S 37-54-49 E 169.10 feet to an 
iron pin; thence turning and running S 50-16-46 W 265.24 feet to an iron pin; thence turning and running S 
38-14-11 E 639.10 feet to an iron pin; thence turning and running with property now or formerly of James J. 
Callaham and Walter L. Callaham, S 00-16-54 E 41.4 feet to an iron pin; thence running with property now 
or formerly of Walter L. Callham, S 00-42-58 E 780.99 feet to an iron pin in the center of the right-of-way of 
South Carolina Secondary Road S4-29; thence turning and running with the center line of the right-of-way of 
South Carolina Secondary Road S4-29, N 56-49-56 W 181.86 feet to an iron pin; thence running with the 
right-of-way of South Carolina Secondary Road S4-29, N 63-01-00 W 220.84 feet to an iron pin; thence 
running N 38-13-12 W 97.87 feet to an iron pin, being the Point of Beginning. 
 
ALSO:  
 
ALL THAT CERTAIN piece, parcel or tract of land, situate, lying and being in Belton Township, County of 
Anderson, State of South Carolina, containing 1.33 acres as shown on a plat of survey entitled "Survey for 
Mohawk Carpet Corporation & Mohawk Industries, Inc., near Belton", prepared by Arcadis Geraghty & 
Miller, dated July 9, 1993, last revised September 23, 1999, and recorded in the Office of the Register of 
Deeds for Anderson County in Slide l 059 at Page 3, and having, according to said plat, the following metes 
and bounds, to-wit:  
Beginning at an iron pin in the center of the right-of-way of South Carolina Secondary Road S4-29 and the 
northeasterly edge of the right-of-way of Old Southern Railway System; thence running with the northeasterly 
edge of the right-of-way of Old Southern Railway System, N 38-13-12 W 1970.8 feet to an iron pin at the 
joint line of property now or formerly of J.E. Ellison; thence turning and running S 27-15-00 E 32.9 feet to an 
iron pin in the center of the right-of-way of Old Southern Railway System; thence turning and running with 
the center line of the right-of-way of Southern Railway System, S 38-13-12 E 1892.60 feet to a point; thence 
turning and running S 63-01-00 E 71.30 feet to an iron pin in the center of right-of-way of South Carolina 
Secondary Road S4-29, being the Point of Beginning.  
 
DERIVATION: This being the same property conveyed to Southern Warehouse Associates, LLC by deed 
from Allen S. Beck dated September 12, 2002 and recorded September 13, 2002 in Deed Book 4958, page 5, 
Anderson County Records. 
 
TMS # 223-00-10-015 
 



 

B-1 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

EXHIBIT B 
 
 

INVESTMENT AND JOBS CREATION CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 I __________, the __________ of APG Colors and Additives, LLC (the “Company”), do hereby 
certify in connection with Section 4.03 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement 
dated as of __________, 2023 between Anderson County, South Carolina and the Company (the 
“Agreement”), as follows: 
 
 (1) The total investment made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates in the Project 
during the calendar year ending December 31, 20__ was $___________. 
 
 (2) The cumulative total investment made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates in the 
Project from the period beginning __________, 20__ (that is, the beginning date of the Investment Period) 
and ending December 31, 20__, is $__________. 
 
 (3) The number of new, full-time jobs created at the Project since _____________, 20__ (the 
beginning date of the Investment Period) is _____ persons and their average wage exceeds $19.38 per hour.  
The total number of employees of the Company at the Project as of December 31, 20__ is ___ .  
 
 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
 
             
      Name:       
      Its:       

 
 
 



 

C-1 
NPDocuments:62054324.3  

EXHIBIT C 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 I __________, the __________ of APG Colors and Additives, LLC (the “Company”), do hereby 
certify in connection with Section 4.02 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement 
dated as of __________, 2023 between Anderson County, South Carolina and the Company (the 
“Agreement”), as follows: 
 
 (1) As of the date hereof, the aggregate amount of Special Source Credits previously received 
by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates is $_________. 
 
 (2) As of December 31, 20__, the aggregate amount of investment in costs of Infrastructure 
incurred by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates during the Investment Period is not less than 
$_________. 

 
 (3) Of the total amount set forth in (2) above, $________ pertains to the investment in personal 
property, including machinery and equipment, at the Project.  The applicable personal property, and 
associated expenditures, are listed below: 
 

Personal Property Description  Investment Amount 
   
   
   
   

 
 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
       
             
      Name:       
      Its:       
 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO.: 2023-044 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO LEASE REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 731 MICHELIN 
BOULEVARD TO D&S ENTERPRISES OF ANDERSON, LLC D/B/A HELI-PLANE 
AVIATION; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County has authority pursuant to the South Carolina Code of Laws, 
1976, as amended, and specifically section 4-9-30, to lease, sell or otherwise dispose of real 
property; 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County is required under S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-130 to hold a 
public hearing on notice to sell, lease or contract to sell or lease real property owned by the County; 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County is the owner of a parcel of real property located at 731 
Michelin Boulevard, which is a portion of a larger tract with tax map number 097-00-02-019 (the 
“Property”); 
 
 WHEREAS, Heli-Plane Aviation desires to lease the property for the purpose of helicopter 
repair and development of aviation coating products; and 
 
 WHEREAS, D&S Enterprises of Anderson, LLC is a South Carolina Limited Liability 
Company Registered with the office of the South Carolina Secretary of State. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 
 
 1. Anderson County desires to lease the following property to D&S Enterprises of 
Anderson, LLC d/b/a Heli-Plane Aviation: 
 

The parcel of real property  located at 731 Michelin Boulevard which is a 
portion of a larger tract with TMS No. 097-00-02-019. (That portion is to 
the east of Michelin Boulevard and previously used as the County Public 
Works site.)  

 
 2. The Anderson County Administrator is hereby authorized to and directed to execute 
any documents necessary to effectuate the lease of this parcel of real property as described herein 
and in a form substantially similar to, and not materially different from, the lease agreement 
attached hereto as Exhibit A. 
 
 3. All Orders and Ordinances in conflict herewith are, to the extent of such conflict 
only, hereby repealed and rescinded.  
 
 4. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked and 
rescinded.  
 



 5. This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon Third Reading and 
Enactment by Anderson County Council.  
 
 

ENACTED in a duly assembled meeting this ____ day of ______, 2023.  

 

ATTEST:      FOR ANDERSON COUNTY:  

 

___________________________  ___________________________________ 
By: Rusty Burns     By: Tommy Dunn  
Its: Administrator      Its: Chairman, Anderson County Council   
 
 
_____________________________ 
Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
_____________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 
 
First Reading:  
Second Reading:  
Third Reading:  

      Public Hearing: 
 
 
 
 
  



EXHIBIT A 
(Presently Under Negotiation) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-045 

AN ORDINANCE TO APPROVE THE GRANT OF A RIGHT-OF-WAY EASEMENT TO 
DUKE ENERGY CAROLINAS LLC, ON REAL PROPERTY OWNED BY ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, TO BE UTILIZED FOR THE NEW DETENTION 
CENTER; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.  

 WHEREAS, Anderson County has authority pursuant to the South Carolina Code of Laws, 
1976, as amended, and specifically section 4-9-30, to lease, sell or otherwise dispose of real 
property; 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County is required under S.C. Code Ann. § 4-9-130 to hold a 
public hearing on notice to sell, lease or contract to sell or lease real property owned by the County; 
  

 WHEREAS, Anderson County is the current owner of real property identified by tax map 
numbers 122-00-01-001, 122-00-01-008, and 122-00-01-005; 

 WHEREAS, Anderson County desires to encumber the above-referenced land for the 
benefit of Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC, for the purpose of installing and maintaining overhead 
and underground electric utility facilities.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that: 

1.  The Anderson County Council hereby approves the Right-of-Way Easement on 
portions of tax parcels 122-00-01-001, 122-00-01-008, and 122-00-01-005, as shown on Exhibit 
A attached hereto, for purposes of laying, constructing, maintaining, operating, repairing, altering, 
replacing and/or removing electric utilities and the necessary fixtures and equipment within the 
Right-of-Way Easement.  The County Administrator is hereby authorized, empowered, and 
directed to execute, acknowledge, and deliver all documents in the name of and or on behalf of the 
County to carry out the transaction authorized by this Ordinance. 

2. All other terms, provisions, sections, and contents of the Code of Ordinances, 
Anderson County, South Carolina not specifically affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

 

3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 

 

4. This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the public hearing and the third 
reading in accordance with the Code of Ordinances, Anderson County, South Carolina. 

 
 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this 5th day of December, 2023. 
 



 
 
 
 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
                                                                           
 
 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
First Reading:     November 7, 2023 
Second Reading: November 21, 2023 
Third Reading     December 5, 2023 
 
Public Hearing:   December 5, 2023 
 
 
 
  



 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
(Presently Under Negotiation) 

 
 
 
 
 
 









ORDINANCE NO. 2023-046 
 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND A COMPANY OR COMPANIES KNOWN 
TO THE COUNTY AT THIS TIME AS [PROJECT WHITE] WITH RESPECT TO 
CERTAIN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY IN THE COUNTY, 
WHEREBY SUCH PROPERTY WILL BE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN PAYMENTS 
IN LIEU OF TAXES, INCLUDING THE PROVISION OF CERTAIN SPECIAL 
SOURCE CREDITS; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
WHEREAS, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), acting by and 

through its County Council (the “County Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to 
the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park 
Act”), and Title 4, Chapter 29, of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, to enter into 
agreements with industry whereby the industry would pay fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to qualified 
projects; to provide infrastructure credits against payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in respect of 
investment in certain infrastructure enhancing the economic development of the County; through all such 
powers the industrial development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade 
developed by inducing manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate or remain in the State and thus 
utilize and employ the manpower, products and resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare 
of the County by providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided 
locally; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT Act, and in order to induce investment in the County, the 
County did previously enter into an Inducement Agreement dated _______, 2023 (the “Inducement 
Agreement”) with [Project White], a __________ (the “Company”) (which was known to the County at the 
time as “Project White”), with respect to the acquisition, construction, and installation of land, buildings, 
improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real and/or tangible personal property 
to constitute a new facility in the County for the manufacture of  __________ (collectively, the “Project”); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Company has represented that the Project will involve an investment of 
approximately $14,000,000 in the County and the expected creation of approximately 26 new, full-time jobs 
at the Project, all within the Investment Period (as such term is defined in the hereinafter defined Fee 
Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County has determined on the basis of the information supplied to it by the 
Company that the Project would be a “project” and “economic development property” as such terms are 
defined in the FILOT Act, and that the Project would serve the purposes of the FILOT Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County intends to cause the Project, to the extent 
not already therein located, to be placed in a joint county industrial and business park such that the Project 
will receive the benefits of the Multi-County Park Act; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Inducement Agreement, the County has agreed to, among other 
things, (a) enter into a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement with the Company (the 
“Fee Agreement”), whereby the County would provide therein for a payment of a fee-in-lieu-of taxes by 
the Company with respect to the Project, and (b) provide for certain special source credits to be claimed by 



2 

the Company against its payments of fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to the Project pursuant to Section 4-
1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the County Council has caused to be prepared and presented to this meeting the form 
of the Fee Agreement which the County proposes to execute and deliver; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it appears that the documents above referred to, which are now before this meeting, 
are in appropriate form and are an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered or approved by the 
County for the purposes intended;   
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows: 
 

Section 1. Based on information supplied by the Company, it is hereby found, determined and 
declared by the County Council, as follows: 

(a) The Project will constitute a “project” and “economic development property” as said terms 
are referred to and defined in the FILOT Act, and the County’s actions herein will subserve the purposes 
and in all respects conform to the provisions and requirements of the FILOT Act; 

(b) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 

(c) The Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; 

(d) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development, creation of 
jobs and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and public purposes; and 

(e) The benefits of the Project are anticipated to be greater than the costs. 

Section 2. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee Agreement presented to this meeting are 
hereby approved and all of the terms and provisions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if 
the Fee Agreement was set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. The Chairman of County Council and/or the 
County Administrator are hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, acknowledge and deliver 
the Fee Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby 
authorized and directed to attest the same, and thereupon to cause the Fee Agreement to be delivered to the 
Company and cause a copy of the same to be delivered to the Anderson County Auditor, Assessor and 
Treasurer. The Fee Agreement is to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby 
approved, or with such minor changes therein as shall be approved by the Chairman of County Council, 
upon advice of counsel, his execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of his approval of any and 
all changes or revisions therein from the form of Fee Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 3. The Chairman of County Council, the County Administrator and the Clerk to 
County Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby authorized and directed to do any and all things 
necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the Fee Agreement and the performance of all obligations 
of the County thereunder. 

Section 4. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 
section, phrase or provisions shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, 
phrases and provisions hereunder. 



3 

Section 5. All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent 
of such conflict, hereby repealed. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after its 
passage by the County Council. 

 
 ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this __ day of ______, 2023.  
 
 
ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this __ day of ______, 2023.  
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
        
Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 
 

 
Attest: 
 
 
By:____________________________________ 
            Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
By:____________________________________ 
            Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
By:       
 Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 

 
 
First Reading: November 7, 2023  
Second Reading: November 21, 2023  
Third Reading: ___________, 2023 
Public Hearing: December 5, 2023 
 
 
 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received unanimous approval, by the County Council at its meetings of _________, 2023, _________, 
2023, and _________, 2023, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and 
voted, and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
 
 ___________________________________________ 
      Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
   Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
Dated: _________, 2023 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 
 

Between 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 

and 
 
 

[PROJECT WHITE] 
 
 
 

 
Dated as of __________, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

SECTION 1.01 DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................................ 3 
SECTION 1.02 PROJECT-RELATED INVESTMENTS ........................................................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 2.01 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COUNTY.................................................. 7 
SECTION 2.02 REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS OF THE COMPANY ............................................... 7 

ARTICLE III 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 

SECTION 3.01 THE PROJECT ........................................................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 3.02 DILIGENT COMPLETION ........................................................................................................................... 8 
SECTION 3.03 FILINGS AND REPORTS ............................................................................................................................. 8 

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 

SECTION 4.01 FILOT PAYMENTS ................................................................................................................................. 10 
SECTION 4.02 SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS ..................................................................................................... 11 
SECTION 4.03 FAILURE TO ACHIEVE MINIMUM INVESTMENT REQUIREMENTS............................................................. 12 
SECTION 4.04 REMOVAL OF EQUIPMENT ...................................................................................................................... 13 
SECTION 4.05 FILOT PAYMENTS ON REPLACEMENT PROPERTY .................................................................................. 13 
SECTION 4.06 REDUCTIONS IN PAYMENT OF TAXES UPON DIMINUTION IN VALUE; INVESTMENT MAINTENANCE 

REQUIREMENT ...................................................................................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE V 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

SECTION 5.01 CESSATION OF OPERATIONS ................................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.02 RIGHTS TO INSPECT ................................................................................................................................ 15 
SECTION 5.03 CONFIDENTIALITY ................................................................................................................................. 15 
SECTION 5.04 LIMITATION OF COUNTY’S LIABILITY .................................................................................................... 15 
SECTION 5.05 MERGERS, REORGANIZATIONS AND EQUITY TRANSFERS....................................................................... 16 
SECTION 5.06 INDEMNIFICATION COVENANTS ............................................................................................................. 16 
SECTION 5.07 QUALIFICATION IN STATE ...................................................................................................................... 17 
SECTION 5.08 NO LIABILITY OF COUNTY’S PERSONNEL .............................................................................................. 17 
SECTION 5.09 ASSIGNMENT, LEASES OR TRANSFERS ................................................................................................... 17 
SECTION 5.10 ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES ................................................................................................................. 18 
SECTION 5.11 PRIORITY LIEN STATUS .......................................................................................................................... 18 
SECTION 5.12 INTEREST; PENALTIES ............................................................................................................................ 18 
SECTION 5.13 SPONSOR AFFILIATES ............................................................................................................................. 18 



 

ii 

ARTICLE VI 

DEFAULT 

SECTION 6.01 EVENTS OF DEFAULT ............................................................................................................................. 20 
SECTION 6.02 REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT .................................................................................................................... 20 
SECTION 6.03 REIMBURSEMENT OF LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENSES ............................................ 21 
SECTION 6.04 NO WAIVER ........................................................................................................................................... 21 

ARTICLE VII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 7.01 NOTICES ................................................................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 7.02 BINDING EFFECT .................................................................................................................................... 22 
SECTION 7.03 COUNTERPARTS ..................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.04 GOVERNING LAW ................................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.05 HEADINGS .............................................................................................................................................. 23 
SECTION 7.06 AMENDMENTS ........................................................................................................................................ 23 
SECTION 7.07 FURTHER ASSURANCE ........................................................................................................................... 23 
SECTION 7.08 INVALIDITY; CHANGE IN LAWS .............................................................................................................. 23 
SECTION 7.09 TERMINATION BY COMPANY .................................................................................................................. 23 
SECTION 7.10 ENTIRE UNDERSTANDING ...................................................................................................................... 24 
SECTION 7.11 WAIVER ................................................................................................................................................. 24 
SECTION 7.12 BUSINESS DAY ....................................................................................................................................... 24 
SECTION 7.13 FASCIMILE/SCANNED SIGNATURES ........................................................................................................ 25 
 
 
EXHIBIT A – DESCRIPTION OF LAND 
EXHIBIT B – INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
EXHIBIT C – INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 



 

iii 

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF 
FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 

 
 

As permitted under Section 12-44-55(B), Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the 
“Code”), the parties have agreed to waive the requirements of Section 12-44-55 of the Code.  The 
following is a summary of the key provisions of this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit 
Agreement.  This summary is inserted for convenience only and does not constitute a part of this Fee in 
Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement or a summary compliant with Section 12-44-55 of the 
Code.  
 
 

Company Name: [To come.] Project Name: Project White  
Projected Investment: $14,000,000 Projected Jobs: 26 
Location (street): [To come.] Tax Map No.: [To come.] 
    
1. FILOT    
 Required Investment: $14,000,000 Required Jobs: 26 
 Investment Period: 5 years Ordinance No./Date: [To come.] 
 Assessment Ratio: 6% Term (years): 30 years 
 Fixed Millage: [.31228] 

 
Net Present Value (if 
yes, discount rate): 

N/A 
 

 Clawback information: See Section 4.03(a) 
 
If the FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement is not met during the Standard 
Investment Period, the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates shall pay the County an 
amount pursuant to the FILOT Act which is equal to any Deficiency Amount for the 
period through and including the end of the Standard Investment Period. 
 

2. MCIP  
 Included in an MCIP: Yes 
 If yes, Name & Date: Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (2010 

Park) dated as of December 10, 2010 between Anderson and Greenville counties.  
  
3. SSRC  
 Total Amount: See section 4.02 
 No. of Years 10 
    Yearly Increments: 90% for tax years 1-3 

55% for tax years 4-10 
 Clawback information: See Section 4.03 

 
If the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement or Contract Minimum Job 
Requirement is not met by the end of the 4th year following the Commencement Date, the 
55% SSRC for years 4-10 shall be reduced to 30%. If the Contract Minimum Investment 
Requirement and Contract Minimum Job Requirement is met by the end of the 7th year 
following the Commencement Date, the SSRC will increase to 55% for the remaining 
credit period. 
 

4. Other information  
 
 

 
 



 

 

FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS FEE IN LIEU OF TAX AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT (the “Fee 
Agreement”) is made and entered into as of ______________, 2023 by and between ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision 
of the State of South Carolina (the “State”), acting by and through the Anderson County Council (the 
“County Council”) as the governing body of the County, and [PROJECT WHITE], a 
____________________ organized and existing under the laws of the State of _______________ (the 
“Company”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

1. Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 
amended (the “Code”), authorizes the County to (a) induce industries to locate in the State; (b) encourage 
industries now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and employ manpower, 
products, and other resources of the State; and (c) enter into a fee agreement with entities meeting the 
requirements of the FILOT Act, which identifies certain property of such entities as economic development 
property and provides for the payment of a fee in lieu of tax with respect to such property. 

2. Sections 4-1-170 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to provide special source 
revenue credit (“Special Source Revenue Credit”) financing secured by and payable solely from revenues 
of the County derived from payments in lieu of taxes for the purposes set forth in Section 4-29-68 of the 
Code, namely:  the defraying of the cost of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding the 
infrastructure serving the County and for improved and unimproved real estate, and personal property, 
including but not limited to machinery and equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or 
commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County (collectively, 
“Infrastructure”). 

3. The Company (as a Sponsor, within the meaning of the FILOT Act) desires to provide for 
the acquisition and construction of the Project (as defined herein) to constitute a facility in the County for 
the manufacture of ________ and related products. 

4. Based on information supplied by the Company, the County Council has evaluated the 
Project based on relevant criteria that include, but are not limited to, the purposes the Project is to 
accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created or 
maintained, and the anticipated costs and benefits to the County. Pursuant to Section 12-44-40(H)(1) of the 
FILOT Act, the County finds that: (a) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the 
County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately 
provided locally; (b) the Project will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality therein and to no charge against their general credit or taxing powers; (c) the purposes to be 
accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and (d) the benefits of the 
Project are greater than the costs. 

5. The Project is located, or if not so located as of the date of this Fee Agreement the County 
intends to use its best efforts to so locate the Project, in a joint county industrial or business park created 
with an adjoining county in the State pursuant to agreement entered into pursuant to Section 4-1-170 of the 
Code and Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution. 

6. By enactment of an Ordinance on [__________], 2023, the County Council has authorized 
the County to enter into this Fee Agreement with the Company which classifies the Project as Economic 
Development Property under the FILOT Act and provides for the payment of fees in lieu of taxes and the 



 

2 

provision of Special Source Revenue Credits to reimburse the Company for payment of the cost of certain 
Infrastructure in connection with the Project, all as further described herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, FOR AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 
agreements hereinafter contained, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 



 

3 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 
Section 1.01  Definitions 
 

The terms that this Article defines shall for all purposes of this Fee Agreement have the meanings 
herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise: 
 
 “Administration Expenses” shall mean the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by the 
County with respect to this Fee Agreement, including without limitation reasonable attorney fees; 
provided, however, that no such expense shall be considered an Administration Expense until the County 
has furnished to the Company a statement in writing indicating the amount of such expense and the 
reason it has been or will be incurred. 
 
 “Affiliate” shall mean any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other entity 
which owns all or part of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate) or 
which is owned in whole or in part by the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor 
Affiliate) or by any partner, shareholder or owner of the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, 
such Sponsor Affiliate), as well as any subsidiary, affiliate, individual or entity who bears a relationship 
to the Company (or with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate, such Sponsor Affiliate), as described in Section 
267(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
 
 “Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended.   
 

“Commencement Date” shall mean the last day of the property tax year during which the Project 
or the first Phase thereof is placed in service, which date shall not be later than the last day of the property 
tax year which is three (3) years from the year in which the County and the Company enter into this Fee 
Agreement. 

“Company” shall mean [Project White], a __________ _________, and any surviving, resulting, 
or transferee entity in any merger, consolidation, or transfer of assets; or any other person or entity which 
may succeed to the rights and duties of the Company. 

 “Condemnation Event” shall mean any act of taking by a public or quasi-public authority 
through condemnation, reverse condemnation or eminent domain. 
 

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, 
investment by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates of at least $14,000,000 in Economic 
Development Property subject (non-exempt) to ad valorem taxation (in the absence of this Fee 
Agreement). 

“Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, the creation of 
at least twenty-six (26) new, fulltime jobs. 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a 
political subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as 
the governing body of the County. 

“County Administrator” shall mean the Anderson County Administrator, or the person holding 
any successor office of the County. 



 

4 

“County Assessor” shall mean the Anderson County Assessor, or the person holding any 
successor office of the County. 

“County Auditor” shall mean the Anderson County Auditor, or the person holding any successor 
office of the County. 

“County Council” shall mean Anderson County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“County Treasurer” shall mean the Anderson County Treasurer, or the person holding any 
successor office of the County. 

“Credit Period” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 4.02(a) hereof. 

“Defaulting Entity” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 6.02(a) hereof. 

“Deficiency Amount” shall have the meaning set forth for such term in Section 4.03(a) hereof. 

“Department” shall mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Diminution in Value” in respect of the Project shall mean any reduction in the value, using the 
original fair market value (without regard to depreciation) as determined in Step 1 of Section 4.01 of this 
Fee Agreement, of the items which constitute a part of the Project and which are subject to FILOT 
Payments which may be caused by the Company’s or any Sponsor Affiliate’s removal and/or disposal of 
equipment pursuant to Section 4.04 hereof, or by its election to remove components of the Project as a 
result of any damage or destruction or any Condemnation Event with respect thereto. 

“Economic Development Property” shall mean those items of real and tangible personal property 
of the Project which are eligible for inclusion as economic development property under the FILOT Act 
and this Fee Agreement, and selected and identified by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its 
annual filing of a SCDOR PT-300T or comparable form with the Department (as such filing may be 
amended from time to time) for each year within the Investment Period. 

 “Equipment” shall mean machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and other tangible 
personal property, together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions thereto 
or therefor. 

“Event of Default” shall mean any event of default specified in Section 6.01 hereof. 

“Exemption Period” shall mean the period beginning on the first day of the property tax year 
after the property tax year in which an applicable portion of Economic Development Property is placed in 
service and ending on the Termination Date.  In case there are Phases of the Project, the Exemption 
Period applies to each year’s investment made during the Investment Period. 

“Fee Agreement” shall mean this Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement. 

“FILOT” or “FILOT Payments” shall mean the amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem 
property taxes as provided herein. 

“FILOT Act” shall mean Title 12, Chapter 44, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 



 

5 

“FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement” shall mean, with respect to the Project, an 
investment of at least $2,500,000 by the Company, or of at least $5,000,000 by the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates in the aggregate, in Economic Development Property. 

“Improvements” shall mean improvements to the Land, including buildings, building additions, 
roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with any and all additions, fixtures, accessions, 
replacements, and substitutions thereto or therefor. 

“Infrastructure” shall mean infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real 
estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of the Project, 
within the meaning of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Investment Period” shall mean, and shall be equal to, the Standard Investment Period. 

“Land” means the land upon which the Project will be located, as described in Exhibit A attached 
hereto, as Exhibit A may be supplemented from time to time in accordance with Section 3.01(c) hereof. 

“MCIP” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms of the 
MCIP Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor park agreement 
delivered by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 of the MCIP Act, or any 
successor provision, with respect to the Project. 

“MCIP Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1, of the Code, and all future acts successor or 
supplemental thereto or amendatory thereof. 

“MCIP Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial 
and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of November 2, 2010, as amended, between the County and 
Greenville County, South Carolina, as the same may be further amended or supplemented from time to 
time, or such other agreement as the County may enter with respect to the Project to offer the benefits of 
the Special Source Revenue Credits to the Company hereunder. 

 “Phase” or “Phases” in respect of the Project shall mean that the components of the Project are 
placed in service during more than one year during the Investment Period, and the word “Phase” shall 
therefore refer to the applicable portion of the Project placed in service in a given year during the 
Investment Period. 

“Project” shall mean the Land and all the Equipment and Improvements that the Company 
determines to be necessary, suitable or useful for the purposes described in Section 2.02(b) hereof, to the 
extent determined by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate to be a part of the Project and placed in 
service during the Investment Period, and any Replacement Property.  Notwithstanding anything in this 
Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Project shall not include property which will not qualify for the 
FILOT pursuant to Section 12-44-110 of the FILOT Act, including without limitation property which has 
been subject to ad valorem taxation in the State prior to commencement of the Investment Period; 
provided, however, the Project may include (a) modifications which constitute an expansion of the real 
property portion of the Project and (b) the property allowed pursuant to Section 12-44-110(2) of the 
FILOT Act. 

“Removed Components” shall mean components of the Project or portions thereof which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate in its sole discretion, elects to remove from the Project pursuant to 
Section 4.04 hereof or as a result of any Condemnation Event. 



 

6 

“Replacement Property” shall mean any property which is placed in service as a replacement for 
any item of Equipment or any Improvement previously subject to this Fee Agreement regardless of 
whether such property serves the same functions as the property it is replacing and regardless of whether 
more than one piece of property replaces any item of Equipment or any Improvement to the fullest extent 
that the FILOT Act permits. 

“Special Source Credits” shall mean the annual special source credits provided to the Company 
pursuant to Section 4.02 hereof.   

“Sponsor Affiliate” shall mean an entity that joins with the Company and that participates in the 
investment in, or financing of, the Project and which meets the requirements under the FILOT Act to be 
entitled to the benefits of this Fee Agreement with respect to its participation in the Project, all as set forth 
in Section 5.13 hereof. 

“Standard Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning with the first day of any purchase 
or acquisition of Economic Development Property and ending five (5) years after the Commencement 
Date.   

“State” shall mean the State of South Carolina. 

“Termination Date” shall mean, with respect to each Phase of the Project, the end of the last day 
of the property tax year which is the 29th year following the first property tax year in which such Phase of 
the Project is placed in service; provided, that the intention of the parties is that the Company will make at 
least 30 annual FILOT Payments under Article IV hereof with respect to each Phase of the Project; and 
provided further, that if this Fee Agreement is terminated earlier in accordance with the terms hereof, the 
Termination Date shall mean the date of such termination. 

“Transfer Provisions” shall mean the provisions of Section 12-44-120 of the FILOT Act, as 
amended or supplemented from time to time, concerning, among other things, the necessity of obtaining 
County consent to certain transfers. 

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement 
shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement or 
document. 

Section 1.02  Project-Related Investments 
 
 The term “investment” or “invest” as used herein shall include not only investments made by the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments 
made by or for the benefit of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate with respect to the Project through 
federal, state, or local grants, to the extent such investments are subject to ad valorem taxes or FILOT 
Payments by the Company. 

 
[End of Article I] 



 

7 

ARTICLE II 
 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND AGREEMENTS 
 
Section 2.01  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the County 
 
 The County hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State and 
acts through the County Council as its governing body. The County has duly authorized the execution and 
delivery of this Fee Agreement and any and all other agreements described herein or therein and has 
obtained all consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill its 
obligations hereunder. 

(b) Based upon representations by the Company, the Project constitutes a “project” within 
the meaning of the FILOT Act. 

(c) The County has agreed that each item of real and tangible personal property comprising 
the Project which is eligible to be economic development property under the FILOT Act and that the 
Company selects shall be considered Economic Development Property and is thereby exempt from ad 
valorem taxation in the State. 

(d) The millage rate set forth in Step 3 of Section 4.01(a) hereof is [.31228] mills, which is 
the millage rate in effect with respect to the location of the proposed Project as of June 30, 2023, as 
permitted under Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(d) of the FILOT Act. 

(e) The County will use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Project to be located in a 
MCIP for a term extending at least until the end of the period of FILOT Payments against which a Special 
Source Credit is to be provided under this Fee Agreement. 

Section 2.02  Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the Company 
 

The Company hereby represents, warrants, and agrees as follows: 

(a) The Company is organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
[__________], is duly authorized to transact business in the State, has power to enter into this Fee 
Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

(b) The Company intends to operate the Project as a “project” within the meaning of the 
FILOT Act as in effect on the date hereof. The Company intends to operate the Project for the purpose of 
manufacturing, and for such other purposes that the FILOT Act permits as the Company may deem 
appropriate. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County has been instrumental in 
inducing the Company to locate the Project in the County. 

(d) The Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, will use commercially reasonable 
efforts to meet, or cause to be met the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment 
Period. 

[End of Article II] 



 

8 

ARTICLE III 
 

COMMENCEMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT 
 
Section 3.01  The Project 
 

(a) The Company intends and expects, together with any Sponsor Affiliate, to (i) construct 
and acquire the Project, (ii) meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement, and (iii) create 
approximately 26 new, full-time jobs (with benefits) within the Investment Period. The Company 
anticipates that the first Phase of the Project will be placed in service during the calendar year ending 
December 31, 2023. 

(b) Pursuant to the FILOT Act and subject to Section 4.03 hereof, the Company and the 
County hereby agree that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall identify annually those assets 
which are eligible for FILOT Payments under the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement, and which the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate selects for such treatment by listing such assets in its annual PT-300T 
form (or comparable form) to be filed with the Department (as such may be amended from time to time) 
and that by listing such assets, such assets shall automatically become Economic Development Property 
and therefore be exempt from all ad valorem taxation during the Exemption Period. Anything contained 
in this Fee Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall not 
be obligated to complete the acquisition of the Project. However, if the Company, together with any 
Sponsor Affiliates, does not meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment 
Period, the provisions of Section 4.03 hereof shall control. 

(c) The Company may add to the Land such real property, located in the same taxing District 
in the County as the original Land, as the Company, in its discretion, deems useful or desirable. In such 
event, the Company, at its expense, shall deliver an appropriately revised Exhibit A to this Fee 
Agreement, in form reasonably acceptable to the County. 

Section 3.02  Diligent Completion 
 

The Company agrees to use its reasonable efforts to cause the completion of the Project as soon 
as practicable, but in any event on or prior to the end of the Investment Period. 

Section 3.03  Filings and Reports 
 

(a) Each year during the term of the Fee Agreement, the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates shall deliver to the County, the County Auditor, the County Assessor and the County Treasurer 
a copy of their most recent annual filings with the Department with respect to the Project, not later than 
thirty (30) days following delivery thereof to the Department. 

(b) The Company shall cause a copy of this Fee Agreement, as well as a copy of the 
completed Form PT-443 of the Department, to be filed with the County Auditor and the County Assessor, 
and to their counterparts in the partner county to the MCIP Agreement, the County Administrator and the 
Department within thirty (30) days after the date of execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by all 
parties hereto. 

(c) Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree to maintain complete books and 
records accounting for the acquisition, financing, construction, and operation of the Project.  Such books 
and records shall (i) permit ready identification of the various Phases and components thereof; (ii) 
confirm the dates on which each Phase was placed in service; and (iii) include copies of all filings made 



 

9 

by the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates in accordance with Section 3.03(a) or (b) above with 
respect to property placed in service as part of the Project. 

[End of Article III] 



 

10 

ARTICLE IV 
 

FILOT PAYMENTS 
 
Section 4.01  FILOT Payments 
 

(a) Pursuant to Section 12-44-50 of the FILOT Act, the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliates, as applicable, are required to make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes to the County with 
respect to the Economic Development Property. Inasmuch as the Company anticipates an initial 
investment of sums sufficient for the Project to qualify for a fee in lieu of tax arrangement under Section 
12-44-50(A)(1) of the FILOT Act, the County and the Company have negotiated the amount of the 
FILOT Payments in accordance therewith. The Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall 
make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes on all Economic Development Property which comprises the 
Project and is placed in service, as follows: the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall 
make payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes during the Exemption Period with respect to the Economic 
Development Property or, if there are Phases of the Economic Development Property, with respect to 
each Phase of the Economic Development Property, said payments to be made annually and to be due and 
payable and subject to penalty assessments on the same dates and in the same manner as prescribed by the 
County for ad valorem taxes. The determination of the amount of such annual FILOT Payments shall be 
in accordance with the following procedure (subject, in any event, to the procedures required by the 
FILOT Act): 

Step 1: Determine the fair market value of the Economic Development Property (or Phase of the 
Economic Development Property) placed in service during the Exemption Period using original income 
tax basis for State income tax purposes for any real property and Improvements without regard to 
depreciation (provided, the fair market value of real property, as the FILOT Act defines such term, that 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates obtains by construction or purchase in an arms-length 
transaction is equal to the original income tax basis, and otherwise, the determination of the fair market 
value is by appraisal) and original income tax basis for State income tax purposes for any personal 
property less depreciation for each year allowable for property tax purposes, except that no extraordinary 
obsolescence shall be allowable.  The fair market value of the real property for the first year of the 
Exemption Period remains the fair market value of the real property and Improvements for the life of the 
Exemption Period.  The determination of these values shall take into account all applicable property tax 
exemptions that State law would allow to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates if the property were 
taxable, except those exemptions that Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the FILOT Act specifically disallows. 

Step 2: Apply an assessment ratio of six percent (6%) to the fair market value in Step 1 to 
establish the taxable value of the Economic Development Property (or each Phase of the Economic 
Development Property) in the year it is placed in service and in each of the 29 years thereafter or such 
longer period of years in which the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement permit the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates to make annual FILOT Payments. 

Step 3: Use a millage rate of [.31228] mills during the Exemption Period against the taxable 
value to determine the amount of the FILOT Payments due during the Exemption Period on the applicable 
payment dates. 



 

11 

(b) In the event that a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no further 
appeal is allowable declares the FILOT Act and/or the herein-described FILOT Payments invalid or 
unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties express their intentions to reform such 
payments so as to effectuate most closely the intent thereof (without increasing the amount of incentives 
being afforded herein) and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the benefits to be 
derived herefrom, the intention of the County being to offer the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates a 
strong inducement to locate the Project in the County.  If the Economic Development Property is deemed 
to be subject to ad valorem taxation, this Fee Agreement shall terminate, and the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates shall pay the County regular ad valorem taxes from the date of termination, but with 
appropriate reductions equivalent to all tax exemptions which are afforded to the Company and such 
Sponsor Affiliates.  Any amount determined to be due and owing to the County from the Company and 
such Sponsor Affiliates, with respect to a year or years for which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates 
previously remitted FILOT Payments to the County hereunder, shall (i) take into account all applicable 
tax exemptions to which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates would be entitled if the Economic 
Development Property was not and had not been Economic Development Property under the Act; and 
(ii) be reduced by the total amount of FILOT Payments the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates had 
made with respect to the Project pursuant to the terms hereof.  

Section 4.02  Special Source Credits 
 

(a) In accordance with and pursuant to Section 12-44-70 of the FILOT Act and Section 4-1-
175 of the MCIP Act, in order to reimburse the Company for qualifying capital expenditures incurred for 
costs of the Infrastructure during the Standard Investment Period, the Company shall be entitled to 
receive, and the County agrees to provide, annual Special Source Credits against the Company’s FILOT 
Payments for a period of ten (10) consecutive years (the “Credit Period”) in an amount equal to ninety 
percent (90%) of that portion of FILOT Payments payable by the Company with respect to the Project during 
years 1-3, and an amount equal to fifty-five percent  (55%) of that portion of FILOT Payments payable by the 
Company with respect to the Project during years 4-10 (that is, with respect to investment made by the 
Company in the Project during the Standard Investment Period), calculated and applied after payment of the 
amount due the non-host county under the MCIP Agreement. 

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the Company 
be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the 
Project for which a Special Source Credit is taken. 

(c) In no event shall the aggregate amount of all Special Source Credits claimed by the 
Company exceed the amount expended with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time. The Company 
shall be responsible for making written annual certification as to compliance with the provisions of the 
preceding sentence through the delivery of a certification in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 
C.  

(d) Should the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement or the Contract Minimum Jobs 
Requirement not be met by the end of the fourth (4th) year following the Commencement Date, the 55% 
Special Source Credit otherwise payable under this Fee Agreement shall be reduced to thirty percent 
(30%); provided, however, that if the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement and the Contract 
Minimum Jobs Requirement is met by the end of the seventh (7th) year following the Commencement 
Date, the 30% shall increase to 55% for the remainder of the Credit Period. The Company shall not be 
entitled to any lost Special Source Revenue Credits for the period of time in which the Special Source 
Revenue Credits were reduced.  



 

12 

(e) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Special Source Credit is taken 
against fee in lieu of tax payment on personal property, and the personal property is removed from the Project 
at any time during the term of this Fee Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying replacement property), 
the amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal property for the year in which the personal property 
was removed from the Project shall be due for the two (2) years immediately following such removal. 

(f) Each annual Special Source Credit shall be reflected by the County Auditor or other 
authorized County official or representative on each bill for FILOT Payments sent to the Company by the 
County for each applicable property tax year, by reducing such FILOT Payments otherwise due by the 
amount of the Special Source Credit to be provided to the Company for such property tax year. 

(g) The Special Source Credits are payable solely from the FILOT Payments, are not secured 
by, or in any way entitled to, a pledge of the full faith, credit or taxing power of the County, are not an 
indebtedness of the County within the meaning of any State constitutional provision or statutory 
limitation, are payable solely from a special source that does not include revenues from any tax or license, 
and are not a pecuniary liability of the County or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of the 
County. 

(h) All fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes pursuant to the agreement received by the County for 
MCIP premises located in the County attributable to current MCIP property shall be distributed in 
accordance with Section 3 of Ordinance 2010-026 and Paragraph 7 of the MCIP Agreement.  All fee-in 
lieu of ad valorem  taxes pursuant to the agreement received by the County for MCIP premises located in 
the County attributable to MCIP property added on and after November 16, 2020 shall be distributed, net 
of special source credits provided by the County pursuant to Section 4-1-175 (“Net Park Fees”) as 
follows: First, 15% of Net Park Fees shall be deposited to Bond Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 and 
used as required or permitted thereby, Second, 35% of Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under 
Ordinance 2018-042, shall be deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County, and 
Third, remaining Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entitles in the County which levy 
an old ad valorem property tax in any of the areas comprising the County’s portion of the MCIP in the 
same percentage as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of 
operating and debt service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes. 

Section 4.03  Failure to Achieve Minimum Investment Requirement 
 

(a) In the event the Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, fails to meet the FILOT 
Act Minimum Investment Requirement by the end of the Investment Period, this Fee Agreement shall 
terminate and the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates shall pay the County an amount which is equal to 
the excess, if any, of (i) the total amount of ad valorem taxes as would result from taxes levied on the 
Project by the County, municipality or municipalities, school district or school districts, and other 
political units as if the items of property comprising the Economic Development Property were not 
Economic Development Property, but with appropriate reductions equivalent to all tax exemptions and 
abatements to which the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates would be entitled in such a case, through 
and including the end of the Investment Period, over (ii) the total amount of FILOT Payments the 
Company and such Sponsor Affiliates have made with respect to the Economic Development Property 
(after taking into account any Special Source Credits received) (such excess, a “Deficiency Amount”) for 
the period through and including the end of the Investment Period. Any amounts determined to be owing 
pursuant to the foregoing sentence shall be payable to the County on or before the one hundred twentieth 
(120th) day following the last day of the Investment Period.   

 (b)  As a condition to the FILOT benefit provided herein, the Company agrees to provide the 
County Administrator, the County Assessor, the County Auditor and the County Treasurer with an annual 



 

13 

certification as to investment in the Project. Such certification shall be in substantially the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit B, and shall be due no later than the May 1 following the immediately preceding 
December 31 of each year during the Investment Period. 

Section 4.04  Removal of Equipment 
 

Subject, always, to the other terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement, the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to remove and dispose of components of the Project from the Project 
in its sole discretion with the result that said components shall no longer be considered a part of the 
Project and, to the extent such constitute Economic Development Property, shall no longer be subject to 
the terms of this Fee Agreement.  Economic Development Property is disposed of only when it is 
scrapped or sold or removed from the Project. If it is removed from the Project, it is subject to ad valorem 
property taxes to the extent the Property remains in the State and is otherwise subject to ad valorem 
property taxes. 

Section 4.05  FILOT Payments on Replacement Property 
 

If the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate elects to replace any Removed Components and to 
substitute such Removed Components with Replacement Property as a part of the Economic 
Development Property, or the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate otherwise utilizes Replacement 
Property, then, pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the FILOT Act, the 
Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall make statutory payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes with regard 
to such Replacement Property in accordance with the following: 

(i) Replacement Property does not have to serve the same function as the 
Economic Development Property it is replacing.  Replacement Property is deemed to replace the 
oldest Economic Development Property subject to the FILOT, whether real or personal, which is 
disposed of in the same property tax year in which the Replacement Property is placed in service.  
Replacement Property qualifies as Economic Development Property only to the extent of the 
original income tax basis of Economic Development Property which is being disposed of in the 
same property tax year.  More than one piece of property can replace a single piece of Economic 
Development Property.  To the extent that the income tax basis of the Replacement Property 
exceeds the original income tax basis of the Economic Development Property which it is 
replacing, the excess amount is subject to annual payments calculated as if the exemption for 
Economic Development Property were not allowable.  Replacement Property is entitled to 
treatment under the Fee Agreement for the period of time remaining during the Exemption Period 
for the Economic Development Property which it is replacing; and 

(ii) The new Replacement Property which qualifies for the FILOT shall be 
recorded using its income tax basis, and the calculation of the FILOT shall utilize the millage rate 
and assessment ratio in effect with regard to the original property subject to the FILOT. 

Section 4.06  Reductions in Payment of Taxes Upon Diminution in Value; Investment Maintenance 
Requirement 

 
In the event of a Diminution in Value of the Economic Development Property, the Payment in 

Lieu of Taxes with regard to the Economic Development Property shall be reduced in the same proportion 
as the amount of such Diminution in Value bears to the original fair market value of the Economic 
Development Property as determined pursuant to Step 1 of Section 4.01(a) hereof; provided, however, 
that if at any time subsequent to the end of the Investment Period, the total value of the Project remaining 
in the County based on the original income tax basis thereof (that is, without regard to depreciation), is 



 

14 

less than the FILOT Act Minimum Investment Requirement, then beginning with the first payment 
thereafter due hereunder and continuing until the Termination Date, the Project shall no longer be entitled 
to the incentive provided in Section 4.01, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate shall therefore 
commence to pay regular ad valorem taxes thereon, calculated as set forth in Section 4.01(b) hereof.   

[End of Article IV] 



 

15 

ARTICLE V 
 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 
 
Section 5.01  Cessation of Operations 
 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Fee Agreement, each of the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges and agrees that County’s obligation to provide the FILOT incentive may 
end, and this Fee Agreement may be terminated by the County, at the County’s sole discretion, if the 
Company ceases operations at the Project; provided, however, that the Special Source Credits provided 
for in this Fee Agreement shall automatically terminate if the Company ceases operations as set forth in 
this Section 5.01.  For purposes of this Section, “ceases operations” means closure of the facility or the 
cessation of production and shipment of products to customers for a continuous period of twelve (12) 
months.  The provisions of Section 4.03 hereof relating to retroactive payments shall apply, if applicable, 
if this Fee Agreement is terminated in accordance with this Section prior to the end of the Investment 
Period.  Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agrees that if this Fee Agreement is terminated 
pursuant to this subsection, that under no circumstance shall the County be required to refund or pay any 
monies to the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates. 

Section 5.02  Rights to Inspect 
 

The Company agrees that the County and its authorized agents shall have the right at all 
reasonable times and upon prior reasonable notice to enter upon and examine and inspect the Project. The 
County and its authorized agents shall also be permitted, at all reasonable times and upon prior reasonable 
notice, to have access to examine and inspect the Company’s South Carolina property tax returns, as filed. 
The aforesaid rights of examination and inspection shall be exercised only upon such reasonable and 
necessary terms and conditions as the Company shall prescribe, and shall be subject to the provisions of 
Section 5.03 hereof. 

Section 5.03  Confidentiality 
 

The County acknowledges and understands that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may 
utilize confidential and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and 
techniques (herein “Confidential Information”). In this regard, the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates 
may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County “Confidential Information.”  The 
County agrees that, except as required by law, neither the County nor any employee, agent, or contractor 
of the County shall disclose or otherwise divulge any such clearly labeled Confidential Information to any 
other person, firm, governmental body or agency, or any other entity unless specifically required to do so 
by law.  Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledge that the County is subject to the 
South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain documents and 
information on request, absent an exemption. In the event that the County is required to disclose any 
Confidential Information obtained from the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates to any third party, the 
County agrees to provide the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates with as much advance notice as is 
reasonably possible of such requirement before making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with 
any attempts by the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates to obtain judicial or other relief from such 
disclosure requirement. 

Section 5.04  Limitation of County’s Liability 
 

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, any financial obligation the County may incur 
hereunder, including for the payment of money, shall not be deemed to constitute a pecuniary liability or 



 

16 

a debt or general obligation of the County (it being intended herein that any obligations of the County 
with respect to the Special Source Revenue Credits shall be payable only from FILOT Payments received 
from or payable by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates); provided, however, that nothing herein shall 
prevent the Company from enforcing its rights hereunder by suit for mandamus or specific performance. 

Section 5.05  Mergers, Reorganizations and Equity Transfers 
 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that any mergers, reorganizations 
or consolidations of the Company and such Sponsor Affiliates may cause the Project to become ineligible 
for negotiated fees in lieu of taxes under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the Company and such 
Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions; provided that, to the extent provided by Section 12-44-
120 of the FILOT Act or any successor provision, any financing arrangements entered into by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliates with respect to the Project and any security interests granted by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliates in connection therewith shall not be construed as a transfer for 
purposes of the Transfer Provisions.  Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, it 
is not intended in this Fee Agreement that the County shall impose transfer restrictions with respect to the 
Company, any Sponsor Affiliates or the Project as are any more restrictive than the Transfer Provisions. 

Section 5.06  Indemnification Covenants 
 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Fee Agreement or in any other agreements 
with the County, the Company agrees to indemnify, defend and save the County, its County Council 
members, elected officials, officers, employees, servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified 
Parties”) harmless against and from all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation arising 
from the conduct or management of, or from any work or thing done on the Project or the Land by the 
Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, their members, officers, shareholders, employees, servants, 
contractors, and agents during the term of the Fee Agreement, and, the Company further, shall indemnify, 
defend and save the Indemnified Parties harmless against and from all claims arising during the term of 
the Fee Agreement from (i) entering into and performing its obligations under this Fee Agreement, (ii) 
any condition of the Project, (iii) any breach or default on the part of the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate in the performance of any of its obligations under this Fee Agreement, (iv) any act of negligence 
of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, (v) 
any act of negligence of any assignee or lessee of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, or of any agents, 
contractors, servants, employees or licensees of any assignee or lessee of the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate, or (vi) any environmental violation, condition, or effect with respect to the Project.  The 
Company shall indemnify, defend and save the County harmless from and against all costs and expenses 
incurred in or in connection with any such claim arising as aforesaid or in connection with any action or 
proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice from the County, the Company shall defend it in any such 
action, prosecution or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County (the approval of which shall 
not be unreasonably withheld). 

(b) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the Indemnified Parties 
shall not incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Fee Agreement, or the undertakings 
required of the County hereunder, by reason of the granting of the FILOT, by reason of the execution of 
this Fee Agreement, by the reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate, or by reason of the County’s relationship to the Project or by the operation of the 
Project by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, including all claims, liabilities or losses arising in 
connection with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the foregoing, nevertheless, if the 
County or any of the other Indemnified Parties should incur any such pecuniary liability, then in such 
event the Company shall indemnify, defend and hold them harmless against all claims by or on behalf of 
any person, firm or corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs and expenses incurred in connection 



 

17 

with any such claim or in connection with any action or proceeding brought thereon, and upon notice, the 
Company shall defend them in any such action or proceeding with legal counsel acceptable to the County 
(the approval of which shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, however, that such indemnity shall 
not apply to the extent that any such claim is attributable to (i) the grossly negligent acts or omissions or 
willful misconduct of the County, its agents, officers or employees, or (ii) any breach of this Fee 
Agreement by the County. 

(c) Notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the above-referenced 
covenants insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any Indemnified Party 
resulting from any of the above-described acts of or failure to act by the Company or any Sponsor 
Affiliate, shall survive any termination of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 5.07  Qualification in State 
 

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates warrant that it is duly qualified to do business in 
the State, and covenants that it will continue to be so qualified so long as it operates any portion of the 
Project. 

Section 5.08  No Liability of County’s Personnel 
 

All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County contained herein 
shall be deemed to be covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County and 
shall be binding upon any member of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or 
employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and not in his or her individual capacity, and 
no recourse shall be had for the payment of any moneys hereunder against any member of the governing 
body of the County or any elected official, officer, agent, servants or employee of the County and no 
recourse shall be had against any member of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, 
servant or employee of the County for the performance of any of the covenants and agreements of the 
County herein contained or for any claims based thereon except solely in their official capacity. 

Section 5.09  Assignment, Leases or Transfers 
 

The County agrees that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates may at any time (a) transfer all 
or any of their rights and interests under this Fee Agreement or with respect to all or any part of the 
Project, or (b) enter into any lending, financing, leasing, security, or similar arrangement or succession of 
such arrangements with any financing or other entity with respect to this Fee Agreement or all or any part 
of the Project, including without limitation any sale-leaseback, equipment lease, build-to-suit lease, 
synthetic lease, nordic lease, defeased tax benefit or transfer lease, assignment, sublease or similar 
arrangement or succession of such arrangements, regardless of the identity of the income tax owner of 
such portion of the Project, whereby the transferee in any such arrangement leases the portion of the 
Project in question to the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate or operates such assets for the Company or 
any Sponsor Affiliate or is leasing the portion of the Project in question from the Company or any 
Sponsor Affiliate.  In order to preserve the FILOT benefit afforded hereunder with respect to any portion 
of the Project so transferred, leased, financed, or otherwise affected: (i) except in connection with any 
transfer to an Affiliate of the Company or of any Sponsor Affiliate, or transfers, leases, or financing 
arrangements pursuant to clause (b) above (as to which such transfers the County hereby consents), the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, as applicable, shall obtain the prior consent or subsequent 
ratification of the County which consent or subsequent ratification may be granted by the County in its 
sole discretion; (ii) except when a financing entity which is the income tax owner of all or part of the 
Project is the transferee pursuant to clause (b) above and such financing entity assumes in writing the 
obligations of the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, hereunder, or when the County 



 

18 

consents in writing, no such transfer shall affect or reduce any of the obligations of the Company and any 
Sponsor Affiliates hereunder; (iii) to the extent the transferee or financing entity shall become obligated 
to make FILOT Payments hereunder, the transferee shall assume the then current basis of, as the case may 
be, the Company or any Sponsor Affiliates (or prior transferee) in the portion of the Project transferred; 
(iv) the Company or applicable Sponsor Affiliate, transferee or financing entity shall, within sixty (60) 
days thereof, furnish or cause to be furnished to the County and the Department a true and complete copy 
of any such transfer agreement; and (v) the Company, the Sponsor Affiliates and the transferee shall 
comply with all other requirements of the Transfer Provisions. 

Subject to County consent when required under this Section, and at the expense of the Company 
or any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, the County agrees to take such further action or execute such 
further agreements, documents, and instruments as may be reasonably required to effectuate the 
assumption by any such transferee of all or part of the rights of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate 
under this Fee Agreement and/or any release of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate pursuant to this 
Section.   

Each of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates acknowledges that such a transfer of an interest 
under this Fee Agreement or in the Project may cause all or part of the Project to become ineligible for the 
FILOT benefit afforded hereunder or result in penalties under the FILOT Act absent compliance by the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the Transfer Provisions.   

Section 5.10  Administration Expenses 
 

The Company agrees to pay any Administration Expenses to the County when and as they shall 
become due, but in no event later than the date which is the earlier of any payment date expressly 
provided for in this Fee Agreement or the date which is forty-five (45) days after receiving written notice 
from the County, accompanied by such supporting documentation as may be necessary to evidence the 
County’s or Indemnified Party’s right to receive such payment, specifying the nature of such expense and 
requesting payment of same. 

Section 5.11  Priority Lien Status 
 

The County’s right to receive FILOT Payments hereunder shall have a first priority lien status 
pursuant to Sections 12-44-90(E) and (F) of the FILOT Act and Chapters 4, 49, 51, 53, and 54 of Title 12 
of the Code. 

Section 5.12  Interest; Penalties 
 

In the event the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate should fail to make any of the payments to the 
County required under this Fee Agreement, then the item or installment so in default shall continue as an 
obligation of the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate until the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate shall 
have fully paid the amount, and the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates agree, as applicable, to pay the 
same with interest thereon at a rate, unless expressly provided otherwise herein and in the case of FILOT 
Payments, of 5% per annum, compounded monthly, to accrue from the date on which the payment was 
due and, in the case of FILOT Payments, at the rate for non-payment of ad valorem taxes under State law 
and subject to the penalties the law provides until payment. 
 
Section 5.13  Sponsor Affiliates 
 

The Company may designate from time to time any Sponsor Affiliates pursuant to the provisions 
of Sections 12-44-30(20) and 12-44-130 of the FILOT Act, which Sponsor Affiliates shall join with the 



 

19 

Company and make investments with respect to the Project, or participate in the financing of such 
investments, and shall agree to be bound by the terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement pursuant to 
the terms of a written joinder agreement with the County and the Company, in form reasonably 
acceptable to the County.  The Company shall provide the County and the Department with written notice 
of any Sponsor Affiliate designated pursuant to this Section within ninety (90) days after the end of the 
calendar year during which any such Sponsor Affiliate has placed in service any portion of the Project, in 
accordance with Section 12-44-130(B) of the FILOT Act. 
 

[End of Article V] 



 

20 

ARTICLE VI 
 

DEFAULT 
 
Section 6.01  Events of Default 
 

The following shall be “Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement, and the term “Event of 
Default” shall mean, whenever used with reference to this Fee Agreement, any one or more of the 
following occurrences: 

(a) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to make the FILOT Payments described 
in Section 4.01 hereof, or any other amounts payable to the County under this Fee Agreement when due, 
which failure shall not have been cured within thirty (30) days following receipt of written notice thereof 
from the County; provided, however, that the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates shall be entitled to all 
redemption rights granted by applicable statutes; or 

(b) A representation or warranty made by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate hereunder 
which is deemed materially incorrect when deemed made; or  

(c) Failure by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate to perform any of the terms, conditions, 
obligations, or covenants hereunder (other than those under (a) above), which failure shall continue for a 
period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the County to the Company and such Sponsor Affiliate 
specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate 
shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is diligently pursuing such action until 
the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be extended to cover such additional period 
during which the Company or such Sponsor Affiliate is diligently pursuing corrective action; or 

(d) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 
hereunder, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice from the 
Company to the County and any Sponsor Affiliates specifying such failure and requesting that it be 
remedied, unless the County shall have instituted corrective action within such time period and is 
diligently pursuing such action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period shall be 
extended to cover such additional period during which the County is diligently pursuing corrective action. 
 
Section 6.02  Remedies Upon Default 
 

(a) Whenever any Event of Default by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate (the 
“Defaulting Entity”) shall have occurred and shall be continuing, the County may take any one or more of 
the following remedial actions as to the Defaulting Entity, only: 

(i) terminate this Fee Agreement; or 
 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to 
collect the amounts due hereunder.   

In no event shall the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate be liable to the County or otherwise for 
monetary damages resulting from the Company’s (together with any Sponsor Affiliates) failure to meet 
the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement other than as expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement. 

 In addition to all other remedies provided herein, the failure to make FILOT Payments shall give 
rise to a lien for tax purposes as provided in Section 12-44-90 of the FILOT Act.  In this regard, and 



 

21 

notwithstanding anything in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the County may exercise the remedies 
that general law (including Title 12, Chapter 49 of the Code) provides with regard to the enforced 
collection of ad valorem taxes to collect any FILOT Payments due hereunder. 

(b) Whenever any Event of Default by the County shall have occurred or shall be continuing, 
the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate may take one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement; 
 

(ii) terminate this Fee Agreement as to the acting party; or 
 

(iii) in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such action as is 
appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent allowed by law. 

Section 6.03  Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Expenses and Other Expenses 
 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default hereunder by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, 
should the County be required to employ attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection of 
payments due hereunder or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any obligation or 
agreement, the County shall be entitled, within thirty (30) days of demand therefor, to reimbursement of 
the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred.   

Section 6.04  No Waiver 
 

No failure or delay on the part of any party hereto in exercising any right, power, or remedy 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right, 
power, or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power, 
or remedy hereunder. No waiver of any provision hereof shall be effective unless the same shall be in 
writing and signed by the waiving party hereto. 
 

[End of Article VI] 



 

22 

ARTICLE VII 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Section 7.01  Notices 
 

Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be provided under this Fee 
Agreement shall be effective when delivered to the party named below or when deposited with the United 
States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as follows (or 
addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the other party), 
except where the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any notice, in which case such 
provision shall control: 

 
If to the Company: 
 
[Project White]    
Attn:       
     
     
 
With a copy to: 
 
Haynsworth Sinkler Boyd, P.A. 
Attn: J. Philip Land, Jr. (pland@hsblawfirm.com) 
One North Main Street 
2nd Floor 
Greenville, South Carolina 29601   
 
If to the County: 
 

 Anderson County 
Attn:  County Administrator 

 101 S. Main Street 
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 
 
With a copy to: 
 
Anderson County Attorney 
101 S. Main Street  
Anderson, South Carolina 29624 

 
Section 7.02  Binding Effect 
 

This Fee Agreement and each document contemplated hereby or related hereto shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County, and their respective 
successors and assigns.  In the event of the dissolution of the County or the consolidation of any part of 
the County with any other political subdivision or the transfer of any rights of the County to any other 
such political subdivision, all of the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements of this Fee 
Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any 
entity, officer, board, commission, agency, or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of 
the County has been transferred. 



 

23 

Section 7.03  Counterparts 
 

This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and all of the counterparts 
taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 7.04  Governing Law 
 

This Fee Agreement and all documents executed in connection herewith shall be construed in 
accordance with and governed by the laws of the State. 

Section 7.05  Headings 
 

The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are inserted for convenience only 
and shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.06  Amendments 
 

The provisions of this Fee Agreement may only be modified or amended in writing by any 
agreement or agreements entered into between the parties. 

Section 7.07  Further Assurance 
 

From time to time, and at the expense of the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates, the County 
agrees to execute and deliver to the Company and any such Sponsor Affiliates such additional instruments 
as the Company or such Sponsor Affiliates may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and 
reasonably within the purposes and scope of the FILOT Act and this Fee Agreement to effectuate the 
purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 7.08  Invalidity; Change in Laws 
 

In the event that the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other issue 
is unclear under this Fee Agreement, the County hereby expresses its intention that the interpretation of 
this Fee Agreement shall be in a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion of property under the 
terms of this Fee Agreement and the maximum incentive permissible under the FILOT Act, to the extent 
not inconsistent with any of the explicit terms hereof.  If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared 
illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions hereof shall be unimpaired, and 
such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision shall be reformed to effectuate most closely the legal, 
valid, and enforceable intent thereof and so as to afford the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates with the 
maximum benefits to be derived herefrom, it being the intention of the County to offer the Company and 
any Sponsor Affiliates the strongest inducement possible, within the provisions of the FILOT Act, to 
locate the Project in the County.  In case a change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina laws eliminates or 
reduces any of the restrictions or limitations applicable to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates and 
the FILOT incentive, the parties agree that the County will give expedient and full consideration to 
reformation of this Fee Agreement, and, if the County Council so decides, to provide the Company and 
any Sponsor Affiliates with the benefits of such change in the FILOT Act or South Carolina laws. 

Section 7.09  Termination by Company 
 

The Company is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all or part 
of the Project upon providing the County with thirty (30) days’ written notice; provided, however, that (i) 
any monetary obligations existing hereunder and due and owing at the time of termination to a party 



 

24 

hereto (including without limitation any amounts owed with respect to Section 4.03 hereof); and (ii) any 
provisions which are intended to survive termination shall survive such termination. In the year following 
such termination, all property shall be subject to ad valorem taxation or such other taxation or fee in lieu 
of taxation that would apply absent this Fee Agreement. The Company’s obligation to make FILOT 
Payments under this Fee Agreement shall terminate in the year following the year of such termination 
pursuant to this section. 

Section 7.10  Entire Understanding 
 

This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all agreements of the parties hereto 
with each other, and neither party hereto has made or shall be bound by any agreement or any 
representation to the other party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in certificates 
delivered in connection with the execution and delivery hereof. 

Section 7.11  Waiver 
 

Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or condition of this Fee 
Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 7.12  Business Day 
 

In the event that any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee Agreement, required to 
be taken, made, or given on any day which is a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the jurisdiction in 
which the person obligated to act is domiciled, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, made, or 
given on the following business day with the same effect as if given as required hereby, and no interest 
shall accrue in the interim. 

Section 7.13 Facsimile/Scanned Signatures 
 

The parties agree that use of a fax or scanned signature and the signatures, initials, and 
handwritten or typewritten modifications to any of the foregoing shall be deemed to be valid and binding 
upon the parties as if the original signature, initials and handwritten or typewritten modifications were 
present on the documents in the handwriting of each party. 

[End of Article VII] 
 



 

25 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused 

this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and behalf by the County Chairman and to be attested by 
the Clerk of the County Council; and the Company has caused this Fee Agreement to be executed by its 
duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
 
 
   ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
   By:      

Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 
 

Attest: 
 
 

By:_   
Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
 

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement] 

 
 



 

26 

 
 [PROJECT WHITE] 
 
        
 By:         
 Its:         

 

 

 

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement] 

 

 



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

[To come.] 
 



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 
 
 

INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 I __________, the __________ of __________ (the “Company”), do hereby certify in connection 
with Section 4.03 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement dated as of 
__________, 20__ between [                        ] County, South Carolina and the Company (the 
“Agreement”), as follows: 
 
 (1) The total investment made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates in the Project 
during the calendar year ending December 31, 20__ was $___________. 
 
 (2) The cumulative total investment made by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates in the 
Project from the period beginning __________, 20__ (that is, the beginning date of the Investment 
Period) and ending December 31, 20__, is $__________. 
 
 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
 
             
      Name:       
      Its:       

 
 



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C 
 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 I __________, the __________ of __________ (the “Company”), do hereby certify in connection 
with Section 4.02 of the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement dated as of 
__________, 20__ between [                        ] County, South Carolina and the Company (the 
“Agreement”), as follows: 
 
 (1) As of the date hereof, the aggregate amount of Special Source Revenue Credits previously 
received by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates is $_________. 
 
 (2) As of December 31, 20__, the aggregate amount of investment in costs of Infrastructure 
incurred by the Company and any Sponsor Affiliates during the Investment Period is not less than 
$_________. 

 
 (3) [Use only if expenditures for personal property will be used to account for Special 
Source Revenue Credits.]  Of the total amount set forth in (2) above, $________ pertains to the 
investment in personal property, including machinery and equipment, at the Project.  The applicable 
personal property, and associated expenditures, are listed below: 
 

Personal Property Description  Investment Amount 
   
   
   
   

 
 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
       
             
      Name:       
      Its:       
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-047 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR THE DEVELOPMENT 

OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK (2010 PARK) OF 
ANDERSON AND GREENVILLE COUNTIES SO AS TO ENLARGE THE PARK 
TO INCLUDE CERTAIN PROPERTY OF [PROJECT WHITE]; AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to [Ordinance No. 2010-026 enacted by Anderson County Council 
on November 16, 2010 and Ordinance No. 4391 enacted November 2, 2010 by Greenville County 
Council, Anderson and Greenville Counties entered into an Agreement for the Development of a 
Joint County Industrial and Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010] (the 
“Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Agreement, the boundaries of the park 
created therein (the “Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinances of the County Councils of 
Anderson County and Greenville County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with certain incentives being offered by Anderson County to 
[Company Name], it is now desired that the boundaries of the Park be enlarged to include certain 
parcels in Anderson County;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council that: 
 
 1. Exhibit A to the Agreement is hereby and shall be amended and revised to include 
the property located in Anderson County described in the schedule attached to this Ordinance, and, 
pursuant to Section 3(B) of the Agreement, upon adoption by Greenville County Council of a 
corresponding ordinance, the Agreement shall be deemed amended to so include such property and 
Exhibit A as so revised, without further action by either county. 

 
2. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of Ordinances 

not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 
 

 3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
 
 4. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
rescinded. 
 
 5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 
Enactment by Anderson County Council. 

 
 
 



 
 
 
ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
________________________________ _______________________________ 
Rusty Burns     Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
_____________________________ 
Renee Watts 
Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
__________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon 
County Attorney 

 

1st Reading: November 7, 2023 

2nd Reading: November 21, 2023 

3rd Reading: __________________ 

Public Hearing: December 5, 2023 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 



 A-1 

Addition to Exhibit A to 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 

Business Park dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, 
between Anderson County and Greenville County 

 
Anderson County TMS Numbers: 

[To come] 

 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
      ) 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON    ) 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of ___________, 2023, ________, 2023 and 
_________, 2023, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, and 
an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Clerk, Anderson County Council 
 
 
Dated: ________, 2023 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE IMPOSITION OF A TRANSPORTATION 
SALES AND USE TAX, SUBJECT TO A NOVEMBER 5, 2024 REFERENDUM, 
PURSUANT TO TITLE 4, CHAPTER 37 OF THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
1976, AS AMENDED; ORDERING A REFERENDUM IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; 
AND PROVIDING FOR MATTERS RELATING THERETO. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
TRANSPORTATION SALES TAX ORDINANCE 

 
Ordinance No.  2023-023 

 
 
 
 

December 19, 2023



i 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
ARTICLE I 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 
Section 1.01 Findings ............................................................................................................1 
 

ARTICLE II 
IMPOSITION OF SALES TAX SUBJECT TO REFERENDUM 

 
Section 2.01 Imposition, Term. .............................................................................................2 
Section 2.02 Purposes. ...........................................................................................................2 
 

ARTICLE III 
REFERENDUM 

 
Section 3.01 Ordering the Referendum, Form of Ballot Question. .......................................3 
Section 3.02 Notice of Referendum. ......................................................................................3 
Section 3.03 Public Hearing. .................................................................................................3 
Section 3.04 Conduct of Referendum; Certification of Referendum. ...................................3 
 

ARTICLE IV 
ADMINISTRATION OF THE SALES TAX 

 
Section 4.01 Administration. .................................................................................................4 
Section 4.02 Budgeting and Appropriation of Sales Tax Proceeds. ......................................4 
Section 4.03 Disposition of Excess Proceeds. .......................................................................5 
 

ARTICLE V 
OTHER MATTERS 

 
Section 5.01 Transmittal to Election Commission; Notification of Department of  
 Revenue. ...........................................................................................................5 
Section 5.02 Authorization for Further Action. .....................................................................5 
Section 5.03 No Establishment of Transportation Authority. ...............................................5 
Section 5.04 Ordinance and Ballot Question are Severable. .................................................6 
Section 5.05 General Repealer...............................................................................................6 
Section 5.06 Effective Date. ..................................................................................................6 
 
EXHIBIT A – FORM OF BALLOT 
EXHIBIT B – FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR REFERENDUM 
EXHIBIT C – FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR ORDINANCE 
 



 

1 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA, AS FOLLOWS:  
 

ARTICLE I 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Section 1.01 Findings. 

 The County Council of Anderson County (the “County Council”), the governing body of 
Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), hereby finds and determines:  
 

(a) Pursuant to Title 4, Chapter 37 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 
amended (the “Act”), the County may impose by ordinance, subject to referendum, a sales and use 
tax in an amount not to exceed one percent within such county to finance, inter alia, transportation 
projects for a specific period of time to collect a limited amount of money.  

 
(b) The Act further provides that such sales and use tax (the “Sales Tax”) shall be 

subject to a referendum and that the ordinance imposing the Sales Tax specify (i) the projects to 
be funded from the Sales Tax; (ii) the maximum time of the imposition of the Sales Tax; (iii) the 
estimated capital cost of the projects to be funded and the principal amount of any bonds payable 
from the Sales Tax; and (iv) the anticipated year the Sales Tax will end. 

 
(c) Projects eligible for funding under the Sales Tax are limited to highways, roads, 

streets, bridges, mass transit systems, greenbelts, and other transportation-related projects facilities 
including, but not limited to, drainage facilities relating to the highways, roads, streets, bridges, 
and other transportation-related projects, and may be jointly operated by a county and another 
governmental entity. 

 
(d) The South Carolina Revenue and Fiscal Affairs Office, by letter dated May 11, 

2023, advised the County that, should the Sales Tax be imposed for fiscal year ending June 30, 
2026, proceeds are anticipated to be $45,012,000, and grow over time with the growth of the State 
of South Carolina (the “State”). Based on the information provided by Revenue and Fiscal Affairs, 
the County finds that Sales Tax proceeds would total approximately $366,000,000 over seven 
years. 

 
(e) The County has undertaken an extensive inventory and assessment of its existing 

transportation infrastructure and finds that transportation infrastructure within the County is 
insufficient to meet the current and future needs of the County and requires the dedication of 
significant public resources from the State and the County, and that significant State resources are 
likely to become available should the County obtain and dedicate sufficient matching funds, which 
the County currently lacks. 

 
(f) County Council finds that addressing the findings set forth above through the 

construction, improvement, and development of transportation infrastructure in the County will 
serve a public purpose, will enhance economic development, and will promote the health, safety, 
and welfare of the citizens of the County. 



 

2 

 
(g) County Council is minded to put the question of using a Sales Tax to meet the 

transportation needs of the County to the electors of the County on November 5, 2024 (the 
“Referendum”). County Council has reviewed the report extensively and has developed a form of 
ballot question (the “Ballot Question”) containing transportation projects (the “Transportation 
Projects” as further defined in Section 2.02 hereof) and the proposed use of bonds secured by the 
Sales Tax to submit to electors at the Referendum. 

 
(h) In accordance with Section 4-37-30(A)(1) of the Act this ordinance specifies (i) 

that the proceeds of the Sales Tax will be used to defray the costs of the Transportation Projects 
described in Section 2.02 hereof and as set forth on the Ballot Question attached hereto as Exhibit 
A, (ii) that the Sales Tax shall not exceed the lesser of seven calendar years (consisting of seven 
12-month periods from imposition) or the length of payment for the Transportation Projects, (iii) 
that the estimated capital cost of the Transportation Projects to be funded from the sales tax is 
$366,000,000 and the principal amount of bonds to be supported by the Sales Tax is $15,000,000, 
and (iv) that the Sales Tax is anticipated to end April 30, 2032. 
 

(i) Pursuant to the provisions of Section 4-9-130 of the Code of Laws of South 
Carolina 1976, as amended, a public hearing, after giving reasonable notice, is required to be 
conducted prior to the third and final reading of this ordinance by the County Council. In 
accordance with this provision, a public hearing shall be conducted and due notice, in substantially 
the form provided at Exhibit C hereto, shall be provided all as required by said Section 4-9-130. 

 
ARTICLE II 

IMPOSITION OF SALES TAX SUBJECT TO REFERENDUM 

Section 2.01 Imposition, Term. 
 
 The County Council hereby imposes the Sales Tax in the County, subject to approval at 
the Referendum, for the period beginning May 1, 2025, and ending the earlier of (i) April 30, 2032, 
or (ii) the end of the calendar month during which the South Carolina Department of Revenue (the 
“Department of Revenue”) determines that the Sales Tax has raised revenues sufficient to provide 
the greater of either the cost of the Transportation Projects as approved in the Referendum or the 
cost to amortize all debts related to the approved Transportation Projects.  
 
Section 2.02 Purposes. 
 
 The Sales Tax proceeds shall be applied for the purpose of funding the Transportation 
Projects set forth below in accordance with the Act and SC Revenue Ruling #22-2 and any 
successor ruling. The Transportation Projects consist of the following: 
 
Project (1) For improvements to highways, roads (paved and unpaved), 

streets, intersections, and bridges within Anderson County, 
South Carolina, including related drainage system 
improvements. 

$366,000,000 

ARTICLE III 



 

3 

 
REFERENDUM 

 
Section 3.01 Ordering the Referendum, Form of Ballot Question. 
 
 The Referendum is hereby ordered. The Board of Elections and Voter Registration of the 
County shall conduct the Referendum on November 5, 2024. The form of the Ballot Question is 
set forth at Exhibit A.  
 
Section 3.02 Notice of Referendum. 
 
 The Board of Voter Registration and Elections of the County shall publish in a newspaper 
of general circulation in the County the date and time of the Referendum once a week for four 
consecutive weeks immediately preceding November 5, 2024.  
 
Section 3.03 Public Hearing. 
 
 The Board of Voter Registration and Elections of the County shall hold a public hearing at 
least 15 days prior to the Referendum after publication of notice of such public hearing setting 
forth the date, time, and location of such public hearing. Such notice is included as Exhibit B 
hereto, and may be revised as necessary or appropriate by the Board of Voter Registration and 
Elections, provided it complies with the Act and the election laws of the State. 
 
Section 3.04 Conduct of Referendum; Certification of Referendum. 

 
(a) The Board of Voter Registration and Elections of the County shall conduct the 

Referendum pursuant to the Act and under the election laws of this State, mutatis mutandis.  
 

(b) At the Referendum with regard to the imposition of the Sales Tax, all qualified 
electors desiring to vote in favor of imposing the Sales Tax for the Transportation Projects shall 
vote “yes” and all qualified electors opposed to levying the Sales Tax shall vote “no.” If a majority 
of the electors voting in the Referendum vote in favor of the imposition of the Sales Tax, the Sales 
Tax is imposed as provided in the Act and this ordinance. 

 
(c) At the Referendum with regard to the authorization of general obligation bonds 

secured by Sales Tax receipts, all qualified electors desiring to vote in favor of the authorization 
of such bonds for the stated purposes shall vote “yes” and all qualified electors opposed to the 
issuance of such bonds shall vote “no.” If a majority of the electors voting in the Referendum vote 
in favor of the authorization of general obligation bonds secured by Sales Tax receipts, bonds may 
be issued in accordance with Article X, Section 14, Paragraph (6) of the Constitution of the State 
of South Carolina, 1895, as amended. 

 
(d) The Board of Voter Registration and Elections of the County shall certify the result 

no later than November 30, 2024, to the County and to the Department of Revenue. Such 
certification shall include the maximum cost of the Transportation Projects, the maximum time for 



 

4 

the imposition of the Sales Tax, and the principal amount of bonds, if any, to be supported by the 
Sales Tax. 

 
ARTICLE IV 

 
ADMINISTRATION OF THE SALES TAX 

 
Section 4.01 Administration.  
 

(a) The Sales Tax must be administered and collected by the Department of Revenue 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

 
(b) The revenues of the Sales Tax collected under this ordinance must be remitted to 

the State Treasurer and credited to a fund separate and distinct from the general fund of the State. 
After deducting the amount of any refunds made and costs to the Department of Revenue of 
administrating the tax, not to exceed one percent of such revenues, the State Treasurer shall 
distribute the revenues quarterly to the Anderson County Treasurer and the revenues must be used 
only for the purposes stated herein. The State Treasurer may correct misallocations by adjusting 
subsequent distributions, but these distributions must be made in the same fiscal year as the 
misallocation. However, allocations made as a result of city or county code errors must be 
corrected prospectively. 

 
(c) The Department of Revenue shall furnish data to the State Treasurer and to the 

Anderson County Treasurer for the purpose of calculating distributions and estimating revenues. 
The information which must be supplied to the County upon request includes, but is not limited 
to, gross receipts, net taxable sales, and tax liability by taxpayers. Information about a specific 
taxpayer is considered confidential and is governed by the provisions of Section 12-54-240 of the 
Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended. Any person violating the provisions of this 
section shall be subject to the penalties provided in Section 12-54-240 of the Code of Laws of 
South Carolina 1976, as amended. 
 
Section 4.02 Budgeting and Appropriation of Sales Tax Proceeds. 
 

(a) County Council shall adopt annually and prior to the beginning of each fiscal year 
a budget for expenditures of Sales Tax revenues. County Council may make supplemental 
appropriations for the Sales Tax following the same procedures prescribed for the enactment of 
other budget ordinances. The provisions of this section shall not be construed to prohibit the 
transfer of funds appropriated in the annual budget for the Sales Tax for purposes other than as 
specified in the annual budget when such transfers are approved by County Council. In the 
preparation of the annual budget, County Council may require any reports, estimates, and statistics 
from any county agency or department as may be necessary to perform its duties as the responsible 
fiscal body of the County.  

 
(b) Any outside agencies, political subdivisions or organizations designated to receive 

funding from the Sales Tax must annually submit requests for funding in accordance with 
procedures and schedules established by the County Administrator. The County Administrator 



 

5 

shall prepare the proposed budget for the Sales Tax and submit it to the County Council at such 
time as the County Council determines. At the time of submitting the proposed budget, the County 
Administrator shall submit to the County Council a statement describing the important features of 
the proposed budget.  
 

(c) Except as specifically authorized by County Council, any outside agency or 
organization receiving an appropriation of the Sales Tax must provide to County Council an 
independent annual audit of such agency's or organization's financial records and transactions and 
such other and more frequent financial information as required by County Council, all in form 
satisfactory to County Council. 
 
Section 4.03 Disposition of Excess Proceeds. 
 
 Amounts of Sales Tax collected in excess of the required proceeds must first be applied, if 
necessary, to complete each Transportation Project for which the Sales Tax was imposed. Any 
additional revenue collected above the specified amount must be applied to the reduction of debt 
principal of the County on transportation infrastructure debts only. 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

OTHER MATTERS 
 

Section 5.01 Transmittal to Election Commission; Notification of Department of Revenue. 
 
 (a) Upon enactment of this ordinance, the Clerk to County Council is directed to 
provide the same to the Anderson County Board of Voter Registration and Elections with direction 
to provide for the submission of the Ballot Question to the electors of the County at the 
Referendum. 
 
 (b) The Board of Voter Registration and Elections of the County is advised that Proviso 
109.15 of the State’s 2023-2024 General Appropriations Act provides that it must notify the 
Department of Revenue of the Referendum sixty days prior to the date thereof, and that subsequent 
General Appropriations Acts may contain similar language. 
 
Section 5.02 Authorization for Further Action. 
 
 The County Council hereby authorizes the County Administrator to take all action 
necessary and convenient in connection with implementing this ordinance. 
 
Section 5.03 No Establishment of Transportation Authority. 
 
 The County has elected to impose the Sales Tax subject to a favorable Referendum as 
provided at Section 4-37-30(A) of the Act and elected not to create a transportation authority to 
use and impose tolls under Section 4-37-30(B) of the Act.  
 



 

6 

Section 5.04 Ordinance and Ballot Question are Severable. 
 

It is hereby expressed to be the intent of County Council that if any one or more of the 
provisions or portions of this ordinance or the Ballot Question are determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then that specific provision or portion shall be severed 
from the remaining terms or portions hereof or thereof and the invalidity thereof shall in no way 
affect the validity of the other provisions of this ordinance or the Ballot Question. If any provisions 
of this ordinance or the Ballot Question shall be held or deemed to be or shall, in fact, be 
inoperative or unenforceable or invalid as applied to any particular case in any jurisdiction or in 
all cases because it conflicts with any constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for any 
other reason, those circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision in question 
inoperative or unenforceable or invalid in any other case or circumstance, or of rendering any other 
provision or provisions herein or therein inoperative or unenforceable or invalid to any extent 
whatever. 
 
Section 5.05 General Repealer. 
 
 All prior ordinances or resolutions of County Council in conflict herewith are hereby 
superseded, amended, or repealed, in whole or in part, as applicable and only to the extent of such 
conflict. 
 
Section 5.06 Effective Date. 
 
 This ordinance shall take effect upon third and final reading thereof. 
 

*         *         * 
 



 

7 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this 19th day of December 2023. 

 
ATTEST:      ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
_____________________________   _____________________________ 
Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator       
 
 
_____________________________ 
Renee Watts 
Anderson County Clerk to Council 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 

 
 
First Reading:   June 6, 2023  
Second Reading: December 5, 2023    
Public Hearing: December 5, 2023 
Third Reading:  December 19, 2023 



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF BALLOT 
 
Question 1 
 
I approve a special sales and use tax in the amount of one percent to be imposed in Anderson 
County, South Carolina for not more than seven years to fund the following project or projects: 
   
Project 
(1) 

For improvements to highways, roads (paved and unpaved), 
streets, intersections, and bridges within Anderson County, 
South Carolina, including related drainage system 
improvements. 
 

$366,000,000 

Yes ___ 
No ___ 
 
 
Question 2 
 
I approve the issuance of not exceeding $15,000,000 of general obligation bonds of Anderson 
County payable from the special sales and use tax described in Question 1 above, maturing over a 
period not to exceed seven years, to fund a portion of the projects described in Question 1 above. 
 
Yes ___ 
No ___



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR REFERENDUM 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING  
 
The Board of Voter Registration and Elections of Anderson County will hold a public hearing to 
receive oral or written comments [on Tuesday, September ___, 2024 at 6:30 p.m. concerning the 
sales tax referendum to be held on November 5, 2024 and ordered pursuant to that ordinance 
entitled “AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE IMPOSITION OF A TRANSPORTATION 
SALES AND USE TAX, SUBJECT TO A NOVEMBER 5, 2024 REFERENDUM, PURSUANT 
TO TITLE 4, CHAPTER 37 OF THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS 
AMENDED; ORDERING A REFERENDUM IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; AND 
PROVIDING FOR MATTERS RELATING THERETO” enacted by the County Council of 
Anderson County, South Carolina on December 19, 2023. The public hearing will be held in the 
Council Chambers – 2nd Floor – Historic Courthouse, 101 S. Main Street, Anderson, SC 29624. 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA



 

C-1 

EXHIBIT C 
 

FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING FOR ORDINANCE 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 
The Anderson County Council will hold a public hearing to receive oral or written comments on 
Tuesday, December 5, 2023 at 6:30 p.m. concerning a proposed ordinance entitled “AN 
ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE IMPOSITION OF A TRANSPORTATION SALES AND 
USE TAX, SUBJECT TO A NOVEMBER 5, 2024 REFERENDUM, PURSUANT TO TITLE 4, 
CHAPTER 37 OF THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS AMENDED; 
ORDERING A REFERENDUM IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; AND PROVIDING FOR 
MATTERS RELATING THERETO.” The public hearing will be held in the Council Chambers – 
2nd Floor – Historic Courthouse, 101 S. Main Street, Anderson, SC 29624. 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-033 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO APPROVE THE FIRST AMENDMENT TO SUBLEASE 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, AND LAKE 
HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT GROUP LLC D/B/A THE SHORES OF ASBURY FOR 
THE ASBURY PARK SITE ON LAKE HARTWELL; AND OTHER MATTERS 
RELATED THERTO. 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County Council has entered into a lease agreement (Lease No. 
DACW 21-1-20-0063) with the Secretary of the Army for the Asbury Recreation Area (“Asbury 
Park”) or (the “property”) on Lake Hartwell in Anderson County, South Carolina; 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County entered into the lease with the Secretary of the Army in 
anticipation of entering into a sublease of the property with Lake Hartwell Development Group, 
LLC (“LHDG”) for redevelopment of Asbury Park; 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County Council enacted Ordinance No. 2020-CP-037 on 
December 15, 2020, approving a sublease of the Property with LHDG; 
 
 WHEREAS, LHDG has requested that the sublease be amended to provide for branding 
of the redeveloped park as The Shores of Asbury by amending the sublease to show that the 
sublessee is Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC d/b/a The Shores of Asbury; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the United States Army Corps of Engineers has indicated that it has or will 
consent to this amendment to the Sublease Agreement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Anderson County Council in meeting duly 
assembled that : 
 
 1. The Chairman of the Anderson County Council and the County Administrator are 
hereby authorized to execute any and all documents to approve the First Amendment to Sublease 
Agreement between Anderson County and Lake Hartwell Development Group LLC d/b/a The 
Shores of Asbury substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.   
 

2. The remaining terms and provisions of the Anderson County Code of Ordinances 
not revised or affected hereby remain in full force and effect. 

 
 3. Should any part or provision of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remainder of this Ordinance, all of which is hereby deemed separable. 
 
 4. All Ordinances, Orders, Resolutions, and actions of Anderson County Council 
inconsistent herewith are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and 
rescinded. 
 
 5. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force upon the Third Reading and 



Enactment by Anderson County Council. 
 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this _________ day of ________, 2023. 
 

ATTEST:          FOR ANDERSON COUNTY: 
 
 

Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, District #5, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator 
 
 

Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 

1st Reading:__________________ 

2nd Reading:__________________ 

3rd Reading:___________________ 

Public Hearing:________________ 
 



Exhibit A 
 

FIRST AMENDMENT TO 
SUBLEASE AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY AND 
  LAKE HARTWELL DEVELOPMENT GROUP, LLC D/B/A  

THE SHORES OF ASBURY 
LEASE NO. DACW21-1-20-0063 
HARTWELL LAKE PROJECT 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

 This SUBLEASE AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between 
Anderson County, (hereinafter referred to as “SUB-LESSOR”) and Lake Hartwell 
Development Group, LLC d/b/a The Shores of Asbury., (hereinafter referred to as “SUB-
LESSEE”). 
 
 In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements set forth in this 
SUBLEASE and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is 
hereby acknowledged, SUB-LESSOR does hereby sublease to SUB-LESSEE and SUB-
LESSEE does hereby sublease from SUB-LESSOR the premises generally described as 
follows: 
 

Approximately 35 acres of land and water area under the primary jurisdiction of 
the Department of the Army in the Hartwell Project Area, hereinafter referred to as the 
premises as shown on attached Exhibit “A”, for public park and recreational purposes 
from the Department of the Army of the United States; on Hartwell Lake, Anderson 
County, South Carolina (hereafter referred to as the “PREMISES”). 
 
1.  TERM  
 
 The term of this SUBLEASE is twenty-five years (25) years, beginning on 
December 15, 2020 and ending on December 14, 2045, unless sooner terminated as 
provided for in this SUBLEASE and in no case shall the SUBLEASE exceed the term of 
the Prime Lease DACW21-1-20-0063 (hereinafter referred to as “LEASE”).  
SUBLESSEE will receive first right of refusal for any extension of the LEASE.  
SUBLESSOR agrees to negotiate with the ARMY Corps of Engineers for a lease 
extension starting no later than 20 years from the date of this sublease agreement. 
 
2.  RENT 
 
 SUB-LESSEE  agrees to pay to the SUB-LESSOR rental payments in the amount 
of one dollar per year and pay to SUB-LESSOR three (3)% of net sales annually from 
operation of the Asbury Park project to be included in a Fee Agreement with placement 
of the project in a Multicounty Park Agreement,  This fee is being paid to SUB-LESSOR 
in lieu of all county property taxes on all taxable improvements made on the PREMISES.  
 
3.  FEES  
  
 Fees may be charged by the SUB-LESSEE for use of the premises or any 
facilities, however, no user fees may be charged by the SUB-LESSEE or its sub-lessees 
for use of facilities developed in whole or part with federal funds if a user charge by the 
Corps of Engineers for the facility would be prohibited under law. 



Exhibit A 
 

 
4.  SUBLEASE 
 
 SUB-LESSEE accepts this SUBLEASE subject to all of the terms and conditions 
of a certain Lease Agreement, Supplemental Agreement, Extension or Modification of 
the Lease for the property described in the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Lease No. 
DACW21-1-20-0063, under which the SUB-LESSOR holds the premises as Lessee.  
SUB-LESSEE is hereby charged at all times with full knowledge of all the limitations 
and requirements of above said lease, and the necessity for correction of deficiencies, and 
with compliance with requests by the Government.  Sublease is subject to the prime 
Lease, and all activities must be approved by the District Engineer.  In the event of a 
conflict between the prime lease and the sublease, the prime lease shall be the controlling 
document.  SUB-LESSEE covenants that it will do no act or thing which would 
constitute a violation of said Lease or any renewal, modification, or subsequent Lease the 
SUB-LESSOR may have with the Government. 
 
5.  USE OF PREMISES   
 
 SUB-LESSEE shall use the Leased Premises for recreational purposes.  SUB-
LESSEE shall not commit any waste nor create any nuisance on the Leased Premises and 
shall comply with all rules and regulations as established by the SUB-LESSOR.  SUB-
LESSEE shall comply with all applicable rules and regulations of governmental agencies 
and health department concerning the SUB-LESSEES use of the PREMISES.   
 
6.  MAINTENANCE  
 
 SUB-LESSEE shall at its sole expense maintain and keep the premises, structures 
and surrounding area in good condition and state of repair and shall leave the Leased 
Premises in essentially the same condition as it was when delivered to the SUB-LESSEE 
by the SUB-LESSOR.  SUB-LESSEE shall pay all utility charges for electric, water, 
heat, gas, and telephone service used on the Leased Premises directly to the appropriate 
utility company/corporation.  SUB-LESSEE shall pay the pro-rate share of the cost of 
trash removal services from the Leased Premises relating to its operation. 
 
7.  INSURANCE   
 
 SUB-LESSEE shall maintain and pay all property and liability insurance and any 
other insurance necessary and prudent for normal operation of the facilities on the 
premises, including but not limited to workers’ compensation insurance.  SUB-LESSEE 
shall furnish the SUB-LESSOR with a copy of a Certificate of Insurance with SUB-
LESSOR furnishing a copy to U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Real Estate Division 
(ATTN:  RE-RM), 100 West Oglethorpe Ave, Savannah, Georgia  31401, naming the 
SUB-LESSOR and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers as additional named insureds and 
having a policy limit of $1,000,000.00 per claim and aggregate of $1,000,000.00. 
 
8.  INDEMNITY OF SUB-LESSOR AND GOVERNMENT  
 
 SUB-LESSOR AND GOVERNMENT shall not be liable to SUB-LESSEE or to 
SUB-LESSEE’S employees, agents, officers, directors, invitees, customers and/or 
visitors for any injury to persons or damage to property on or about the Premises caused 



Exhibit A 
 

by the negligence or misconduct of the SUB-LESSEE or its employees, customers, 
invitees, or any other person arising out of the use of the Premises by the SUB-LESSEE 
and SUB-LESSEE agrees to indemnify and hold the SUB-LESSOR AND 
GOVERNMENT harmless from any claims or damages arising from such injury or 
damage. 
 
9.  DEFAULT  
 
 If SUB-LESSEE shall allow any payment obligation under this SUBLEASE to be 
in arrears or be in default under any of the other terms or conditions set forth in this 
SUBLEASE for a period of more than fifteen (15) days after written notice of such 
delinquency, SUB-LESSOR may without further notice to the SUB-LESSEE terminate 
this SUBLEASE and re-enter and take possession of the Premises without being deemed 
guilty of trespass. 
 
10.  TRANSFERS, ASSIGNMENTS, AND SUBLEASES 
 
 SUB-LESSEE may not assign, sublet, transfer, or in any manner encumber this 
SUBLEASE without the prior written approval of the SUB-LESSOR and written consent 
by the Government. 
 
11.  NOTICES  
 
 All notices required hereunder must be given by certified or registered mail 
addressed to the proper party at the following address: 
 
  SUB-LESSOR: Anderson County 
     ATTN: County Administrator 
     P.O. Box 8002 
     Anderson, SC 29622 
      

 
  SUB-LESSEE: Lake Hartwell Development Group, LLC d/b/a  
     The Shores of Asbury 
     ATTN: Karen Alayne McCullough 
     1600 Asbury Park Road 
     Anderson, SC 29625 
 
12.  NON-DISCRIMINATION 
      
 a.  The SUB-LESSEE shall not discriminate against any person or persons or 
exclude them from participation in the SUB-LESSEE's operations, programs or activities 
conducted on the premises, because of race, color, religion, sex, age, handicap, or 
national origin.  The SUB-LESSEE will comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act 
and attendant Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines (ADAAG) 
published by the Architectural and Transportation Barriers Compliance Board. 
 
 b.  The SUB-LESSEE, by acceptance of this lease, is receiving a type of Federal 
assistance and, therefore, hereby gives assurance that it will comply with the provisions 
of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 2000d); the Age 



Exhibit A 
 

Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. § 6102); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as 
amended (29 U.S.C. § 794); and all requirements imposed by or pursuant to the Directive 
of the Department of Defense (32 CFR Part 300) issued as Department of Defense 
Directive 5500.11 and 1020.1 and Army Regulation 600-7.  This assurance shall be 
binding on the SUB-LESSEE, its agents, successors, transferees, sub-lessees and 
assignees. 
 
13.  PROHIBITED USES  
      
 The SUB-LESSEE will not sponsor or participate in timeshare ownership of any 
structures, facilities, accommodations, or personal property on the premises.  The SUB-
LESSEE will not subdivide nor develop the premises into private residential development 
 
14.  ENTIRE AGREEMENT 
  
 This SUBLEASE and Lease No. DACW21-1-20-0063, and any amendments 
thereto now or in the future, represents the entire agreement of the parties and no 
modification, amendment, or alteration of the terms of this agreement shall be binding 
unless in writing and duly executed by all the parties. 
 
 This SUBLEASE AGREEMENT is hereby executed this ___________day of 
_________________, 20______. 
 
     SUB-LESSEE:  Lake Hartwell Development  
         Group, LLC d/b/a    
         The Shores of Asbury 
 
     By:___________________________ 
           
           
     Title:      
 
     SUB-LESSOR: Anderson County 
 
     By:      
     Title: County Administrator 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Exhibit A 
 

 
 

 

REAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION  
 

 
 
 



Ordinance #2023-042 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE 2016 ANDERSON COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN ELEMENT OF THE POPULATION, ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
WORKFORCE, AND A NEW ELEMENT OF RESILIENCE AND ALL MAPS AND 
MATERIALS CONTAINED THEREIN; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO. 

 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Planning Commission was appointed by County 
Council and is the duly authorized body to prepare a Comprehensive Plan that conforms to the 
South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994, as amended, 
and to carry out a continuing planning program for the physical, social, and economic growth, 
development, and redevelopment of Anderson County;  

 WHEREAS, Section 6-29-510 (E) of the South Carolina Code of Ordinances 1976, as 
amended, requires that a Planning Commission review and update the plan every five (5) years to 
determine whether changes in the amount, kind, or direction of development of the area or other 
reasons make it desirable to make additions or amendments to the plan;  

 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Planning Commission held a duly advertised Public 
Hearing on November 14, 2023, after which time it resolved to recommend the amendment of the 
2016 Anderson County Comprehensive Plan to the Anderson County Council for adoption;  

 WHEREAS, the Anderson County Council has reviewed said Comprehensive Plan 
Updates of population, economic development workforce, and resilience and held a duly 
advertised Public Hearing amending the 2016 Comprehensive Plan; and  

 WHEREAS, Anderson County Council desires to adopt the Amendment of elements to 
the 2016 Comprehensive Plan, and all maps and materials contained therein. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council, in meeting duly 
assembled, that: 

1. The Anderson County Council hereby finds that the Amendment of the 2016 
Comprehensive Plan, with all maps and materials contained therein is consistent with requirements 
of the South Carolina Code of Laws Title 6, Chapter 29. Article 3. 

2. Should any portion of this Ordinance be deemed unconstitutional or otherwise 
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such determination shall not affect the 
remaining terms and provisions of this ordinance, all of which are hereby deemed separable. 

3. All orders, resolutions, and enactments of Anderson County Council inconsistent herewith 
are, to the extent of such inconsistency only, hereby repealed, revoked, and rescinded. 

 



4.  This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect from and after third reading 
and enactment by Anderson County Council. 

ORDAINED in a duly assembled meeting this ____ day of ______, 2023.  

 

ATTEST:      FOR ANDERSON COUNTY:  

 

___________________________  ___________________________________ 
By: Rusty Burns    By: Tommy Dunn  
Administrator      Chairman, Anderson County Council   
 
 
_____________________________ 
Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
_____________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 
 
First Reading:      November 21, 2023 
Second Reading:  December 5, 2023 
Third Reading:     December 19, 2023 
Public Hearing:    December 5, 2023 
 
 

 

 































 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

 
  

 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF NOT EXCEEDING 
EIGHT MILLION THREE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($8,300,000) AGGREGATE 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OF ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PRESCRIBE THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH THE PROCEEDS 
SHALL BE EXPENDED, TO PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF, AND TO 
PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Anderson County, South Carolina 
 

Ordinance No. 2023-048 
 
 
 
 
 

December 19, 2023 



i 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 

ARTICLE I 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
Section 1.01 Findings ..........................................................................................................1 

 
ARTICLE II  

DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION 
 
Section 2.01 Definitions ......................................................................................................3 
Section 2.02 Construction  ...................................................................................................7 

 
ARTICLE III 
THE BONDS  

 
Section 3.01 Ordering the Issuance of Bonds  .....................................................................8 
Section 3.02 Maturity Schedule  ..........................................................................................8 
Section 3.03 Date of Bonds; Interest Rates  ........................................................................8 
Section 3.04 Medium of Payment; Bond Payments; Form and  ..........................................8 
Section 3.05 Agreement to Maintain Registrar and Paying Agent  .....................................9 
Section 3.06 Execution and Authentication  ........................................................................9 
Section 3.07 Exchange of Bonds  ......................................................................................10 
Section 3.08 Transferability and Registry  ........................................................................10 
Section 3.09 Transfer of Bonds  ........................................................................................10 
Section 3.10 Regulations with Respect to Exchanges and Transfers  ...............................10 
Section 3.11 Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost and Stolen Bonds  .............................................11 
Section 3.12 Holder as Owner of Bond  ............................................................................11 
Section 3.13 Cancellation of Bonds  ..................................................................................12 
Section 3.14 Payments Due Saturdays, Sundays, and Holidays  .......................................12 
Section 3.15 Conditions Related to Naming Interest Rates  ..............................................12 
Section 3.16 Tax Exemption in South Carolina ................................................................12 
Section 3.17 Security for Bonds  .......................................................................................12 
Section 3.18 Notice to Auditor and Treasurer to Levy Tax ...............................................13 
Section 3.19 Book-Entry Only System  .............................................................................13 
Section 3.20 Form of Bonds  .............................................................................................14 
Section 3.21 Bond Anticipation Notes ..............................................................................14 

 
ARTICLE IV 

SALE OF THE BONDS 
 
Section 4.01 Sale and Award of Bonds  ............................................................................18 
Section 4.02 Manner of Public Sale  ..................................................................................18 
Section 4.03 Authorization to Negotiate Sale in Certain Circumstances  .........................19 



ii 

 
ARTICLE V  

CERTAIN DELEGATIONS AND AUTHORIZATIONS  
 

Section 5.01 Certain Delegations  ......................................................................................20 
 

ARTICLE VI 
APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS; DISBURSEMENT AND FLOW OF FUNDS 

 
Section 6.01 Deposit and Use of Proceeds  .......................................................................21 

 
ARTICLE VII  

REDEMPTION OR PURCHASE OF BONDS 
 

Section 7.01 Authorization of Redemption  ......................................................................22 
Section 7.02 Election to Redeem  ......................................................................................22 
Section 7.03 Notice of Redemption  ..................................................................................22 
Section 7.04 Selection by Registrar of Bonds to be Redeemed  ........................................23 
Section 7.05 Deposit of Redemption Price  .......................................................................23 
Section 7.06 Partial Redemption of Bonds  .......................................................................24 
Section 7.07 Purchases of Bonds Outstanding  .................................................................24 

 
ARTICLE VIII 
DEFEASANCE 

 
Section 8.01 Defeasance  ...................................................................................................25 

 
ARTICLE IX 

CONCERNING THE FIDUCIARIES 
 

Section 9.01 Fiduciary; Appointment and Acceptance of Duties  .....................................27 
Section 9.02 Responsibilities of Fiduciaries  .....................................................................27 
Section 9.03 Evidence on Which Fiduciaries May Act  ....................................................27 
Section 9.04 Compensation  ..............................................................................................28 
Section 9.05 Certain Permitted Acts  .................................................................................28 
Section 9.06 Resignation of Any Fiduciary  ......................................................................28 
Section 9.07 Removal of Fiduciary  ..................................................................................28 
Section 9.08 Appointment of Successor Fiduciaries  ........................................................28 
Section 9.09 Transfer of Rights and Property to Successor ..............................................29 
Section 9.10 Merger or Consolidation  ..............................................................................30 
Section 9.11 Adoption of Authentication  .........................................................................30 

 
  



iii 

ARTICLE X 
TAX AND DISCLOSURE COVENANTS 

 
Section 10.01 Tax Covenants  .............................................................................................31 
Section 10.02 Disclosure Covenants ...................................................................................33 

 
ARTICLE XI 

MISCELLANEOUS  
 

Section 11.01 Failure to Present Bonds  ..............................................................................34 
Section 11.02 Professional Services  ...................................................................................34 
Section 11.03 Filing of Copies of Ordinance ......................................................................34 
Section 11.04 Further Action by Officers of the County  ....................................................34 
Section 11.05 Ordinance to Constitute Contract  .................................................................34 
Section 11.06 Savings Clause  .............................................................................................35 
Section 11.07 Successors  ....................................................................................................35 
Section 11.08 General Repealer; Effective Date  ................................................................35 

 
EXHIBIT A – FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
EXHIBIT B – FORMS OF BONDS 
EXHIBIT C – FORM OF SUMMARY NOTICE OF SALE 
EXHIBIT D – FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE  
 



1 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA, AS FOLLOWS:  
 

ARTICLE I 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Section 1.01 Findings.  
 
The County Council of Anderson County (the “County Council”), the governing body of 

Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), hereby finds and determines:  
 
(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State 

of South Carolina (the “State”) and as such possesses all general powers granted to counties of the 
State. 

 
(b) Article X, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 1895, as 

amended (the “Constitution”), provides that counties may incur general obligation bonded 
indebtedness upon such terms and conditions as the General Assembly may prescribe by general 
law, subject to the following limitations: (i) such debt must be incurred only for a purpose which 
is a public purpose and a corporate purpose for a county, and (ii) unless excepted therefrom, such 
debt may be issued in an amount not exceeding eight percent of the assessed value of all taxable 
property of such county (the “Debt Limit”).  
 

(c) Pursuant to Title 4, Chapter 15 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 
amended  (the same being and hereinafter referred to as the “County Bond Act”), the governing 
body of any county of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) may issue general obligation bonds 
to defray the cost of any authorized purpose and for any amount not exceeding such county’s 
applicable Debt Limit.  
 

(d) The County Bond Act provides that as a condition precedent to the issuance of 
bonds, an election be held that results favorably thereto. Title 11, Chapter 27 of the South Carolina 
Code provides that if an election be prescribed by the provisions of the County Bond Act, but is 
not required by the provisions of Article X, Section 14 of the Constitution, then in every such 
instance, no election need be held and the remaining provisions of the County Bond Act shall 
constitute a full and complete authorization to issue bonds in accordance with such remaining 
provisions.  
 

(e) The assessed value of all taxable property in the County for tax year 2022, which is 
the latest completed assessment thereof, for the purposes of calculating the Debt Limit, is 
$989,296,449. Eight percent of such sum is $79,143,715. 

 
(f) As of the date hereof, the outstanding principal amount of general obligation 

indebtedness of the County chargeable against the Debt Limit is $8,130,000. Accordingly, the 
County may incur $71,013,715 of general obligation debt within the Debt Limit. 
 



2 

(g) On the basis of the foregoing, the County Council has determined it is in the best 
interest of the County to authorize and provide for the issuance and sale of not exceeding 
$8,300,000 of general obligation bonds (the “Bonds”) for the purpose of raising funds (i) to defray 
the costs of the renovation, reconstruction, and equipping of the County’s Historic Courthouse (the 
“Project”), and (ii) to pay the costs of issuance of the Bonds. 
 

(h) Pursuant to the provisions of Section 4-9-130 of the South Carolina Code, a public 
hearing, after giving notice in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, was conducted 
prior to the third and final reading of this Ordinance by the County Council.  
 

* * * 
 



3 

ARTICLE II 

DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION 

Section 2.01 Definitions.  
 
As used in this Ordinance, unless context otherwise requires, the following terms shall 

have the following respective meanings. 
 

 “Authorized Investments” means and includes any securities which, at the time of 
determination, are legal investments for political subdivisions in the State as provided in the South 
Carolina Code.  
 
 “Authorized Officer” means the Chairman or the County Administrator; either of whom 
may act individually as the Authorized Officer or on behalf of the Authorized Officers. 
 
 “BAN” means any of the bond anticipation notes issued hereunder and pursuant to the BAN 
Act. 
 
 “BAN Act” means Title 11, Chapter 17 of the South Carolina Code. 

 
“Bond” or “Bonds” has the meaning given to such term in Section 1.01, which includes any 

of the Bonds of the County authorized by this Ordinance, and, where context dictates, Bonds of a 
Series issued hereunder. 
 
 “Bond Counsel” means Pope Flynn, LLC, or any successor firm, or an attorney or firm of 
attorneys of recognized standing in the field of law relating to municipal, state and public agency 
financing. 
 
 “Bondholder”; “Holder”; “Holders of Bonds”; “Owner”; “Registered Owner” or similar 
term means, when used with respect to Bonds or a Bond, any person who shall be registered as the 
owner of any Bonds Outstanding. 
 
 “Bond Payment” means the periodic payment of Principal Installments of or interest on the 
Bonds, or both. 
 
 “Bond Payment Date” means, as for any Series of Bonds issued hereunder, the date or dates 
when a Bond Payment is payable. 
 
 “Chairman” means the Chairman of County Council, or in his absence or unavailability, 
the Vice Chairman of County Council. 
 

“Clerk to County Council” means the Clerk to the County Council. 
 
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the U.S. Treasury 

Regulations promulgated thereunder. 
 



4 

“Continuing Disclosure Undertaking” means an undertaking executed by an Authorized 
Officer and delivered at or prior to the closing of a Series of Bonds that is intended to meet the 
requirements of Rule 15c2-12, and as such undertaking may be from time to time amended in 
accordance with the terms thereof. 

 
“Corporate Trust Office” when used with respect to any Paying Agent or Registrar, means 

the office of the Paying Agent or Registrar at which corporate trust business related to the Bond shall 
be administered.  In the event the County Treasurer serves as Paying Agent and Registrar, applicable 
references to the Corporate Trust Office shall mean the offices of the County Treasurer.  
 
 “County” means Anderson County, South Carolina. 
 
 “County Administrator” means the County Administrator of the County (including any 
interim County Administrator), or in his absence or unavailability, a Deputy County Administrator 
of the County. 

 
 “County Auditor” means the person holding the office of County Auditor of the County, and 
any person authorized to act on behalf of such office. 
 
 “County Bond Act” has the meaning given such term in Section 1.01 hereof. 
 
 “County Council” means the County Council of the County. 
 
 “County Treasurer” means the person holding the office of Treasurer of the County, and 
any person authorized to act on behalf of such office. 
 
 “Direct Placement Purchaser” means a Purchaser of a Series of Bonds pursuant to Section 
4.02(1) hereof. 
 

“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York. 
 
“Enabling Act” means Article X, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South 

Carolina, 1895, as amended; the County Bond Act; and Title 11, Chapter 27 of the South Carolina 
Code.  
 
 “Escrow Agent” means a financial institution appointed by an Authorized Officer of the 
County to hold funds for the purpose of defeasing all or a portion of the Bonds in accordance with 
Article VIII of this Ordinance. 
 
 “Fiduciary” means any financial institution appointed by the County to serve as Paying 
Agent or Registrar, and its successors and assigns. 
 
 “Financial Advisor” has the meaning given such term in Section 11.02 hereof. 
 
 “Government Obligations” means (i) direct obligations of the United States of America 
for the payment of which the full faith and credit of the United States of America are pledged; (ii) 



5 

obligations, the payment of the principal (if any), or the interest (if any) on which is fully 
guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation of the United States of America; (iii) non-callable, 
U.S. Treasury Securities – State and Local Government Series Securities; and (iv) AAA-rated 
general obligation bonds (based upon a rating issued by at least one nationally recognized credit 
rating organization) of the State, its institutions, agencies, school districts and political 
subdivisions. 
 
 “Governmental Unit” means a state or local governmental unit within the meaning of 
Section 141(b) of the Code. 
 
 “Nongovernmental Person” means any Person other than a Governmental Unit. 
 
 “Official Notice of Sale” has the meaning given such term in Article IV hereof. 
 
 “Original Issue Date” shall mean the date of delivery of the applicable Series of Bonds. 
 
 “Other Indicia of Satisfaction” means the delivery of a certificate to the Paying Agent by 
a Sole Holder in connection with a final payment of all Outstanding Principal Installments of a 
Series of Bonds certifying that (i) such payment represents the final payment due on such Series 
of Bonds, and (ii) the County owes no further obligation to the Registered Owner respecting such 
Series of Bonds. Such certificate may also make provision for the Sole Holder to indemnify the 
County in connection with the failure to surrender such Bonds. 
 
 “Outstanding” when used in this Ordinance, with respect to the Bonds, means as of any date, 
all Bonds theretofore authenticated and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance except: 
 

(1) any Bond cancelled or delivered to the Registrar for cancellation on or before such 
date; 
 

(2) any Bond (or any portion thereof) deemed to have been paid in accordance with the 
provisions of Section 8.01 hereof; and 

 
(3) any Bond in lieu of or in exchange for which another Bond shall have been 

authenticated and delivered pursuant to Article III hereof. 
 
 “Paying Agent” means any bank, trust company or national banking association which is 
authorized to pay the Principal Installments of or interest on any Series of Bonds and has the duties, 
responsibilities and rights provided for in this Ordinance, and its successor or successors and any 
other corporation or association which at any time may be substituted in its place pursuant to this 
Ordinance. The entity named as Paying Agent may also act as Registrar. Notwithstanding the above 
definition of Paying Agent, if a Series of Bonds is not delivered in book-entry form, the County 
Treasurer may be the Paying Agent for such Bonds. 
 

“Person” means an individual, a partnership, a corporation, a trust, a trustee, an 
unincorporated organization, or a government or an agency or political subdivision thereof. 

 



6 

“Principal Installment” means, as of any date of calculation, the principal amount of all 
Bonds due on a specified date. 

 
“Project” has the meaning given such term in Section 1.01 hereof. 
 
“Purchaser” means a purchaser of the applicable Series of Bonds. 
 
“Record Date” means the fifteenth day of the month immediately preceding a month in 

which there is a Bond Payment Date. 
 
“Redemption Price” when used with respect to a Bond or portion thereof to be redeemed, 

means the principal amount of such Bonds or such portion thereof plus the applicable premium, if 
any, and accrued interest, as applicable, payable upon redemption thereof pursuant to this Ordinance. 

 
“Registrar” means any bank, trust company, or national banking association which is 

authorized to maintain an accurate list of those who, from time to time, shall be the Holders of the 
Bonds and shall effect the exchange and transfer of Bonds in accordance with the provisions of this 
Ordinance and having the duties, responsibilities, and rights provided for in this Ordinance and its 
successor or successors and any other corporation or association which at any time may be 
substituted in its place pursuant to this Ordinance.  The institution named as Registrar may also act 
as Paying Agent.  Notwithstanding the above definition of Registrar, if the Bonds are not delivered 
in book-entry form, the Registrar may be the County, acting through the County Treasurer, as 
determined by an Authorized Officer. 
 
 “Registry Books” means the books of the County to be kept at the Corporate Trust Office 
of the Registrar for the registration and transfer of the Bonds. 
 

“Rule 15c2-12” means Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

 
“Securities Depository” means, initially, The Depository Trust Company, New York, New 

York, or any other recognized securities depository selected by the County, which securities 
depository maintains a book-entry system in respect of the Bonds, and shall include any substitute 
for or successor to the securities depository initially acting as Securities Depository. 
 
 “Securities Depository Nominee” means, as to any Securities Depository, such Securities 
Depository or the nominee of such Securities Depository in whose name there shall be registered 
on the registration books maintained by the Registrar the Bond certificates to be delivered to and 
immobilized at such Securities Depository during the continuation with such Securities Depository 
of participation in its book-entry system.  If DTC is the initial Securities Depository, Cede & Co. 
shall serve as the initial Securities Depository Nominee hereunder. In all other cases, the Securities 
Depository Nominee shall be the entity designated as such under the rules of the Securities 
Depository. 
 
 “Series” or “Series of Bonds” means Bonds issued hereunder as a single issue; i.e., sold and 
closed on the same dates with a common bond caption and Series designation. 



7 

 
 “Sole Holder” means the Holder of a Series of Bonds when such Bonds shall be physically 
delivered as a single Bond to a single Holder purchasing an entire Series of Bonds.  
 
 “South Carolina Code” means the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended. 
 
 “State” means the State of South Carolina. 
 
 “Summary Notice of Sale” has the meaning given such term in Article IV hereof. 
 

“Taxable Bonds” means any Bonds that have been designated as taxable under the Code by 
an Authorized Officer pursuant to Article V of this Ordinance. 

 
Section 2.02 Construction.  

 
In this Ordinance, unless context otherwise requires: 

 
(1) Articles and Sections referred to by number shall mean the corresponding Articles 

and Sections of this Ordinance. 
 
(2) The terms “hereby,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herein,” “hereunder,” and any similar terms 

refer to this Ordinance, and the term “hereafter” shall mean after, and the term 
“heretofore” shall mean before the date of enactment of this Ordinance. 

 
(3) Words of the masculine gender shall mean and include correlative words of the 

female and neuter genders, and words importing the singular number shall mean and 
include the plural number and vice versa. 

 
(4) Any Fiduciary shall be deemed to hold an Authorized Investment in which money is 

invested pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance, even though such Authorized 
Investment is evidenced only by a book entry or similar record of investment. 

 
(5) Exhibits to this Ordinance constitute an integral part of this Ordinance. 
 
(6) Three asterisks mark the end of each Article. 

 
*         *         * 



8 

ARTICLE III 

THE BONDS 

Section 3.01 Ordering the Issuance of Bonds. 
 
 Pursuant to the provisions of the Enabling Act, an Authorized Officers is hereby ordered 

and directed to cause the issuance of Bonds in order to provide funds: (i) to defray the costs of the 
Project; and (ii) to pay the costs of issuance thereof. The Bonds may be issued in a single Series, 
or from time to time in multiple Series. The Bonds may, in addition to the title “Anderson County, 
South Carolina, General Obligation Bond[s],” bear a numerical or alphanumeric Series designation 
as may be necessary to distinguish them from the Bonds of every other Series, or other general 
obligation bonds of the County, and shall designate the year in which the Series is issued. Any 
Series of Bonds issued as Taxable Bonds shall bear an appropriate designation so as to distinguish 
its tax status. 
 
Section 3.02 Maturity Schedule.  
 

Each Series of Bonds shall mature on the dates and in the principal amounts as determined 
by an Authorized Officer, upon advice of the Financial Advisor and Bond Counsel, provided that 
the first maturing principal of a Series of Bonds shall mature not later than five years from the date 
of issue thereof and the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds issued hereunder shall not exceed 
$8,300,000. No Bonds shall mature more than 30 years from their date of delivery. 

 
Section 3.03 Date of Bonds; Interest Rates.  
 

Bonds shall be authenticated on such dates as they shall, in each case, be delivered. Bonds 
shall bear interest, at the rates per annum determined in accordance with Section 3.15 hereof (on the 
basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months), from the Bond Payment Date to which interest 
has been paid next preceding the authentication date thereof, unless the authentication date is a Bond 
Payment Date, in which case from such authentication date, or if authenticated prior to the initial 
Bond Payment Date for Bonds of that Series, then from the Original Issue Date of that Series. 
 
Section 3.04 Medium of Payment; Bond Payments, Form and Denomination.  
 

(a)   The Principal Installments of, Redemption Price, if any, and interest on all Bonds 
shall be payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time of payment 
is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.  

 
 (b) Payment of the Principal Installment or Redemption Price of Bonds shall be payable 
at the Corporate Trust Office of the Paying Agent upon presentation and surrender for cancellation 
of such Bonds on or after the maturity date or earlier redemption date, except as set forth at Section 
3.04(d) below. Payment of interest on Bonds shall be made by check or draft mailed from the 
Corporate Trust Office of the Paying Agent to the Person in whose name the Bonds are registered at 
the close of business on the Record Date; provided, however, that any Registered Owner of Bonds 
in the aggregate principal amount of $1,000,000 or more may request, in writing at least 20 days 
prior to the applicable Record Date delivered to the Paying Agent, that Bond Payments be made by 



9 

wire transfer to such Registered Owner at an account maintained by a financial institution located in 
the continental United States which bank is a member of the Federal Reserve System as specified in 
such request.  
 
 (c) The Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form. The Bond shall be issued in 
denominations of $1,000 or any whole multiple thereof, not exceeding the principal amount of the 
Bonds maturing in such year, except as set forth below. Each Series of Bonds shall be numbered 
from R-1 upwards in such fashion as to maintain a proper record thereof. 
 
 (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.04, in the event that a Sole 
Holder is the Registered Owner of a Series of Bonds, the denomination of such Series of Bonds may 
be the principal amount of such Series, and presentment of such Series of Bonds for payment shall 
not be required, except for the payment of the final Principal Installment of such Series of Bonds, 
unless otherwise mutually agreed by the County and the Registered Owner of such Series of Bonds, 
and upon the delivery of Other Indicia of Satisfaction or similar by the Registered Owner. At the 
option of the Sole Holder, and upon agreement by the Paying Agent, Bond Payments may be made 
by wire transfer to such Sole Holder at an account maintained by a financial institution located in 
the continental United States specified in a request made not less than 20 days prior to the 
applicable Record Date, or such shorter period as may be acceptable to the Paying Agent. 

 
Section 3.05 Agreement to Maintain Registrar and Paying Agent.  
 

(a) As long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding there shall be a Registrar and a 
Paying Agent which shall, subject to Section 3.05(b), be a financial institution maintaining Corporate 
Trust Offices where: (i) Bonds may be presented for registration of transfers and exchanges, (ii) 
notices and demands to or upon the County in respect of the Bonds may be served, and (iii) the 
Bonds may be presented for payment, exchange and transfer. A financial institution so designated 
by an Authorized Officer may act as both Registrar and Paying Agent. The single institution so 
chosen shall exercise both the functions of the Registrar and the Paying Agent.  

 
 (b) If any Series of Bonds is not issued in book-entry form, the County acting through 
the County Treasurer may serve as the Registrar and Paying Agent for such Series of Bonds and 
may fulfill all functions of the Registrar and Paying Agent enumerated herein. The County acting 
through the County Treasurer may also serve as Registrar and Paying Agent should the Bonds 
initially be held in a book-entry system and such system is subsequently discontinued. 
 
Section 3.06 Execution and Authentication.  
 

(a) The Bonds shall be executed in the name of and on behalf of the County by the 
manual or facsimile signature of the Chairman or the County Administrator, attested by the manual 
or facsimile signature of the Clerk to County Council, with the seal of the County impressed, 
imprinted, or reproduced thereon. Bonds bearing the signature of any Person who shall have been 
an Authorized Officer at the time the Bonds were so executed shall bind the County 
notwithstanding the fact that he may have ceased to be such Chairman, County Administrator or 
Clerk to County Council prior to the authentication and delivery of the Bonds or was not such 



10 

Chairman, County Administrator or Clerk to County Council at the date of authentication and 
delivery of the Bonds. 
 

(b) No Bond shall be valid or become obligatory for any purpose unless there shall 
have been endorsed thereon a certificate of authentication. Each Bond shall bear a certificate of 
authentication manually executed by the Registrar in substantially the form set forth in the 
applicable form of the Bond attached hereto as Exhibit B.  
 
Section 3.07 Exchange of Bonds.  
 

Each Bond, upon surrender thereof at the Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar along with 
a written instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner 
or his duly authorized attorney, may, at the option of the Registered Owner thereof, be exchanged 
for a new Bond of the same Series, interest rate, and maturity. So long as such Bond remains 
Outstanding, the County shall make all necessary provisions to permit the exchange of the Bond at 
the Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar. Such new Bonds shall reflect the principal amount 
thereof as then yet unpaid. 
 
Section 3.08 Transferability and Registry. 
 

Each Bond shall at all times, when the same is Outstanding, be payable to a Person, and 
shall be transferable only in accordance with the provisions for registration and transfer contained 
in this Ordinance and in such Bond. So long as such Bond remains Outstanding, the Registrar shall 
maintain and keep the Registry Books, and, upon presentation thereof for such purpose at such 
Corporate Trust Office, the County shall register or cause to be registered therein, and permit to 
be transferred thereon, under such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, such Bond. So long 
as the Bonds remain Outstanding, the County shall make all necessary provisions to permit the 
transfer of such Bonds at the Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar. 

 
Section 3.09 Transfer of Bonds.  
 

The Bonds shall be transferable only upon the Registry Books, which shall be kept for such 
purpose at the Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar and maintained for such purpose by the 
Registrar, upon presentation and surrender thereof by the Registered Owner of the Bond in person 
or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, together with a written instrument of transfer 
satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or his duly authorized attorney. 
Upon surrender for transfer of Bonds, the County shall execute, authenticate, and deliver, in the 
name of the Person who is the transferee, a new Bond of the same principal amount and maturity 
and rate of interest as the surrendered Bond. Such new Bond shall reflect the principal amount thereof 
as then yet unpaid. 
 
Section 3.10 Regulations with Respect to Exchanges and Transfers.  
 

Bonds, if surrendered in any exchange or transfer, shall forthwith be cancelled by the 
Registrar. For each such transfer of the Bonds, the Registrar may make a charge sufficient to 
reimburse it for any tax, fee or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such 



11 

transfer, which sum or sums shall be paid by the Registered Owner requesting such transfer as a 
condition precedent to the exercise of the privilege of making such transfer.  The County shall not 
be obligated to issue or transfer the Bonds (i) during the period between a Record Date and the next 
following Bond Payment Date, or (ii) following a call for redemption of Bonds. 
 
Section 3.11 Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost and Stolen Bonds.  
 

(a)  If a Bond is mutilated and thereafter surrendered to the County or if the County 
receives evidence to its satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of a Bond and there is delivered 
to the County such security or indemnity as may be required by it to save it harmless, then, in the 
absence of notice that the Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the County shall execute, 
and the Registrar shall authenticate and deliver, in exchange for the mutilated Bond or in lieu of any 
such destroyed, lost, or stolen Bond, a new Bond of like tenor and principal amount, bearing a 
number unlike that of the mutilated, lost, or stolen Bond, and shall thereupon cancel any such 
mutilated Bond so surrendered.  In case any such mutilated, destroyed, lost, or stolen Bond.  The 
Registrar shall thereupon cancel the mutilated Bond so surrendered.  In case the mutilated, destroyed, 
lost or stolen Bond has become or is to become due and payable within one month, the County in its 
discretion may, instead of issuing a new Bond, pay the Bond. 
 
 (b)  Upon the issuance of any new Bond under this Section 3.11, the County may require 
the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax, fee, or other governmental charge that may be 
imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses, including counsel fees or other fees, of the 
County connected therewith. 
 
 (c)  Each new Bond issued pursuant to this Section 3.11 in lieu of any destroyed, lost, or 
stolen Bond shall constitute an additional contractual obligation of the County, whether or not the 
destroyed, lost, or stolen Bond shall at any time be enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to 
all the benefits hereof.  Each Bond shall be held and owned upon the express condition that the 
foregoing provisions are exclusive with respect to the replacement or payment of a mutilated, 
destroyed, lost, or stolen Bond and shall preclude (to the extent lawful) all other rights or remedies 
with respect to the replacement or payment of the mutilated, destroyed, lost, or stolen Bond or 
securities. 
 
 All expenses necessary for the providing of any duplicate Bond shall be borne by the 
applicant therefor.  
 
Section 3.12 Holder as Owner of Bond.  

 
The County, the Registrar and the Paying Agent may treat the Registered Owner of any Bond 

as the absolute owner thereof, whether such Bond shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of 
receiving payment of, or on account of, the Principal Installment of and interest on the Bonds and 
for all other purposes, and payment of the Principal Installment and interest shall be made only to, 
or upon the order of, such Registered Owner.  All payments to such Registered Owner shall be valid 
and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Bond to the extent of the sum or sums 
so paid, and the County shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary. 
 



12 

Section 3.13 Cancellation of Bonds.  
 
The Registrar shall destroy Bonds upon surrender of the same to it for cancellation and 

shall deliver a certificate to that effect to the County. No such Bonds shall be deemed Outstanding 
under this Ordinance and no Bonds shall be issued in lieu thereof. 
 
Section 3.14 Payments Due Saturdays, Sundays, and Holidays.  

 
In any case where the Bond Payment Date or redemption shall be a Saturday or Sunday or 

shall be, at the place designated for payment, a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions 
are authorized by law to close, then payment of interest on or Principal Installment or Redemption 
Price of the Bonds need not be made on such date but shall be made on the next succeeding business 
day not a Saturday, Sunday or a legal holiday or a day upon which banking institutions are authorized 
by law to close, with the same force and effect as if made on the Bond Payment Date or redemption 
date, and no interest shall accrue for the period from such Bond Payment Date or redemption date to 
the date on which payment of the Principal Installment, interest, or Redemption Price, if any, is 
made. 

 
Section 3.15 Conditions Related to Naming Interest Rates.  

 
Bonds shall bear such rate or rates of interest as shall result from the sale procedures of 

Article IV, but: 
 

(1) all Bonds of the same maturity and Series shall bear the same rate of interest; 
 

(2) no rate of interest shall exceed 6.0%; 
 

(3) a 0.0% rate is not permitted; 
 
(4) each interest rate named shall be a multiple of 1/1000th of one percentage point; 

and 
 
(5) any premium offered shall be paid in cash as part of the purchase price. 

 
In addition to the foregoing, an Authorized Officer is authorized to impose additional conditions for 
the sale of Bonds not inconsistent with those set forth above prior to the sale of Bonds and set forth 
in the Official Notice of Sale, and any amendment thereto.  
 
Section 3.16 Tax Exemption in South Carolina.  
 

Both the Principal Installments of and interest on the Bonds shall be exempt from all State, 
county, municipal, school district, and all other taxes or assessments of the State of South Carolina, 
direct or indirect, general, or special, whether imposed for the purpose of general revenue or 
otherwise, except inheritance, estate, transfer, or certain franchise taxes. 
 
Section 3.17 Security for Bonds. 



13 

 
The full faith, credit, and taxing power of the County is hereby irrevocably pledged for the 

payment of the Bonds as the Principal Installments thereof mature and as interest thereon comes 
due, and to create such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor. There shall be levied annually 
by the County Auditor and collected by the County Treasurer in the same manner as other county 
taxes are levied and collected, a tax, without limit, on all taxable property in the County sufficient 
to pay the Principal Installments of and interest on the Bonds as the same matures and come due, 
respectively, and to create such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor.  

 
Section 3.18  Notice to Auditor and Treasurer to Levy Tax. 
 

The County Auditor and the County Treasurer shall each be notified of the issuance of any 
Series of Bonds, and directed to levy and collect, upon all taxable property in the County an annual 
tax sufficient to meet the payment of the Principal Installment and interest on said Bonds, as the 
same respectively mature, and to create such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor. Such levy 
may be reduced to the extent that, at the time that the annual millage levy for the County is set, the 
County shall have funds on deposit in the sinking fund to pay Principal Installments of and interest 
on the Bonds for each such payment thereof coming due and payable from such tax levy. 

   
Section 3.19 Book-Entry Only System.  
 

(a) An Authorized Officer may elect to issue a Series of Bonds under a book-entry-
only system under Article V hereof. In the event of such election, notwithstanding any provision 
of this Ordinance to the contrary, the provisions of this Section 3.19 shall apply to such Series of 
Bonds. Such Bonds will be initially issued under a book-entry-only system in fully registered form, 
registered in the name of Cede & Co. as the Registered Owner and Securities Depository Nominee 
of DTC, which will act as initial Securities Depository for the Bonds. So long as a Series of Bonds 
is being held under a book-entry system of a Securities Depository, transfers of beneficial 
ownership of such Bonds will be effected pursuant to rules and procedures established by such 
Securities Depository.  
 

(b) As long as a book-entry system is in effect for a Series of Bonds, the Securities 
Depository Nominee will be recognized as the Registered Owner of such Bonds for the purposes 
of: (i) paying the Principal Installments of, interest on, and Redemption Price, if any, of such 
Bonds, (ii) selecting the portions of such Bonds to be redeemed, if Bonds are to be redeemed in 
part, (iii) giving any notice permitted or required to be given to Registered Owners under this 
Ordinance, (iv) registering the transfer of Bonds, and (v) requesting any consent or other action to 
be taken by the Registered Owners of such Bonds, and for all other purposes whatsoever, and the 
County shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary.  
 

(c) The County shall not have any responsibility or obligation to any participant, any 
beneficial owner or any other person claiming a beneficial ownership in any Bonds which are 
registered to a Securities Depository Nominee under or through the Securities Depository with 
respect to any action taken by the Securities Depository as Registered Owner of such Bonds.  
 



14 

(d) The Paying Agent shall pay all Principal Installments of, interest on, and 
Redemption Price, if any, of Bonds issued under a book-entry system, only to the Securities 
Depository or the Securities Depository Nominee, as the case may be, for such Bonds, and all such 
payments shall be valid and effectual to fully satisfy and discharge the obligations with respect to 
the Principal Installments of, interest on, and Redemption Price, if any, of such Bonds. 
 

(e) In the event that the County determines that it is in the best interest of the County 
to discontinue the book-entry system of transfer for a Series of Bonds, or that the interests of the 
beneficial owners of such Bonds may be adversely affected if the book-entry system is continued, 
then the County shall notify the Securities Depository of such determination. In such event, the 
Registrar shall authenticate, register, and deliver physical certificates for such Bonds in exchange 
for the Bonds registered in the name of the Securities Depository Nominee.  
 

(f) In the event that the Securities Depository for Bonds discontinues providing its 
services, the County shall either engage the services of another Securities Depository or arrange 
with a Registrar for the delivery of physical certificates in the manner described in subparagraph 
(e) above.  
 

(g) In connection with any notice or other communication to be provided to the 
Registered Owners of Bonds by the County or by the Registrar with respect to any consent or other 
action to be taken by the Registered Owners of Bonds, the County or the Registrar, as the case 
may be, shall establish a record date for such consent or other action and give the Securities 
Depository Nominee notice of such record date not less than 15 days in advance of such record 
date to the extent possible.  
 

(h) At the closing of any Series of Bonds and the delivery of the same to the Purchaser 
thereof through the facilities of DTC, the Registrar may maintain custody of Bond certificates on 
behalf of DTC in accordance with DTC’s “FAST” closing procedures. 

 
Section 3.20 Form of Bonds.  

 
The Bonds shall be in a form substantially similar to that attached hereto as Exhibit B, with 

such revisions as an Authorized Officer may approve upon advice of Bond Counsel. As 
contemplated in Exhibit B, the form of a Series of Bonds shall reflect the respective manner of 
sale under Section 4.02 hereof. The execution of the Bonds in accordance with this Ordinance shall 
constitute conclusive evidence of approval of any and all revisions. 

 
Section 3.21 Bond Anticipation Notes.   
 

(a)  Pursuant to the BAN Act, there may be issued from time to time at the discretion 
of an Authorized Officer BANs in anticipation of the issuance of Bonds or to refund or renew 
BANs, as set forth in this Section 3.21. 

 
(b) If BANs are issued and if, upon the maturity thereof an Authorized Officer should 

determine that it would be in the best interest of the County to renew or refund the BANs, he or 
she is authorized to renew or refund the BANs from time to time until an Authorized Officer 



15 

determines to issue the Bonds on the basis as aforesaid, and the Bonds are issued. The aggregate 
stated principal amount of all BANs outstanding from time to time shall not exceed $8,300,000. 

 
(c) BANs shall be dated and bear interest from the date of delivery thereof, payable 

upon the stated maturity thereof and shall mature on such dates as determined by an Authorized 
Officer, provided that no BAN shall mature on a date which is later than one year following the 
issuance thereof. Interest on the BANs shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 
30-day months. BANs may be issued as draw-down obligations, in which event interest shall 
accrue and be payable thereon based on the dates of and principal amounts advanced. 

 
(d) BANs shall be payable, both as to principal and interest, in legal tender upon 

maturity, at the principal office of the Paying Agent. The BANs may be issued in denominations 
of $1,000 and integral multiples thereof. The BANs shall be executed in the name and on behalf 
of the County by the manual or facsimile signature of the Chairman or Vice Chairman with the 
seal of the County (or a facsimile thereof) impressed, imprinted or otherwise reproduced thereon 
and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of the Clerk. BANs bearing the manual or 
facsimile signature of any Person who shall have been such an Authorized Officer at the time 
such BANs were so executed shall bind the County notwithstanding the fact that he may have 
ceased to be such Authorized Officer prior to the authentication and delivery of such BANs or 
was not such Authorized Officer at the date of the authentication and delivery of the BANs. 
 

(e) An Authorized Officer may appoint either (i) a financial institution maintaining 
corporate trust offices, or (ii) the County Treasurer to serve as Registrar and Paying Agent for the 
BANs. 
 

(f) County Council hereby authorizes an Authorized Officer to cause to be prepared 
and to “deem final” within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and 
Exchange Commission a preliminary official statement relating to the BANs and to cause to be 
prepared and to approve a final official statement following the sale of the BANs. The County 
Council hereby authorizes the use of said preliminary official statement and final official 
statement and the information contained therein in connection with the public offering and sale 
of the BANs. If the BANs are offered and sold to a financial institution to be held for its own 
account, an Authorized Officer will not be required to (i) prepare a preliminary official statement 
or final official statement if such purchaser executes and delivers an investment letter in form and 
content acceptable to the State Treasurer, or (ii) undertake any obligation to deliver a Continuing 
Disclosure Undertaking. 

 
(g) BANs may be sold at public or private sale. If at public sale, bids therefor shall be 

received until such time and date to be selected by an Authorized Officer; notice of sale of the 
BANs shall be given in a manner determined by an Authorized Officer; award shall be made by 
an Authorized Officer of the BANs to the bidder offering the lowest interest cost therefor, the 
method of calculation of which shall be set forth in the notice of sale and determined at an 
Authorized Officer’s discretion, without further action on the part of the Commission if an 
Authorized Officer shall determine that it is in the interest of the County to make such award. If 
at private sale, an Authorized Officer shall sell the BANs by negotiation with the Purchaser under 
such terms as such Authorized Officer finds achieve the objectives of the County. 



16 

 
(h) BANs shall be issued in such form and with such terms and conditions, not 

inconsistent with this Ordinance, as shall be determined by an Authorized Officer. No BAN shall 
be valid or obligatory for any purpose or shall be entitled to any right or benefit hereunder unless 
there shall be endorsed on such BAN a certificate of authentication duly executed by the manual 
signature of the Registrar and such certificate of authentication upon any BAN executed on behalf 
of the County shall be conclusive evidence that the BAN so authenticated has been duly issued 
hereunder and that the registered owner thereof is entitled to the benefit of the terms and 
provisions of the Ordinance.  

 
(i) In the event any BAN is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the County may 

execute a new BAN of like date and denomination as that mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed; 
provided that, in the case of any mutilated BAN, such mutilated BAN shall first be surrendered 
to the County or to its designated agent, and in the case of any lost, stolen or destroyed BAN, 
there shall be first furnished to the County or its agent evidence of such loss, theft or destruction 
satisfactory to the County or its agent, together with indemnity satisfactory to it; provided that, 
in the case of a registered owner which is a bank or insurance company, the agreement of such 
bank or insurance company to indemnify shall be sufficient. In the event any such BAN shall 
have matured, instead of issuing a duplicate BAN, the County may pay the same without 
surrender thereof. The County or its agent may charge the registered owner of such BAN with its 
reasonable fees and expenses in this connection. 

 
(j) The BANs shall be issued in fully registered form either (i) under a book-entry 

only system, registered in the name of Cede & Co. as the registered owner and securities 
depository nominee of DTC, or (ii) in physical form registered in the name of the registered 
owner, as specified by an Authorized Officer. Conditions as to ownership, exchange, transfer, 
replacement, and payment of BANs shall be as provided for Bonds herein, except as expressly 
provided in this Ordinance to the contrary. The BANs may, at the discretion of an Authorized 
Officer, be subject to redemption prior to their stated maturity, on such terms and conditions as 
an Authorized Officer may prescribe, except that the maximum premium to be paid for prior 
redemption shall not exceed one half of one per centum (1/2%). 

 
(k) For the payment of the principal of and interest on the BANs as the same shall fall 

due, the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the County shall be pledged. In addition thereto, so 
much of the principal proceeds of the Bonds when issued shall and is hereby directed to be 
applied, to the extent necessary, to the payment of the BANs; and, further, the County covenants 
and irrevocably pledges to effect the issuance of the Bonds or, in the alternative, to refund or 
renew outstanding BANs in order that the proceeds thereof will be sufficient to provide for the 
retirement of any BANs issued pursuant hereto. 

 
(l) Proceeds from the sale of the BANs shall be applied in the manner as provided by 

Section 6.01 herein for Bonds. 
 
(m) Both the principal of and interest on the BANs shall be exempt from all State, 

county, municipal, school district, and all other taxes or assessments imposed within the State, 
direct or indirect, general or special, whether imposed for the purpose of general revenue or 



17 

otherwise, except estate or other transfer taxes, and certain fees or franchise taxes. 
 
(n) The form of the BAN shall be approved by an Authorized Officer. 
 
(o) Without limiting the generality or specifics of any other provision in this 

Ordinance, the term “Bonds” as used in Articles VIII, IX, X, and XI shall include BANs. 
 

*         *         * 



18 

ARTICLE IV 

SALE OF THE BONDS 

Section 4.01 Sale and Award of Bonds.   
 
(a) Each Series of Bonds shall be sold at a date and time certain after public notice 

thereof at not less than par and accrued interest to the date of delivery. Bids shall be received at 
such time and date and in such manner as determined by an Authorized Officer. Bids may be 
received in electronic form only, physical form only, or in such other form or combination of forms 
as may be determined by an Authorized Officer and set forth in the Official Notice of Sale. The 
Authorized Officer may reserve the right, on behalf of the County, to waive any irregularities and 
to negotiate with the lowest responsive bidder. Unless all bids are rejected, the award of Bonds 
may be made by an Authorized Officer to the bidder offering the most advantageous terms to the 
County, taking into account the interest cost (calculated on a true-interest-cost basis (TIC)) to the 
County and any terms or conditions specific to each bid, with the basis of such award to be set 
forth in the official notice of sale used in connection with the sale of such Bonds (the “Official 
Notice of Sale”), the applicable forms of which are attached hereto as Exhibit D.  

 
(b) In lieu of publishing the Official Notice of Sale in its entirety to notice the sale, an 

Authorized Officer may elect to publish an abbreviated form of such notice (the “Summary Notice 
of Sale”), the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C, and thereafter provide the applicable 
Official Notice of Sale to those parties who request the same pursuant to the instructions provided 
in the Summary Notice of Sale. The forms of the Summary Notice of Sale and the Official Notice 
of Sale may be adjusted or amended by an Authorized Officer upon advice of Bond Counsel or 
the Financial Advisor prior to the sale of the Bonds, consistent with the terms of this Ordinance. 

 
Section 4.02 Manner of Public Sale.  

 
Not less than seven days following the publication of either the Official Notice of Sale or 

Summary Notice of Sale in a newspaper of general circulation in the State, and/or, if deemed 
appropriate by an Authorized Officer, in a financial publication published in the City of New York, 
New York, any Series of the Bonds may be sold pursuant to either of the following methods as 
determined by an Authorized Officer:  
 

(1) Competitive Direct Placement. Any Series of Bonds may be sold to a Direct 
Placement Purchaser as a single instrument as a means of making a commercial loan. 
In such case, the County Council authorizes the Authorized Officer to distribute the 
Official Notice of Sale to prospective purchasers of the Bonds and award the Bonds 
to the Direct Placement Purchaser on the basis of the terms and conditions contained 
therein. Such Bonds may be issued as a single Bond or multiple Bonds, without 
CUSIP identification (unless otherwise agreed by the Direct Placement Purchaser 
and an Authorized Officer on behalf of the County), shall not be issued in book-entry-
only form, and no official statement shall be prepared in connection with the sale of 
such Bond. The Direct Placement Purchaser of any such Series of Bonds shall 
execute an investor letter to the County acknowledging its purchase of such Bond or 
Bonds as a means of making a commercial loan. 



19 

 
(2) Competitive Public Offering. Any Series of Bonds may be sold in the public capital 

markets to an underwriter for the purpose of reselling such Bonds. In such case, the 
County Council hereby authorizes an Authorized Officer to prepare, or cause to be 
prepared, a preliminary official statement and distribute the preliminary official 
statement and the Official Notice of Sale to prospective purchasers of the Bonds. 
The County Council authorizes an Authorized Officer to designate the preliminary 
official statement as “final” for purposes of Rule 15c2-12. The Authorized Officer 
is further authorized to see to the completion of the final form of the official 
statement upon the sale of the Bonds so that it may be provided to the Purchaser.  

 
Section 4.03 Authorization to Negotiate Sale in Certain Circumstances.  
 

An Authorized Officer may negotiate the sale of the Bonds directly with a purchaser in either 
of the following circumstances: 

 
(1) In the event no bids are received or in the event all bids are rejected in accordance 

with Section 11-27-40(9)(c) of the South Carolina Code; or  
 

(2) Should Bonds be sold as a Series in an amount not exceeding $1,500,000 and mature 
not later than ten years from its date of issuance, the sale of such Series of Bonds may 
be negotiated at private sale at an interest rate to be agreed to by an Authorized 
Officer and the purchaser of the Bonds.  In negotiating the sale of such Bonds, an 
Authorized Officer is authorized to solicit bids from qualified lenders for the 
purchase of the Bonds and the award of any such solicitation shall be made under the 
same standards as provided in Section 4.01 above.  If the Bonds are sold under the 
provisions of this section, notice of the sale of the Bonds (meeting the requirements 
of 11-27-40(4) of the South Carolina Code) shall be given not less than seven days 
prior to delivery of such Bonds. 

 
* * * 



20 

ARTICLE V 

CERTAIN DELEGATIONS AND AUTHORIZATIONS 

Section 5.01 Certain Delegations.  
 

The County Council hereby expressly delegates to and authorizes an Authorized Officer to 
determine the following with regard to any Series of Bonds:  

 
(1) whether to issue the Bonds as a single Series or from time to time in several Series;  

 
(2) the conduct and manner of sale of such Bonds in accordance with Article IV hereof; 

 
(3) the award of such Bonds in accordance with Article IV hereof;  

 
(4) the final form, Series designation, and the exact principal amount of such Bonds; 

 
(5) the date of issue, Bond Payment Dates, rate or rates of interest obtained using the sale 

procedures of Article IV hereof, maturity amounts and schedule, and the final 
maturity of such Bonds;  
 

(6) whether such Bonds shall be subject to optional or mandatory redemption prior to 
maturity, and if so, the Redemption Prices applicable thereto;  
 

(7) the Registrar and Paying Agent for such Bonds; 
 

(8) whether such Bonds shall be issued in book-entry form; 
 

(9) whether to use bond insurance or other credit enhancement, and if so, to make 
appropriate arrangements therefor;  
 

(10) whether such Bonds will be designated as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” 
pursuant to the Code;  
 

(11) whether such Bonds shall be issued as Taxable Bonds;  
 

(12) whether to utilize the provisions of Section 11-27-40(8) of the Enabling Act to issue 
the contemplated notice and allow the County to proceed more expeditiously to issue 
such Bonds;  
 

(13) whether to use and the final form of a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking or other 
continuing disclosure agreement or covenant; and 

 
(14) such other matters regarding such Bonds as are necessary or appropriate.  

 
*         *         * 



21 

ARTICLE VI 

APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS  

Section 6.01 Deposit and Use of Proceeds.  
 
The proceeds derived from the sale of each Series of Bonds issued pursuant to this Ordinance 

shall be applied in accordance with the Enabling Act, as follows: 
 
(1) any accrued interest shall be applied to the payment of the first installment of interest 

to become due on such Bonds; 
 

(2) any premium shall be deposited to the sinking fund of such Bonds; and 
 

(3) the remaining proceeds shall be disbursed, as directed by an Authorized Officer, (i) 
to defray or reimburse the costs of the Project and the costs of issuance of the Bonds, 
or (ii) to refund, renew, or repay any BANs and to defray the cost of issuing BANs, 
as applicable.  
 

Pending the use of the proceeds of the Bonds, the same shall be invested and reinvested in 
Authorized Investments, as appropriate, provided that neither the Purchaser nor any Registered 
Owner of the Bonds shall be liable for the proper application of the proceeds thereof. 

 
*         *         * 



22 

ARTICLE VII 

REDEMPTION OR PURCHASE OF BONDS 

Section 7.01 Authorization of Redemption.  
 
Bonds may be subject to redemption, in whole or in part, at any time in any order of maturity 

to be determined by an Authorized Officer, upon such dates and at such Redemption Prices as he 
shall have determined. 
 
Section 7.02 Election to Redeem.  

 
In the event that the County shall elect to redeem Bonds, it shall give notice to the Registrar 

and Paying Agent of each optional redemption, which notice may be conditional in the discretion of 
an Authorized Officer. Each notice of redemption shall specify the date fixed for redemption and the 
Bonds which are to be redeemed. Such notice shall be given at least 30 days prior to the date fixed 
for redemption or such lesser number of days as shall be acceptable to the Registrar. 
 
Section 7.03 Notice of Redemption. 

 
(a) When any Bonds are to be redeemed, the Registrar shall give notice of the 

redemption of the Bonds in the name of the County specifying: (i) the Bonds, the particular Series 
thereof, and maturities to be redeemed; (ii) the redemption date; (iii) the Redemption Price (or 
calculation thereof); (iv) the numbers and other distinguishing marks of the Bonds to be redeemed 
unless all of the Bonds Outstanding are to be redeemed; (v) the place or places where amounts due 
upon such redemption will be payable; (vi) whether the redemption of the Bonds is conditioned 
upon any event; and (vii) in the case of Bonds to be redeemed in part only, the respective portions 
of the principal thereof to be redeemed. Such notice shall further state that on such date there shall 
become due and payable upon each Bond to be redeemed the Redemption Price thereof, and that, 
from and after such date, interest thereon shall cease to accrue; provided, however, that in the event 
of any conditional provision in the notice, the Bonds will not become due and payable as provided 
in this section unless such condition has been satisfied as of the redemption date. The Registrar 
shall mail by registered mail a copy of such notice, postage prepaid, not less than 30 days before 
the redemption date to the Registered Owners of all the Bonds or portions of the Bonds which are 
to be redeemed at their addresses which appear upon the Registry Books, but failure to so mail any 
such notice to any of such Registered Owners shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for 
the redemption of the Bonds held by Registered Owners to whom written notice has been mailed. 
The obligation of the Registrar to give the notice required by this Section shall not be conditioned 
upon the prior payment to the Paying Agent of money or the delivery to the Paying Agent of 
Authorized Investments sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of the Bonds to which such notice 
relates or the interest thereon to the redemption date.  
 
 (b) Notice of redemption having been given as provided in subsection (a) hereof, the 
Bonds or portions thereof so to be redeemed shall, on the date fixed for redemption, become due 
and payable at the Redemption Price specified therein, and upon presentation and surrender thereof 
at the place specified in such notice, such Bonds or portions thereof shall be paid at the Redemption 
Price; provided, however, that in the event of any conditional provision in the notice, the Bonds 



23 

will not become due and payable as provided in this section until such condition has been satisfied 
as of the redemption date. On and after the redemption date (unless the County shall default in the 
payment of the Redemption Price, or any conditional provision in the notice shall not have been 
satisfied as of the redemption date), such Bonds shall cease to bear interest, and such Bonds shall 
no longer be considered as Outstanding hereunder.  If money sufficient to pay the Redemption 
Price has not been made available by the County to the Paying Agent on the redemption date, such 
Bonds shall continue to bear interest until paid at the same rate as they would have borne, had they 
not been called for redemption, until the same shall have been paid. 
 
 (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the County and a Sole Holder may agree on an 
alternative methodology for providing notice of redemption for the applicable Series of Bonds and 
may memorialize the same in the form of the applicable Bond. 
 
Section 7.04 Selection by Registrar of Bonds to be Redeemed.  

 
(a) If less than all of the Bonds of like Series and maturity are to be redeemed, the 

particular Bonds or portions of the Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected, not less than 35 days 
prior to the date fixed for redemption, or such lesser number of days as shall be acceptable to the 
Registrar, by the Registrar by lot or in such other manner as the Registrar may deem to be 
appropriate, provided, however, that for so long as the Bonds are held in book-entry only form, 
the selection of Bonds to be redeemed hereunder shall be in accordance with the rules of the 
Securities Depository. 
 
 (b) In making such selection, the Registrar shall treat each Bond to be redeemed as 
representing that number of Bonds of the lowest authorized denomination as is obtained by 
dividing the principal amount of such Bond by such denomination.  If any Bond is to be redeemed 
in part, the portion to be so redeemed shall be in a principal amount of an authorized denomination. 
 
 (c) The Registrar shall promptly notify the County in writing of the Bonds so selected 
for redemption.  
 

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the County and a Sole Holder may agree on an 
alternative methodology for selecting the maturities and portions thereof to be redeemed in the 
case of a partial redemption and may memorialize the same in the form of the applicable Bond. 
 
Section 7.05 Deposit of Redemption Price.  
 

On or before any date fixed for redemption of any Bonds, cash and/or a principal amount 
of non-callable Government Obligations maturing or redeemable at the option of the Registered 
Owner thereof not later than the date fixed for redemption which, together with income to be 
earned on such Government Obligations prior to such date fixed for redemption, will be sufficient 
to provide cash to pay the Redemption Price of all Bonds or portions thereof which are to be 
redeemed on such date, shall be deposited with the Paying Agent unless such amount shall have 
been previously deposited with the Paying Agent. Provided, however, that in the event of a 
conditional redemption such condition is not met, this Section 7.05 is inapplicable. 
 



24 

Section 7.06 Partial Redemption of Bonds.  
 
In the event part but not all of Bonds Outstanding shall be selected for redemption, upon 

presentation and surrender of such Bond by the Registered Owner thereof or his attorney duly 
authorized in writing (with, if the County or the Registrar so requires, due endorsement by, or a 
written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the County and the Registrar duly executed 
by, the Registered Owner thereof or his attorney duly authorized in writing) to the Registrar, the 
County shall execute and the Registrar shall authenticate and deliver to or upon the order of such 
Registered Owner, without charge therefor, for the unredeemed portion of the principal amount of 
the Bond so surrendered, a Bond or Bonds of any authorized denomination of like tenor.  The 
Bonds, if so presented and surrendered, shall be cancelled in accordance with Section 3.13 hereof. 
 
Section 7.07 Purchases of Bonds Outstanding.  
 

Purchases of Bonds Outstanding may also be made by the County at any time with money 
available to it from any source. Upon any such purchase the County shall deliver such Bonds to 
the Registrar for cancellation. 
 

* * * 
 



25 

ARTICLE VIII 

DEFEASANCE OF BONDS 

Section 8.01 Defeasance.  
 
(a) If Bonds issued pursuant to this Ordinance shall have been paid and discharged, 

then the obligations of this Ordinance hereunder, and all other rights granted thereby shall cease 
and determine. Any Bonds shall be deemed to have been paid and discharged within the meaning 
of this section under any of the following circumstances:  
 

(1) The Paying Agent, or other Escrow Agent, shall hold, at the stated maturities of such 
Bonds, in trust and irrevocably appropriated thereto, sufficient moneys for the 
payment of the Principal Installment and interest, or Redemption Price, thereof; or 

 
(2) If default in the payment of the principal of such Bonds or the interest thereon shall 

have occurred on any Bond Payment Date, and thereafter tender of such payment 
shall have been made, and at such time as the Paying Agent, or other Escrow Agent, 
shall hold in trust and irrevocably appropriated thereto, sufficient moneys for the 
payment thereof to the date of the tender of such payment; or 

 
(3) If the County shall elect to provide for the payment of such Bonds prior to their stated 

maturities and shall have deposited with the Paying Agent, or other Escrow Agent, 
in an irrevocable trust moneys which shall be sufficient, or Government Obligations, 
the principal of and interest on which when due will provide moneys, which together 
with moneys, if any, deposited with the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent at the same 
time, shall be sufficient to pay when due the Principal Installments or Redemption 
Price and interest due and to become due on such Bonds on and prior to their maturity 
dates or redemption dates, as the case may be. In the event that the County shall elect 
to redeem such Bonds prior to their stated maturities, the County shall proceed in the 
manner prescribed by Article VII hereof, subject to the provisions of Section 3.19 
hereof. 
 

Neither the Government Obligations nor moneys deposited with the Paying Agent or Escrow 
Agent pursuant to this Section nor the principal or interest payments thereon shall be withdrawn or 
used for any purpose other than, and shall be held in trust for, the payment of the Principal Installment 
and interest, or Redemption Price, of said Bonds; provided that any cash received from such principal 
or interest payments on Government Obligations deposited with the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent, 
if not then needed for such purpose, shall, to the extent practicable, be invested and reinvested in 
Government Obligations maturing at times and in amounts sufficient to pay when due the Principal 
Installment and interest, or Redemption Price, to become due on said Bonds on and prior to the 
maturity date or redemption date thereof, as the case may be, and interest earned from such 
reinvestments not required for the payment of the Principal Installment and interest, or Redemption 
Price, may be paid over to the County, as received by the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent, free and 
clear of any trust, lien or pledge.  

 



26 

(b) In addition to the above requirements of paragraphs (a)(1), (2), and (3), in order for 
this Ordinance to be discharged, all other fees, expenses and charges of the Paying Agent or Escrow 
Agent shall have been paid in full at that time. 

 
(c) Notwithstanding the satisfaction and discharge of this Ordinance, the Paying Agent 

or Escrow Agent, as applicable, shall continue to be obligated to hold in trust any moneys or 
investments then held by the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent for the payment of the Principal 
Installments and interest, or Redemption Price, of the Bonds, to pay to the owners of Bonds the funds 
so held by the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent as and when payment becomes due. 
 

(d) Any release under this Section shall be without prejudice to the rights of the Paying 
Agent or Escrow Agent to be paid reasonable compensation for all services rendered under this 
Ordinance and all reasonable expenses, charges, and other disbursements and those of their 
respective attorneys, agents, and employees, incurred on and about the performance of the powers 
and duties under this Ordinance. 

 
(e) Any moneys which at any time shall be deposited with the Paying Agent or Escrow 

Agent by or on behalf of the County for the purpose of paying and discharging any Bonds shall be 
and are hereby assigned, transferred, and set over to the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent, as 
applicable, in trust for the respective Registered Owners of the Bonds, and the moneys shall be and 
are hereby irrevocably appropriated to the payment and discharge thereof. If, through lapse of time 
or otherwise, the Registered Owners of such Bonds shall no longer be entitled to enforce payment 
of their obligations, then, in that event, it shall be the duty of the Paying Agent or Escrow Agent to 
transfer the funds to the County. 

  
(f) Any Escrow Agent shall be appointed by an Authorized Officer and shall accept in 

writing its acceptance to its obligations under this Ordinance. 
 

*         *         * 
 



27 

ARTICLE IX 

CONCERNING THE FIDUCIARIES 

Section 9.01 Fiduciary; Appointment and Acceptance of Duties.  
 
Any financial institution chosen pursuant to Section 3.05 hereof to act as Paying Agent or 

Registrar hereunder shall accept the duties and trusts imposed upon it by this Ordinance and shall 
agree in writing to perform such trusts but only upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Article 
IX. Similarly, each financial institution appointed as a successor Registrar or as a successor Paying 
Agent shall signify its acceptance of the duties and trusts imposed by this Ordinance by a written 
acceptance. 

 
Section 9.02 Responsibilities of Fiduciaries.  

 
The recitals of fact herein and in the Bonds contained shall be taken as the statements of the 

County and no Fiduciary assumes any responsibility for the correctness of the same except in respect 
of the authentication certificate of the Registrar endorsed on the Bonds. No Fiduciary makes any 
representations as to the validity or sufficiency of this Ordinance or of any Bonds or as to the security 
afforded by this Ordinance, and no Fiduciary shall incur any liability in respect thereof. No Fiduciary 
shall be under any responsibility or duty with respect to the application of any moneys paid to any 
other Fiduciary. No Fiduciary shall be under any obligation or duty to perform any act which would 
involve it in expense or liability or to institute or defend any suit in respect hereof or to advance any 
of its own moneys, unless indemnified to its reasonable satisfaction. No Fiduciary shall be liable in 
connection with the performance of its duties hereunder except for its own negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
Section 9.03 Evidence on Which Fiduciaries May Act.  

 
(a)  Each Fiduciary, upon receipt of any notice, resolution, request, consent order, 

certificate, report, opinion, bond, or other paper or document furnished to it pursuant to any provision 
of this Ordinance, shall examine such instrument to determine whether it conforms to the 
requirements of this Ordinance and shall be protected in acting upon any such instrument believed 
by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties. Each Fiduciary 
may consult with counsel, who may or may not be of counsel to the County, and the opinion of such 
counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken or 
suffered by it under this Ordinance in good faith and in accordance therewith. 

 
(b) Whenever any Fiduciary shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter to be 

proved or established prior to taking or suffering any action under this Ordinance, such  matter 
(unless other evidence in respect thereof be therein specifically prescribed) may be deemed to be 
conclusively proved and established by a certificate of an Authorized Officer, and such certificate 
shall be full warrant for any action taken or suffered in good faith under the provisions of this 
Ordinance upon the faith thereof; but in its discretion the Fiduciary may in lieu thereof accept other 
evidence of such fact or matter or may require such further or additional evidence as to it may deem 
reasonable. 

 



28 

(c) Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Ordinance any request, order, notice 
or other direction required or permitted to be furnished pursuant to any provision thereof by the 
County to any Fiduciary shall be sufficiently executed if executed in the name of the County by an 
Authorized Officer. 

 
Section 9.04 Compensation.  

 
The County shall pay to each financial institution or Fiduciary other than the County 

Treasurer from time to time reasonable compensation based on the then standard fee schedule of the 
Fiduciary for all services rendered under this Ordinance, and also all reasonable expenses, charges, 
counsel fees and other disbursements, including those of its attorneys, agents, and employees, 
incurred in and about the performance of their powers and duties under this Ordinance subject to the 
appropriation of funds therefor in each applicable fiscal period; provided, however, that any specific 
agreement between the Ordinance and a Fiduciary with respect to the compensation of such 
Fiduciary shall control the compensation to be paid to such Fiduciary.   

 
Section 9.05 Certain Permitted Acts.  
 

Any Fiduciary may become the owner or underwriter of any Bonds, notes or other 
obligations of the County or conduct any banking activities with respect to the County, with the same 
rights it would have if it were not a Fiduciary.  To the extent permitted by law, any Fiduciary may 
act as depositary for, and permit any of its officers or directors to effect or aid in any reorganization 
growing out of the enforcement of the Bonds or this Ordinance. 

 
Section 9.06 Resignation of Any Fiduciary.  

 
Any Fiduciary may at any time resign and be discharged of the duties and obligations created 

by this Ordinance by giving not less than 60 days written notice to the County and not less than 30 
days written notice to the Registered Owners of the Bonds as established by the Registry Books prior 
to the next succeeding Bond Payment Date and such resignation shall take effect upon the date 
specified in such notice unless previously a successor shall have been appointed by the County 
pursuant to Section 9.08 hereof in which event such resignation shall take effect immediately on the 
appointment of such successor.  In no event, however, shall such a resignation take effect until a 
successor has been appointed. 

 
Section 9.07 Removal of Fiduciary.  

 
Any Fiduciary may be removed at any time by an instrument or concurrent instruments in 

writing, filed with the County and such Fiduciary, and signed by the Registered Owners representing 
a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or their attorneys in fact duly 
authorized, excluding any Bonds held by or for the account of the County. 

 
Section 9.08 Appointment of Successor Fiduciaries.  

 
In case any Fiduciary hereunder shall resign or be removed, or be dissolved, or shall be in 

the course of dissolution or liquidation, or otherwise become incapable or acting hereunder, or in 



29 

case it shall be taken under the control of any public officer or officers, or of a receiver appointed by 
a court, a successor shall be appointed by the County. Any financial institution appointed as a 
successor Fiduciary pursuant to the provisions of this Section shall be a trust company or bank 
organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof and which is in good 
standing, within or outside the State, having a stockholders’ equity of not less than $50,000,000 if 
there be such an institution willing, qualified and able to accept the trusts upon reasonable and 
customary terms. 

 
If in a proper case no appointment of a successor Fiduciary shall be made by the County 

pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section within 45 days after any Fiduciary shall have 
given to the County written notice as provided in Section 9.06 hereof or after a vacancy in the office 
of such Fiduciary shall have occurred by reason of its removal or inability to act, the former Fiduciary 
or any Registered Owner may apply to any court of competent jurisdiction to appoint a successor. 
Said court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as such court may deem proper, appoint a 
successor. 

 
Section 9.09 Transfer of Rights and Property to Successor.  
 

Any successor Fiduciary appointed under this Ordinance shall execute, acknowledge, and 
deliver to its predecessor, and also to the County, an instrument accepting such appointment, and 
thereupon such successor, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested 
with all moneys, estates, properties, rights, powers, duties and obligations of such predecessor 
Fiduciary, with like effect as if originally named in such capacity; but the Fiduciary ceasing to act 
shall nevertheless, on the written request of the County, or of the successor, execute, acknowledge 
and deliver such instruments of conveyance and further assurance and do such other things as may 
reasonably be required for more fully and certainly vesting and confirming in such successor all the 
right, title and interest of the predecessor Fiduciary in and to any property held by it under this 
Ordinance, and shall pay over, assign and deliver to the successor Fiduciary any money or other 
property subject to the trusts and conditions herein set forth. Should any deed, conveyance or 
instrument in writing from the County be required by such successor Fiduciary for more fully and 
certainly vesting in and confirming to such successor any such estates, rights, powers and duties, any 
and all such deeds, conveyances and instruments in writing shall, on request, and so far as may be 
authorized by law, be executed, acknowledged and delivered by the County. Any such successor 
Fiduciary shall promptly notify the Paying Agent and depositaries, if any, of its appointment as 
Fiduciary. 
  



30 

 
Section 9.10 Merger or Consolidation.  

 
Any company into which any Fiduciary may be merged or converted or with which it may 

be consolidated or any company resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which it 
may be a party or any company to which any Fiduciary may sell or transfer all or substantially all of 
its corporate trust business, provided such company shall be a bank or trust company organized under 
the laws of any State of the United States or a national banking association, and shall be authorized 
by law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by this Ordinance, shall be the successor to such 
Fiduciary without the execution or filing of any paper or the performance of any further act. 

 
Section 9.11 Adoption of Authentication.  

 
In case any of the Bonds contemplated to be issued under this Ordinance shall have been 

authenticated but not delivered, any successor Registrar may adopt the certificate of authentication 
of any predecessor Registrar so authenticating such Bonds and deliver such Bonds so 
authenticated. In case any such Bonds shall not have been authenticated, any successor Registrar 
may authenticate such Bonds in the name of the predecessor Registrar or in the name of the 
successor Registrar, and in all such cases such certificate shall be of full force and effect. 

 
* * *



31 

ARTICLE X 

TAX AND DISCLOSURE COVENANTS 

Section 10.01 Tax Covenants.  
 
(a)  General Tax Covenant. The County will comply with all requirements of the Code 

in order to preserve the tax-exempt status of the Bonds, including without limitation, (i) the 
requirement to file Form 8038-G, Information Return for Tax-Exempt Government Obligations, 
with the Internal Revenue Service, and (ii) the requirement to rebate certain arbitrage earnings to 
the United States Government pursuant to Section 148(f) of the Code. In this connection, the 
County covenants to execute any and all agreements or other documentation as it may be advised 
by Bond Counsel will enable it to comply with this Section 10.01, including its certification on 
reasonable grounds that the Bonds are not “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 148 of 
the Code.  
 

(b) Tax Representations. The County hereby represents and covenants that it will not 
take any action which will, or fail to take any action which failure will, cause interest on the Bonds 
to become includable in the gross income of the Registered Owners thereof for federal income tax 
purposes pursuant to the provisions of the Code. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
the County represents and covenants that: 

 
(1) All property financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds will be owned 

by the County or another political subdivision of the State so long as the Bonds are 
Outstanding in accordance with the rules governing the ownership of property for 
federal income tax purposes. 

 
(2) The County shall not use, and will not permit any party to use, the proceeds of the 

Bonds, or any bonds refunded thereby, in any manner that would result in (i) ten 
percent (10%) or more of such proceeds being considered as having been used 
directly or indirectly in any trade or business carried on by any Nongovernmental 
Person, (ii) five percent (5%) or more of such proceeds being considered as having 
been used directly or indirectly in any trade or business of any Nongovernmental 
Person that is either “unrelated” or “disproportionate” to the governmental use of 
the financed facility by the County or by any other Governmental Unit (as the terms 
“unrelated” and “disproportionate” are defined for purposes of Section 141(b)(3) 
of the Code) or (iii) more than five percent (5%) of such proceeds, but in no event 
more than $5,000,000, being considered as having been used directly or indirectly 
to make or finance loans to any Nongovernmental Person. 

 
(3) The County is not a party to, and will not enter into or permit any other party to 

enter into, any contract with any person involving the management of any facility 
financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds or by notes paid by the Bonds 
that does not conform to the guidelines set forth in Revenue Procedure 2017-13, or 
a successor revenue procedure or Code provision.  

 



32 

(4) The County will not sell, or permit any other party to sell, any property financed or 
refinanced with the Bonds to any person unless it obtains an opinion of Bond 
Counsel that such sale will not affect the tax-exempt status of the Bonds.   

 
(5) The Bonds will not be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of Section 149(b) 

of the Code.  The County shall not enter into, or permit any other party to enter 
into, any leases or sales or service contract with any federal government agency 
with respect to any facility financed or refinanced with the proceeds of the Bonds 
and will not enter into any such leases or contracts unless it obtains the opinion of 
Bond Counsel that such action will not affect the tax-exempt status of the Bonds. 

 
(c) Arbitrage Bonds, Rebate. The County covenants that no use of the proceeds of the 

sale of the Bonds shall be made which, if such use had been reasonably expected on the date of 
issue of such Bonds would have caused the Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” as defined in the Code, 
and to that end the County shall: 

 
(1) comply with the applicable regulations of the Treasury Department previously 

promulgated under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, 
and any regulations promulgated under the Code, so long as the Bonds are 
Outstanding; 

  
(2) establish such funds, make such calculations and pay such amounts, in the manner 

and at the times required in order to comply with the requirements of the Code 
relating to required rebate of certain amounts to the United States Government; 

 
(3) make such reports of such information at the time and places required by the Code; 

and 
 
(4) take such other action as may be required to assure that the tax-exempt status of the 

Bonds will not be impaired. 
 

(d)  Bank Qualified. Any qualifying Series of Bonds may be designated by an 
Authorized Officer pursuant to Article V hereof as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” in 
accordance with Section 265(b)(3)(B) of the Code, and after consultation with Bond Counsel. 

 
(e) Tax Certificate. An Authorized Officer is hereby authorized and directed to 

execute, at or prior to delivery of any Series of Bonds, a certificate or certificates specifying actions 
taken or to be taken by the County, and the reasonable expectations of such officials, with respect 
to such Series of Bonds, the proceeds thereof, or the County. The County agrees to comply with 
its undertakings on its part set forth in any such certificate delivered with respect to Bonds. 

 
(f) Reimbursement Declaration. The County adopted a declaration of official intent 

under United States Department of the Treasury Regulation Section 1.150-2 on July 18, 2023. 
 

(g) Taxable Bonds. Prior to or upon the issuance of a Series of Bonds, an Authorized 
Officer may, in consultation with Bond Counsel, designate a Series of Bonds as Taxable Bonds 



33 

pursuant to the delegation authorization in Article V hereof. The election to issue a Series of 
Taxable Bonds shall be clearly indicated by including the phrase “Taxable Series,” or words to 
that effect, in the series designation of such Taxable Bonds. The above provisions of this Section 
10.01 shall not be applicable to any Series of Taxable Bonds. 
 
Section 10.02 Disclosure Covenants.  
 

(a) The County hereby covenants and agrees that it will comply with and carry out all 
of the provisions of any continuing disclosure certificate or agreement, executed by an Authorized 
Officer and dated the date of delivery of the Bonds, which will meet the requirements, as 
applicable, of Section 11-1-85 of the South Carolina Code, which may require, among other things, 
that the County file with a central repository when requested: (i) a copy of its annual independent 
audit within 30 days of its receipt and acceptance and (ii) event-specific information, within 30 
days of an event adversely affecting more than five percent of its revenues or five percent of its 
tax base. The only remedy for failure by the County to comply with the covenants in this Section 
10.02 shall be an action for specific performance of this covenant. The County specifically reserves 
the right to amend this covenant to reflect any change in Section 11-1-85 of the South Carolina 
Code, without the consent of any Registered Owner. 
 

(b) The County hereby covenants and agrees that it will comply with and carry out all 
of the provisions of any Continuing Disclosure Undertaking, executed by an Authorized Officer 
in connection with the issuance and delivery of a Series of Bonds. Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Ordinance, failure of the County to comply with the Continuing Disclosure 
Undertaking shall not be considered an event of default hereunder; however, any Registered 
Owner may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandamus 
or specific performance by court order, to cause the County to comply with its obligations under 
this Section. The execution of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall constitute conclusive 
evidence of the approval by the person executing the same of any and all modifications and 
amendments thereto. Additionally, the Authorized Officer is authorized to contract with a 
dissemination agent for certain dissemination services associated with the execution and delivery 
of the Continuing Disclosure Undertaking. 

 
(c) In the event a Series of Bonds are not sold as securities, but rather as a commercial 

loan to a Direct Placement Purchaser, no Continuing Disclosure Undertaking shall be required, but 
the County hereby covenants and agrees to provide financial information to the purchaser of such 
Series of Bonds as may be mutually agreed by an Authorized Officer and the Direct Placement 
Purchaser, including an agreement to provide audited financial statements within a fixed period or 
by a set date. Any failure by the County to comply with this paragraph, or an agreement or covenant 
authorized hereby, shall be enforceable solely by an action for specific performance to provide the 
appropriate documents or information, and shall not be a default under this Bond Ordinance or the 
Bonds. 
 

* * * 



34 

ARTICLE XI 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 11.01 Failure to Present Bonds.  
 

Anything in this Ordinance to the contrary notwithstanding, any money held by the Paying 
Agent in trust for the payment and discharge of any of the Bonds, or the interest thereon, which 
remains unclaimed for such period of time, after the date when such Bonds have become due and 
payable, that the Registered Owner thereof shall no longer be able to enforce the payment thereof, 
the Paying Agent shall at the written request of the County pay such money to the County as its 
absolute property and free from trust, and the Paying Agent shall thereupon be released and 
discharged with respect thereto and the Registered Owner shall look only to the County for the 
payment of such Bonds; provided, however, the Paying Agent shall forward to the County all 
moneys which remain unclaimed during a period five years from a Bond Payment Date, provided, 
however, that before being required to make any such payment to the County, the Paying Agent, 
at the expense of the County, may conduct such investigations as may in the opinion of the Paying 
Agent be necessary to locate the Registered Owner of those who would take if the Registered 
Owner shall have died. 
 
Section 11.02 Professional Services.  
 

The County Council hereby authorizes, approves, or ratifies, as applicable, the engagement 
of First Tryon Advisors to act as financial advisor (the “Financial Advisor”) and Pope Flynn, LLC 
to act as Bond Counsel and disclosure counsel (if applicable) in connection with the issuance of 
each Series of Bonds hereunder and authorizes an Authorized Officer to engage the services of 
such other professionals and institutions of a type and in a manner customary in connection with 
the issuance of municipal bonds, including, but not limited to, contractual arrangements with other 
professionals, rating agencies, verification agents, financial and trust institutions, printers and the 
suppliers of other goods and services in connection with the sale, execution and delivery of the 
Bonds, as is necessary and desirable.  
 
Section 11.03 Filing of Copies of Ordinance.  
 

Copies of this Ordinance shall be filed in the office of the Clerk to County Council and in 
the office of the Clerk of Court for the County (as a part of the Record of Proceedings). 
 
Section 11.04 Further Action by Officers of the County.  
 

The County Council hereby ratifies any actions previously taken that are contemplated or 
authorized herein. The County Council authorizes any Authorized Officer, and all other 
appropriate officials of the County, to execute all such agreements, documents and instruments as 
may be necessary, required, or appropriate to effect the issuance of the Bonds. The Clerk to County 
Council is authorized and directed to attest and otherwise certify all appropriate agreements, 
documents and instruments in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. 

 
Section 11.05 Ordinance to Constitute Contract.  



35 

 
In consideration of the purchase and acceptance of Bonds, the provisions of this Ordinance 

shall constitute a contract between the County and such Registered Owners from time to time of 
the Bonds. 

 
Section 11.06 Savings Clause.  
 

If any one or more of the covenants or agreements provided in this Ordinance should be 
contrary to law, then such covenant or covenants or agreement or agreements shall be deemed 
severable from the remaining covenants and agreements, and shall in no way affect the validity of 
the other provisions of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 11.07 Successors.  

 
Whenever in this Ordinance the County is named or referred to, it shall be deemed to include 

any entity, which may succeed to the principal functions and powers of the County, and all the 
covenants and agreements contained in this Ordinance or by or on behalf of the County shall bind 
and inure to the benefit of said successor whether so expressed or not. 
 
Section 11.08 General Repealer; Effective Date.  

 
All rules, regulations, resolutions, and ordinances and parts thereof, procedural or 

otherwise in conflict herewith or the proceedings authorizing the issuance of the Bonds are, to the 
extent of such conflict, hereby repealed and this Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force 
upon enactment at third reading thereof.  
 

* * * 
 



36 

ORDAINED in meeting duly assembled this 19th day of December 2023. 

 
ATTEST:      ANDERSON COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 
_____________________________   _____________________________ 
Rusty Burns      Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Administrator       
 
 
_____________________________ 
Renee Watts 
Anderson County Clerk to Council 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon 
Anderson County Attorney 
 
 
 
 
First Reading:   November 21, 2023 
Second Reading: December 5, 2023 
Public Hearing: December 5, 2023 
Third Reading: December 19, 2023 
 



EXHIBIT A 
FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

A-1 

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 
The Anderson County Council will hold a public hearing to receive oral or written comments on 
Tuesday, December 5, 2023 at 6:30 p.m. concerning a proposed ordinance entitled “AN 
ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR THE ISSUANCE AND SALE OF NOT EXCEEDING 
EIGHT MILLION THREE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($8,300,000) AGGREGATE 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OF ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA, TO PRESCRIBE THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH THE PROCEEDS 
SHALL BE EXPENDED, TO PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF, AND TO 
PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.” The public hearing will be held in 
the Council Chambers – 2nd Floor – Historic Courthouse, 101 S. Main Street, Anderson, SC 
29624. 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

   



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-1 

[FORM OF BOND FOR COMPETITIVE DIRECT PLACEMENT] 
 

WITH THE CONSENT OF THE PURCHASER, AND NOTWITHSTANDING ANY 
CONTRARY PROVISION CONTAINED IN THE ORDINANCE, THE BOND MAY BE 
SOLD OR TRANSFERRED ONLY TO SUBSEQUENT PURCHASERS WHO EXECUTE 
AN INVESTMENT LETTER DELIVERED TO THE COUNTY, IN FORM 
SATISFACTORY TO THE COUNTY, CONTAINING CERTAIN REPRESENTATIONS, 
WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS AS TO THE SUITABILITY OF SUCH 
PURCHASERS TO PURCHASE AND HOLD THE BOND.  SUCH RESTRICTION 
SHALL BE SET FORTH ON THE FACE OF THE BOND AND SHALL BE COMPLIED 
WITH BY EACH TRANSFEREE OF THE BOND.  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

ANDERSON COUNTY  
GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND 

SERIES 202_ 
 
No.  R-1            
 
REGISTERED OWNER:    
 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT:   $__________ 

 
ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE:  
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a public body corporate and 
politic and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “State”), acknowledges itself 
indebted and for value received hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner named above, or 
registered assigns, solely as hereinafter provided. This bond (this “Bond”) is being issued in the 
principal amount of $___________, pursuant to and in accordance with the Constitution and laws of 
the State of South Carolina, including Article X, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South 
Carolina, 1895, as amended; Title 4, Chapter 15 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 
amended, Title 11, Chapter 27 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended; and a bond 
ordinance duly adopted by the Anderson County Council, its governing body, on __________, 2023 
(the “Ordinance”).  Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed 
to them in the Ordinance. 

 This Bond shall be payable with respect to principal on _____ 1 of the years 20__ through 
20__, inclusive, and shall be payable with respect to interest each _____1 and _____1 (the “Bond 
Payment Dates”), beginning _____ 1, 20__, through and including _____1, 20__. The payments 
due on the Bond Payment Dates (the “Bond Payments”) are set forth at Exhibit A hereto. This Bond 
shall bear interest at the rate of ___% per annum, calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting 
of twelve 30-day months, from the original issue date of this Bond and shall be paid by way of the 
Bond Payments to the person in whose name this Bond is registered at the close of business on the 
fifteenth day of the month next preceding each Bond Payment Date. The Bond Payments shall be 
payable by check or draft mailed at the times provided herein from the Paying Agent to the person 



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-2 

in whose name this Bond is registered at the address shown on the registration books. [Insert wire or 
other payment provisions, if any] The Bond Payments are payable in any coin or currency of the 
United States of America which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and 
private debts. The County and the Registered Owner have mutually agreed to waive all 
requirements for presentation and surrender of this Bond in connection with the payment thereof; 
provided, however that upon the payment of final Bond Payment, the Purchaser will either (i) 
present and surrender this Bond, (ii) provide other Indicia of Satisfaction, or (iii) [insert mutually 
agreed mechanism]. 
  
 [This Bond is not subject to optional redemption prior to maturity.]  [This Bond is subject 
to optional redemption at the option of the County, in whole, or in part, at any time at [___]% of 
the principal amount redeemed plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.] [This Bond is 
subject to optional redemption at the option of the County before _________, 20__, [in whole, but 
not in part], at any time at [___]% of the principal amount redeemed plus accrued interest to the 
date of redemption. After _________, 20__, the Bond is subject to redemption at the option of the 
County, in whole, but not in part, at any time at [___]% of then outstanding principal plus accrued 
interest to the date of redemption.] 
 
 If this Bond is called for redemption, the Registrar will give notice to the Registered Owner 
of this Bond in the name of the County, of the redemption of such Bonds, or portions thereof. 
[Notice and redemption conditions shall otherwise comply with Section 7.03 of the Bond 
Ordinance.] 
 
 THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE HEREBY 
IRREVOCABLY PLEDGED FOR THE PAYMENT OF THIS BOND, AND THERE SHALL BE 
LEVIED AND COLLECTED ANNUALLY A TAX ON ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY IN THE 
COUNTY, WITHOUT LIMIT, SUFFICIENT TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST 
ON THIS BOND AS THE SAME MATURES AND COMES DUE, RESPECTIVELY, AND TO 
CREATE SUCH SINKING FUND AS MAY BE NECESSARY THEREFOR. 
 
 This Bond shall be transferable only upon the Registry Books maintained for such purpose 
by the Registrar, upon presentation and surrender thereof by the Registered Owner of the Bond in 
person or by his attorney duly authorized in writing, together with a written instrument of transfer 
satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or his duly authorized attorney. 
Upon surrender for transfer of Bonds, the County shall execute, authenticate and deliver, in the name 
of the Person who is the transferee, a new Bond of the same principal amount and maturity and rate 
of interest as the surrendered Bond. Such new Bond shall reflect the principal amount thereof as then 
yet unpaid. The County, the Registrar, and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the person in whose 
name this Bond is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of 
or on account of the principal hereof and interest due hereon and for all other purposes. 
 
 For every exchange or transfer of this Bond, the County or the Paying Agent or Registrar, 
as the case may be, may make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or other 
governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer. 
 



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-3 

 [The County shall deliver to the Registered Owner within ___ days of each fiscal year end 
audited financial statements of the County for such fiscal year. Any failure of the County to comply 
with the terms of this paragraph shall be enforceable solely through an action for specific 
performance to provide the appropriate documents or information and shall not be a default under 
this instrument or the Ordinance.] 
 
 Under the laws of the State of South Carolina, this Bond and the interest hereon are exempt 
from all State, county, municipal, school district and other taxes or assessments, direct or indirect, 
general or special, whether imposed for the purpose of general revenue or otherwise, except 
inheritance, estate or transfer taxes, but the interest hereon may be included in certain franchise fees 
or taxes. 
 
 It is hereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required by the 
Constitution and laws of the State of South Carolina to exist, to happen and to be performed 
precedent to or in the issuance of this Bond exist, have happened and have been performed in regular 
and due time, form and manner as required by law; that the amount of this Bond, together with all 
other general obligation and bonded indebtedness of the County does not exceed the applicable 
limitation of indebtedness under the laws of the State of South Carolina; and that provision has been 
made for the levy and collection of a tax, without limit, on all taxable property in the County 
sufficient to pay the principal and interest of this Bond as they become due and payable and to create 
such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor. 
 
 This Bond shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose, until the Certificate of 
Authentication hereon shall have been duly executed by the Registrar. 
 
 

[Signature Page Follows] 
 
  



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, has 
caused this Bond to be signed by the manual signature of the Chairman of the County Council, the 
same to be attested by the manual signature of the Clerk to County Council, and the seal of the 
County to be impressed hereon. 
 
      ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 (SEAL)      
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Chairman 

Anderson County Council 
        
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Clerk to Council 
Anderson County Council 
 
  



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-5 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 
 
 This Bond has been registered in the name of [PURCHASER], on the registration books kept 
by the Office of the Anderson County Treasurer, as Registrar. 
 
 
      By: ________________________________ 
       Treasurer 
       Anderson County, South Carolina 
  



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-6 

 The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this Bond, shall be 
construed as though they were written out in full according to applicable laws or regulations.   
 
TEN COM - as tenants in common  UNIF GIFT MIN ACT - 
 
TEN ENT - as tenants by the   _________________ Custodian ________________ 
   entireties     (Cust)    (Minor) 
      under Uniform Gifts to 
JT TEN  - as joint tenants with    Minors Act ___________________________ 
   right of survivorship      (State) 
   and not as tenants in   
   common           
 
 Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in above list.   
 
 

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT 
 

 FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned sells, assigns and transfers unto 
____________________________ (Name and Address of Transferee) 
____________________________ the within Bond and does hereby irrevocably constitute and 
appoint ___________________________ attorney to transfer the within Bond on the books kept for 
registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises. 
 
Dated:________________________ 
 
______________________________  _______________________________ 
Signature Guaranteed    (Authorized Officer) 
 
______________________________  _______________________________ 
Notice:  Signature(s) must be   Notice:  The signature to the  
guaranteed by an institution   assignment must correspond with  
which is a participant in the   the name of the registered  
Securities Transfer Agents   holder as it appears upon the  
Medallion Program (“STAMP”)  face of the within Bond in every  
or similar program.    particular, without alteration or  
      enlargement or any change whatsoever. 

 



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-7 

[FORM OF BOND FOR COMPETITIVE PUBLIC OFFERING] 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

ANDERSON COUNTY 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 

SERIES 202_ 
 

 
No. R-___  
 
 
 
 

INTEREST RATE MATURITY DATE ORIGINAL ISSUE DATE CUSIP 
    

 
 
REGISTERED OWNER:    
 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $__________ 
 

 
ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (the “County”), a public body corporate 

and politic and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “State”), acknowledges 
itself indebted and for value received hereby promises to pay, solely as hereinafter provided, to the 
Registered Owner named above, or registered assigns, the Principal Amount shown above on the 
Maturity Date shown above, upon presentation and surrender of this bond at the Corporate Trust 
Office of _____________ in the City of _____________ (the “Paying Agent” or the “Registrar”), 
and to pay interest on such principal sum at the interest rate set forth above (calculated on the basis 
of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months), until the County’s obligation with respect to the 
payment of such Principal Amount shall be discharged.   
 

Interest on this bond is payable semiannually on _______ and _______ of each year  
commencing _______ (each, a “Bond Payment Date”), until this bond matures. This bond shall 
bear interest at the rate of interest per annum set forth above (on the basis of a 360-day year of 
twelve 30-day months) from _________, 202_, if no interest has yet been paid; otherwise from the 
last Bond Payment Date to which interest has been paid and which Bond Payment Date is on or 
prior to the authentication date thereof. 

 
Both the principal of and interest on this bond shall be payable by check or draft mailed to 

the person in whose name this bond is registered on the Registry Books (as defined in the Bond 
Ordinance) maintained at the Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar, at the close of business on 
the 15th day of the calendar month next preceding each Bond Payment Date. The principal and 
interest on this bond are payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America which is, 
at the time of payment, legal tender for public and private debts. 



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-8 

 
This bond is one of an issue of bonds (the “Series 202_ Bonds”) of like date of original 

issue, tenor and effect, except as to number, date of maturity, denomination and rate of interest, 
issued in an original aggregate principal amount of  $__________, issued pursuant to and in 
accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of South Carolina, including Article X, 
Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 1895, as amended; Title 4, Chapter 
15 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, and Title 11, Chapter 27 of the Code 
of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended; and an ordinance duly enacted by the County 
Council of Anderson County, on ___________, 2023 (the “Bond Ordinance”). Terms with initial 
capitals used herein and not otherwise defined have the meaning given such terms in the Bond 
Ordinance. 
 

Series 202_ Bonds maturing on or before ________ 1, 20__, are not subject to optional 
redemption prior to maturity. Series 202_ Bonds maturing after ________ 1, 20__, are subject to 
redemption prior to maturity, in whole or in part, at the option of the County, at any time on and 
after ________ 1, 20__, at a redemption price of par plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. 

 
If this bond is called for redemption, the Registrar will give notice to the Registered Owner 

of this bond in the name of the County, of the redemption of such bond, or portions thereof. Notice 
and redemption conditions shall otherwise comply with Section 7.03 of the Bond Ordinance. 

 
THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE HEREBY 

IRREVOCABLY PLEDGED FOR THE PAYMENT OF THIS BOND, AND THERE SHALL BE 
LEVIED AND COLLECTED ANNUALLY A TAX ON ALL TAXABLE PROPERTY IN THE 
COUNTY, WITHOUT LIMIT, SUFFICIENT TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST 
ON THIS BOND AS THE SAME MATURES AND COMES DUE, RESPECTIVELY, AND TO 
CREATE SUCH SINKING FUND AS MAY BE NECESSARY THEREFOR. 
 

The Series 202_ Bonds are being issued by means of a book-entry system with no physical 
distribution of bond certificates to be made except as provided in the Bond Ordinance.  One bond 
certificate with respect to each date on which the Series 202_ Bonds are stated to mature, registered 
in the name of the Securities Depository Nominee, is being issued and required to be deposited 
with the Securities Depository and immobilized in its custody.  The book-entry system will 
evidence positions held in the Series 202_ Bonds by the Securities Depository's Participants, 
beneficial ownership of the Series 202_ Bonds in the principal amount of $5,000 or any multiple 
thereof being evidenced in the records of such Participants.  Transfers of ownership shall be 
effected on the records of the Securities Depository on the records of the Securities Depository 
and its Participants pursuant to rules and procedures established by the Securities Depository and 
its Participants.  The County and the Paying Agent will recognize the Securities Depository 
Nominee, while the Registered Owner of this bond, as the owner of this bond for all purposes, 
including payments of principal of, interest on, and Redemption Price, if any, this bond, notices 
and voting.  Transfer of principal of, interest on, and Redemption Price, if any, payments to 
Participants of the Securities Depository will be the responsibility of the Securities Depository, 
and transfer of principal of, interest on, and Redemption Price if any, to beneficial owners of the 
Series 202_ Bonds by Participants of the Securities Depository will be the responsibility of such 
Participants and other nominees of such beneficial owners.   



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-9 

 
The County will not be responsible or liable for such transfers of payments or for 

maintaining, supervision or reviewing the records maintained by the Securities Depository, the 
Securities Depository Nominee, its Participants or persons acting through such Participants.  While 
the Securities Depository Nominee is the Registered Owner of this bond, notwithstanding, the 
provision hereinabove contained, payments of principal, interest, and Redemption Price, if any, 
shall be made in accordance with existing arrangements between the Paying Agent or its 
successors under the Bond Ordinance and the Securities Depository. 
 

This bond is transferable only upon the Registry Books kept for that purpose at the 
Corporate Trust Office of the Registrar and Paying Agent by the Registered Owner hereof in 
person or by his duly authorized attorney upon surrender of this bond together with a written 
instrument of transfer satisfactory to the Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or his 
duly authorized attorney. Thereupon a new fully registered bond or bonds of the same series, 
aggregate principal amount, interest rate, and maturity shall be issued to the transferee in exchange 
herefor as provided in the Ordinance. The County and the Registrar and Paying Agent may deem 
and treat the person in whose name this bond is registered as the absolute owner hereof for the 
purpose of receiving payment of or on account of the principal hereof and interest due hereon and 
for all other purposes. 

 
For every exchange or transfer of Series 202_ Bonds, the County or Registrar, as the case 

may be, may make a charge sufficient to reimburse it for any tax, fee or other governmental charge 
required to be paid with respect to such exchange or transfer. 
 

Under the laws of the State of South Carolina, this bond and the interest hereon are exempt 
from all State, county, municipal, school district and other taxes or assessments, direct or indirect, 
general or special, whether imposed for the purpose of general revenue or otherwise, except 
inheritance, estate and transfer taxes, but the interest hereon may be included for certain franchise 
fees or taxes. 
 

It is hereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required by the 
Constitution and laws of the State of South Carolina to exist, to happen and to be performed 
precedent to or in the issuance of this bond exist, have happened and have been performed in 
regular and due time, form and manner as required by law; that the amount of this bond, together 
with all other general obligation and bonded indebtedness of the County, does not exceed the 
applicable limitation of indebtedness under the laws of the State of South Carolina; and that 
provision has been made for the levy and collection of a tax, without limit, on all taxable property 
in the County sufficient to pay the principal and interest of this bond as they respectively become 
due and to create such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor. 

 
This bond shall not be valid or obligatory for any purpose, until the Certificate of 

Authentication hereon shall have been duly executed by the Registrar. 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, has 
caused this bond to be signed by the manual signature of the Chairman of the County Council, the 



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-10 

same to be attested by the manual signature of the Clerk to County Council, and the seal of the 
County to be impressed hereon. 
 
      ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 (SEAL)      
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Chairman 

Anderson County Council 
        
 
 
Attest: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Clerk to Council 
Anderson County Council 
 
 



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-11 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 
 

This bond is one of the Series 202_ Bonds described in the within mentioned Ordinance of 
Anderson County, South Carolina dated ___________, 20_. 

 
 

 [NAME OF REGISTRAR],     
     as Registrar 

 
 
 By: __________________________________________ 

      
  
 
 
Date of Authentication: ________________ 
 
  



EXHIBIT B 
FORMS OF BONDS 

B-12 

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT 
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned sells, assigns and transfers unto 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
the within bond and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
attorney to transfer the within bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of 
substitution in the premises. 
 
 
Dated: _____________________ 

 
 
______________________________________ 
Signature      
  

 
_____________________________________ 
(Authorized Officer) 

 
______________________________________
  
Notice:  The signature to the assignment must 
correspond with the name of the registered owner 
as it appears upon the face of the within bond in 
every particular, without alteration or 
enlargement or any change whatever. 

 



EXHIBIT C 
FORM OF SUMMARY NOTICE OF SALE 

C-1 

NOTICE OF SALE 

Bids will be received by Anderson County, South Carolina, at __:00 a.m. (Eastern Time) on 
[DATE], pursuant to, and subject to the terms of, the Official Notice of Sale with respect to the 
sale of the $________ General Obligation Bond[s], Series 202_ of Anderson County, South 
Carolina. The par amount of the bonds is subject to adjustment as set forth in the Official Notice 
of Sale. The Official Notice of Sale and other information are available from Amy Vitner, First 
Tryon Advisors, Financial Advisor to Anderson County (telephone (704) 926-2457; email 
avitner@firsttryon.com). 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-1 

 
[FORM FOR COMPETITIVE DIRECT PLACEMENT] 

 
OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

 
$8,300,000* 

Anderson County, South Carolina  
General Obligation Bond 

Series 202_ 
 
Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), pursuant to this Official Notice of Sale, is 
requesting bids from financial institutions with respect to its $8,300,000* General Obligation 
Bond, Series 202_ (the “Bond”).  
 
Your response to this Official Notice of Sale would be greatly appreciated. The following terms 
and key assumptions are to be utilized in preparing your bid: 
 
Time and Place of Sale:  NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that bids addressed to the County will 

be received by the County until __:00 a.m., Eastern Time, on _______, 
________, 20__, at which time said bids will be publicly opened for the 
award of a commercial loan to be evidenced by the Bond.   

 
Issuer:  Anderson County, South Carolina 
  
Purpose:  Proceeds of the Bond will be used to provide funds to provide funds (i) 

to defray the costs of the renovation, reconstruction, and equipping of 
the County’s Historic Courthouse (the “Project”), and (ii) to pay the 
costs of issuance of the Bond. 

 
Tax Treatment:  Tax-Exempt 
 
Bank Qualified:  [No] 
 
Audit:  The last three years of audited financial statements are provided under 

separate attachment. 
 

Security: The Bond is a general obligation of the County secured by an irrevocable 
pledge of the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the County. There 
shall be levied and collected annually in the same manner as other 
property taxes are levied and collected, an ad valorem tax, without limit 
as to rate or amount, on all taxable property in the County sufficient to 
pay the principal of and interest on the Bond as it matures and to create 
such sinking fund as may be necessary therefor.  

 
Rating: No rating is expected to be obtained for the Bond.   
 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-2 

Issue Size:  $8,300,000* 
 
Debt Structure:  A preliminary amortization has been provided below and should be used 

in preparation of your bid. The County reserves the right to modify the 
amortization to achieve its desired debt service structure. The Bond 
shall bear a single fixed rate for the entire term thereof.  

 
[INSERT PRELIMINARY AMORTIZATION TABLE] 

 
Principal Payments: Annual principal payments payable on ________ of each year, 

commencing _______ through __________. 
 
Interest Payments: Semi-annual interest payments payable on __________ and 

__________ of each year, commencing __________. Interest will be 
calculated on a 30/360 basis. 

 
Optional  
Prepayment: The County is seeking flexibility with respect to redemption provisions. 

Please specify the redemption structure(s) that would provide the 
County with flexibility at the lowest cost of funds. Proposals with 
multiple redemption options are permitted. 

 
Bid Requirements:    Bidders shall specify a single, fixed rate of interest for the Bond. 

 
Bidders shall specify the rates of interest per annum which the Bond is 
to bear, to be expressed in multiples of 1/1000 of 1%. The fixed rate 
must be held firm until closing. A bid for less than the entire amount of 
the Bond, or a bid at a price less than par, will not be considered. The 
interest rate bid must be held firm until at least __________, 20__.  

 
No Increased Costs: The County may deem any bids that require contractual provisions 

specifying future interest rate adjustments, including those relating to 
(i) the successful bidder’s increased costs, taxes, changes in capital 
adequacy, or capital requirements; or (ii) events of taxability or default 
related to the Bond as nonresponsive to this Official Notice of Sale and 
may, in its discretion, disallow such bids. 

 
Closing Costs:  The costs of issuance of the Bond will be borne by the County. 

However, the County does not anticipate paying any closing costs to or 
on behalf of the successful bidder. Please specify any exceptions.  Any 
closing costs to be borne by the County must be included as absolute 
figures and will be included in calculating total interest cost as described 
below under “Award.” 

 
Ongoing Costs:  None anticipated to be paid to or on behalf of the successful bidder. 

Please specify any exceptions. Any ongoing costs to be borne by the 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-3 

County must be included as absolute figures and will be included in 
calculating total interest cost as described below under “Award.” 

 
Closing:  Closing is anticipated to take place on __________, 20__ 
 
Ongoing Disclosure:  The County will agree to provide its audit, upon request, to the 

purchaser of the Bond annually within 270 days of the end of its fiscal 
year. Bidders must specify any other ongoing disclosure obligations in 
their bid. 

 
Award:  The award will be based on the lowest total financing cost (including 

both interest cost, and upfront and ongoing fees and expenses); 
provided, however, the County reserves the right to select the bidder 
offering terms that best meet the needs of the County, including, without 
limitation, flexible prepayment terms and an absence of additional terms 
and conditions. In the event of tie bids, each tie bidder will be allowed 
to submit one or more lower bids on a modified auction basis until there 
is an award. The County reserves the right to request additional 
information from the bidders and to waive any irregularity or 
informality and to negotiate provisions and covenants directly with any 
bidder. The County also reserves the right to reject all bids for any 
reason.  

 
Sale to a Financial 
Institution:  The Bond shall be sold to a single financial institution. No official 

statement, prospectus, offering circular, or other comprehensive 
offering material containing material information with respect to the 
County and the Bond is being issued. 

 
Loan Treatment: By submitting a bid in response to this Notice of Sale, each bidder 

acknowledges and represents to the County and its Financial Advisor 
that (i) no official statement or other offering material will be furnished 
other than this Notice of Sale; (ii) the bidder has knowledge and 
experience in financial and business matters and that it is capable of 
evaluating the merits and risks of making the commercial loan to be 
evidenced by the Bond and is financially able to bear the economic risk 
of holding the Bond; (iii) no CUSIP number will be obtained for the 
Bond; and (iv) the bidder intends to acquire the Bond solely for its own 
account as a vehicle for making a commercial loan and with no present 
intention to distribute or resale the Bond or any portion thereof. 

 
Investment 
Letter: The successful bidder will be required to execute a letter to the County 

acknowledging, among other things, that (i) no official statement or 
other offering material has been furnished other than this Official Notice 
of Sale; (ii) the successful bidder had an opportunity to make inquiries 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-4 

of, and receive answers from such officials, employees, agents and 
attorneys of the County; (iii) the successful bidder has knowledge and 
experience in financial and business matters and that it is capable of 
evaluating the merits and risks of making the loans to be evidenced by 
the Bond and is financially able to bear the economic risk of holding the 
Bond; (iv) the successful bidder is acquiring the Bond as a vehicle for 
making a commercial loan and without a present view to the distribution 
or resale thereof (subject, nevertheless, to any requirement of law that 
the disposition of its property shall at all times be under its control) 
within the meaning of the federal securities laws; and (v) the successful 
bidder is acquiring the Bond solely for its own account and no other 
person now has any direct or indirect beneficial ownership or interest 
therein. The form of the investment letter is available upon request. 

 
Legal Opinion: Pope Flynn, LLC will prepare all documents and closing papers in 

connection with the issuance of the Bond, and provide a validity opinion 
and an opinion as to the treatment of the interest on the Bond under 
federal tax law at the County’s expense. 

 
Schedule: Official Notice of Sale Distributed:  
 
 Award of Bond: 
 
 Closing:  
 
Date: This Official Notice of Sale is dated ____________, 20__. 
 
Questions may be addressed to the County through its financial advisor using the contact 
information below: Amy Vitner, First Tryon Advisors, 6101 Carnegie Blvd, Suite 210, Charlotte, 
NC 28209 (telephone (704) 926-2457; email: avitner@firsttryon.com). 

 
 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-5 

[FORM FOR COMPETITIVE PUBLIC OFFERING] 
 

OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 
 

$[PAR]* 
ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
SERIES 202_ 

 
(BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY) 

 
ELECTRONIC BIDS for the purchase of the $[PAR]* General Obligation Bonds, Series 

202_, of Anderson County, South Carolina (the “Bonds”) will be received by Anderson County, 
South Carolina (the “County”), in the Office of the Anderson County Administrator, 101 South 
Main Street, Anderson, South Carolina 29624 until __:00 a.m. (Eastern Time) on 
______________, 202_ (the “Sale Date”) (unless postponed as provided herein).  

 
PARITY® Only. The County will only accept electronic bids submitted through the 

BiDCOMP/Parity Electronic Bid Submission System (“PARITY®”). No other form of bid or 
provider of electronic bidding services will be accepted. Information about the electronic bidding 
services of PARITY® may be obtained from IPREO, Municipal Services, telephone (212) 404-
8102, or parity@ipreo.com. 

Purpose. The Bonds are being issued for the purpose of providing funds to defray (i) the 
costs of the renovation and reconstruction of the County courthouse, and (ii) the costs of issuance 
of the Bonds. 

Authorization. The issuance of the Bonds is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Article 
X, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 1895, as amended; Title 4, Chapter 
15, and Title 11, Chapter 27 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended; and a bond 
ordinance of the County Council of Anderson County, the governing body of the County, dated 
____________, 2023 (the “Bond Ordinance”). 

Security. The Bonds are general obligations of the County secured by an irrevocable pledge 
of the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the County. There shall be levied and collected annually 
in the same manner as other property taxes are levied and collected, an ad valorem tax, without limit 
as to rate or amount, on all taxable property in the County sufficient to pay the principal of and 
interest on the Bonds as they respectively mature and to create such sinking fund as may be necessary 
therefor. 

Description of the Bonds. The Bonds will initially be subject to a system of book-entry 
registration maintained by The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). 
Principal of the Bonds when due will be paid upon presentation and surrender of such Bonds at the 
Corporate Trust Office of the Paying Agent, as identified herein. The Bonds will be dated the date 
of delivery thereof, and bear interest from their dated date at a rate or rates to be named by the 
successful bidder (the “Purchaser”). Interest on the Bonds will be payable on _____1 and _____1 
of each year commencing _____1, 20__. Interest on the Bonds will be calculated on the basis of a 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-6 

360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Both principal of and interest on the Bonds will 
be paid in any coin or currency of the United States of America, which, at the time of payment, is 
legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. The Bonds will be issued in denominations 
of $5,000 or any multiple thereof.  The Bonds will mature on _____1 (the “Annual Principal 
Payment Date”) in the years and principal amounts as follows: 

 

_____1 
Principal 
Amount* 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

_____________________________  
* Preliminary, subject to adjustment as set forth herein. 

Optional Redemption. [The Bonds maturing on or prior to [_____] 1, 20__ are not subject 
to option redemption prior to their maturity date. The Bonds maturing after [_____] 1, 20__, are 
subject to redemption, in whole or in part, at any time in any order of maturity to be determined 
by the County, on and after [_____] 1, 20__ at the redemption price of par plus accrued interest to 
the date fixed for redemption.] 

Term Bonds. Bidders may designate in their bid two or more consecutive annual principal 
payments as a term bond which matures on the last Annual Principal Payment Date of the sequence. 
Any term bond so designated must be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemptions in each year 
on the Annual Principal Payment Dates such that the principal amounts subject to mandatory sinking 
fund redemption match the principal amounts scheduled to mature as set forth in the table above∗ 
and equal, together with the principal amount of such term bond due at its maturity, the principal 
amount of the term bond. There is no limitation on the number of term bonds. 

Adjustments to Principal Amounts of the Bonds.  As promptly as reasonably possible after 
the bids are received, the County will notify the bidder to which the Bonds will be awarded, if and 
when such award is made, and such bidder, upon such notice, shall advise the County of the initial 
public offering prices of each maturity of the Bonds (the “Initial Reoffering Prices”). The Initial 
Reoffering Prices of the Bonds will be used to calculate the final maturity schedules and the final 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds (the “Final Amounts”), which schedules and aggregate 
principal amount are subject to adjustment in the discretion of the County to achieve the County’s 
debt service objectives and to comply with State law. The Purchaser may not withdraw its bid or 

 
∗ Preliminary, subject to adjustment as set forth herein. 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-7 

change the interest rates bid or the Initial Reoffering Prices as a result of any changes made to the 
revised amounts.  

The dollar amount bid by the Purchaser will be adjusted to reflect any adjustments in the 
aggregate principal amount of the Bonds. Such adjusted bid price will reflect changes in the dollar 
amount of the underwriter’s discount and original issue discount or premium, if any, but will not 
change the selling compensation per $1,000 of par amount of the Bonds from the selling 
compensation that would have been received based on the purchase price for the Bonds of the 
winning bid and the Initial Reoffering Prices. The interest rate specified by the Purchaser for each 
maturity of the Bonds at the Initial Reoffering Prices for such maturity will not change.  

The Final Amounts and the adjusted purchase price will be communicated to the Purchaser 
as soon as possible, but no later than 5:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on the Sale Date. 

Electronic Bidding Procedures.  Bids to purchase Bonds (all or none) must be submitted 
electronically via PARITY®.  Bids will be communicated electronically to the County at ____ 
(Eastern Time) on the Sale Date. Prior to that time, a prospective bidder may (i) submit the 
proposed terms of its bid via PARITY®, (ii) modify the proposed terms of its bid, in which event 
the proposed terms as last modified will (unless the bid is withdrawn as described herein) constitute 
its bid for the Bonds or (iii) withdraw its proposed bid. Once the bids are communicated 
electronically via PARITY® to the County, each bid will constitute an irrevocable and 
unconditional offer to purchase the Bonds on the terms therein provided.  For purposes of the 
electronic bidding process, the time as maintained on PARITY® shall constitute the official time.  
The County will not accept bids by any means other than electronically via PARITY®.  

 
Disclaimer. Each prospective bidder shall be solely responsible for submitting its bid via 

PARITY® as described above.  Each prospective bidder shall be solely responsible to make 
necessary arrangements to access PARITY® for the purpose of submitting its bid in a timely 
manner and in compliance with the requirements of this Official Notice of Sale.  Neither the 
County nor PARITY® shall have any duty or obligation to provide or assure access to PARITY® 
to any prospective bidder, and neither the County nor PARITY® shall be responsible for proper 
operation of, or have any liability for any delays or interruptions of, or any damages caused by, 
PARITY®.  The County is using PARITY® as a communication mechanism, and not as the 
County’s agent, to conduct the electronic bidding for the Bonds. The County is not bound by any 
advice and determination of PARITY® to the effect that any particular bid complies with the terms 
of this Official Notice of Sale and in particular the “CONDITIONS OF SALE” hereinafter set 
forth. All costs and expenses incurred by prospective bidders in connection with their submission 
of bids via PARITY® are the sole responsibility of the bidders; and the County is not responsible, 
directly or indirectly, for any of such costs or expenses.  If a prospective bidder encounters any 
difficulty in submitting, modifying, or withdrawing a bid for the Bonds, the bidder should 
telephone PARITY® at (212) 849-5023 and notify the County’s Financial Advisor, 
______________, First Tryon Advisors, by telephone at (___) - __________. To the extent any 
instructions or directions set forth in PARITY® conflict with this Official Notice of Sale, the terms 
of this Official Notice of Sale shall control. For further information about PARITY®, potential 
bidders may contact PARITY® at i-Deal (212) 849-5023. 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-8 

CONDITIONS OF SALE 
 
Bidders are invited to name the rate or rates of interest which the Bonds are to bear, and 

unless all bids are rejected, they will be awarded to the bidder offering to purchase them at the 
lowest interest cost (as defined below) to the County at a price of not less than par. Bidders may 
name any number of rates of interest, in any variations selected by the bidder except that: 

 
(1) all Bonds of the same maturity must bear the same rate of interest and yield; 

 
(2) no rate of interest named shall be more than six (6.00) percentage points; 

 
(3) a zero (0.0) percentage point rate of interest is not permitted; 
 
(4) each interest rate named must be a multiple of 1/8th or 1/20th of one (1) percent;  

 
(5) any premium offered must be paid in cash as a part of the purchase price; and 

 
(6) all bids must be for no less than 100 percent of the par value of the Bonds.   
 
By submitting a bid, each bidder represents that the bidder’s proposal is genuine, and not 

a sham or collusive, and is not made in the interest of or on behalf of any person not therein named, 
the bidder has not directly or indirectly induced or solicited any other bidder to submit a sham bid 
or any other person, firm or corporation to refrain from bidding, and the bidder has not in any 
manner sought by collusion to secure for it an advantage over any other bidder. By submitting a 
bid for the Bonds, each bidder also represents and warrants to the County that (i) it has an 
established industry reputation for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds; and (ii) such 
bidder’s bid for the purchase of the Bonds (if a bid is submitted in connection with the sale) is 
submitted for and on behalf of such bidder by an officer or agent who is duly authorized to bind 
the bidder to a legal, valid and enforceable contract for the purchase of the Bonds. 

[No Good Faith Deposit.  No good faith deposit shall be required.] 

[Bond Insurance. The Bonds are being offered without bond insurance or any third-party 
credit enhancement. Bids may not be conditioned upon qualification for or the receipt of any bond 
insurance and no bid that is contingent on the use of bond insurance will be accepted.] 

Basis of Award.  The Bonds will be awarded to the bidder offering to purchase all of the 
Bonds at the lowest interest cost to the County. The lowest interest cost shall be determined in 
accordance with the true interest cost (TIC) method. In the event two or more bidders offer to 
purchase the Bonds at the same lowest TIC, the County will award the Bonds to one of such bidders 
based upon which bid was received first, as determined by reference to the time stamp displayed 
on PARITY®. Once communicated from PARITY® to the County, Bids submitted may not be 
withdrawn prior to the award. 

Issue Price Determination. The County expects that the bid for the Bonds will satisfy the 
federal tax requirements for a qualified competitive sale of bonds, including, among other things, 
receipt of bids for the Bonds from at least three underwriters, who have established industry 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-9 

reputations for underwriting new issuances of municipal bonds (a “Qualified Competitive Bid”).  
The County will advise the successful bidder as promptly as possible after the bids are opened 
whether the bid constitutes a Qualified Competitive Bid, or, in the alternative, a bid that fails to 
satisfy such requirements (a “Nonqualified Competitive Bid”). It is noted that procedures for a 
Nonqualified Competitive Bid may require the winning bidder of the Bonds and, if 
applicable, other underwriters of the Bonds, to hold the initial offering prices for certain 
maturities of the Bonds for up to five business days after the sale date, as further specified 
in the form of such certification. 

Reoffering Price Certification. The Purchaser must deliver to the County at closing an 
“issue price” or similar certificate setting forth the reasonably expected initial reoffering price to 
the public of the Bonds, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications, 
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, if the bid constitutes a Qualified Competitive 
Bid or as Exhibit B, if the bid constitutes a Nonqualified Competitive Bid, with such modifications 
as may be appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgement of the Purchaser, the County, and 
Bond Counsel.  

Acceptance or Rejection of Bids.  Bids will be accepted or rejected promptly after receipt and 
not later than 2:00 p.m. (Eastern Time) on the Sale Date.   

 
Rights Reserved.  The County reserves the right to reject any and all bids and to reject any 

bids not complying with this Official Notice of Sale. The County also reserves the right to waive any 
irregularity or informality with respect to any bid.  

 
Right to Change this Official Notice of Sale and to Postpone Offering.  The County reserves 

the right to make changes to this Official Notice of Sale and also reserves the right to postpone, from 
time to time, the date and time established for the receipt of bids. Any such postponement will be 
announced via Thomson Municipal News, Bloomberg, or other electronic information service.  If 
canceled, the sale may be thereafter rescheduled within 60 days of the date of the publication of 
this Official Notice of Sale, and notice of such rescheduled date of sale will be posted at least 48 
hours prior to the time for receipt of bids through Thomson Municipal News, Bloomberg, or other 
electronic information service. On any such alternative sale date and time, any bidder may submit 
an electronic bid for the purchase of the Bonds in conformity in all respects with the provisions of 
this Official Notice of Sale, except for the date and time of sale and except for any changes 
announced over Thomson Municipal News, Bloomberg, or other electronic information service at 
the time the sale date and time are announced. 

Delivery of Bonds.  The Bonds will be delivered through the facilities of DTC on or about 
_______, 20__, against payment of the purchase price therefor in federal funds.   

Documents to be Delivered at Closing.  The County will furnish, without cost to the 
Purchaser, the Bonds, an opinion as to their validity by Pope Flynn, LLC, Columbia, South 
Carolina, Bond Counsel, and the usual closing documents, which will include a certificate that 
there is no litigation pending restraining or enjoining the issuance and delivery of the Bonds. 

Tax Opinion.  The opinion of Bond Counsel will also state that (a) interest on the Bonds is 
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under the Internal Revenue Code of 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-10 

1986, as amended (the “Code”), and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal 
alternative minimum tax; and (b) the Bonds and the interest thereon are exempt from all State, 
county, municipal, school district and all other taxes or assessments imposed within the State of 
South Carolina, direct or indirect, general or special, whether imposed for the purpose of general 
revenue or otherwise, except inheritance, estate, transfer or certain franchise taxes.  The opinion 
will further state that the Code establishes certain requirements which must be met subsequent to 
the issuance and delivery of the Bonds in order that interest on the Bonds remains excluded from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Noncompliance may cause interest on the Bonds 
to be included in gross income retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds, regardless of the 
date on which such noncompliance occurs or is ascertained. The County has covenanted to comply 
with the requirements of the Code in the Bond Ordinance pursuant to which the Bonds are issued 
and, in rendering its opinion, Bond Counsel will assume compliance with such covenants. 

[Bank Qualified. The County has designated the Bonds as “qualified tax-exempt 
obligations” for the purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code relating to the ability of financial 
institutions to deduct, from income for federal income tax purposes, interest expense that is 
allocable to carrying and acquiring tax-exempt obligations.] 

CUSIP Numbers. It is anticipated that CUSIP identification numbers will be printed on the 
Bonds, but neither the failure to print such numbers on any Bond nor any error with respect thereto 
shall constitute cause for failure or refusal by the Purchaser thereof to accept delivery of and pay 
for said Bonds in accordance with the terms of its proposal. The County’s Financial Advisor will 
timely apply for CUSIP numbers with respect to the Bonds as required by MSRB Rule G-34. All 
expenses of preparation of the Bonds shall be paid by the County, but the CUSIP Global Services 
charge for the assignment of the numbers shall be paid by the Purchaser.  

Registrar and Paying Agent.  ____________, shall serve as Registrar and Paying Agent 
for the Bonds. So long as the Bonds remain outstanding in book-entry form with DTC, all 
payments of principal and interest with respect to the Bonds shall be through the facilities of DTC. 

Official Statement. The Preliminary Official Statement dated on or about __________, 
202_ (the “Preliminary Official Statement”) has been prepared by and deemed final by the County 
for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“Rule”) but is subject to revision, amendment and completion in a final Official Statement as 
provided in the Rule. The Preliminary Official Statement is available via _________. The County 
designates the Purchaser as its agent for purposes of distributing copies of the final Official 
Statement. The Purchaser agrees to (i) accept such designation, and (ii) assure proper dissemination 
of the final Official Statement. The County will prepare and provide to the Purchaser, within seven 
business days after the sale date, a mutually agreed upon number of printed copies of the final 
Official Statement. The final Official Statement shall be in substantially the same form as the 
Preliminary Official Statement, subject to any additions, deletions or revisions that the County 
believes are necessary.   

Continuing Disclosure:  In order to assist the Purchaser in complying with the provisions 
of the Rule, the County will undertake, pursuant to the Bond Ordinance and a Continuing 
Disclosure Undertaking, to provide certain annual information reports and notices of certain 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-11 

events. A description of this undertaking is set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement and will 
also be set forth in the final Official Statement.  

In accordance with Section 11-1-85 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as 
amended, the County has covenanted in the Bond Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Bonds 
to file for availability in the secondary bond market when requested an annual independent audit, 
within thirty (30) days of the County’s receipt of the audit; and event-specific information, within 
thirty (30) days of an event adversely affecting more than five percent (5%) of the County’s 
revenue or tax base.  The only remedy for failure by the County to comply with this covenant shall 
be an action for specific performance.  Moreover, the County has specifically reserved the right to 
amend the covenant to reflect any change in such Section 11-1-85 without the consent of any 
bondholder. 

 
Additional Information. Persons seeking additional information should communicate with 

(i) Rita Davis, CPA, Chief Financial Officer, Anderson County, 101 South Main Street, Anderson, 
South Carolina 29624 (telephone: (864) 260-4351; email: rdavis@andersoncountysc.org); (ii) 
Gary T. Pope, Jr., Pope Flynn, LLC, bond counsel, 1411 Gervais Street, Columbia, South Carolina 
29201 (telephone: (803) 354-4917; email: gpope@popeflynn.com); or (iii) Amy Vitner, First 
Tryon Advisors, financial advisor to the County with respect to the offering of the Bonds, 6101 
Carnegie Blvd, Suite 210, Charlotte, NC 28209 (telephone (704) 926-2457; email: 
avitner@firsttryon.com). 

 
ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 
 
Official Notice of Sale dated:  



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-12 

 
 

EXHIBIT A TO OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

CERTIFICATE AS TO ISSUE PRICE 

FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE FOR QUALIFIED COMPETITIVE BID 
 

$_______________* 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 

SERIES 202_ 
 

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of _______, as the purchaser (the “Purchaser”) 
of the above-captioned obligations (the “Bonds”) issued by Anderson County, South Carolina (the 
“County”), represents and certifies, to establish the “issue price” of the Bonds within the meaning 
of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and certain other 
matters, as follows: 

 
 1. Reasonably Expected Initial Offering Prices.  
 

(a) As of the Sale Date, the reasonably expected initial offering prices of the 
Bonds to the Public by the Purchaser are the prices listed in Schedule A-1 (the “Expected 
Offering Prices”).  The Expected Offering Prices are the prices for the Maturities of the 
Bonds used by the Purchaser in formulating its bid to purchase the Bonds.  Attached as 
Schedule A-2 is a true and correct copy of the bid provided by the Purchaser to purchase 
the Bonds. 
 
 (b) The Purchaser was not given the opportunity to review other bids prior to 
submitting its bid.  
 
 (c) The bid submitted by the Purchaser constituted a firm offer to purchase the 
Bonds. 
 
 (d) The Purchaser has an established industry reputation for underwriting new 
issuances of municipal bonds. 

 
 2. Defined Terms.  
 

 (a) “Maturity” means Bonds with the same credit and payment terms. Bonds 
with different maturity dates, or Bonds with the same maturity date but different stated 
interest rates, are treated as separate Maturities. 

 (b) “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, 
partnership, association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related 
party to an Underwriter.  The term “related party” for purposes of this certificate generally 

 
* Subject to adjustment as set forth in the Official Notice of Sale. 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-13 

means any two or more persons who have greater than 50% common ownership, directly 
or indirectly. 

 (c) “Sale Date” means the first day on which there is a binding contract in 
writing for the sale of a Maturity of the Bonds. The Sale Date of the Bonds is __________, 
20__. 

 (d) “Underwriter” as used herein means (1) any person that agrees pursuant to 
a written contract with the County (or with the lead Underwriter to form a syndicate) to 
participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (2) any person that agrees 
pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (1) of 
this paragraph to participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a 
member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the 
initial sale of the Bonds to the Public). 

 
 The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing 
in this certificate represents the Purchaser’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically 
Sections 103 and 148 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The undersigned 
understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the County with respect to certain 
of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect to compliance with the 
federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Pope Flynn, LLC, as bond counsel to the 
County, in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excluded from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service 
Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the County from time to 
time relating to the Bonds. 

 
Signed this ____ day of _______, 202_. 

[Purchaser] 
 
 
By:   ______________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: ______________________________ 
 

 
 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-14 

Schedule A-1 
 

Expected Offering Prices 
 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-15 

Schedule A-2 
 

Copy of Winning Bid 
 

 
 

 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-16 

EXHIBIT B TO OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 
 

CERTIFICATE AS TO ISSUE PRICE 
 

FORM OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE FOR NONQUALIFIED COMPETITIVE BID 
 

$___________* 
ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
SERIES 20__ 

 
The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of _______, as the purchaser (the “Purchaser”) 

of the above-captioned obligations (the “Bonds”) issued by Anderson County, South Carolina (the 
“County”), represents and certifies, to establish the “issue price” of the Bonds within the meaning 
of Section 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and certain other 
matters, that: 

 
1. Sale of the General Rule Maturities. As of the date of this certificate (this 

“Certificate”), for each Maturity of the General Rule Maturities, the first price at which 10% of 
such Maturity was sold by _______ to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule A. 

 
2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities. 

 
(a) __________ offered the Hold-the-Offering Price Maturities to the Public 

for purchase at the respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the “Initial Offering 
Prices”) on or before the Sale Date.  A copy of the pricing wire or equivalent communication for 
the Bonds is attached to this Certificate as Schedule B. 

 
(b) As set forth in the Official Notice of Sale and bid award, the ________ has 

agreed in writing that, (1) for each Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities, it would 
neither offer nor sell any of the Bonds of such Maturity to any person at a price that is higher than 
the Initial Offering Price for such Maturity during the Holding Period for such Maturity (the “hold-
the-offering-price rule”), and (2) any selling group agreement shall contain the agreement of each 
dealer who is a member of the selling group, and any retail distribution agreement shall contain 
the agreement of each broker-dealer who is a party to the retail distribution agreement, to comply 
with the hold-the-offering-price rule. Pursuant to the foregoing, no Underwriter has offered or sold 
any Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering Price Maturities at a price that is higher than the respective 
Initial Offering Price for that Maturity of the Bonds during the Holding Period.  

 
3. Defined Terms. 
 

(a) “General Rule Maturities” means those Maturities of each series of the 
Bonds shown in Schedule A hereto as the “General Rule Maturities.” 

 

 
* Subject to adjustment as set forth in the Official Notice of Sale. 



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-17 

(b) “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities” means those Maturities of each 
series of the Bonds listed in Schedule A hereto as the “Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities.” 

 
(c) “Holding Period” means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price 

Maturity, the period starting on the Sale Date and ending on the earlier of (1) the close of the fifth 
business day after the Sale Date, or (2) the date on which _______ has sold at least 10% of such 
Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the Initial Offering 
Price for such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity. 

 
(d) “Maturity” means Bonds of a series with the same credit and payment 

terms. Bonds of a series with different maturity dates, or Bonds of a series with the same maturity 
date but different stated interest rates, are treated as separate Maturities. 

 
(e) “Public” means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, 

partnership, association, company, or corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to 
an Underwriter.  The term “related party” for purposes of this Certificate generally means any two 
or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly. 

 
(f) “Sale Date” means the first day on which there is a binding contract in 

writing for the sale of a Maturity of the Bonds.  The Sale Date of the Bonds is ______, 20__. 
 
(g) “Underwriter” means (1) any person that agrees pursuant to a written 

contract with the County (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to 
participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public, and (2) any person that agrees pursuant to 
a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (1) of this paragraph to 
participate in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public (including a member of a selling group or 
a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Bonds to the Public). 

 
The representations set forth in this Certificate are limited to factual matters only. Nothing 

in this Certificate represents the Purchaser’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically 
Sections 103 and 148 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  The undersigned 
understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the County with respect to certain 
of the representations set forth in the Tax Certificate and with respect to compliance with the 
federal income tax rules affecting the Bonds, and by Pope Flynn, LLC, as bond counsel to the 
County, in connection with rendering its opinion that the interest on the Bonds is excluded from 
gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue Service 
Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the County from time to 
time relating to the Bonds. 

 
Signed this ____ day of _________, 202_. 
 

[PURCHASER] 
 
By:   ______________________________ 
Name: ______________________________ 
Title: ______________________________  



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-18 

Schedule A 
 

Expected Initial Offering Prices of the Bonds 
  



EXHIBIT D 
FORMS OF OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE 

D-19 

Schedule B 
 

Copy of Winning Bid 
 



PPAB 10148765v2 

ANDERSON COUNTY 
ORDINANCE NO. 2023-049 

 
AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING (1) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FEE 
IN LIEU OF TAX AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON 
COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA (THE “COUNTY”) AND AN ENTITY  IDENTIFIED, 
BY THE COUNTY AS PROJECT CHAUGA, INCLUDING ANY AFFILIATES, 
RELATED ENTITIES, AND SPONSOR AFFILIATES (COLLECTIVELY, THE 
“COMPANY”), PURSUANT TO WHICH THE COUNTY SHALL COVENANT TO 
ACCEPT CERTAIN NEGOTIATED FEES IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES WITH 
RESPECT TO THE EXPANSION OF CERTAIN MANUFACTURING FACILITIES IN 
THE COUNTY (THE “PROJECT”); (2) THE BENEFITS OF A MULTI-COUNTY 
INDUSTRIAL OR BUSINESS PARK TO BE MADE AVAILABLE TO THE 
COMPANY AND THE PROJECT AND THE DISTRIBUTION OF REVENUES 
GENERATED FROM THE PROJECT WITHIN THE COUNTY; (3) CERTAIN 
SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROJECT; 
AND (4) OTHER MATTERS RELATING THERETO. 

 
WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 

Council (the “Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of 
Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Code”), particularly Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code (the 
“Negotiated FILOT Act”), and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code (the “Multi-County Park Act”, or, as to 
Section 4-1-175 thereof, and by incorporation Section 4-29-68 of the Code, the “Special Source Act”) 
(collectively, the “Act”) and by Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution: (i) to enter 
into agreements with certain investors to construct, operate, maintain, and improve certain projects through 
which the economic development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade 
developed by inducing manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate and remain in the State and thus 
utilize and employ the manpower, agricultural products, and natural resources of the State; (ii) to covenant 
with such investors to accept certain fee in lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) payments, including, but not 
limited to, negotiated FILOT payments made pursuant to the Negotiated FILOT Act, with respect to a 
project; (iii) to permit investors to claim special source revenue credits against their FILOT payments 
(“Special Source Credits”) to pay certain costs of infrastructure serving the County or improved or 
unimproved real property and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation 
of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development of the County 
(“Special Source Improvements”); and (iv) to create, in conjunction with one or more other counties, a 
multi-county industrial or business park in order to afford certain enhanced income tax credits to such 
investors and to facilitate the grant of Special Source Credits; and 

WHEREAS, [PROJECT CHAUGA] (the “Company”) proposes to expand certain manufacturing 
facilities in the County and anticipates that, should their plans proceed as expected, the Company will 
invest, or cause to be invested, approximately $3,911,227, in the aggregate, in the Project (the “Minimum 
Investment Requirement”) and create, or cause to be created, approximately 45 new, full-time jobs, in the 
aggregate, at the Project (the “Minimum Jobs Requirement”) (the “Project”); and 

WHEREAS, on the basis of the information supplied to it by the Company, the County has 
determined, inter alia, that the Project would subserve the purposes of the Act and has made certain findings 
pertaining thereto in accordance with the Act; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with such findings and determinations and in order to induce the 
Company to locate the Project in the County, the Council adopted Resolution No. 2023-____ on November 
21, 2023 (the “Inducement Resolution”), whereby the County agreed to provide the benefits of a negotiated 



PPAB 10148765v2 

FILOT, Special Source Credits, and a multi-county industrial or business park with respect to the Project; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the County and the Company have agreed to the specific terms and conditions of such 

arrangements as set forth herein and in a Fee in Lieu of Tax and Incentive Agreement by and between the 
County and the Company with respect to the Project (the “Incentive Agreement”), the form of which 
Incentive Agreement is presented to this meeting, and which Incentive Agreement is to be dated as of 
December 19, 2023, or such other date as the parties thereto may agree; and  

 
WHEREAS, it appears that the Incentive Agreement now before this meeting is in appropriate form 

and is an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered by the County for the purposes intended. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council, as follows: 

Section 1. As contemplated by Section 12-44-40(I) of the Negotiated FILOT Act, the findings 
and determinations set forth in the Inducement Resolution are hereby ratified and confirmed.  In the event 
of any disparity or ambiguity between the terms and provisions of the Inducement Resolution and the terms 
and provisions of this Ordinance and the Incentive Agreement, the terms and provisions of this Ordinance 
and the Incentive Agreement shall control.  Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall 
have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Incentive Agreement.  Additionally, based on information 
provided to the County by the Company with respect to the Project, the County makes the following 
findings and determinations: 

(a) The Project will constitute a “project” within the meaning of the Negotiated FILOT 
Act; and 

(b) The Project, and the County’s actions herein, will subserve the purposes of the 
Negotiated FILOT Act; and 

(c) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the State and the 
County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise 
adequately provided locally; and 

(d) The Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated 
municipality or a charge against its general credit or taxing power; and 

(e) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and 
public purposes; and 

(f) The benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

Section 2.  

(a) The County hereby agrees to enter into the Incentive Agreement with the 
Company, which agreement shall be in the form of a fee agreement, pursuant to the Negotiated 
FILOT Act, and whereby the Company will agree to satisfy, or cause to be satisfied, certain 
investment requirements with respect to the Project within certain prescribed time periods in 
accordance with the Negotiated FILOT Act and the County, under certain conditions set forth in 
the Incentive Agreement, will agree to accept certain negotiated fee in lieu of ad valorem tax 
(“Negotiated FILOT”) payments with respect to the Project, as set forth in Section 2(b) hereof and 
in accordance with the terms of the Incentive Agreement. 



PPAB 10148765v2 

(b) 

(i) The Negotiated FILOT shall be determined using: (1) an 
assessment ratio of 6%, (2) a millage rate of 312.28 millsfj, which millage rate or 
millage rates shall be fixed pursuant to Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(b)(i) of the 
Negotiated FILOT Act for the full term of the Negotiated FILOT; (3) the fair 
market value of the Project, determined in accordance with the Negotiated FILOT 
Act; and (4) and such other terms and conditions as will be specified in the 
Incentive Agreement, including, without limitation, that (A) the Company in their 
sole discretion, may dispose of property and replace property subject to Negotiated 
FILOT payments to the maximum extent permitted by the Negotiated FILOT Act, 
and (B) the real property portion of the economic development property 
comprising the Project shall be reported at its fair market value for ad valorem 
taxes as determined by appraisal as if such property were not subject to the 
Negotiated FILOT, in accordance with, and as set forth in, Section 12-44-
50(A)(1)(c)(i) of the Negotiated FILOT Act. 

(ii) The Negotiated FILOT shall be calculated as provided in this 
Section 2(b) for all Negotiated FILOT Property placed in service during the 
Investment Period.  For each annual increment of investment in Negotiated FILOT 
Property, the annual Negotiated FILOT payments shall be payable for a payment 
period of thirty (30) years.  Accordingly, if such Negotiated FILOT Property is 
placed in service during more than one year, each year’s investment during the 
Investment Period shall be subject to the Negotiated FILOT for a payment period 
of thirty (30) years, subject to extension as set forth in the Incentive Agreement an 
the Negotiated FILOT Act. 

Section 1.  

(a) The County will use its best efforts to ensure that the Project will be included, if 
not already included, and will remain, within the boundaries of a multi-county industrial or business 
park (the “Multi-County Park”) pursuant to the provisions of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13(D) of the State Constitution on terms which provide the Company and the Project 
with any additional benefits afforded by the laws of the State for projects located within multi-
county industrial or business parks, and which facilitate the County’s provision, and the Company’s 
receipt, of the Special Source Credits described herein, all in accordance with the terms of the 
Incentive Agreement. 

(b) Revenues generated for the Multi-County Park from the Project through 
Negotiated FILOT payments to be retained by Anderson County (“Net Park Fees”) under the 
agreement governing the Multi-County Park shall be distributed within Anderson County in 
accordance with this subsection: 

(1) 15% of Net Park Fees shall be deposited to Bond Fund created by 
Ordinance 2018-042 and used as required or permitted thereby;  

(2) 35% of Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 2018-042, 
shall be deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of Anderson County; and 

(3) Remaining Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entities 
in Anderson County which levy an old ad valorem property tax in any of the areas 



PPAB 10148765v2 

comprising the Anderson County portion of the Multi-County Park in the same percentage 
as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of operating 
and debt service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes. 

Section 2.  

(a) As an additional incentive to induce the Company to locate the Project in the 
County, and as reimbursement for investment in Special Source Improvements, and subject to the 
requirements of the Special Source Act, the County hereby agrees that the Company shall be 
entitled to receive, and the County shall provide, Special Source Credits against each Negotiated 
FILOT payment due from each Company with respect to its respective portion of the Project for a 
period of ten (10) consecutive tax years, commencing with the tax year for which the initial 
Negotiated FILOT payment is due with respect to the Project, as follows: (i) for the first five (5) 
such tax years, in an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of each such Negotiated FILOT payment; 
and (ii) for the remaining five (5) such tax years, in an amount equal to thirty percent (30%) of each 
such Negotiated FILOT payment; provided, however, if, by the third anniversary of the 
“commencement date” (here and hereinafter, as such term is defined in the Negotiated FILOT Act), 
new job creation by the Company and any other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates is not at least 35 
new, full-time jobs, in the aggregate, at the Project or total investment in the Project by the 
Company and any other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates is not at least $3,911,227, in the aggregate, 
then the applicable Special Source Credit percentage shall be reduced to twenty five percent (25%), 
on a prospective basis, commencing with the Negotiated FILOT payment corresponding to the 
Property Tax Year containing the third anniversary of the commencement date; provided, further, 
however, that in the event of a reduction of the Special Source Credit percentage set forth above, if 
the Company satisfies both the Minimum Investment Requirement and the Minimum Jobs 
Requirement by the end of the Investment Period (i.e., the fifth anniversary of the commencement 
date), such reduced Special Source Credit percentage shall revert to the original Special Source 
Credit percentage prospectively, commencing with the Negotiated FILOT payment corresponding 
to the Property Tax Year containing the last day of the Investment Period. 

(b) In accordance with the Special Source Act, the Special Source Credits authorized 
herein shall not, in the aggregate, exceed the aggregate cost of Special Source Improvements 
funded from time to time by the Company in connection with the Project. 

Section 3. The form, provisions, terms, and conditions of the Incentive Agreement presented 
to this meeting and filed with the Clerk to the Council are hereby approved, and all of the provisions, terms, 
and conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if the Incentive Agreement was set 
out in this Ordinance in its entirety.  The Chairman of the Council is hereby authorized, empowered, and 
directed to execute the Incentive Agreement in the name and on behalf of the County; the Clerk to the 
Council is hereby authorized, empowered and directed to attest the same; and the Chairman of the Council 
is further authorized, empowered, and directed to deliver the Incentive Agreement to the Company.  The 
Incentive Agreement is to be in substantially the form now before this meeting and hereby approved, or 
with such changes therein as shall not materially adversely affect the rights of the County thereunder and 
as shall be approved by the official or officials of the County executing the same, upon the advice of 
counsel, their execution thereof to constitute conclusive evidence of their approval of any and all changes 
or revisions therein from the form of the Incentive Agreement now before this meeting. 

Section 4. The Chairman of the Council, the County Administrator of the County, and the 
Clerk to the Council, for and on behalf of the County, are hereby each authorized, empowered, and directed 
to do any and all things necessary or proper to effect the performance of all obligations of the County under 
and pursuant to Incentive Agreement.  



PPAB 10148765v2 

Section 7. The provisions of this Ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if any 
section, phrase, or provision shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, 
phrases, and provisions hereunder. 

Section 8. All orders, ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are to the 
extent of such conflict hereby repealed.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after 
its passage and approval. 

[End of Ordinance] 
  



PPAB 10148765v2 

Enacted and approved, in meeting duly assembled, this 19th  day of December, 2023. 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By: __________________________________________ 
       Tommy Dunn, Chairman of County Council 
       Anderson County, South Carolina 

[SEAL] 

ATTEST: 

________________________________________ 
Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 

ATTEST: 

________________________________________ 
Renee D. Watts, Clerk to County Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

________________________________________ 
Leon Harmon, County Attorney 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 

First Reading: November 21, 2023 (tentative) 
Second Reading: December 5, 2023 (tentative) 
Public Hearing: December 19, 2023 (tentative) 
Third Reading: December 19, 2023 (tentative) 
 
 
 



 

i 
PPAB 10156474v3 

 

 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

BY AND AMONG 

[PROJECT CHAUGA], as SPONSOR, 

AND 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

__________, 2023 

  



i 
PPAB 10156474v3 

 
        

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
        

Page 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Terms ................................................................................................................................ 2 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1 Representations of the County ......................................................................................... 5 

Section 2.2 Representations of the Company ..................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE III 
FILOT PAYMENTS 

Section 3.1 Negotiated Payments. ....................................................................................................... 5 

Section 3.2 Special Source Revenue Credits ...................................................................................... 7 

Section 3.3 Failure to Achieve Minimum Investment Requirements ................................................ 7 

Section 3.4 FILOT Payments on Replacement Property ................................................................... 8 

Section 3.5 Reductions in Payments of Taxes Upon Removal, Condemnation or Casualty ............ 8 

Section 3.6 Place and Allocation of FILOT Payments ...................................................................... 8 

Section 3.7 Removal of Equipment ..................................................................................................... 9 

Section 3.8 Damage or Destruction of Project. .................................................................................. 9 

Section 3.9 Condemnation. ................................................................................................................. 9 

Section 3.10 Maintenance of Existence .............................................................................................. 10 

Section 3.11 Confidentiality/Limitation on Access to Project ........................................................... 10 

Section 3.12 Addition of Sponsor Affiliates ....................................................................................... 10 

Section 3.13 Assignment and Subletting ............................................................................................ 11 

Section 3.14 Events of Default ............................................................................................................ 11 

Section 3.15 Remedies on Default ...................................................................................................... 11 

Section 3.16 Collection of FILOT Payments ..................................................................................... 12 

Section 3.17 Remedies Not Exclusive ................................................................................................. 12 

Section 3.18 Leased Equipment .......................................................................................................... 12 

Section 3.19 Waiver of Recapitulation Requirements........................................................................ 12 

Section 3.20 Fiscal Year; Property Tax Year ..................................................................................... 12 

Section 3.21 Reports; Filings. ............................................................................................................. 12 

Section 3.22 Termination .................................................................................................................... 13 



ii 
PPAB 10156474v3 

ARTICLE IV 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 4.1 Notices ............................................................................................................................ 13 

Section 4.2 Binding Effect ................................................................................................................ 13 

Section 4.3 Counterparts; Electronic Signatures ............................................................................. 13 

Section 4.4 Governing Law ............................................................................................................... 14 

Section 4.5 Headings ......................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 4.6 Amendments ................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 4.7 Further Assurance ......................................................................................................... 14 

Section 4.8 Severability ..................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 4.9 Limited Obligation ......................................................................................................... 14 

Section 4.10 Force Majeure ................................................................................................................ 14 

Section 4.11 Administrative Fees ........................................................................................................ 14 

 
EXHIBIT A:  Legal Description of Property 
 
EXHIBIT B:  Form of Joinder Agreement 
  



1 
PPAB 10156474v3 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT 

THIS FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT (“Fee Agreement”) is made and 
entered into as of ______________, 2023, by and between Anderson County, South Carolina (“County”), 
a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“State”), acting by 
and through the Anderson County Council (“County Council”) as the governing body of the County, and 
_____________________, a _____________________ (formerly identified by the County as Project 
Chauga), along with affiliated or related entities, and assigns, as sponsor (“Sponsor” and the “Company”) 
and any other entity that may also join as a Sponsor Affiliate  (hereinafter, the County, the Company, and 
the Affiliate are referred to individually as a “Party” and, collectively, as the “Parties”).  

WITNESSETH: 

(a) The County, acting by and through its County Council, is authorized and empowered under and 
pursuant to the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
(the “Act”) and Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution (i) to enter into agreements with 
qualifying companies to encourage investment in projects constituting economic development property 
through which the economic development of the State of South Carolina will be promoted by inducing new 
and existing manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate and remain in the State and thus utilize 
and employ manpower and other resources of the State; (ii) to covenant with such industry to accept certain 
fee payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes (“FILOT”) with respect to such investment (“FILOT Payments”); 
(iii) under Section 4-1-170 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (“MCIP Act”), to 
create multi-county industrial or business parks with one or more contiguous counties and include certain 
properties therein, and, in its discretion, include within the boundaries of these parks the property of 
qualifying industries, and under the authority provided in the MCIP Act, the County has created previously 
a multi-county industrial or business park with Greenville County, South Carolina (“Park”); (iv) under 
Sections 4-1-175, 4-29-68, and 12-44-70 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended 
(“Infrastructure Credit Act”), to grant special source revenue credits to reimburse eligible infrastructure 
expenses; and (v) to make and execute contracts of the type hereinafter described pursuant to Section 4-9-
30 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended; and 

 
 (b) Pursuant to the Act, the County has determined that (i) the Project (as defined herein) will 

benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other 
public benefits not otherwise provided locally; (ii) the Project will not give rise to any pecuniary liability 
of the County or any incorporated municipality or to any charge against any of their general credit or taxing 
power; (iii) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; 
and (iv) the benefits of the Project to the public will be greater than the costs to the public; and 

(c) The Sponsor, along with any affiliated or related entities and any Sponsor Affiliates that 
the Sponsor may designate and have the County approve in accordance with the Act, contingent upon 
satisfaction of certain commitments made by and on behalf of the County, as set forth herein and to be 
further set forth in future agreements, and, to the extent allowed by law, anticipates expanding existing 
facilities in the County through the acquisition, construction, and purchase of certain land, buildings, 
furnishings, fixtures, apparatuses, and equipment (the “Project”), which will result in approximately 
$3,911,227 in new investment in real and personal property in the County (“Investment”) and the creation 
of approximately 45 new, full-time jobs in the County (“Jobs”); and 

(d) Pursuant to a Resolution adopted November 21, 2023, the County Council identified the 
Project, as required under the Act, and pursuant to County Council Ordinance No. ________ adopted on 
December 19, 2023, authorized (i) the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement with the Company, 
and (ii) the inclusion of the Project in the Park. 



2 
PPAB 10156474v3 

NOW, THEREFORE, AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 
agreements hereinafter contained, the Parties hereto agree as follows, with the understanding that no 
obligation of the County described herein shall create a pecuniary liability or charge upon its general credit 
or taxing powers, but shall be payable solely out of the sources of payment described herein and shall not 
under any circumstances be deemed to constitute a general obligation to the County: 

ARTICLE I  

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Terms.  The terms defined in this Article shall for all purposes of this Fee 
Agreement have the meaning herein specified, unless the context clearly requires otherwise.“Chair” means 
the Chairman of the County Council. 

“Code” means the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, as amended. 

“Commencement Date” means the last day of the first property tax year during which Economic 
Development Property (defined below) is placed in service except that this date may not be later than the 
last day of the property tax year which is three years from the year in which the County, the Sponsor and 
the Sponsor Affiliates entered into this Fee Agreement. 

“County” means Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the Anderson 
County Council as the governing body of the County. 

“County Council” means the Anderson County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“Department” and “SCDOR” mean the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Diminution of Value” with respect to any Phase of the Project means any reduction in the value 
based on original fair market value as determined in Step 1 of Section 3.1 of this Fee Agreement, of the 
items which constitute a part of the Phase which may be caused by (i) the Company’s removal of equipment 
pursuant to Section 3.7 of this Fee Agreement, (ii) a casualty to the Phase of the Project, or any part thereof, 
described in Section 3.8 of this Fee Agreement, or (iii) a condemnation to the Phase of the Project, or any 
part thereof, described in Section 3.9 of this Fee Agreement. 

“Economic Development Property” means all items of real and tangible personal property 
comprising the Project which qualify as economic development property under the Act, become subject to 
this Fee Agreement, and which are identified by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate in 
connection with its annual filing of a SCDOR PT-300 or comparable forms with the Department (as such 
filing may be amended from time to time) for each year within the Investment Period, as that period may 
be extended by subsequent, formal action of County Council, or automatically as permitted under the Act 
or under this Fee Agreement. Title to all Economic Development Property shall at all times remain vested 
in the Company and, as applicable, in any Sponsor Affiliate, except as may be necessary to take advantage 
of the effect of Section 12-44-160 of the Act. For the avoidance of doubt, Economic Development Property 
shall not include any Non-Economic Development Property. 

“Equipment” means all machinery, apparatus, equipment, fixtures, office facilities, furnishings, and 
other personal property together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutes 
thereto or therefor acquired by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, during the 
Investment Period as a part of the Project under this Fee Agreement. The Equipment and its constituent 



3 
PPAB 10156474v3 

parts together with any and all improvements or other features constructed on, or personal property  installed 
or placed on the Project Site (defined below) by or for the Company, or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, 
including without limitation, machinery, fixtures, trade fixtures, and other personal property are personal  
property for purposes of applicable South Carolina law.   

“Event of Default” means any Event of Default specified in Section 3.14 of this Fee Agreement. 

“Fee Term” or “Term” means the period from the date of delivery of this Fee Agreement until the 
last Phase Termination Date (defined below) unless sooner terminated or extended pursuant to the terms of 
this Fee Agreement. 

“FILOT” means fee in lieu of ad valorem tax(es). 

“FILOT Payment(s)” means the payment(s) in lieu of ad valorem tax(es) which the Company and, 
as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, are obligated to pay to the County. 

“Improvements” mean improvements to the Project Site, including buildings, additions, roads, 
sewer and other infrastructure, together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and 
substitutions thereto or therefor acquired by the Company and, as applicable, the Sponsor Affiliate, during 
the Investment Period as part of the Project.  

 “Investment” shall mean that amount set forth in the recitals of this Fee Agreement and shall 
include but not be limited to (i) taxable and non-taxable capital expenditures, without regard to depreciation, 
which are made by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate towards or for the benefit of the 
Project; (ii) capital expenditures, whether considered Economic Development Property or Non-Economic 
Development Property, without regard to depreciation, which are made by the Company and, as applicable, 
any Sponsor Affiliate towards or for the benefit of the Project, regardless of the source of payment of such 
expenditures; (iii) the value of any assets leased by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, 
without regard to depreciation, regardless of the source of payment of such expenditures so long as the 
value of such leased assets are reported by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate on their 
respective SCDOR PT-100 or PT-300 or comparable forms; and (iv) any other expenditures made by the 
Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate that the County and the Company and, as applicable, 
any Sponsor Affiliate, may mutually agree upon in a writing that is executed by an authorized representative 
of the Company, the applicable Sponsor Affiliate and the County Administrator. The Investment for 
purposes of the Investment stated herein shall include those expenditures made by both the Company and, 
as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate by the end of the Investment Period. 

“Investment Period” means the period beginning with the first day that Economic Development 
Property is purchased or acquired and ending five years after the Commencement Date. The minimum 
investment must be completed within five years of the Commencement Date. Pursuant to Section 12-44-
30(13) of the Act, the County may, at its discretion, extend this period for up to an additional five years 
upon passage of a resolution. 

“Minimum Investment” or “Minimum Investment Requirement” means an investment in the 
project of at least two and one-half million dollars ($2,500,000) within the Investment Period, in accordance 
with Section 12-44-30(14) of the Act. 

 
“Minimum Jobs Requirement” means the creation of at least forty five (45) new, full-time jobs in 

the County within the Investment Period. 
 



4 
PPAB 10156474v3 

“Non-Economic Development Property” means all items of real and tangible personal property 
comprising the Project which do not qualify as economic development property under Section 12-44-110 
of the Act because such items were previously subject to property taxes. For the avoidance of doubt, the 
existing building improvements located at the Project Site as of the date this Fee Agreement is effective 
shall be considered Non- Economic Development Property. 

“Phase” or “Phases” in respect to the Project means the Economic Development Property placed 
in service during each year of the Investment Period, as extended. 

“Phase Termination Date” means, with respect to each Phase of the Project, the day twenty-nine 
years after each such Phase of the Project becomes subject to the terms of this Fee Agreement. Anything 
contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the last Phase Termination Date shall be no later than 
December 31 of the year of the expiration of the 29th full calendar year, after the end of the Investment 
Period. 

“Project” is further defined herein to mean the Equipment, Improvements, and the Project Site, 
together with the acquisition, construction, installation, design and engineering thereof, in phases.  

“Project Site” means the real property upon which any part of the Project is to be constructed and 
expanded, as described in Exhibit A attached hereto, as may be amended from time to time by approval of 
the County Administrator or by adoption of a Resolution by County Council, together with all and singular, 
the rights, members, hereditaments, and appurtenances belonging or in any way incident or appertaining 
thereto acquired or constructed by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate; all Improvements 
now or hereafter situated thereon; and all fixtures now or hereafter attached thereto, but only to the extent 
such Improvements and fixtures are deemed to become part of the Project under the terms of this Fee 
Agreement. 

“Removed Components” means the following types of components or Phases of the Project or 
portions thereof, all of which the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may be, 
shall be entitled to remove from the Project with the result that the same shall no longer be subject to the 
terms of the Fee Agreement: (a) components or Phases of the Project or portions thereof which the Company 
and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, in their sole discretion, determine to be inadequate, obsolete, 
worn-out, uneconomic, damaged, unsuitable, undesirable or unnecessary; or (b) components or Phases of 
the Project or portions thereof which the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, in their sole 
discretion, elect to remove pursuant to Section 3.8(c) or Section 3.9(b)(iii) of this Fee Agreement. 

“Replacement Property” means any property which is placed in service as a replacement for any 
item of Equipment or any Improvement which is scrapped or sold by the Company and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate and treated as a Removed Component under Section 3.7 hereof regardless of whether 
such property serves the same function as the property it is replacing and regardless of whether more than 
one piece of property replaces any item of Equipment or any Improvement. 

“Sponsor Affiliate” means an affiliate that joins with or is an affiliate of the Company, or that 
otherwise has a contractual relationship with the Company with respect to the Project, whose investment 
with respect to the Project shall be considered part of the Investment and qualify for FILOT Payments 
pursuant to Section 3.1 hereof and Sections 12-44-30(20) and 12-44-130 of the Act and who joins and 
delivers a Joinder Agreement in a form substantially similar to that attached hereto as Exhibit B or who 
has otherwise joined as a party to this Fee Agreement. 



5 
PPAB 10156474v3 

Section 1.2  Amendments.  Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or 
otherwise in this Fee Agreement is deemed to include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and 
modifications to such agreement or document. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1 Representations of the County.  The County hereby represents and warrants to the 
Company and any Sponsor Affiliate as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State which 
acts through the County Council as its governing body and by the provisions of the Act is authorized and 
empowered to enter into the transactions contemplated by this Fee Agreement and to carry out its 
obligations hereunder. The County has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement 
and any and all other agreements described herein or therein. 

(b) The Project constitutes a “project” within the meaning of the Act. 

(c) By due corporate action, the County has agreed that, subject to compliance with applicable 
laws, each item of real and tangible personal property comprising the Project shall be considered Economic 
Development Property under the Act. 

Section 2.2 Representations of the Company.  The Company hereby represents and warrants 
to the County as follows: 

(a) Each legal entity comprising the Company is a corporate entity, authorized or to be 
authorized to transact business under the laws of the State of South Carolina, and has the power to enter 
into this Fee Agreement. 

(b) The Company’s execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement and its compliance with the 
provisions hereof do not result in a default, not waived or cured, under any Company restriction or any 
agreement or instrument to which the Company is now a party or by which it is bound. 

(c) The Company intends to operate the Project as a “project” within the meaning of the Act 
as in effect on the date hereof. The Company intends to operate the Project for such purposes as permitted 
under the Act, as the Company may deem appropriate. 

(d) The availability of the FILOT with regard to the Economic Development Property 
authorized by the Act, along with other incentives provided by the County, have induced the Company to 
undertake the Project in the County. 

ARTICLE III 
FILOT PAYMENTS 

Section 3.1 Negotiated Payments. 

(a) Pursuant to Section 12-44-50 of the Act, the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor 
Affiliate, are required to make FILOT Payments on all Economic Development Property that it placed in 
service on or before each December 31 within the Investment Period. 



6 
PPAB 10156474v3 

(b) The amount of such annual FILOT Payments shall be determined by the following 
procedure: 

Step 1: Determine the fair market value of the Phase of the Project placed in service in any given 
year for such year and for the following 29 years, unless extended by the Parties in 
accordance with the Act, using original income tax basis for State income tax purposes 
for any real property (provided, if real property is constructed for the fee or is purchased 
in an arms-length transaction, fair market value is deemed to equal the original income 
tax basis, otherwise, the Department will determine fair market value by appraisal) and 
original income tax basis for State income tax purposes less depreciation for each year 
allowable to the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, for any personal 
property as determined in accordance with Title 12 of the Code, as amended and in effect 
on December 31 of the year in which each Phase becomes subject to the Fee Agreement, 
except that no extraordinary obsolescence shall be allowable but taking into account all 
applicable property tax exemptions which would be allowed to the Company, and, as 
applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, under State law, if the property were taxable, except 
those exemptions specifically disallowed under Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the Act, as 
amended and in effect on December 31 of the year in which each Phase becomes subject 
to the Fee Agreement. 

Step 2: Apply an assessment ratio of 6.0% to the fair market value as determined for each year 
in Step 1 to establish the taxable value of each Phase of the Project in the year it is placed 
in service and in each of the 29 years thereafter or such longer period of years that the 
annual FILOT Payment is permitted to be made by the Company and, as applicable, by 
any Sponsor Affiliate, under the Act. 

Step 3: Multiply the taxable value determined in the preceding step by a millage rate equal to 
312.28 mills, which the parties believe to be that rate in effect on June 30, 2023 for all 
taxing entities for the Project Site (which millage rate shall be a fixed rate for the term 
of this Fee Agreement), to determine the amount of the FILOT Payments which would 
be due in each year of the Fee Term on the payment dates prescribed by the County for 
such payments for a total of 30 years for each item of eligible Project property, or such 
longer period of years that the annual fee payment is permitted to be made by the 
Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, under the Act. 

(c) The County agrees that the Project and Project Site shall be  incorporated and remain in 
the Park during the Fee Term. If, for any reason, the Project Site and Project is ever excluded from the Park 
then the County shall ensure that the Project shall be immediately placed into another multi-county 
industrial or business park arrangement established pursuant to the MCIP Act, to which the County is a 
party and that would enable the Company to receive the benefits afforded by having the Project incorporated 
into a Park.   

(d) In the event that the Act, the above-described FILOT Payments are declared invalid or 
unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties express their intentions that such payments 
and this Fee Agreement be reformed so as to most closely effectuate the legal, valid, and enforceable intent 
thereof and so as to afford the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, with the benefits to be 
derived hereunder. If the Project is deemed to be subject to ad valorem taxation, the payment in lieu of ad 
valorem taxes to be paid to the County by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, shall 
become equal to the amount which would result from taxes levied on the Project by the County, 
municipality or municipalities, school district or school districts, and other political units as if the Project 
was and had not been Economic Development Property under the Act. In such event, any amount 



7 
PPAB 10156474v3 

determined to be due and owing to the County from the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, 
as the case may be, with respect to a year or years for which payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes have 
been previously remitted by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, to the County 
hereunder, shall be reduced by the total amount of payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes made by the 
Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, with respect to the Project pursuant to the terms hereof, 
and further reduced by any abatements provided by law. 

Section 3.2 Special Source Revenue Credits 

(a) As an inducement for the Investment and in accordance with the MCIP Act the 
Infrastructure Credit Act, the County grants to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate a Special Source 
Revenue Credit (“SSRC”) equal to the Applicable SSRC Percentage shown in the table below multiplied 
by the amount of each FILOT Payment that becomes due with respect to Economic Development Property 
comprising the Project in the Park commencing with the first year in which a FILOT Payment becomes due 
under this Fee Agreement and each consecutive year thereafter for a total of ten (10) years (“SSRC Term”). 
The County shall automatically reflect the SSRC against the FILOT Payment on those FILOT invoices 
provided by the County to the Company and any Sponsor Affiliate. The Company and any Sponsor Affiliate 
shall be permitted to utilize SSRC to offset any qualifying expenditures as provided under the Code, 
including under the Act, the MCIP Act, and the Infrastructure Credit Act.  

Years Applicable SSRC Percentage 
1-5 50% 
6-10 30% 

 
(b) All SSRC’s granted to the Company shall be deemed to reimburse the Company first for 

any infrastructure expenditures related to real property necessary to serve the Project, thereby, to the extent 
of such reimbursements, avoiding the application of the recapture provisions in Section 4-29-68(A)(2)(ii)(a) 
of the Code. 

(c) The cumulative dollar amount expended by the Company on infrastructure shall equal or 
exceed the cumulative dollar amount of all the SSRC’s received by the Company at any point in time, and 
the Company shall provide to the County, upon request by the County, documentation sufficiently adequate 
to prove such infrastructure costs to the reasonable satisfaction of the County. 

(d) If, by the third anniversary of the Commencement Date, the new job creation by the 
Company and any other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates is not at least 35 new, full-time jobs, in the 
aggregate, at the Project or total investment in the Project by the Company and any other Sponsors or 
Sponsor Affiliates is not at least $3,911,227, in the aggregate, then the applicable Special Source Credit 
percentage shall be reduced to twenty five percent (25%), on a prospective basis, commencing with the 
Negotiated FILOT payment corresponding to the Property Tax Year containing the third anniversary of the 
commencement date; provided, further, however, that in the event of a reduction of the Special Source 
Credit percentage as set forth above, if the Company satisfies both the Minimum Investment Requirement 
and the Minimum Jobs Requirement by the end of the Investment Period, such reduced Special Source 
Credit percentage shall revert to the applicable Special Source Credit percentage listed above in Section 
3.2(a) prospectively, commencing with the Negotiated FILOT payment corresponding to the Property Tax 
Year containing the last day of the Investment Period. 

Section 3.3 Failure to Achieve Minimum Investment Requirements 

(a) In the event the Company, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, fails to achieve the 
Minimum Investment Requirement by the end of the Investment Period, this Fee Agreement shall terminate 



8 
PPAB 10156474v3 

and the Company, with respect to its Economic Development Property only, and, as applicable, any Sponsor 
Affiliate, with respect to its Economic Development Property only, shall pay the County a “Deficiency 
Amount”. The Deficiency Amount shall be equal to the excess, if any, of (i) the total amount of ad valorem 
taxes as would result from taxes levied on the Project by the County, municipality or municipalities, school 
district or school districts, and other political units as if the items of property comprising the Economic 
Development Property were not Economic Development Property, but with appropriate reductions 
equivalent to all tax exemptions and abatements to which the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor 
Affiliate, would be entitled in such a case, through and including the end of the Investment Period, over (ii) 
the total amount of FILOT payments the Company, and, as applicable, each Sponsor Affiliate, has made 
with respect to its Economic Development Property through and including the end of the Investment Period. 

(b) In the event a Deficiency Amount is determined to be owing pursuant to this Section 3.3, 
it shall be payable to the County on or before the second (2nd) January 15 following the last day of the 
Investment Period. Any Deficiency Amount determined to be owing shall be subject to the minimum 
amount of interest that the Act may require. 

(c) The remedies stated herein shall be the County’s sole remedies for the Company’s, and as 
applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate’s, failure to meet the Minimum Investment Requirement.   

Section 3.4 FILOT Payments on Replacement Property.  If the Company and, as applicable, 
any Sponsor Affiliate, elect to replace any Removed Components and to substitute such Removed 
Components with Replacement Property as a part of the Project, then, pursuant and subject to Section 12-
44-60 of the Act, the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate shall make statutory payments in 
lieu of ad valorem taxes with regard to such Replacement Property as follows: 

(a) to the extent that the income tax basis of the Replacement Property (“Replacement Value”) 
is less than or equal to the original income tax basis of the Removed Components (“Original Value”) the 
amount of the FILOT Payments to be made by the Company and, as applicable, the Sponsor Affiliate, with 
respect to such Replacement Property, shall be calculated in accordance with Section 3.1 hereof; provided, 
however, in making such calculations, the original cost to be used in Step 1 of Section 3.1 shall be equal to 
the lesser of (x) the Replacement Value or (y) the Original Value, and the number of annual payments to 
be made with respect to the Replacement Property shall be equal to thirty (30) (or, if greater, the maximum 
number of years for which the annual FILOT Payments are available to the Company and any Sponsor 
Affiliate for each portion of the Project under the Act, as amended) minus the number of annual payments 
which have been made with respect to the oldest Removed Components disposed of in the same property 
tax year as the Replacement Property is placed in service; and  

(b) to the extent that the Replacement Value exceeds the Original Value of the Removed 
Components (“Excess Value”), the FILOT Payments to be made by the Company and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, with respect to the Excess Value, shall be equal to the payment that would be due if the 
property were not Economic Development Property. 

Section 3.5 Reductions in Payments of Taxes Upon Removal, Condemnation or Casualty.  
In the event of a Diminution in Value of any Phase of the Project after the Investment Period and during 
the remainder of the Fee Term, the FILOT Payments with regard to that Phase of the Project shall be reduced 
in the same proportion as the amount of such Diminution in Value bears to the original fair market value of 
that Phase of the Project as determined pursuant to Step 1 of Section 3.1 hereof. 

Section 3.6 Place and Allocation of FILOT Payments.  The Company and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, shall make the above-described FILOT Payments directly to the County in accordance 



9 
PPAB 10156474v3 

with applicable law as to payment, collection and enforcement of FILOT Payments. FILOT Payments are 
to be allocated in accordance with the Act. 

Section 3.7 Removal of Equipment.  The Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, 
shall be entitled to remove the following types of components or Phases of the Project from the Project with 
the result that said components or Phases (Removed Components) shall no longer be subject to the terms 
of this Fee Agreement: (a) components or Phases which become subject to statutory payments in lieu of ad 
valorem taxes; (b) components or Phases of the Project or portions thereof which the Company, and, as 
applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, in their sole discretion, determine to be inadequate, obsolete, 
uneconomic, worn-out, damaged, unsuitable, undesirable, or unnecessary; or (c) components or Phases of 
the Project or portions thereof which the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, in their sole 
discretion, elect to remove pursuant to Section 3.8(c) or Section 3.9(b)(iii) hereof. 

Section 3.8 Damage or Destruction of Project. 

(a) Election to Terminate.  In the event the Project is damaged by fire, explosion, or any other 
casualty, the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, shall be entitled to terminate this Fee 
Agreement in accordance with Section 3.22. 

(b) Election to Rebuild.  In the event the Project is damaged by fire, explosion, or any other 
casualty, and if the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, do not elect to terminate this Fee 
Agreement, the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate may, in their sole discretion, commence 
to restore the Project with such reductions or enlargements in the scope of the Project, changes, alterations, 
and modifications (including the substitution and addition of other property) as may be desired by the 
Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate. All such restorations and replacements shall be 
considered substitutions of the destroyed portions of the Project and shall be considered part of the Project 
for all purposes hereof, including, but not limited to, any amounts due by the Company and, as applicable, 
any Sponsor Affiliate, to the County under Section 3.1 hereof, to the extent allowed by the Act. 

(c) Election to Remove.  In the event the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, 
elect not to terminate this Fee Agreement pursuant to subsection (a) and elects not to rebuild pursuant to 
subsection (b), the damaged portions of the Project shall be treated as Removed Components. 

Section 3.9 Condemnation. 

(a) Complete Taking.  If, at any time during the Fee Term, title to or temporary use of the entire 
Project should become vested in a public or quasi-public authority by virtue of the exercise of a taking by 
condemnation, inverse condemnation or the right of eminent domain, or by voluntary transfer under threat 
of such taking, or in the event that title to a portion of the Project shall be taken rendering continued 
operation of the Project commercially infeasible in the judgment of the Company and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, then the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate (with respect to its Project 
property only) shall have the option to terminate this Fee Agreement in accordance with Section 3.22. 

(b) Partial Taking.  In the event of a partial taking of the Project or transfer in lieu thereof, the 
Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, may elect: (i) to terminate this Fee Agreement in 
accordance with Section 3.22 (with respect to its Project property only); (ii) to repair and restore the Project, 
with such reductions or enlargements in the scope of the Project, changes, alterations and modifications 
(including the substitution and addition of other property) as may be desired by the Company and, as 
applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate; or (iii) to treat the portions of the Project so taken as Removed 
Components. 



10 
PPAB 10156474v3 

Section 3.10 Maintenance of Existence.  The Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor 
Affiliate agree (i) that they shall not take any action which will materially impair the maintenance of their 
corporate existence and (ii) that they will maintain their good standing under all applicable provisions of 
State law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any changes in the corporate existence of the Company or, as 
applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, that result from internal restructuring or reorganization of the Company 
or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, or their parents are specifically authorized hereunder; and further, 
subject to the requirements to satisfy the Minimum Investment requirement under the Act, the Company 
and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate are entitled to cease operations of the Project at any time without 
that cessation constituting an Event of Default under this Fee Agreement. Likewise, benefits granted to the 
Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, under this Fee Agreement shall, in the event of any 
such restructuring or reorganization, be transferred to the successor entity under the provisions of Section 
3.13 hereof. Such transfers to a successor entity substantially similar in nature and function to the Company 
and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, are specifically approved and authorized by the County without 
any further action by the County Council. 

Section 3.11 Confidentiality/Limitation on Access to Project.  The County acknowledges and 
understands that the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, utilize confidential and proprietary 
“state-of-the-art” information and data in their operations, and that a disclosure of any information, 
including, but not limited to, disclosures of financial or other information concerning the Company’s 
operations and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate’s operations, could result in substantial and irreparable 
harm to them and could thereby have a significant detrimental impact on their employees and also upon the 
County. Therefore, the County agrees that, except as required by law and pursuant to the County’s police 
powers, neither the County nor any employee, agent, or contractor of the County:  (i) will request or be 
entitled to receive any such confidential or proprietary information; (ii) will request or be entitled to inspect 
the Project or any property associated therewith; provided, however, that if an Event of Default shall have 
occurred and be continuing hereunder, the County shall be entitled to inspect the Project provided they shall 
comply with the remaining provisions of this Section; or (iii) will knowingly and intentionally disclose or 
otherwise divulge any such confidential or proprietary information to any other person, firm, governmental 
body or agency, or any other entity unless specifically required to do so by State law. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, whenever the County shall be required by any governmental or financial entity to file or produce 
any reports, notices, returns or other documents while the Fee Agreement is in effect, the Company, and, 
as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, or owner of the Project at the time shall promptly furnish to the County 
through the County Attorney the completed form of such required documents together with a certification 
by the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, or owner that such documents are accurate and 
not in violation of any provisions of law or of the other documents of this transaction, and that the 
documents meet the legal requirements of such filing or delivery. In the event of the failure or refusal of 
the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate or owner to comply with this provision, the 
Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, or owner agrees to pay the statement for attorneys’ 
fees and administrative time presented by the County for producing and filing such documents, such 
statement to be paid within thirty (30) days after presentation by the County, and to promptly pay any fees, 
penalties, assessments or damages imposed upon the County by reason of its failure to duly file or produce 
such documents. With respect to such fees, penalties, assessment or damages imposed by the County, only 
the individual party failing or refusing to furnish such information shall be liable therefor. Prior to disclosing 
any confidential or proprietary information or allowing inspections of the Project or any property associated 
therewith, the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, or owner may require the execution of 
reasonable, individual confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements by any officers, employees or agents 
of the County or any supporting or cooperating governmental agencies who would gather, receive or review 
such information or conduct or review the results of any inspections. 

Section 3.12 Addition of Sponsor Affiliates.  Upon request of and at the expense of the 
Company, the County may approve, by adoption of a resolution by County Council, any future Sponsor 



11 
PPAB 10156474v3 

Affiliate that qualifies under the Act for the benefits offered under this Fee Agreement and which agrees to 
be bound by the provisions hereof to be further evidenced by such future Sponsor Affiliate entering into a 
Joinder Agreement in the form attached to this Fee Agreement as Exhibit B, subject to any changes 
approved by the County Council Chairman that are not materially adverse to the County.   

Section 3.13 Assignment and Subletting.  This Fee Agreement may be assigned in whole or in 
part and the Project may be subleased as a whole or in part by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor 
Affiliate, so long as such assignment or sublease is made in compliance with Section 12-44-120 of the Act. 
To the extent any consent of the County for such assignment or sublease is required by the Act and 
requested, the County may grant such consent by adoption of a Resolution, not to be unreasonably withheld. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon notice in writing to the County Administrator, any assignment to an 
entity owned by, which owns, or that shares a common owner with the Company, and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, is approved and authorized by the County without further action of County Council. 

Section 3.14 Events of Default.  The following are “Events of Default” under this Fee 
Agreement, and the term “Events of Default” means, whenever used with reference to this Fee Agreement, 
any one or more of the following occurrences: 

(a) Failure by the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, to make, upon levy, the 
FILOT Payments described in Section 3.1 hereof; provided, however, that the Company or, as applicable, 
the Sponsor Affiliate, shall be entitled to all redemption rights for non-payment of taxes granted by 
applicable statutes; or 

(b) Failure of the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, to make payment of any 
other amounts payable to the County under this Fee Agreement, of which default has not been cured within 
ninety (90) days of written notice of nonpayment from the County. 

(c) Failure by the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, to perform any of the 
other material terms, conditions, obligations or covenants of the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor 
Affiliate hereunder, which failure shall continue for a period of ninety (90) days after written notice from 
the County to the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, specifying such failure and requesting 
that it be remedied, unless the County shall agree in writing to an extension of such time prior to its 
expiration. 

Section 3.15 Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default shall have occurred and 
shall be continuing, the County, after having given written notice to the Company or, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, of such default and after the expiration of a ninety (90) day cure period shall have the 
option to take any one or more of the following remedial actions: 

(a) Terminate the Fee Agreement; or 

(b) Take whatever action at law or in equity that may appear necessary or desirable to collect 
the other amounts due and thereafter to become due or to enforce performance and observance of any 
obligation, agreement or covenant of the Company or, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, under this Fee 
Agreement. 

(c) Any remedies that the County may take pursuant to this section shall only be taken against 
that party who is in default. 



12 
PPAB 10156474v3 

 (d) The County’s sole remedy for failure of the Sponsor, together with any Sponsor Affiliates, 
as applicable, to achieve the Minimum Investment Requirement shall be the Deficiency Amount pursuant 
to Section 3.3. 

Section 3.16 Collection of FILOT Payments.  In addition to all other remedies herein provided, 
the nonpayment of FILOT Payments shall constitute a lien on the Project for tax purposes as provided in 
Section 12-44-90 of the Act. In this regard, and notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, 
the County may exercise the remedies provided by general law (including Title 12, Chapter 49, of the Code) 
relating to the enforced collection of ad valorem taxes to collect any FILOT Payments due hereunder. 

Section 3.17 Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy conferred upon or reserved to the County 
under this Fee Agreement is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedies, but each and every 
remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other lawful remedy now or hereafter existing. 
No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any continuing default hereunder shall 
impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right and power 
may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. In order to entitle the County 
to exercise any remedy reserved to it, it shall not be necessary to give notice, other than such notice as may 
be herein expressly required and such notice required at law or equity which the Company is not competent 
to waive. 

Section 3.18 Leased Equipment.  To the extent that applicable law allows or is revised or 
construed to allow the benefits of the Act, in the form of FILOT Payments as described in Section 3.1 
hereof, to be applicable to personal property to be installed at the Project and leased to but not purchased 
by the Company and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, from at least one third party, under any form of 
lease, then that personal property, at the Company’s or Sponsor Affiliates’ sole election, will become 
subject to FILOT Payments to the same extent as the Equipment under this Fee Agreement, upon proper 
application of the law and applicable procedures by the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate 
and so long as the value of such leased assets are reported by the Company or any Sponsor Affiliate, as 
applicable, on their respective SCDOR PT-300.  

Section 3.19 Waiver of Recapitulation Requirements.  As permitted under Section 12-44-55 of 
the Act, the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, and the County hereby waive application 
of any of the recapitulation requirements as set forth in Section 12-44-55, to the extent that, and so long as, 
the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, provides the County with copies of all filings which 
the Company is required to make pursuant to the Act. 

Section 3.20 Fiscal Year; Property Tax Year.  If the Company’s and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliates, fiscal year changes so as to cause a change in the Company’s or Sponsor Affiliates’ 
property tax year, then the timing of the requirements of this Fee Agreement are automatically revised 
accordingly but only with respect to the party whose fiscal year changes.  

Section 3.21 Reports; Filings. 

(a) Each year during the term of this Fee Agreement, the Company, and, as applicable, any 
Sponsor Affiliate, shall deliver to the Anderson County Auditor a copy of their most recent annual property 
tax returns filed with the Department with respect to the applicable portions of the Project. 

(b) The Company shall file a copy of this Agreement, as well as a copy of the completed forms 
PT-443 of the Department, with the Anderson County Auditor, the Anderson County Assessor, and the 
Department within thirty (30) days after the date of execution and delivery hereof. 



13 
PPAB 10156474v3 

Section 3.22 Termination.  Prior to the stated expiration of the Term of this Agreement, the 
Company may, at any time by written notice to the County, provide for the termination of this Agreement, 
effectively immediately upon giving such notice or upon such date as may be specified in the notice; 
provided that the Company shall have made payment to the County of all applicable payments payable 
under this Agreement as of such time. Upon any such termination, and subject to any provisions herein 
which shall by their express terms be deemed to survive any termination of this Agreement, the sole 
consequence to the Company shall be that it shall no longer be entitled to the benefit of the FILOT Payments 
provided herein and the property constituting the Project shall thereafter be subject to ad valorem tax 
treatment required by law and, except as may be expressly provided herein, in no event shall the Company 
be required to repay to the County the amount of any tax benefit previously received hereunder.   

ARTICLE IV 
MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 4.1 Notices.  Any notice, election, demand, request or other communication to be 
provided under this Fee Agreement shall be effective when delivered to the party named below or three 
business days after deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, 
postage prepaid, addressed as follows (or addressed to such other address as any party may hereafter furnish 
in writing to the other party), except where the terms hereof require receipt rather than sending of any 
notice, in which case such provision shall control: 

AS TO THE COUNTY:  Anderson County, South Carolina 
ATTN: County Administrator 
Post Office Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina  29622 

 
WITH A COPY TO:  Anderson County, South Carolina 
(shall not constitute notice) ATTN: County Attorney 

Post Office Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina  29622 

 
AS TO THE COMPANY: [INSERT] 
         
WITH A COPY TO:  Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP 
(shall not constitute notice) ATTN: Madison Felder 

110 East Court Street, Suite 200 
Greenville, South Carolina 29601 

Section 4.2 Binding Effect.  This Fee Agreement is binding, in accordance with its terms, upon 
and inure to the benefit of the Company, any Sponsor Affiliate and the County, and their respective 
successors and assigns, to the extent allowed by law. In the event of the dissolution of the County or the 
consolidation of any part of the County with any other political subdivision or the transfer of any rights of 
the County to any other such political subdivision, all of the covenants, stipulations, promises and 
agreements of this Fee Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from 
time to time and any entity, officer, board, commission, agency or instrumentality to whom or to which any 
power or duty of the County has been transferred. 

Section 4.3 Counterparts; Electronic Signatures.  This Fee Agreement may be executed in 
any number of counterparts and each such executed counterpart shall be, and shall be deemed to be, an 
original, but all of which shall constitute, and shall be deemed to constitute, in the aggregate but one and 
the same instrument. This Fee Agreement may be circulated for signature through electronic transmission, 



14 
PPAB 10156474v3 

including, without limitation, facsimile and email, and all signatures so obtained and transmitted shall be 
deemed for all purposes under this Fee Agreement to be original signatures and may conclusively be relied 
upon by any Party to this Fee Agreement. 

Section 4.4 Governing Law.  This Fee Agreement and all documents executed in connection 
herewith shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State. 

Section 4.5 Headings.  The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are 
inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 4.6 Amendments.  The provisions of this Fee Agreement may only be modified or 
amended in writing by an agreement or agreements lawfully entered into between the parties. 

Section 4.7 Further Assurance.  From time to time, and at the Company’s and Sponsor 
Affiliates’ expense, the County agrees to execute and deliver to the Company and Sponsor Affiliates such 
additional instruments as either may reasonably request to effectuate the purposes of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 4.8 Severability.  If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions hereof shall be unimpaired, and such illegal, invalid 
or unenforceable provision shall be reformed so as to most closely effectuate the legal, valid and enforceable 
intent thereof and so as to afford the Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, with the maximum 
benefits to be derived herefrom, it being the intention of the County to offer the Company and, as applicable, 
any Sponsor Affiliate, the strong inducement to locate the Project in the County. 

Section 4.9 Limited Obligation.  NEITHER THE PROJECT NOR THE NEGOTIATION, 
EXECUTION, DELIVERY, OR IMPLEMENTATION OF THIS FEE AGREEMENT SHALL GIVE 
RISE TO ANY PECUNIARY LIABILITY OF THE COUNTY OR ANY INCORPORATED 
MUNICIPALITY NOR TO ANY CHARGE AGAINST THEIR GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING 
POWER. 

Section 4.10 Force Majeure.  The Company, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliate, shall 
not be responsible for any delays or non-performance caused in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by 
strikes, accidents, freight embargoes, fire, floods, inability to obtain materials, conditions arising from 
government orders or regulations, war or national emergency, acts of God, and any other cause, similar or 
dissimilar, beyond the Company’s, and, as applicable, any Sponsor Affiliates’ reasonable control. 

Section 4.11 Administrative Fees. The Company shall reimburse the County for all reasonable 
costs and fees, including but not limited to the County’s legal fees and costs for retention of its Special 
Counsel, actually incurred by the County but exclusive of normal County overhead including costs and 
salaries related to administrative staff, employees, and similar costs and fees, relating to the negotiation and 
approval of the inducement of the Project, as they shall become due, but in no event later than the date 
which is the earlier of any payment date expressly provided for in this Fee Agreement or the date which is 
forty-five (45) days after receiving written notice from the County, accompanied by such supporting 
documentation as may be necessary to evidence the County’s right to receive such payment, specifying the 
nature of such expense and requesting payment of same.  The fees reimbursable under this Section shall in 
no event exceed $5,000 in the aggregate.  

 
 
 

[signatures on following pages] 



15 
PPAB 10156474v3 

  



16 
PPAB 10156474v3 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused this 
Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Chair of County Council and to be 
attested by the County Administrator and the Clerk to County Council; and the Company has caused this 
Fee Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 

 
ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

_______________________________________   ________________ 
Tommy Dunn, Chairman   Dated 
Anderson County Council 
 
 

 
 
 
(SEAL) 
 
ATTEST:      
 
 
_________________________________ 
Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Renee D. Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
  



17 
PPAB 10156474v3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused this 
Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Chair of County Council and to be 
attested by the County Administrator and the Clerk to County Council; and the Company has caused this 
Fee Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 

[PROJECT CHAUGA] 
 
        
Name: 
Title: 
 
DATE_____________________________________ 

  



18 
PPAB 10156474v3 

  



19 
PPAB 10156474v3 

EXHIBIT A 

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 

[TO BE PROVIDED PRIOR TO 3rd READING] 

Tax Map Number [NUMBER] 

 
 
  



20 
PPAB 10156474v3 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
JOINDER AGREEMENT 

 
Reference is hereby made to (i) that certain Fee Agreement effective December 19, 2023 (“Fee 

Agreement”), between Anderson County, South Carolina (“County”), [PROJECT CHAUGA] (the 
“Company”). 

 
1. Joinder to Fee Agreement. 
 

The undersigned hereby (a) joins as a party to, and agrees to be bound by and subject to all of the terms 
and conditions of, the Fee Agreement; (b) acknowledges and agrees that (i) in accordance the Fee 
Agreement, the undersigned has been designated as a Sponsor Affiliate by the Company for purposes of 
the Project and such designation has been consented to by the County in accordance with the Act (as defined 
in the Fee Agreement); (ii) the undersigned qualifies or will qualify as a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee 
Agreement and Section 12-44-30(20) and Section 12-44-130 of the Act; and (iii) the undersigned shall have 
all of the rights and obligations of a Sponsor Affiliate as set forth in the Fee Agreement.  

 
2. Capitalized Terms. 

 
All capitalized terms used but not defined in this Joinder Agreement shall have the meanings set forth 

in the Fee Agreement. 
 

3. Governing Law. 
 

This Joinder Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State 
of South Carolina, without regard to principles of choice of law.  

 
4. Notice.   

 
Notices under Section 4.1 of the Fee Agreement shall be sent to [Name of Entity] at: 
 
[                                 ] 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Joinder Agreement to be effective as of 

the date set forth below.  
 
_______________   _____________________________________  
Date      Name of Entity 
 
By:   ____________________________        
Name:  ____________________________ 
Its:  ____________________________       
Address: ____________________________ 
   ____________________________ 

    
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company consents to the addition of the above-named entity becoming 

a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement effective as of the date set forth above.  



21 
PPAB 10156474v3 

 
By:   ____________________________        
Name:  ____________________________ 
Its:  ____________________________       
Date:  ____________________________ 
Address: ____________________________ 
  ____________________________ 
 



NPDocuments:61240111.2  

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-050 
 
 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF 

A SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT BY AND 
BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND [PROJECT 
AUSTIN], WITH RESPECT TO SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS 
TO BE APPLIED AGAINST FEE IN LIEU OF TAX PAYMENTS RELATED 
TO CERTAIN INVESTMENTS IN THE COUNTY; AND OTHER 
MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”) is authorized by Article 
VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4, Chapter 1, Code of Laws of South 
Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Multi-County Park Act”), to enter into agreements with one or 
more contiguous counties for the creation and operation of joint county industrial and business 
parks, whereby the industrial development of the State of South Carolina (the “State”) will be 
promoted and trade developed by inducing new industries to locate in the State and by encouraging 
industries now located in the State to expand their investments and thus utilize and employ 
manpower and other resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare of the County by 
providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 
and 

 WHEREAS, the County is authorized by Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act 
to provide special source revenue credits against payments in lieu of taxes to provide 
reimbursement to companies in respect of investment in property, including infrastructure, 
improved and unimproved real estate and certain personal property consisting of machinery and 
equipment used in the operation of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise, within the meaning 
of Section 4-29-68, Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (“Infrastructure”); and 

 WHEREAS, [Project Austin], a ________________ (the “Taxpayer”), has represented that 
it will make additional investment in the Project, which will result in an expected aggregate 
investment of $5,000,000 by the Taxpayer; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and 
Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act, the County has previously entered into or will enter 
into an agreement with an adjoining South Carolina county adding the Project to a Park, and 
pursuant to such agreement, the Taxpayer will be obligated to make or cause to be made payments 
in lieu of taxes in the total amount equivalent to the ad valorem property taxes that would have 
been due and payable but for the location of the Project within the Park; and 

 WHEREAS, the County Council has agreed, pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-
County Park Act, to provide special source revenue credit financing of the Infrastructure with 
respect to the Project by providing an annual seventy (70%) percent base credit to the Taxpayer 
against payments in lieu of taxes for the Project in the Park (the “FILOT Payments”) for a period 
of six (6) consecutive years beginning the year following the first year which any portion of the 
Project is first placed in service and running through the 6th year after the first year which any 
portion of the Project is first placed in service, as set forth more fully in the Special Source Revenue 



2 
NPDocuments:61240111.2  

Credit Agreement between the County and the Taxpayer presented to this meeting (the “SSRC 
Agreement”); and 

 WHEREAS, the County has determined and found, on the basis of representations of the 
Taxpayer, that the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by 
providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; 
and, that the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated 
municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing power of either; that the purposes to be 
accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic development, retention of jobs, and addition to the tax 
base of the County, are proper governmental and public purposes; 
 
 WHEREAS, it appears that the SSRC Agreement above referred to, which is now before 
this meeting, is in appropriate form and is an appropriate instrument to be executed and delivered or 
approved by the County for the purposes intended. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council of Anderson County, 
in meeting duly assembled, as follows: 
 

Section 1. The Chairman of County Council, for and on behalf of the County, is hereby 
authorized to execute and deliver the SSRC Agreement, in substantially the form attached hereto, or 
with such minor changes as are not materially adverse to the County and as such official shall 
determine and as are not inconsistent with the matters contained herein, his execution thereof to 
constitute conclusive evidence of his approval of any and all changes or revisions therein from the 
form of the SSRC Agreement now before this meeting, and each of the County Administrator and 
the Chairman of County Council is directed to do anything otherwise necessary to effect the 
execution and delivery of the SSRC Agreement and the performance of all obligations of the County 
under and pursuant to the SSRC Agreement. 

Section 2. All fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes pursuant to the agreement received by 
the County for MCIP premises located in the County attributable to current MCIP property shall 
be distributed in accordance with Section 3 of Ordinance 2010-026 and Paragraph 7 of the MCIP 
Agreement.  All fee-in lieu of ad valorem  taxes pursuant to the agreement received by the County 
for MCIP premises located in the County attributable to MCIP property added on and after 
November 16, 2020 shall be distributed, net of special source credits provided by the County 
pursuant to Section 4-1-175 (“Net Park Fees”) as follows: First, 15% of Net Park Fees shall be 
deposited to Bond Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 and used as required or permitted thereby, 
Second, 35% of Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 2018-042, shall be 
deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County, and Third, remaining Net 
Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entitles in the County which levy an old ad 
valorem property tax in any of the areas comprising the County’s portion of the MCIP in the same 
percentage as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of 
operating and debt service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes. 

Section 3. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared to be separable and if 
any section, phrase or provisions shall for any reason be declared by a court of competent jurisdiction 
to be invalid or unenforceable, such declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the 
sections, phrases and provisions hereunder. 



3 
NPDocuments:61240111.2  

Section 4. All ordinances, resolutions, and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the 
extent of such conflict, hereby repealed. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from 
and after its passage by the County Council. 

 ENACTED in meeting duly assembled this _____ day of ___________, 2023.  
 
      ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL) By: ______________________________________ 
  Tommy Dunn 
  Chairman of County Council  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________ 
 Rusty Burns 
 County Administrator 
 
 
 
By: ____________________________________ 
 Clerk to County Council 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
________________________ 
Leon C. Harmon 
County Attorney 
 
 
First Reading:  ________________, 2023 
Second Reading: ________________, 2023 
Third Reading:  ________________, 2023 
Public Hearing: ________________, 2023 



 

NPDocuments:61240111.2  

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby 
certify that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given 
reading, and received unanimous approval, by the County Council at its meetings of 
_____________, 2023, _____________, 2023 and _____________, 2023, at which meetings a 
quorum of members of County Council were present and voted, and an original of which ordinance 
is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 
 
 _______________________________________ 
 Clerk, County Council of Anderson County 
 
 
Dated: _____________, 2023 
 
 
 



NPDocuments:61240264.3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 

between 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, 
 
 

and 
 
 

[PROJECT AUSTIN], 
a __________________ 

 
 
 

 
Dated as of ____________, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

NPDocuments:61240264.3  

SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 

THIS SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of _____________, 
2023 (the “Agreement”), between ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and 
corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), and [PROJECT AUSTIN], 
a _________________ (the “Taxpayer”). 

 
W I T N E S S E T H : 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Section 

4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act, the County and Greenville County entered into that certain 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park, dated as of December 1, 
2010, as amended, and the Project was added to the Park by Ordinance No. _______________ enacted by 
the County on _______________ and by Ordinance No. ________________ enacted by Greenville County 
on __________________, and pursuant to such agreement, the Taxpayer and its successors and assigns will 
be obligated to make or cause to be made payments in lieu of taxes in the total amount equivalent to the ad 
valorem property taxes that would have been due and payable but for the location of the Project within the 
Park; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Taxpayer will make additional investments at the Project on the land in the County 
described in Exhibit A hereto (the “Land”); and 

WHEREAS, the Taxpayer has represented that it intends to invest in the acquisition, construction and 
installation of buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real and/or 
tangible personal at the Project, which will result in an expected aggregate investment of $5,000,000 by the 
Taxpayer, all by December 31 of the fifth (5th) year after the year in which any portion of the Project is first 
placed in service (the “Investment Period”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Infrastructure Credit Act, the County has agreed to provide certain credits 
to the Taxpayer in respect of the payments in lieu of taxes to be made by the Taxpayer as a result of its 
investment in the Infrastructure with respect to the Project, and is delivering this Agreement in furtherance 
thereof; and 

WHEREAS, the County Council has duly authorized execution and delivery of this Agreement by 
ordinance duly enacted by the County Council on ______________, 2023, following conducting a public 
hearing on ______________, 2023;  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective representations and agreements hereinafter 
contained, the County and the Taxpayer agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

The terms defined in this Article I shall for all purposes of this Agreement have the meanings herein 
specified, unless the context clearly otherwise requires.  Except where the context otherwise requires, words 
importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice versa.   

“Affiliate of the Taxpayer” shall mean each of the Persons that directly or indirectly, through one or 
more intermediaries, owns or controls, or is controlled by or under common control with, the Taxpayer.  For 
the purpose of this definition, “control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or 



 

2 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

cause the direction of management and policies, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract 
or otherwise. 

“Agreement” shall mean this Agreement, as the same may be amended, modified or supplemented in 
accordance with the terms hereof. 

 “Code” shall mean the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended. 

 “Taxpayer” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this Agreement. 

“Cost of the Infrastructure” shall mean to extent permitted by law, the cost of acquiring, by 
construction and purchase, the Infrastructure and shall be deemed to include, whether incurred prior to or after 
the date of this Agreement:  (a) obligations incurred for labor, materials, and other expenses to builders and 
materialmen in connection with the acquisition, construction, and installation of the Infrastructure; (b) the cost 
of design and engineering of the Infrastructure; (c) the cost of construction bonds and of insurance of all kinds 
that may be required or necessary during the course of construction and installation of the Infrastructure, which 
is not paid by the contractor or contractors or otherwise provided for; (d) the expenses for test borings, surveys, 
test and pilot operations, estimates, plans and specifications and preliminary investigations therefor, and for 
supervising construction, as well as for the performance of all other duties required by or reasonably necessary 
in connection with the acquisition, construction, and installation of the Infrastructure; (e) all other costs which 
shall be required under the terms of any contract for the acquisition, construction, and installation of the 
Infrastructure; and (f) all legal, accounting and related costs properly capitalizable to the cost of the 
Infrastructure. 

“County” shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina and its successors and assigns.  

“Fee Payments” shall mean the payments in lieu of taxes made by the Taxpayer with respect to the 
Project by virtue of the Project’s location in (a) the Park or (b) in any joint county industrial park created by the 
County and a partner county pursuant to the Park Agreement qualifying under Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-
County Park Act or any successor provision. 

“FILOT Act” shall mean Title 4, Section 29, of the Code. 

“Infrastructure” shall mean infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real estate 
and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation of the Project, within the 
meaning of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Infrastructure Credit Act” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals 
to this Agreement. 

“Infrastructure Credits” shall mean the annual special source revenue credits provided to the Taxpayer 
pursuant to Section 3.02 hereof. 

“Investment Period” shall mean the period commencing on January 1 of the year after the first year in 
which the Project is first placed into service and ending on December 31 of the fifth year after the first year in 
which the Project is first placed into service. 

 “Investment Target” shall mean the investment by the Taxpayer of at least $5,000,000 in the Project. 

 “Land” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this Agreement. 



 

3 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

“Multi-County Park Act” shall mean Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code, and all future acts amendatory 
thereto. 

“Ordinance” shall mean the ordinance enacted by the County Council on _____________, 2023, 
authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 

“Park Agreement” shall mean the Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park, dated as of December 1, 2010, between the County and Greenville County, South Carolina, 
as the same may be further amended or supplemented from time to time or such other agreement as the County 
may enter with respect to the Project to offer the benefits of the Infrastructure Credit Act to the Taxpayer 
hereunder. 

“Park” shall mean (i) the joint county industrial park established pursuant to the terms of the Park 
Agreement and (ii) any joint county industrial park created pursuant to a successor park agreement delivered 
by the County and a partner county in accordance with Section 4-1-170 of the Act, or any successor provision, 
with respect to the Project.  

“Person” shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock company, 
a trust, any unincorporated organization, or a government or political subdivision. 

“Project” shall have the meaning set forth with respect to such term in the recitals to this Agreement. 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

SECTION 2.01.  Representations by the County.  The County makes the following representations 
and covenants as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South 
Carolina and is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into the transactions 
contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. By proper action by the County 
Council, the County has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and any and all agreements 
collateral thereto. 

(b) The County proposes to provide the Infrastructure Credits to reimburse the Taxpayer for a 
portion of the Cost of the Infrastructure for the purpose of promoting economic development of the County. 

(c) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, the County is not in 
violation of any of the provisions of the laws of the State of South Carolina, where any such default would 
affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, the authorization, 
execution and delivery of this Agreement, the enactment of the Ordinance, and performance of the transactions 
contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not, to the best knowledge of the County, conflict with, or 
result in the violation or breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under, or create any lien, charge 
or encumbrance under the provisions of (i) the Constitution of the State or any law, rule, or regulation of any 
governmental authority, (ii) any agreement to which the County is a party, or (iii) any judgment, order, or 
decree to which the County is a party or by which it is bound.   



 

4 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

(e) To the best knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County, there is no action, 
suit, proceeding, inquiry, or investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public 
board which is pending or threatened challenging the creation, organization or existence of the County or its 
governing body or the power of the County to enter into the transactions contemplated hereby or wherein an 
unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated hereby or would 
affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this Agreement, or any other agreement or 
instrument to which the County is a party and which is to be used in connection with or is contemplated by this 
Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of the undersigned representatives of the County is there any basis 
therefor. 

SECTION 2.02.  Representations and Covenants by the Taxpayer.  The Taxpayer makes the following 
representations, warranties and covenants as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The Taxpayer is qualified to do business in the State of South Carolina, has power to enter 
into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder, and by proper corporate action, if applicable, 
has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement. 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
will result in a material breach of any of the terms, conditions, or provisions of any corporate restriction or any 
agreement or instrument to which the Taxpayer is now a party or by which it is bound, or will constitute a 
default under any of the foregoing, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, or encumbrance 
of any nature whatsoever upon any of the property or assets of the Taxpayer, other than as may be created or 
permitted by this Agreement. 

(c) The Taxpayer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Investment Target to be 
achieved during the Investment Period. 

(d) To the best knowledge of the Taxpayer, there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or 
investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public board which is pending or 
threatened challenging the power of the Taxpayer to enter into the transactions contemplated hereby or wherein 
an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions contemplated hereby or 
would affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this Agreement, or any other agreement or 
instrument to which the Taxpayer is a party and which is to be used in connection with or is contemplated by 
this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of the Taxpayer is there any basis therefore. 

(e) The Taxpayer agrees to reimburse the County for all reasonable expenses, including 
attorney’s fees, to which it might be put in the review of this Agreement and in the fulfillment of its 
obligations under this Agreement and in the implementation of its terms and provisions. 

(f) The Taxpayer agrees to maintain such books and records with respect to the Project as will 
permit verification of the Taxpayer’s compliance with the terms of this Agreement and the certifications 
submitted to the County pursuant to Section 3.02(c) hereof.  The Taxpayer may, by clear, written 
designation, conspicuously marked, designate with respect to any book and records delivered or made 
available to the County segments thereof that the Taxpayer believes contain proprietary, confidential, or 
trade secret matters.  The County shall comply with all reasonable, written requests made by the Taxpayer 
with respect to maintaining the confidentiality of such designated segments.  Except to the extent required 
by law, the County shall not release information which has been designated as confidential or proprietary 
by the Taxpayer. 



 

5 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

(g) The Taxpayer agrees to pay the County’s legal fees related to the review of this Agreement 
in the amount of Three Thousand, Five Hundred and No/100ths ($3,500.00) Dollars within forty-five (45) 
days of receipt of the invoice for the County’s legal fees.  

SECTION 2.03.  Covenants of the County. 

(a) To the best of its ability, the County will at all times maintain its corporate existence and will 
use its best efforts to maintain, preserve, and renew all its rights, powers and privileges; and it will comply with 
all valid acts, rules, regulations, orders, and directions of any legislative, executive, administrative, or judicial 
body applicable to this Agreement. 

(b) In the event of the termination of the Park Agreement prior to December 31, 2030, the County 
agrees to use its best reasonable efforts to cause the Project, at the Taxpayer’s expense, pursuant to Section 4-
1-170 of the Act or any successor provision, to be included in a duly authorized, executed and delivered 
successor joint county industrial park agreement with an adjoining South Carolina county, which successor 
agreement shall contain a termination date occurring no earlier than the final year as to which any Infrastructure 
Credit shall be payable under this Agreement. 

(c) The County covenants that it will from time to time, at the request and expense of the 
Taxpayer, execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be reasonable and 
as may be required to carry out the purpose of this Agreement; provided, however, that such instruments or 
actions shall never create or constitute a general obligation or an indebtedness of the County within the meaning 
of any State constitutional provision (other than the provisions of Article X, Section 14(10) of the South 
Carolina Constitution) or statutory limitation and shall never constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of 
the County or a charge against its general credit or taxing power or pledge the full faith, credit or taxing power 
of the State, or any other political subdivision of the State. 

ARTICLE III 

INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS 
 
SECTION 3.01.  Payment of Costs of Infrastructure.   

The Taxpayer shall be responsible for payment of all Costs of the Infrastructure with respect to the 
Project as and when due.   

SECTION 3.02.  Infrastructure Credits.   

(a) In order to reimburse the Taxpayer for a portion of the Cost of the Infrastructure with respect 
to the Project, commencing with the annual Fee Payment to be first payable on or before the January 15th 
immediately following the year immediately following the first year in which any portion of the Project is first 
placed in service, the County shall provide to the Taxpayer Infrastructure Credits for a period of six (6) 
consecutive years in an amount equal to seventy (70%) of that portion of Fee Payments payable by the Taxpayer 
with respect to the Project (that is, with respect to investment made by the Taxpayer in the Project during the 
Investment Period) calculated and applied after payment of the amount due the non-host county under the 
Park Agreement.  

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the Taxpayer 
be entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of the investment in the 
Project for which an Infrastructure Credit is taken. 



 

6 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

(c) In no event shall the aggregate amount of all Infrastructure Credits claimed by the Taxpayer 
exceed the amount expended by it collectively with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time. The 
Taxpayer shall be responsible for making written annual certification as to compliance with the provisions of 
the preceding sentence through the delivery of a certification in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 
B. Further, any amount of reimbursement of the Taxpayer for Infrastructure expenditure by way of an 
Infrastructure Credit may not be duplicated through an infrastructure credit to the Taxpayer for the same 
expenditure.  

(d) In the event the Taxpayer fails to meet the Investment Target by the end of the fifth (5th) 
year after the Project is placed in service, the Infrastructure Credits will terminate.  

(e) [Intentionally omitted]   

(f) As provided in Section 4-29-68 of the Code, to the extent any Infrastructure Credit is used as 
a payment for personal property, including machinery and equipment, and the personal property is removed 
from the Project at any time during the term of this Agreement (and not replaced with qualifying replacement 
property), the amount of the fee in lieu of taxes due on the personal property for the year in which the personal 
property was removed from the Project shall be due for the two (2) years immediately following such removal.  

(g) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS BECOMING DUE 
HEREUNDER ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY 
SOLELY FROM THE FEE PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY THE COUNTY FOR THE PROJECT 
PURSUANT TO THE PARK AGREEMENT, AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE A 
GENERAL OBLIGATION OR AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY WITHIN THE MEANING OF 
ANY CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION (OTHER THAN THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE X, SECTION 
14(10) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION) OR STATUTORY LIMITATION AND DO NOT 
AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY OF THE COUNTY 
OR A CHARGE AGAINST ITS GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING POWER.  THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, 
AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE NOT PLEDGED FOR THE INFRASTRUCTURE 
CREDITS. 

(h) No breach by the County of this Agreement shall result in the imposition of any pecuniary 
liability upon the County or any charge upon its general credit or against its taxing power. The liability of the 
County under this Agreement or of any warranty herein included or for any breach or default by the County of 
any of the foregoing shall be limited solely and exclusively to the Fee Payments for the Project in the Park. The 
County shall not be required to execute or perform any of its duties, obligations, powers, or covenants hereunder 
except to the extent of the Fee Payments. 

ARTICLE IV 

CONDITIONS TO DELIVERY OF AGREEMENT; 
TITLE TO PROJECT 

SECTION 4.01.  Documents to be Provided by County.  Prior to or simultaneously with the execution 
and delivery of this Agreement, the County shall provide to the Taxpayer: 

(a) A copy of the Ordinance, duly certified by the Clerk of the County Council to have been duly 
enacted by the County and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification; and 

(b) A copy of the Park Agreement, duly certified by the Clerk of the County Council to have been 
duly enacted by the County and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification; and  



 

7 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

(c) Such additional related certificates, instruments or other documents as the Taxpayer may 
reasonably request in a form and substance acceptable to the Taxpayer and the County. 

SECTION 4.02.  Transfers of Project; Assignment of Interest in this Agreement by the Taxpayer. The 
County hereby acknowledges that the Taxpayer may from time to time and in accordance with applicable law, 
sell, transfer, lease, convey, or grant the right to occupy and use the Project, in whole or in part, or assign its 
interest in this Agreement, to others; provided, however, that the Taxpayer will give notice of any transfer by 
the Taxpayer of any of its interest in this Agreement to an Affiliate of the Taxpayer, but such transfer may be 
done without the County’s consent.  A transfer to any other Person who is not an Affiliate of the Taxpayer shall 
require the prior written consent of the County or the subsequent ratification by the County, which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. No such sale, lease, conveyance, grant or assignment shall relieve the County from the 
County’s obligations to provide Infrastructure Credits to the Taxpayer or any assignee of the same, under this 
Agreement as long as such assignee is qualified to receive the Infrastructure Credits under the Infrastructure 
Credit Act. 

SECTION 4.03.  Assignment by County.  The County shall not assign, transfer, or convey its 
obligations to provide Infrastructure Credits hereunder to any other Person, except as may be required by South 
Carolina law. 

ARTICLE V 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

SECTION 5.01.  Events of Default.  If the County or the Taxpayer shall fail duly and punctually to 
perform any covenant, condition, agreement or provision contained in this Agreement on its part to be 
performed, which failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice by the County or the 
Taxpayer, respectively, specifying the failure and requesting that it be remedied is given to the County by the 
Taxpayer, or to the Taxpayer by the County, by first-class mail, the County or the Taxpayer, respectively, shall 
be in default under this Agreement (an “Event of Default”). 

SECTION 5.02.  Remedies and Legal Proceedings by the Taxpayer or the County.  Upon the 
happening and continuance of any Event of Default, then and in every such case the Taxpayer or the County, 
as the case may be, in their discretion may: 

(a) by mandamus, or other suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce all of its or 
their rights and require the other party to carry out any agreements with or for its benefit and to perform its 
or their duties under the Act and this Agreement; 

(b) bring suit upon this Agreement; 

(c) exercise any or all rights and remedies provided by applicable laws of the State of South 
Carolina; or 

(d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful or in violation of 
its rights. 

SECTION 5.03.  Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy in this Agreement conferred upon or reserved 
to the County or the Taxpayer hereunder is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each 
and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under this 
Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 



 

8 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

SECTION 5.04.  Nonwaiver.  No delay or omission of the County or the Taxpayer to exercise any 
right or power accruing upon any default or Event of Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be 
construed to be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default, or an acquiescence therein; and every power 
and remedy given by this Article V to any party may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be 
deemed expedient. 

ARTICLE VI 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SECTION 6.01.  Termination.  Subject to Sections 5.01 and 5.02 above, this Agreement shall terminate 
on the date upon which all Infrastructure Credits provided for herein have been credited to the Taxpayer. 

SECTION 6.02.  Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises, and agreements 
in this Agreement contained, by or on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the County, shall bind or inure to the 
benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any officer, board, commission, agency, or 
instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of the County, shall be transferred. 

SECTION 6.03.  Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of the County and the Taxpayer.  Except 
as in this Agreement otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied is 
intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person other than the County and the Taxpayer any right, 
remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement, this Agreement being intended to be for the sole and 
exclusive benefit of the County and the Taxpayer. 

SECTION 6.04.  Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall, for 
any reason, be held to be illegal or invalid, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision of this 
Agreement, and this Agreement, the Infrastructure Credits shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or 
invalid provisions had not been contained herein or therein. 

SECTION 6.05.  No Liability for Personnel of the County or the Taxpayer.  No covenant or agreement 
contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the covenant or agreement of any member, agent, or 
employee of the County or its governing body or the Taxpayer or any of its officers, employees, or agents in 
his individual capacity, and neither the members of the governing body of the County nor any official executing 
this Agreement shall be liable personally on the Infrastructure Credits or this Agreement or be subject to any 
personal liability of accountability by reason of the issuance thereof. 

SECTION 6.06.  Notices.  All notices, certificates, requests, or other communications under this 
Agreement shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given, unless otherwise required by this Agreement, 
when (i) delivered or (ii) sent by United States certified mail, return-receipt requested, restricted delivery, 
postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

(a) if to the County: Anderson County 
Attn:  County Administrator 
P.O. Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 
 

 with a copy to: 
(which shall not 
constitute notice 
to the County)  

Anderson County Attorney 
P.O. Box 8002 
Anderson, South Carolina 29622-8002 
 
 



 

9 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

 
(b) if to the Taxpayer: [Project Austin] 

Attn:                                  
                                           
                                           
 

 with a copy to: 
(which shall not 
constitute notice 
to the Taxpayer) 

Maynard Nexsen PC 
104 South Main Street, Suite 900 
Greenville, South Carolina 29601 
Attn: James K. Price 
 

 
A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate, request or other communication given under this 

Agreement to the County or the Taxpayer shall also be given to the others. The County and the Taxpayer may, 
by notice given under this Section 6.06, designate any further or different addresses to which subsequent 
notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be sent. 

SECTION 6.07.  Applicable Law.  The laws of the State of South Carolina shall govern the 
construction of this Agreement. 

SECTION 6.08.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each 
of which, when so executed and delivered, shall be an original; but such counterparts shall together constitute 
but one and the same instrument. 

SECTION 6.09.  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of the 
parties hereto. 

SECTION 6.10.  Waiver.  Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or 
condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

SECTION 6.11.  Indemnity. 

(a) Notwithstanding the fact that it is the intention of the parties that the County, its members, 
officers, elected officials, employees, servants and agents (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”) shall not 
incur pecuniary liability by reason of the terms of this Agreement, or the undertakings required of the 
County hereunder, by reason of the granting of the Infrastructure Credits, by reason of the execution of this 
Agreement, by the reason of the performance of any act requested of it by the Taxpayer, or by reason of the 
County’s relationship to the Project or by the operation of the Project by the Taxpayer, including all claims, 
liabilities or losses arising in connection with the violation of any statutes or regulations pertaining to the 
foregoing, nevertheless, if the County or any of the other Indemnified Parties should incur any such 
pecuniary liability, then in such event the Taxpayer shall indemnify, defend and hold them harmless against 
all claims by or on behalf of any person, firm or corporation, arising out of the same, and all costs and 
expenses incurred in connection with any such claim or in connection with any action or proceeding brought 
thereon, and upon notice, the Taxpayer shall defend them in any such action or proceeding with legal 
counsel acceptable to the County (the approval of which shall not be unreasonably withheld); provided, 
however, that such indemnity shall not apply to the extent that any such claim is proximately caused by (i) 
the grossly negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct of the County, its agents, officers or 
employees, or (ii) any breach of this Agreement by the County. 



 

10 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

(b) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the above-referenced covenants 
insofar as they pertain to costs, damages, liabilities or claims by any Indemnified Party resulting from any of 
the above-described acts of or failure to act by the Taxpayer, shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Anderson County, South Carolina, has caused this Agreement to be 
executed by the Anderson County Chairman of County Council and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed 
and attested by the Clerk of its County Council and [Project Austin] has caused this Agreement to be executed 
by an authorized manager/officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 

 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
(SEAL) By:_______________________________________ 
  Chairman of County Council  
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Clerk to County Council of  
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 

[Signature page 1 to Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement] 
  



 

11 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

  
      [PROJECT AUSTIN], a 
      _____________________________ 
 
 
      By:  _______________________________________ 
      Name: _____________________________________   
      Title: ______________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

[Signature page 2 to Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement] 
 



 

A-1 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

EXHIBIT A 

REAL PROPERTY DESCRIPTION  
 

 
 
 
 



 

B-1 
NPDocuments:61240264.3  

EXHIBIT B 

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT CERTIFICATION 
 
 
 I _____________________, the ________________ of [Project Austin] (the “Taxpayer”), do hereby 
certify in connection with the Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement dated as of ____________, 2023 
(the “Agreement”) between Anderson County, South Carolina and the Taxpayer, as follows: 
 

(1) As of December 31, 20__, the total amount of Infrastructure Credits received by the Taxpayer 
is $_______________. 

(2) As of December 31, 20__, the total amount of investment in Costs of Infrastructure by the 
Taxpayer is not less than $_______________. 

 All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand this _____ day of __________, 20__. 
 
 [PROJECT AUSTIN] 
 
 
 By:       
 Name:       
 Its:       
 
 

 

 
 
 
 



  
 

NPDocuments:62076466.1  

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-051 
 
 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND AN AGREEMENT FOR THE DEVELOPMENT 

OF A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK (2010 PARK) OF 
ANDERSON AND GREENVILLE COUNTIES SO AS TO ENLARGE THE PARK. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 2010-026 enacted October 19, 2010 by Anderson County 
Council, Anderson County entered into an Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 
Business Park (2010 Park) dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, with Greenville County (the 
“Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3(A) of the Agreement, the boundaries of the park created therein 
(the “Park”) may be enlarged pursuant to ordinances of the County Councils of Anderson County and 
Greenville County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with certain incentives being offered by Anderson County, it is now 
desired that the boundaries of the Park be enlarged to include certain parcels in Anderson County;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, be it ordained by Anderson County Council that Exhibit B to the 
Agreement is hereby and shall be amended and revised to include property located in Anderson County 
described in the schedule attached to this Ordinance, and, pursuant to Section 3(B) of the Agreement, upon 
adoption by Greenville County of a corresponding ordinance, the Agreement shall be deemed amended to 
so include such property and Exhibit B as so revised, without further action by either county. 
 
 DONE in meeting duly assembled this _____ day of _____________, 20___.  
 
 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

(SEAL) By:________________________________________ 
  Chairman, Anderson County Council 
 
Attest: 

By:_______________________________ 
 Clerk to Anderson County Council 
 
FORM APPROVED BY: 
 
 
      
County Attorney 
 
 
First Reading:        
Second Reading:        
Third Reading:        
Public Hearing:        



A-1 
NPDocuments:62076466.1  

Addition to Exhibit A to 
Agreement for the Development of a Joint County Industrial and 

Business Park dated as of December 1, 2010, as amended, 
between Anderson County and Greenville County 

 
 

[Project Austin Legal Description to be added] 
 



NPDocuments:62076466.1  

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  ) 
      ) 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON    ) 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
(i) that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of an ordinance which was given reading, and 
received majority approval, by the County Council at meetings of___________, 20___, __________, 
20___ and __________, 20___, at which meetings a quorum of members of County Council were present 
and voted, and an original of which ordinance is filed in the permanent records of the County Council; and 
(ii) the public hearing for the attached ordinance was conducted by County Council at the County Council 
meeting of __________, 20___.   
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Clerk, Anderson County Council 
 
 
Dated: __________, 20___ 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-052 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF AN 
INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN 
ANDERSON COUNTY AND PROJECT TRUST PROVIDING FOR 
PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF TAXES, THE ISSUANCE OF SPECIAL 
SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS, THE INCLUSION OF THE PROPERTY 
IN A MULTI-COUNTY PARK; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO. 

 
 WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”) acting by and through its 
County Council (the “Council”) is authorized by Title 4 Chapter 1 of the Code of Laws of South 
Carolina, 1976, as amended (the “Act”), to provide special source revenue credits to offset 
payments in lieu of taxes, for the purpose of defraying the costs of designing, acquiring, 
constructing, improving, or expanding the infrastructure serving the County or certain projects or 
for improved and unimproved real estate and personal property used in the operation of a 
manufacturing facility or commercial enterprise in order to enhance the economic development 
of the County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the company known to the County as Project Trust (the “Company”) is 
considering the location of a company production facility in the County that would require an 
investment of approximately $4,700,000 that is anticipated to result in the creation of 
approximately 60 new, full-time jobs in the County (the “Project”); and  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Act and Article VIII, 
Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County intends to cause the site on which the 
Project is located, to the extent not already therein located, in a multi-county industrial and 
business park (a “Park”) established by the County pursuant to qualifying agreement with 
Greenville County, South Carolina dated as of December 1, 2010 (the “Park Agreement”); and 
  
  WHEREAS, in order to induce the location of the Project in the County, the Company 
has requested and the County has agreed to enter into an Infrastructure Credit Agreement (the 
“Agreement”) to provide for certain special source revenue credits (“SSRC”) in two parts:  Part I 
SSRCs equal to the difference between the gross payments in lieu of tax due and payments in 
lieu of tax that would have been due under a traditional fee in lieu of tax arrangement, and Part II 
SSRCs equal to 15% of the payments in lieu of taxes associated with the Project for a period of 
five years 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the County Council of Anderson 
County, South Carolina, as follows: 
 

1. The County hereby approves the Agreement in the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit A, together with such changes as are not materially adverse to the County, upon the 
advice of the County Attorney, and the County Chair, County Administrator and Clerk to 
Council are hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Agreement to the 
Company. 

 



2. The County hereby approves amending the the Park Agreement to add the Project 
to the Park, and the County Chair, County Administrator and Clerk to Council are hereby 
authorized and directed to execute and deliver such amendment to the Company. 

 
  3. All fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes pursuant to the Park Agreement received by 
the County for Park premises located in the County attributable to property added to the Park 
prior to November 16, 2020 shall be distributed in accordance with Section 3 of Ordinance 2010-
026 and Paragraph 7 of the Park Agreement.  All fee-in lieu of ad valorem  taxes pursuant to the 
agreement received by the County for Park premises located in the County attributable to Park 
property added on and after November 16, 2020 shall be distributed, net of special source credits 
provided by the County pursuant to Section 4-1-175 (“Net Park Fees”) as follows: First, 15% of 
Net Park Fees shall be deposited to Bond Fund created by Ordinance 2018-042 and used as 
required or permitted thereby, Second, 35% of Net Park Fees, and any surplus money under 
Ordinance 2018-042, shall be deposited to the Capital Renewal and Replacement Fund of the 
County, and Third, remaining Net Park Fees shall be disbursed to each of the taxing entitles in 
the County which levy an old ad valorem property tax in any of the areas comprising the 
County’s portion of the Park in the same percentage as is equal to that taxing entity’s percentage 
of the millage rate (and proportion of operating and debt service millage) being levied in the 
current tax year for property tax purposes. 

4. The Council Chair, Clerk to Council, County Administrator, County Attorney and 
all other appropriate officials of the County are authorized and directed to do any and all things 
necessary to effect the execution and delivery of the Agreement and the performance of all 
obligations of the County under and pursuant to the Agreement. 
 

5. The provisions of this ordinance are separable, and if any section, phrase, or 
provision is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the 
declaration shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the sections, phrases, and provisions 
in this ordinance. 

 
6. To the extent that this ordinance contains provisions that conflict with provisions 

contained elsewhere in the Anderson County Code or other County ordinances, the provisions 
contained in this ordinance supersede all other provisions and this ordinance is controlling. 
 
 7. This ordinance is effective upon public hearing and third reading. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



AND IT IS SO ORDAINED, this ____ day of _____________, 2023. 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY,  
SOUTH CAROLINA 

 
       _____________________________  
       Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Rusty Burns 
County Administrator 
                   
________________________________    
Renee Watts, Clerk      
Anderson County Council 
   
 
 
READINGS: 
 
First reading:  ___________, 2023 
Second reading:  ___________, 2023 
Public hearing:  ___________, 2023 
Third reading:  __________, 2023 



 
EXHIBIT A 

INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT 



 1 
 

   
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
 between 
 
 ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 and 
 
 
 CAROLINA STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS LLC, 

a North Carolina company 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Dated as of December 4, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2 
 

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
  THIS SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of December 4, 2023 
(the "Agreement"), between ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and 
corporate, and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the "County"), and 
CAROLINA STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS LLC, formerly identified as PROJECT TRUST, a 
company organized and existing under the laws of the State of North Carolina (the “Company”). 
 
 
 W I T N E S S E T H : 
 
  WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (the "County 
Council") is authorized by Sections 4-1-175, 4-12-30(K)(3), and 4-29-68 of the Code of Laws of 
South Carolina, 1976, as amended, to provide financing or reimbursement of expenses, secured by 
and payable solely from revenues of the County derived from payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to 
Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, for the purpose of defraying the cost of 
designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding the infrastructure serving the County 
and for, in this instance, improved and unimproved real estate used for the distribution and assembly 
of fasteners  in order to enhance the economic development of the County; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Company, previously known to the County as Project Pack, 
desires to locate a company production facility in the County that requires an investment of 
approximately $4,700,000, not including the purchase price of the existing building, and that is 
anticipated to result in the creation of approximately 60 new, full-time jobs in the County at the 
Project Site (the “Project”); and 

  WHEREAS, in order to induce the location of the Project in the County, the 
Company has requested and the County has agreed to enter into this Special Source Credit 
Agreement (the “Agreement”) to provide for certain special source revenue credits (“SSRCs”) in 
two parts:  Part I SSRCs equal to the difference between the gross payments in lieu of tax due 
and payments in lieu of tax that would have been due under a traditional fee in lieu of tax 
arrangement, and Part II SSRCs equal to 15% of the payments in lieu of taxes associated with the 
Project for a period of five years  (net of the Part I SSRCs),. 

  WHEREAS, the County has previously caused the property subject to this 
Agreement to be placed in a joint county industrial business park (the "Park") entered into between 
the County and Greenville County by entering into an Agreement for Development of the Joint 
County Industrial Park, as amended from time to time (the “Park Agreement”), pursuant to the 
provisions of Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the County Council has duly authorized execution and delivery of this 
Agreement by an ordinance duly enacted by the County Council on December 4, 2023, following a 
public hearing held on December 4, 2023, in compliance with the terms of the Act (as defined 
herein). 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations and agreements 



 3 
 

hereinafter contained, the County and the Company agree as follows: 
 
 ARTICLE I 
  

DEFINITIONS 
 
  The terms defined in this Article I shall for all purposes of this Agreement have the 
meanings herein specified, unless the context clearly otherwise requires.  Except where the context 
otherwise requires, words importing the singular number shall include the plural number and vice 
versa.   

  "Act" shall mean, collectively, Title 4, Chapter 29, Title 4, Chapter 12, and Title 4, 
Chapter 1 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, and all future acts amendatory 
thereof. 

  “Affiliate” shall mean any entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common 
control with the Company. 

  "Agreement" shall mean this Agreement, as the same may be amended, modified or 
supplemented in accordance with the terms hereof.    
 
  "Authorized Company Representative" shall mean any person or persons at the time 
designated to act on behalf of the Company by a written certificate furnished to the County 
containing the specimen signature of each such person and signed on behalf of the Company by its 
Corporate Officer. 
 
  “Authorized County Representative” shall mean the County Administrator or such 
other person or persons at the time designated to act on behalf of the County by a written certificate 
furnished to the Company containing the specimen signature of each such person and signed on 
behalf of the County by its County Administrator and the Clerk to County Council. 
 
  "Anderson Fee Payments" shall mean payments in lieu of taxes made to the County 
with respect to the Project by the Company, as required by the Park Agreement, minus payments 
due to Greenville County. 
 
  “Commencement Date” shall mean the last day of the Company’s tax year in which 
assets constituting a part of the Project are initially placed in service. 
 
  "Company" shall have the meaning hereinabove assigned. 
 
  “Confidential Information” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.10 herein. 
 
  "Cost" or "Cost of the Infrastructure" shall mean the cost of acquiring, by 
construction and purchase, the Infrastructure and shall be deemed to include, whether incurred prior 
to or after the date of the Agreement:  (a) obligations incurred for labor, materials, and other 
expenses to builders and materialmen in connection with the acquisition, construction, and 



 4 
 

installation of the Infrastructure; (b) the cost of construction bonds and of insurance of all kinds that 
may be required or necessary during the course of construction and installation of the Infrastructure, 
which is not paid by the contractor or contractors or otherwise provided for; (c) the expenses for test 
borings, surveys, test and pilot operations, estimates, plans and specifications and preliminary 
investigations therefor, and for supervising construction, as well as for the performance of all other 
duties required by or reasonably necessary in connection with the acquisition, construction, and 
installation of the Infrastructure; and (d) all other costs which shall be required under the terms of 
any contract for the acquisition, construction, and installation of the Infrastructure.   
 
  "County" shall mean Anderson County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate 
and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina and its successors and assigns.  
 
  "Event of Default" shall mean, with reference to this Agreement, any of the 
occurrences described in Section 6.01 hereof.    
 
  "Infrastructure" shall mean such of the Project's real estate, buildings, site 
improvements, internal roads, parking and all improvements thereon, as are permitted under the 
Act, whether owned by the Company or not. 
 

 “Investment Period” shall mean the period beginning with the Company’s tax year 
ending December 31, 2023 and ending five years after the Commencement Date. 

  “Investment Target” shall mean the investment by the Company of $4,700,000 
within the Investment Period, but excluding the purchase cost of the existing facility. 
   
  "Ordinance" shall mean the ordinance enacted by the County Council on December 
4, 2023 authorizing the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 
 
  "Park" shall mean the Joint County Industrial and Business Park established 
pursuant to the terms of the Park Agreement.  
  
  "Park Agreement" shall mean the Agreement for Development of the Joint County 
Industrial and Business Park between the County and Greenville County, South Carolina, as 
amended or supplemented from time to time. 
 
  "Person" shall mean an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a 
joint stock company, a trust, any unincorporated organization, or a government or political 
subdivision. 

  “Project” shall have the meaning set forth in the recitals.  
 
  “Project Site” shall mean the land described in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
  
  “Repayment Amount” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.05. 
 



 5 
 

  "SSRC" shall mean the credit against the Company's fee in lieu of tax payments, to 
reimburse the Company for the Cost of the Infrastructure, in the amounts set forth in Section 3.03 
hereof. 
 
 ARTICLE II 
  

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 
 
  SECTION 2.01. Representations by the County.  The County makes the following 
representations and covenants as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 
 
  (a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the 
State of South Carolina and is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into 
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder.  By 
proper action by the County Council, the County has been duly authorized to execute and deliver 
this Agreement and any and all agreements collateral thereto. 
 
  (b) The County proposes to reimburse the Company for a portion of the Cost of 
the Infrastructure, including the purchase of improved real property, for the purpose of promoting 
the economic development of the County. 
  
  (c) The County is not in default under any of the provisions of the laws of the 
State of South Carolina, where any such default would affect the validity or enforceability of this 
Agreement. 
 
  (d) The authorization, execution, and delivery of this Agreement, and the 
compliance by the County with the provisions hereof, will not, to the County's knowledge, conflict 
with or constitute a breach of, or a default under, any existing law, court or administrative 
regulation, decree, order or any provision of the Constitution or laws of the State relating to the 
establishment of the County or its affairs, or any agreement, mortgage, lease, or other instrument to 
which the County is subject or by which it is bound. 
 
  (e) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the enactment of the 
Ordinance, and performance of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will 
not, to the County's knowledge, conflict with, or result in the violation or breach of, or constitute a 
default or require any consent under, or create any lien, charge or encumbrance under the provisions 
of (i) the South Carolina Constitution or any law, rule, or regulation of any governmental authority, 
(ii) any agreement to which the County is a party, or (iii) any judgment, order, or decree to which 
the County is a party or by which it is bound; there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry, or 
investigation, at law or in equity, or before or by any court, public body, or public board, known to 
the County which is pending or threatened challenging the creation, organization or existence of the 
County or its governing body or the power of the County to enter into the transactions contemplated 
hereby or wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely affect the transactions 
contemplated hereby or would affect the validity, or adversely affect the enforceability, of this 
Agreement, or any other agreement or instrument to which the County is a party and which is to be 
used in connection with or is contemplated by this Agreement, nor to the best of the knowledge of 



 6 
 

the County is there any basis therefor. 
 
  SECTION 2.02. Representations by the Company.  The Company makes the 
following representations and warranties as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein 
contained: 
 
  (a) The Company is a North Carolina corporation, validly existing, and in good 
standing, has power to enter into this Agreement, and by proper company action has been duly 
authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement. 
 
  (b) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and 
constitutes the legal, valid, and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable in accordance with 
its terms except as enforcement thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar laws 
affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally.   
 
  (c) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of 
the transactions contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, will result in a material breach of any of the terms, conditions, or 
provisions of any corporate restriction or any agreement or instrument to which the Company is 
now a party or by which it is bound, or will constitute a default under any of the foregoing, or result 
in the creation or imposition of any lien, charge, or encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any 
of the property or assets of the Company, other than as may be created or permitted by this 
Agreement. 
 
  (d) The reimbursement of a portion of the Cost of the Infrastructure by the 
County has been instrumental in inducing the Company to make additional capital investment in the 
County and in the State of South Carolina. 
 
  (e) The Company will invest not less than the Investment Target in the Project, 
prior to the end of the Investment Period.   
 
  (f) The Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to continuously 
operate a manufacturing facility in the County. 
 
  SECTION 2.03.  Covenants of County. 
 
  (a) The County will at all times maintain its corporate existence and will use its 
best efforts to maintain, preserve, and renew all its rights, powers, privileges, and franchises; and it 
will comply with all valid acts, rules, regulations, orders, and directions of any legislative, 
executive, administrative, or judicial body applicable to this Agreement. 
 
  (b) The County covenants that it will from time to time and at the expense of the 
Company execute and deliver such further instruments and take such further action as may be 
reasonable and as may be required to carry out the purpose of this Agreement; provided, however, 
that such instruments or actions shall never create or constitute an indebtedness of the County 
within the meaning of any state constitutional provision (other than the provisions of Article X, 



 7 
 

Section 14(10) of the South Carolina Constitution) or statutory limitation and shall never constitute 
or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the County or a charge against its general credit or taxing 
power or pledge the credit or taxing power of the State of South Carolina, or any other political 
subdivision of the State of the South Carolina. 
 
 ARTICLE III 
 
 SPECIAL SOURCE TAX CREDITS 
 
  SECTION 3.01. Payment of Costs of Infrastructure.  The Company agrees to 
initially pay, or cause to be paid, all Cost of the Infrastructure as and when due. The Company 
currently estimates that the total Cost of the Infrastructure is approximately $4,700,000. The 
Company agrees to complete the acquisition and construction of the Infrastructure pursuant to the 
plans and specifications approved by the Company whether or not the SSRC is sufficient to 
reimburse all of the Cost of the Infrastructure, paid by, or caused to be paid by the Company.  The 
plans and specifications for the Infrastructure may be modified from time to time as deemed 
necessary by the Company.   
 
  SECTION 3.02. Completion of Infrastructure.  The Company shall notify the 
County of the date on which the initial Infrastructure is substantially completed and the total cost 
thereof and certify that all costs of acquisition and construction of the Infrastructure then or 
theretofore due and payable have been paid and the amounts which the Company shall retain for 
payment of Costs of the Infrastructure not yet due or for liabilities which the Company is contesting 
or which otherwise should be retained.    
 
  SECTION 3.03.  Special Source Revenue Credit. 
 
  (a) To assist in paying for costs of Infrastructure, the County shall provide 
SSRCs in two parts: Part I SSRCs equal to Forty-One percent (41%) of the payments in lieu of 
tax due for the next Thirty (30) years, and Part II a SSRCs equal to 15% of the payments in lieu 
of taxes associated with the Project for a period of five years (after the application of the Part I 
SSRCs).  The Infrastructure Credits shall apply to reduce the Anderson Fee Payments otherwise 
due.  In exchange for the SSRCs, the Company hereby waives the manufacturing abatement.  If 
it is legally determined that the manufacturing abatement cannot be waived, the SSRCs shall be 
reduced by the amount of the abatement. 

  In order to facilitate the provision of the SSRCs, the Company shall file a separate 
Schedule A with its annual PT-300 property tax return (or successor form) and shall file copies 
of such return with the County Auditor, Assessor, and Treasurer on or before June 30 of the 
property tax year in which an SSRC is to be claimed, together with a written certification in the 
form attached hereto as Exhibit B claiming the credit for such year.  The separate Schedule A (or 
successor form) shall list only investments placed in service during the Investment Period.  
Failure to file copies of the applicable property tax return and certification prior to June 30 of 
each year shall constitute a waiver of the SSRCs for that year.  For example, and by way of 
example only, the Company must file copies of its PT-300 property tax return and written 
certification claiming SSRCs for the 2024 property tax year with the County, on or before June 



 8 
 

30, 2024.  

  (b) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE SSRCS PROVIDED BY THIS 
AGREEMENT ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY. THE SSRCS ARE 
DERIVED SOLELY FROM AND TO THE EXTENT OF THE ANDERSON FEE PAYMENTS 
MADE BY THE COMPANY TO THE COUNTY PURSUANT TO THE ACT AND THE 
PARK AGREEMENT. THE SSRCS DO NOT AND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A 
GENERAL OBLIGATION OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY WITHIN THE 
MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY LIMITATION AND DO NOT 
AND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY OF THE 
COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY OR A CHARGE AGAINST THE GENERAL CREDIT 
OR TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY. THE FULL FAITH, 
CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY ARE NOT 
PLEDGED FOR THE PROVISION OF THE SSRCS.   

  (c)` All fee-in-lieu of ad valorem taxes pursuant to the Park Agreement 
received by the County for property added to the Park prior to November 16, 2020 shall be 
distributed in accordance with Section 3 of Ordinance 2010-026 and Paragraph 7 of the Park 
Agreement.  All fee-in lieu of ad valorem  taxes pursuant to the Park Agreement received by the 
County for Park premises located in the County and attributable to Park property added on and 
after November 16, 2020 shall be distributed, net of special source credits provided by the 
County pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
(“Net Park Fees”) as follows: First, 15% of Net Park Fees shall be deposited to Bond Fund 
created by Ordinance 2018-042 and used as required or permitted thereby, Second, 35% of Net 
Park Fees, and any surplus money under Ordinance 2018-042, shall be deposited to the Capital 
Renewal and Replacement Fund of the County, and Third, remaining Net Park Fees shall be 
disbursed to each of the taxing entitles in the County which levy an old ad valorem property tax 
in any of the areas comprising the County’s portion of the Park in the same percentage as is 
equal to that taxing entity’s percentage of the millage rate (and proportion of operating and debt 
service millage) being levied in the current tax year for property tax purposes.   
 
  SECTION 3.04.  Cumulative SSRC. The cumulative dollar amount expended by the 
Company on Infrastructure shall equal or exceed the cumulative dollar amount of all the SSRCs 
received by the Company. 
 

 SECTION 3.05.  Clawback.  

(a) If the Company does not invest and maintain a capital investment of at least 
$2,500,000 in the County as of the end of the Investment Period, this Agreement shall terminate, 
and the Company shall be obligated to repay to the County the total amount of SSRCs received, 
together within interest at the statutory rate for underpayments of property tax. 

(b) If the Company does not invest and maintain a capital investment of $4,700,000 
in the County as of the December 31, 2023 or fails to create and maintain at least 48 new, full-
time jobs in the County as of December 31, 2026, the Company shall forfeit the remaining Part II 
SSRC. 



 9 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

 CONDITIONS TO DELIVERY OF AGREEMENT 
 TITLE TO INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
  SECTION 4.01.  Documents to be Provided by County.   Prior to or simultaneously 
with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the County shall provide to the Company: 
 
   (i) A copy of the Ordinance, duly certified by the Clerk of the County 

Council under its corporate seal to have been duly enacted by the County and to be in full 
force and effect on the date of such certification; and 

 
   (ii) Such additional certificates (including appropriate no-litigation 

certificates and certified copies of ordinances, resolutions, or other proceedings adopted by 
the County), instruments or other documents as the Company may reasonably request. 

 
  SECTION 4.02.  Assignment. The Company may assign or otherwise transfer any of 
its rights and interest in this Agreement on prior written consent or subsequent ratification of the 
County, which may be given by resolution, and which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned, or delayed. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the County preauthorizes and 
consents to an assignment by the Company of its rights and interest in this Agreement to an Affiliate 
of the Company so long as the Company provides written consent of the assignment, and the 
Affiliate agrees in a signed writing delivered to the County to assume all duties and obligations of 
the Company hereunder. 
 
 ARTICLE VI 
 
 DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 
 
  SECTION 6.01.  Events of Default   The following are “Events of Default” under 
this Agreement:  
  
  (a) Failure by the Company or its successor to make payments in lieu of taxes in 
accordance with the Park Agreement and applicable law, which failure has not been cured within 30 
days following receipt of written notice from the County specifying the delinquency in payment and 
requesting that it be remedied; 
 
  (b) A cessation of operations of the Project, meaning a closure of the Project for a 
continuous period of six (6) months;  
 
  (c) A representation or warranty made by the Company which is deemed materially 
and adversely incorrect when deemed made; 
 
  (d) A representation or warranty made by the County which is deemed materially 
and adversely incorrect when deemed made; or 
 



 10 
 

  (e) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or 
covenants hereunder, which failure has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the 
Company to the County specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the 
County has instituted corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective 
action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to include the 
period during which the County is diligently pursuing corrective action. 
 
  SECTION 6.02.  Legal Proceedings by Company.  Upon the happening and 
continuance of any Event of Default by the County, then and in every such case the Company in its 
discretion may: 
  
  (a) by mandamus, or other suit, action, or proceeding at law or in equity, enforce 

all of its rights and require the County to carry out any agreements with or for its benefit and 
to perform its or their duties under the Act and this Agreement; 

 
  (b) bring suit at law to enforce the contractual agreement contained herein; 
 
  (d) by action or suit in equity enjoin any acts or things which may be unlawful 

or in violation of its rights; or 
 
  (e) terminate the Agreement. 
 
  SECTION 6.03.  Remedies of the County.  Upon the happening and continuance of 
an Event of Default by the Company, the County, in every such case, shall be entitled to terminate 
this Agreement and to take such action as is permitted by law for collection of past due taxes or 
payments in lieu of taxes. 
 
  SECTION 6.04 Reimbursement of Legal Fee and Other Expenses. On the 
occurrence of an Event of Default, if a Party is required to employ attorneys or incur other 
reasonable expenses for the collection of payments due under this Agreement or for the enforcement 
of performance or observance of any obligation or agreement, the prevailing Party is entitled to seek 
reimbursement of the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so 
incurred. 
 
  SECTION 6.05. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy in this Agreement conferred 
upon or reserved to the Company or the County is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or 
remedies, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every 
other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by 
statute. 
 
  SECTION 6.06. Nonwaiver.  No delay or omission of the Company or the County to 
exercise any right or power accruing upon any default or Event of Default shall impair any such 
right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or Event of Default, or an 
acquiescence therein; and every power and remedy given by this Article VI to the Company or the 
County may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. 
 



 11 
 

 ARTICLE VII 
 
 MISCELLANEOUS 
 
  SECTION 7.01. Successors and Assigns.  All the covenants, stipulations, promises, 
and agreements in this Agreement contained, by or on behalf of, or for the benefit of, the County, 
shall bind or inure to the benefit of the successors of the County from time to time and any officer, 
board, commission, agency, or instrumentality to whom or to which any power or duty of the 
County, shall be transferred. 
 
  SECTION 7.02. Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Company.  
Except as in this Agreement otherwise specifically provided, nothing in this Agreement expressed 
or implied is intended or shall be construed to confer upon any Person other than the County and the 
Company any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement, this Agreement being 
intended to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the County and the Company. 
 
  SECTION 7.03.  Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall, for any reason, be held to be illegal or invalid, the illegality or invalidity shall not 
affect any other provision of this Agreement, and this Agreement and the SSRCs shall be construed 
and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provisions had not been contained herein or therein. 
 
  SECTION 7.04.  No Liability for Personnel of County or Company.  No covenant or 
agreement contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the covenant or agreement of any 
member, agent, or employee of the County or its governing body or the Company or any of its 
officers, employees, or agents in his individual capacity, and neither the members of the governing 
body of the County nor any official executing this Agreement shall be liable personally on the 
SSRC or the Agreement or be subject to any personal liability of accountability by reason of the 
issuance thereof. 
 
  SECTION 7.05.  Notices.  All notices, certificates, requests, or other 
communications under this Agreement shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given, unless 
otherwise required by this Agreement, when (i) delivered or (ii) sent by  United States first-class 
registered mail, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 
 
 (a) if to the County:  Anderson County, South Carolina 
      Attn: County Administrator 
 
      178 Mill Street 
      Anderson, SC 29709 
      (843) 623-2535 
        
  with copies to:    
 
       
       

(b) if to the Company:  Carolina Structural Systems LLC 



 12 
 

          
          
          

 
  with a copy to:   J. Wesley Crum, III, P.A. 
      202 Nantallah Trail 
      Mauldin, SC 29662 
      Attn:  J. Wesley Crum III 
 
  A duplicate copy of each notice, certificate, request or other communication given 
under this Agreement to the County or the Company shall also be given to the others.  The County 
and the Company may, by notice given under this Section 7.05, designate any further or different 
addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be sent. 
 
  SECTION 7.06.  Applicable Law.  The laws of the State of South Carolina shall 
govern the construction of this Agreement.  
 
  SECTION 7.07.  Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 
counterparts, each of which, when so executed and delivered, shall be an original; but such 
counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 
  SECTION 7.08.  Amendments.  This Agreement may be amended only by written 
agreement of the parties hereto. 
 
  SECTION 7.09.  Waiver.  Either party may waive compliance by the other party 
with any term or condition of this Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 
 
  SECTION 7.10     Examination of Records; Confidentiality.  
 
  (a) The County and its authorized agents, at any reasonable time on reasonable 
prior notice, may enter and examine the Project and have access to and examine the Company’s 
books and records relating to the Project for the purposes of (i) identifying the Project; (ii) 
confirming achievement of the investment or job requirements hereunder; and (iii) permitting the 
County to carry out its duties and obligations in its sovereign capacity (such as, without limitation, 
for such routine health and safety purposes as would be applied to any other manufacturing or 
commercial facility in the County). 
 



 13 
 

  (b) The County acknowledges that the Company may utilize confidential and 
proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and techniques 
(“Confidential Information”) and that disclosure of the Confidential Information could result in 
substantial economic harm to the Company. The Company may clearly label any Confidential 
Information delivered to the County pursuant to this Agreement as “Confidential Information.” 
Except as required by law, the County, or any employee, agent, or contractor of the County, shall 
not disclose or otherwise divulge any labeled Confidential Information to any other person, firm, 
governmental body or agency. The Company acknowledges that the County is subject to the South 
Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain documents and 
information on request, absent an exemption. If the County is required to disclose any Confidential 
Information to a third party, the County will use its best efforts to provide the Company with as 
much advance notice as is reasonably possible of such disclosure requirement prior to making such 
disclosure and to cooperate reasonably with any attempts by the Company to obtain judicial or other 
relief from such disclosure requirement. 
   

 SECTION 7.10.  Indemnity.  

 (a) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Company shall indemnify and 
save the County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified 
Party”) harmless against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of 
this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement or the 
administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County 
having entered into this Agreement.  

 (b) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Company shall 
reimburse the County for all of its reasonable costs, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, 
incurred in connection with the response to or defense against such liability or claims as 
described in paragraph (a) above. The County shall provide a statement of the costs incurred in 
the response or defense, and the Company shall pay the County within 30 days of receipt of the 
statement. The Company may request reasonable documentation evidencing the costs shown on 
the statement. However, the County is not required to provide any documentation which may be 
privileged or confidential to evidence the costs. 

 (c) The County may request the Company to resist or defend against any claim on 
behalf of an Indemnified Party. On such request, the Company shall resist or defend against such 
claim on behalf of the Indemnified Party, at the Company’s expense. The Company is entitled to 
use counsel of its choice, manage and control the defense of or response to such claim for the 
Indemnified Party; provided the Company is not entitled to settle any such claim without the 
consent of that Indemnified Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
conditioned, or delayed. 

 (d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company is not required to 
indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs arising from any 
claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, which are unrelated to the 
execution of this Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement, or 
the administration of its duties under this Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County 



 14 
 

having entered into this Agreement; or (ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own 
negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or willful misconduct. 

 (e) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or 
reimbursement of costs provided in this Section unless it provides the Company with prompt 
notice, reasonable under the circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, 
including, without limitation, copies of any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, 
or other claims or threats of claims, in order to afford the Company notice, reasonable under the 
circumstances, within which to defend or otherwise respond to a claim. 

 (f) The Company shall reimburse the County for any reasonable administrative 
expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation, implementation, or enforcement of this 
Agreement promptly upon written notice thereof, including but not limited to reasonable 
attorneys’ fees.  Failure to provide such reimbursement within thirty (30) days after written 
notice thereof shall constitute and Event of Default hereunder.  

SECTION 7.11.  Limitation of Liability.  

 (a) The County is not liable to the Company for any costs, expenses, losses, 
damages, claims or actions in connection with this Agreement, except from amounts received by the 
County from the Company under this Agreement. 

 (b) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the 
County contained in this Agreement are binding on members of the County Council or any elected 
official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and not 
in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse for the payment of any moneys or performance of 
any of the covenants and agreements under this Agreement or for any claims based on this 
Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected official, officer, 
agent, servant or employee of the County except solely in their official capacity. 

SECTION 7.12.  Termination. Unless first terminated under any other provision of this 
Agreement, this Agreement terminates on the expiration of the SSRCs and payment by the 
Company of any outstanding Anderson Fee Payments due on the Project pursuant to the terms of 
this Agreement. 

SECTION 7.13.  Business Day. If any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this 
Agreement, required to be taken, made, or given on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the 
jurisdiction in which the Party obligated to act is situated, such action, payment, or notice may be 
taken, made, or given on the following business day with the same effect as if taken, made or given 
as required under this Agreement, and no interest will accrue in the interim. 

 
 
 

[TWO SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

 



 15 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Anderson County, South Carolina, has caused this Agreement 
to be executed by the Chairman of County Council and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed and 
attested by the Clerk of its County Council and Waste Management Services of the Carolinas has 
caused this Agreement to be executed by its authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above 
written. 
 
 
      ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
 
     By: _________________________________________ 

    Tommy Dunn, Chairman of County Council   
    Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
ATTEST:     
 
 
By:__________________________________ 
Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 
By:___________________________________                                                                      
Renee Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Agreement to be executed by its 
authorized officer(s), effective the day and year first above written. 

CAROLINA STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS LLC 
 
Signature:      

Name:       

Title:         
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 2 TO SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT]



 Exhibit A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Exhibit B-1 
 

 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 
ANNUAL CERTIFICATION 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-055 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AN 
INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN ANDERSON COUNTY, 
SOUTH CAROLINA AND PROJECT TURKEY, WHEREBY, UNDER CERTAIN 
CONDITIONS, ANDERSON COUNTY WILL EXECUTE A FEE IN LIEU OF TAX 
AND SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO A 
PROJECT IN THE COUNTY WHEREBY THE PROJECT WOULD BE SUBJECT 
TO PAYMENT OF CERTAIN FEES IN LIEU OF TAXES, AND WHEREBY 
PROJECT/COMPANY WILL BE PROVIDED CERTAIN CREDITS AGAINST 
FEE PAYMENTS IN REIMBURSEMENT OF INVESTMENT IN RELATED 
QUALIFIED INFRASTRUCTURE; AND PROVIDING FOR RELATED 
MATTERS. 

 
WHEREAS, Anderson County, South Carolina (the “County”), acting by and through its County 

Council (the “County Council”), is authorized and empowered, under and pursuant to the provisions of 
Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”), Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park Act”), Code of Laws 
of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Code”), to enter into agreements with industry, to offer certain 
privileges, benefits and incentives as inducements for economic development within the County; to acquire, 
or cause to be acquired, properties as may be defined as “projects” in the Act and to enter agreements with 
the business or industry to facilitate the construction, operation, maintenance and improvement of such 
projects; to enter into or allow financing agreements with respect to such projects; and to accept any grants 
for such projects through which powers the industrial and business development of the State will be 
promoted, whereby the industry would pay fees-in-lieu-of taxes with respect to qualified projects; to 
provide credits against payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in respect of investment in certain 
infrastructure serving the County or the project, including improved or unimproved real estate and personal 
property, including machinery and equipment, used in the manufacturing or industrial enterprise 
(collectively, “Infrastructure”); through all such powers, the industrial development of the State of South 
Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing manufacturing and commercial 
enterprises to locate or remain in the State and thus utilize and employ the manpower, products and 
resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare the County by providing services, employment, 
recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; and  

 
WHEREAS, PROJECT TURKEY (the “Company”) has requested that the County assist in the 

acquisition, construction and installation of land, buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, 
furnishings and other real and/or tangible personal property to constitute a new industrial (light 
manufacturing and/or distribution) facility in the County (collectively, the “Project”), which will result in 
expected investment by the Company in the Project of at least $36,300,000 in non-exempt investment in 
connection therewith, by December 31 of the fifth year after the first year which any portion of the Project 
is first placed in service; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the County enter into a fee in lieu of tax agreement 

and a special source credit agreement with the Company, thereby providing for certain fee in lieu of tax and 
special source credit incentives with respect to the Project, all as more fully set forth in the Inducement 
Agreement (as hereinbelow defined) attached hereto and made a part hereof; and  

 
WHEREAS, the County has determined on the basis of the information supplied to it by the 

Company that the Project would be a “project” and “economic development property” as such terms are 
defined in the FILOT Act and that the Project would serve the purposes of the FILOT Act; and  

 



2 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article 
VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution (collectively, the “Multi-County Park Authority”), the 
County intends to cause the site on which the Project will be located, to the extent not already therein 
located, in a multi-county industrial and business park (a “Park”) established by the County pursuant to 
qualifying agreement with an adjoining South Carolina county (the “Park Agreement”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the County has determined and found, on the basis of representations of the 

Company, that the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing 
services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally; that the Project 
will give rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated municipality or a charge against 
the general credit or taxing power of either; that the purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., 
economic development, creation of jobs, and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper 
governmental and public purposes; that the inducement of the location of the Project within the County and 
State is of paramount importance; and that the benefits of the Project will be greater than the costs; and the 
County has agreed to effect the delivery of an Inducement Agreement on the terms and conditions 
hereinafter set forth. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Council as follows: 
 
Section 1.  (a) Pursuant to the authority given to County Council by the South Carolina 

Constitution, the Code, the FILOT Act and the Multi-County Park Act, and subject to the enactment of 
required legislative authorizations by the County Council, and for the purpose of providing development 
incentives for the Project through the payment by the Company of fees in lieu of taxes with respect to the 
Project pursuant to Section 12-44-40 of the Act, and for the purpose of providing for the provision special 
source credits against payments in lieu of taxes made by the Company pursuant to a Park Agreement in order 
to allow reimbursement to the company for a portion of its investment in qualified Infrastructure within the 
meaning and purposes of Section 4-29-68 of the Code, there is hereby authorized to be executed an 
Inducement Agreement between the County and the Company pertaining to the Project, the form of which is 
now before the County Council (the “Inducement Agreement”) so as to establish, among other things, that 
the County and the Company will be parties to a fee in lieu tax and special source credit agreement (the “Fee 
Agreement”), and a special source credit agreement (the “SSRC Agreement” and together with the Fee 
Agreement, the “Agreements”).  

 
(b)  The County Council will use its best efforts to take all reasonable acts to ensure that the 

Project will continuously be included within the boundaries of the Park or another qualified multi-county 
industrial or business park in order that the tax benefits contemplated hereunder and afforded by the laws 
of the State for projects located within multi-county industrial or business parks will be available to the 
Company for at least the term of the Agreements. 

 
Section 2.  The provisions, terms and conditions of the Agreements shall be prescribed and 

authorized by subsequent ordinance(s) of the County Council, which, to the extent not prohibited by law, 
shall be consistent with the terms of this Resolution. 

 
Section 3.  All orders, resolutions and parts thereof in conflict herewith are, to the extent of 

such conflict, hereby repealed. This resolution shall take effect and be in full force from and after its passage 
by the County Council. 

 
Section 4.  The authorization of the execution and delivery of the documents related to the 

Inducement Agreement, the Agreements and all other related documents or obligations of the County is 
subject to the compliance by the County Council with the provisions of the Home Rule Act regarding the 
procedural requirements for adopting ordinances and resolutions. 



3 
 

 
Section 5.  It is the intention of the County Council that this resolution shall constitute an 

inducement resolution with respect to the Project, within the meaning of the FILOT Act. 
 

DONE in meeting duly assembled this 5th day of December, 2023. 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
By:        
       Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
       Anderson County Council 
 
 

 
Attest: 
 

 
By:         

Rusty Burns, County Administrator 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 
By:         

Renee D. Watts, Clerk to Council 
 Anderson County, South Carolina 
 

Approved as to Form: 

 

By:         
Leon C. Harmon, County Attorney 

 Anderson County, South Carolina 



1 
 

INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) made and entered into as of 
December 5, 2023 by and between ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and 
corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), and [PROJECT 
TURKEY], a          (the “Company”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

ARTICLE I 
RECITATION OF FACTS 

 
 Section 1.1. As a means of setting forth the matters of mutual inducement which have resulted 
in the making and entering into of this Agreement, the following statements of fact are herewith recited: 
 
 (a) The County, by and through its County Council, is authorized and empowered by the 
provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44 (the “FILOT Act”) and Title 4, Chapter 1 (the “Multi-County Park 
Act”), Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended (the “Code”), to allow for the payment of certain 
fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes with respect to industrial properties; to issue special source revenue bonds, 
or in the alternative, to provide special source credits against payment in lieu of taxes for reimbursement in 
respect of investment in certain infrastructure serving the County or the project, including improved or 
unimproved real estate and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the manufacturing 
or industrial enterprise (collectively, “Infrastructure”); through all such powers the development of the State 
of South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing new industries to locate 
in the State and by encouraging industries now located in the State to expand their investments and thus 
utilize and employ manpower and other resources of the State and benefit the general public welfare of the 
County by providing services, employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided 
locally. 
 
 (b) The Company requested that the County assist in the acquisition, construction and 
installation of land, buildings, improvements, fixtures, machinery, equipment, furnishings and other real 
and/or tangible personal property to constitute an industrial (light manufacturing and/or distribution) facility 
in the County (collectively, the “Project”), which will result in an expected investment by the Company in 
the Project of at least $36,300,000 (the “Investment Target”) by December 31 of the fifth year after the first 
year in which any portion of the Project is first placed in service (the “Initial Investment Period”). 
 
 (c) Pursuant to the authority of Section 4-1-170 of the Multi-County Park Act and Article VIII, 
Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, the County will use its best efforts to place the site of the Project 
in a multi-county industrial and business park (the “Park”) established by the County pursuant to qualifying 
agreement with Greenville County or other adjoining county in the State (the “Park Agreement”). 
 
 (d) The County has determined after due investigation that the Project would be aided by the 
availability of the assistance which the County might render through applicable provisions of the FILOT 
Act and the Multi-County Park Act as economic development incentives, and the inducements offered, will, 
to a great degree, result in the Project locating in the County. Pursuant to this determination, the Company 
and the County have agreed to negotiate for payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes as authorized by the 
FILOT Act, and the Company and the County have agreed as set forth in the Agreements, pursuant to 
Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act, that the Company would be afforded certain credits as 
described herein against its payments in lieu of taxes in respect of the Company’s investment in qualified 
Infrastructure within the meaning and purposes of Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 
 



2 
 

 (e) The County has given due consideration to the economic development impact of the 
Project, and as a preliminary matter, based on representations by the Company, hereby finds and determines 
that (i) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing service, 
employment, recreation or other public benefits not otherwise provided locally, (ii) the Project will give 
rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or any incorporated municipality or a charge against the general 
credit or taxing power of either, (iii) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project, i.e., economic 
development, retention of jobs, and addition to the tax base of the County, are proper governmental and 
public purposes, (iv) the inducement of the location of the Project within the County and State is of 
paramount importance and (v) the benefits of the Project will be greater than the costs. The County, 
therefore, has agreed to effect the issuance and delivery of this Agreement, pursuant to the FILOT Act, the 
Multi-County Park Act and a Resolution of the County Council dated December 5, 2023, and on the terms 
and conditions set forth. 
 
 

ARTICLE II 
UNDERTAKINGS ON THE PART OF THE COUNTY 

 
 The County agrees as follows: 
 
 Section 2.1. The County, subject to the limits set forth herein, agrees to enter into a Fee in Lieu 
of Tax and Special Source Credit Agreement Project (the “Fee Agreement”) and a Special Source Credit 
Agreement Project (the “SSRC Agreement” and together with the Fee Agreement, the “Agreements”) 
with the Company with respect to the Project.  
 
 Section 2.2. The Agreements will be executed at such time and upon such mutually acceptable 
terms as the Company shall request, subject to the provisions of Sections 2.7 and 4.2 herein. 
 
 Section 2.3. The terms and provisions of the Agreements shall be substantially in the form 
generally utilized in connection with the FILOT Act, as to be agreed upon by the County and the Company. 
The Agreements shall contain, in substance, the following provisions: 
 

(a) The terms of the Agreements will be for a period of thirty (30) years for each year of capital 
investment made in the Project during the Initial Investment Period and, if applicable, during the Extended 
Investment Period (as such term is defined below), commencing with the first year of the capital investment 
made under the Agreements. 

(b) The Fee Agreement shall provide that, in the event that the Company, together with any 
sponsor affiliates joining with the Company as parties to the Fee Agreement, invests at least the Investment 
Target in the Project during the Initial Investment Period, the Initial Investment Period shall be extended 
for an additional five (5) years without further action by the Company or the County (the “Extended 
Investment Period”).  

(c) The Agreements shall provide that, in the performance of the agreements contained therein 
on the part of the County, such agreement will not give rise to any pecuniary liability of the County and 
shall not create a charge against the general credit or taxing power of the County, the State or any 
incorporated municipality. 

(d) The Agreements shall contain a provision requiring the Company to make payments in lieu 
of taxes to the County for a period of thirty (30) years after each year of the capital investment made under 
the Agreements during the Initial Investment Period, and, if applicable, the Extended Investment Period 
(collectively, the “Investment Period”) for the existing property on TMS 218-00-01-001 (the “Existing 



3 
 

Property”) and the new property on TMS 218-00-01-038 (the “New Property”). For the Existing Property, 
the amounts of such payments shall be determined by using (i) an assessment ratio of 10.5%; (ii) the 
cumulative millage rate at the site of the Existing Property for each year; and (iii) the fair market value of 
the Existing Property as determined by the South Carolina Department of Revenue in accordance with the 
FILOT Act. For the New Property, the amounts of such payments shall be determined by using (i) an 
assessment ratio of 6%; (ii) a fixed millage rate of 317.59 mills (that is, the cumulative millage rate in effect 
at the site of the New Property for all taxing entities as of June 30, 2023); and (iii) the fair market value of 
the New Property as determined by the South Carolina Department of Revenue in accordance with the 
FILOT Act.  For purposes of computing the amount of such fee, in accordance with the terms of Section 
12-44-50(2) of the FILOT Act, the property shall be allowed all applicable property tax exemptions except 
the exemption allowed under Section 3(g) of Article X of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina 
and the exemptions allowed pursuant to Sections 12-37-220(B)(32) and (34) of the Code.  

(e) The Company may dispose of and replace property subject to fee in lieu of tax payments, 
as set forth in Section 12-44-60 of the FILOT Act; the fee with respect to such replacement property shall 
be calculated in accordance with the provisions of said Section 12-44-60. 

 Section 2.4. The County hereby consents to the planning, design, acquisition, construction and 
carrying out of the Project to commence prior to the execution and delivery of the Agreements. Contracts 
for construction and for purchase of machinery, equipment and personal property deemed necessary under 
the Agreements or that are otherwise permitted under the FILOT Act may be let by the Company, in its 
sole discretion. 
 
 Section 2.5. Pursuant to Section 4-1-175 of the Multi-County Park Act, the County, subject to 
the limits set forth herein, including Sections 2.7 and 4.2 hereof and pursuant to the Agreements, will 
provide special source credits against payments in lieu of taxes by the Company pursuant to the Park 
Agreement, the SSRC Agreement or the Fee Agreement, as the case may be, to reimburse the Company in 
respect of its investment in Infrastructure pertaining to the Project. In these respects, for the Existing 
Property, the Company shall be entitled to claim an annual special source credit of 41% of each of the first 
thirty (30) years of the payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to the Park Agreement and the SSRC Agreement 
and then also an annual special source credit equal to 85% of each of the first three (3) years of the remaining 
payments in lieu of taxes (after the application of the 41% annual special source credit) pursuant to the Park 
Agreement and the SSRC Agreement, and 35% of each of the fourth (4th  through the thirtieth (30th) years 
of payments in lieu of taxes (after the application of the 41% annual special source credit) pursuant to the 
Park Agreement and the SSRC Agreement pursuant to the Park Agreement and the SSRC Agreement, all 
such special source credits to be calculated and applied after any amount due the non-host county(ies), with 
respect to the Project (that is, with respect to investment made by the Company under the Agreements 
during the Investment Period) for thirty (30) consecutive years.  In addition, for the New Property, the 
Company shall be entitled to claim a special source credit equal to 85% of each of the first five (5) years of 
the payments in lieu of taxes pursuant to the Park Agreement and the Fee Agreement and a special source 
credit equal to 35% of each of the sixth (6th) through the thirtieth (30th) years of the payments in lieu of 
taxes pursuant to the Park Agreement and the Fee Agreement, all such special source credits to be calculated 
and applied after any amount due the non-host county(ies), with respect to the Project (that is, with respect 
to investment made by the Company under the Agreements during the Investment Period) for thirty (30) 
consecutive years. 
 
 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, under no circumstances shall the Company be 
entitled to claim or receive any abatement of ad valorem taxes for any portion of investment in the Project 
for which a special source credit is taken. 
 



4 
 

In no event shall the aggregate amount of any special source credits claimed by the Company 
exceed the amount expended by it with respect to the Infrastructure at any point in time.  
 
 Section 2.6. Subject to the matters contained herein, the Agreements will be executed at such 
time and upon such mutually acceptable terms as the parties shall agree. 
 
 Section 2.7. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the authorization by 
the County of the Agreements is subject to compliance by the County with the provisions of the Home Rule 
Act regarding the enactment of ordinances and shall not constitute a general obligation or indebtedness of 
the County nor a pledge of the full faith and credit or the taxing power of the County. Further, the County 
will perform such other acts and adopt such other proceedings, consistent with this Agreement, as may be 
required to faithfully implement this Agreement and will assist, in good faith and with all reasonable 
diligence, with such usual and customary governmental functions as will assist the successful completion 
of the Project by the Company. The County has made no independent legal or factual investigation 
regarding the particulars of this Agreement or the transaction contemplated hereunder and, further, executes 
this Agreement in reliance upon the representations by the Company that the Agreement and related 
documents comply with all laws and regulations, particularly those pertinent to industrial development 
projects in the State. 
 
 Section 2.8. Should the Company fail to collectively invest at least $35,000,000 in connection 
with the Project, by the end of the Initial Investment Period, the Company shall be liable for the difference 
between the amount of payments in lieu of taxes actually paid pursuant to the Agreements (taking into 
account all infrastructure credits actually received) and the amount of ad valorem taxes which would have 
been due and payable with respect to the Project had the Agreements not been entered into, with interest at 
the rate payable for late payment of taxes. Any amounts determined to be owing pursuant to the foregoing 
sentence shall be payable to the County on or before the one hundred twentieth (120th) day following the 
last day of the Initial Investment Period. 
 
 

ARTICLE III 
UNDERTAKINGS ON THE PART OF THE COMPANY 

 
 Section 3.1. Except with respect to the Agreements, the County will have no obligation to assist 
the Company in finding any source of financing for all or any portion of the property constituting the Project 
and the Company may endeavor to finance the Project to the extent required to finance the cost of the 
acquisition and installation of the Project. 
 
 Section 3.2. If the Project proceeds as contemplated: 
 
 (a) The Company agrees to enter into the Agreements, under the terms of which it will obligate 
themselves to make the payments required by the FILOT Act including, but not limited to, payments in lieu 
of taxes at rates calculated in accordance with Section 2.3(c) hereof; 
 
 (b) With respect to the Project, the Company agrees to reimburse the County for all out-of-
pocket costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees of the County actually incurred, and other out-of-pocket 
expenditures to third parties to which the County might be reasonably put with regard to executing and 
entering into this Agreement and the Agreements; 
 

(c) The Company agrees to hold the County harmless from all pecuniary liability including, 
without limitation, environmental liability, and to reimburse the County for all expenses to which the 



5 
 

County might be put in the fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement and in the negotiation and 
implementation of its terms and provisions, including reasonable legal expenses and fees;  
 

(d) The Company agrees to apply for, and use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain, all 
permits, licenses, authorizations and approvals required by all governmental authorities in connection with 
the construction and implementation of the Project;  
 

(e) The Company agrees to indemnify, defend and hold the County and the individual members, 
officers, agents and employees thereof harmless against any claim or loss or damage to property or any injury 
or death of any person or persons occurring in connection with the planning, design, acquisition, construction, 
leasing, carrying out or operation of the Project, including without limitation any environmental liability. The 
defense obligation shall be supplied with legal counsel reasonably acceptable to the County. The Company 
agrees also agrees to reimburse or otherwise pay, on behalf of the County, any and all expenses not 
hereinbefore mentioned incurred by the County in connection with the Project, including the review and 
execution of the Resolution and this Agreement; provided, however, that the Company’s obligation to 
reimburse the County in connection with the review and execution of the Resolution and this Agreement, as 
well as the review, execution and approval of the Agreements, shall not exceed $7,500; and 
 

(f) The Company agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to meet, or cause to be met, 
the Investment Target during the Initial Investment Period. 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
 Section 4.1. All commitments of the County under Article II hereof are subject to all of the 
provisions of the FILOT Act and the Multi-County Park Act, including, without limitation, the condition 
that nothing contained in this Agreement shall constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the County 
or any incorporated municipality or a charge against the general credit or taxing powers of either. 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT AND THE SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS PROVIDED FOR 
HEREUNDER ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY PROVIDED BY THE COUNTY 
SOLELY FROM THE NET FEE PAYMENTS RECEIVED AND RETAINED BY THE COUNTY, AND 
DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS OF THE COUNTY WITHIN THE 
MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISION (OTHER THAN THE PROVISIONS OF 
ARTICLE X, SECTION 14(10) OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION) OR STATUTORY 
LIMITATION, AND DO NOT AND SHALL NEVER CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A 
PECUNIARY LIABILITY OF THE COUNTY OR A CHARGE AGAINST ITS GENERAL CREDIT OR 
TAXING POWER. THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE COUNTY ARE NOT 
PLEDGED FOR THE SPECIAL SOURCE CREDITS. 
 
 Section 4.2. All commitments of the County and the Company hereunder are subject to the 
condition that the County and the Company agree on mutually acceptable terms and conditions of all 
documents, the execution and delivery of which are contemplated by the provisions hereof, and the adoption 
by the County Council of an ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of such documents and 
approving the terms thereof. If the parties enter into the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special Source Credit 
Agreement, each party shall perform such further acts and adopt such further proceedings as may be 
required to faithfully implement its undertakings pursuant to such agreement. 
 
 Section 4.3. If for any reason this Agreement (as opposed to the Fee in Lieu of Tax and Special 
Source Credit Agreement, which is contemplated to be negotiated, signed and delivered subsequent to the 



6 
 

execution and delivery of this Agreement) is not executed and delivered by the Company on or before 
December 31, 2024, the provisions of this Agreement may be cancelled by the County by delivery of written 
notice of cancellation signed by the County Administrator and delivered to the Company; thereafter neither 
party shall have any further rights against the other and no third parties shall have any rights against either 
party except that the Company shall pay the out-of-pocket expenses to third parties of officers, agents and 
employees of the County and counsel for the County incurred in connection with the authorization and 
approval of the Agreements. 
 
 Section 4.4. The parties understand that the Company may choose not to proceed with the 
Project, in which event this Agreement shall be cancelled and, subject to parties’ obligations described in 
Section 4.3 hereof, neither party shall have any further rights against the other, and no third party shall have 
any rights against either party. 
 
 Section 4.5. To the maximum extent allowable under the FILOT Act and the Multi-County 
Park Act, the Company may, with the prior consent of the County (which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld), assign (including, without limitation, absolute, collateral, and other assignments) all or part of 
their rights and/or obligations under this Agreement to one or more other entities, in connection with the 
Agreements, without adversely affecting the benefits to the Company or its assignees pursuant hereto or 
pursuant to the FILOT Act or the Multi-County Park Act; provided, however, that the Company may make 
any such assignment to an affiliate of the Company without obtaining the consent of the County, to the 
extent permitted by law. 
 
 Section 4.6. This Agreement may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed by or 
on behalf of all parties by their duly authorized officers and approved by appropriate legal process. No 
amendment, modification, or termination of this Agreement, and no waiver of any provisions or consent 
required hereunder shall be valid unless consented to in writing by all parties. 
 
 Section 4.7. Nothing in this Agreement or any attachments hereto is intended to create, and no 
provision hereof should be so construed or interpreted as to create any third party beneficiary rights in any 
form whatsoever nor any form of partnership or other legal entity relationship between the County and the 
Company. 
 
 Section 4.8. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties regarding the 
matters set forth herein. This Agreement shall be interpreted by the laws of the State. 
 



 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, each after due authorization, have executed this 
Inducement Agreement on the respective dates indicated below, as of the date first above written. 
 
 

ANDERSON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
 
        
Tommy Dunn, Chairman 
Anderson County Council 
 
 
 

 
Attest: 
 
 
By:            

Renee D. Watts, Clerk to Council 
Anderson County, South Carolina 

 
 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 1 OF INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT] 
  



 
 

 
 
 [PROJECT TURKEY] 
 
  
 By:_______________________________ 
 Name:_____________________________ 
 Title:______________________________ 

 
 
 
 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 2 OF INDUCEMENT AGREEMENT] 
 
 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON 
 
 
 I, the undersigned Clerk to County Council of Anderson County, South Carolina, do hereby certify 
that attached hereto is a true, accurate and complete copy of a resolution which was adopted by the County 
Council at its meeting of _______, 2023, at which meeting a quorum of members of the County Council were 
present and voted, and an original of which resolution is filed in the permanent records of the County Council. 
 
 

 _______________________________________
____ Clerk to Anderson County Council 

  
 
Dated:  ___________, 2023 
 
 




















	Agenda CCM December 5, 2023
	2a Resolution 2023-054
	2b Proclamation
	3 Minutes 112123
	6a Ordinance 2023-031
	6b Ordinance 2023-032
	6c Ordinance 2023-035
	6d Ordinance 2023-043
	6e Ordinance 2023-044
	6f Ordinance 2023-045
	6g Ordinance 2023-046
	6h Ordinance 2023-047
	7a Ordinance 2024-023
	7b Ordinance 2023-033
	7c Ordinance 2023-042
	7d Ordinance 2023-048
	7e Ordinance 2023-049
	7f Ordinance 2023-050
	7g Ordinance 2023-051
	7h Ordinance 2023-052
	9a Resolution 2023-055
	10 First Steps Appointment
	11 Vehicle Donations
	12a Appropriation Request Anderson Lights of Hope
	12b Appropriation Request Hejaz Shrine Circus



